ASPECTS OF AdS/CFT CORRESPONDENCE: Symmetries, Integrability and Solitons

by

Inês Varela Aniceto

Licenciada in Physics, Instituto Superior Técnico, Universidade Técnica de Lisboa

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Program in Physics at Brown University

Providence, Rhode Island

May 2009

Copyright © 2009 Inês Aniceto

This dissertation by Inês Varela Aniceto is accepted in its present form by the Physics Department as satisfying the dissertation requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Date: _____

Antal Jevicki, Advisor

Recommended to the Graduate Council

Date: _____

Anastasia Volovich, Reader

Date: _____

Chung-I Tan, Reader

Approved by the Graduate Council

Date: _____

Sheila Bonde, Dean of the Graduate School

CURRICULUM VITAE

1979	Born in Setúbal, Portugal.	
1997	High School Degree, Escola Sebastião da Gama, Setúbal, Portugal.	
2002	<i>Licenciatura</i> in Physics Engineering, Instituto Superior Técnico, Universidade Técnica de Lisboa, Portugal.	
2006	M.Sc. (Physics) Brown University.	
Teaching		

- 2000-2003 Mathematical Analysis I, IV, Linear Algebra, Instituto Superior Técnico, Department of Mathematics.
- 2007-08 Classical Mechanics, Introduction to Modern Physics, Brown University, Physics Department.

Publications

Listed in the preface, page v.

PREFACE

The work present in this dissertation is based on the following published works, presented in a more pedagogical manner with respective introductions to each subject:

- Michael C. Abbott and Inês Aniceto
 Vibrating giant spikes and the large-winding sector
 Journal of High Energy Physics 06 (2008) 088, arXiv:0803.4222
- [2] Inês Aniceto

Matrix Reduction and the $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ Superalgebra in AdS/CFT Physical Review **D79** 086014 (2009), arXiv:0809.2645

- [3] Inês Aniceto and Antal Jevicki
 N-body Dynamics of Giant Magnons in ℝ×S²
 Pre-Print: Brown-HET 1567, arXiv:0810.4548
- [4] Michael C. Abbott and Inês Aniceto
 Giant Magnons in AdS₄ × CP³: Embeddings, Charges, and a Hamiltonian
 Journal of High Energy Physics 04 (2009) 136, arXiv:0811.2423
- [5] Michael C. Abbott, Inês Aniceto and Olof Ohlsson Sax Dyonic Giant Magnons in CP³: Strings and Curves at Finite-J Pre-Print: Brown-HET 1580, arXiv:0903.3365

The following papers published during the same time are not included in this thesis:

[6] Inês Aniceto and Antal Jevicki

Notes on Collective Field Theory of Matrix and Spin Calogero Models Journal of Physics A **39** (2006) 12765–12792, arXiv: hep-th/0607152.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am very grateful to my advisor Antal Jevicki for all support he has given me during my Ph.D. research, providing me with both guidance and independence through several projects. I would also like to thank Michael Abbott for the very fruitful on-going collaboration, from which I have learned some much, and Olof Ohlsson Sax for his collaboration in very interesting topics.

Several people in the Brown high energy theory group, or related to it, have helped me during periods of my research through very constructive conversations. Among these people I would like to mention Marcus Spradlin, Robert de Mello Koch, Jean Avan, Yorgos Papathanasiou and Chrysostomos Kalousios. I would also like to thank Martin Kruczenski and Thomas Klose for very helpful correspondence. I would like to thank Anastasia Volovich and Chung-I Tan as well for reading a draft of this dissertation.

Finally I am very grateful to my family and friends, specially my grandmother, Maria de Lurdes Varela, my mother, Lena Pilar, my stepfather, Fernando Alpiarça, as well as Luiz de Viveiros, Ana Teixeira and Matt Lease for keeping my sanity during this period.

Financial support

During my candidacy to the Ph.D. degree, I have been supported by the following sources

- Portuguese Fellowship SFRH/BD/14351/2003 from Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia under contract POCI 2010 and FSE, Portugal
- The Physics Department, as a Teaching Assistant in the academic year 2007-2008

- The Graduate School, through a dissertation fellowship
- $\bullet\,$ The Department of Energy, through the DOE grant DE-FG02-91ER40688- Task A

DEDICATION

À minha avó Maria de Lurdes,

para que ela entenda pelo menos uma frase desta dissertação

Contents

1	INTRODUCTION	1
2	The Algebra of ADS_5/CFT_4	7
2.1	The algebra of strings in a $AdS_5 \times S^5$ background	10
2.2	Superstrings on $AdS_5 \times S^5$: action and symmetry algebra generators	11
	Parametrization of coset group elements 13, The Uniform Light-Cone	
	Gauge 16, Conserved Charges 20	
2.3	Superstring on $AdS_5 \times S^5$: Superalgebra generators	22
	The Central Extension 24, The Level-Matching Condition \mathcal{E} the Central	
	Charges 26, $\mathfrak{su}(2 2)$ subsector and mode expansion 29	
2.4	$\mathcal{N}=4$ SYM on $\mathbb{R}\times S^3$: A review	33
	SUSY transformations and corresponding charges 34, Harmonic Expansion	
	on S^3 and the Plane-Wave Limit 36	
2.5	The $\mathfrak{su}(2 3)$ subsector and its restriction to the $\mathfrak{su}(2 2)$	38
	The $\mathfrak{su}(2 2)$ subsector: vacuum and excitations 39, Commutation Rela-	
	tions 45, Supercharges as operators in momentum space 48	
2.6	Summary of the superalgebra results	51
3	Solitons in $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$: Giant Magnons & Single Spikes	53
3.1	Semiclassical Giant Magnons and Giant Spikes in $\mathbb{R}\times S^2$	55
	Spiky strings in flat space 56, On the sphere 58	

3.2	Other Classical String Solutions: Finite-J solutions	60
3.3	Zero and Non-zero modes for the Single Spike	62
	Zero modes 62, Non-zero modes 64, Modes in AdS directions 66	
3.4	Quantum Corrections	66
	Corrections to what? 66, Quadratic 2-dimensional Hamiltonian 69, First	
	quantum correction 71, About these boundary conditions 75	
3.5	Properties and semi-classical results for the single spike solution	77
4	Scattering of N Magnons	79
4.1	From Classical Strings to sine-Gordon: Pohlmeyer Map	81
	Giant magnons and giant spike as sine-Gordon solitons 84	
4.2	Review of sine-Gordon Dynamics	88
4.3	An ansatz for the dynamics of a two-magnon system	93
	The N-magnon Hamiltonian 95	
4.4	Poisson Structure for the N -Magnon Dynamics	99
	Bi-Hamiltonian structure of Relativistic Toda Lattice 102, Construction	
	of the hierarchy of Poisson brackets 103	
4.5	Summary of results	107
5	Algebraic curve formalism for strings in $AdS_5 imes S^5$	109
5.1	The sigma model of $\mathbb{R}\times S^{m-1}$	110
	Properties of the monodromy matrix 114, Restriction to $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$: Bethe	
	ansatz 121	
5.2	General Be the Ansatz for a string in $\mathbb{R}\times S^{m-1}$	131
	The quasi-momenta for $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$ 135, Branch cuts and condensates 138	
5.3	The full $AdS_5 \times S^5$ string Bethe ansatz	139
	$AdS_5 \times S^5$ string Bethe ansatz 142, Moduli of string solutions 145	
5.4	Restriction to $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$: The dyonic Giant Magnon solution	145
	Finite size corrections 148	

6	GIANT MAGNONS IN $AdS_4 \times CP^3$	150
6.1	Groups in ABJM theory	152
6.2	The geometry of CP^3	154
6.3	The string sigma-model for $AdS_4 \times CP^3$	156
6.4	Placing giant magnons into CP^3	159
	The subspace CP^1 160, The subspace RP^2 161, The subspace RP^3 163,	
	Comparison of CP^1 and RP^2 magnons 165	
6.5	Some larger subspaces	167
	The subspace CP^2 167, The subspace $S^2 \times S^2$ 168, The subspace $S^2 \times S^1$	
	168, The subspace CP^1 , again 169	
6.6	New solutions in CP^3	170
	Dyonic generalization of the CP^1 magnon 170, Dressing method solution	
	$in \ CP^2 \ 173$	
6.7	Finite- J corrections	175
7	Algebraic curves in CP^3 and finite-J corrections	179
7.1	The algebraic curve for $AdS_4 \times CP^3$	180
	Algebraic curve with manifest $OSp(2,2 6)$ symmetry 182, Giant magnons	
	in the curve 184, Coalescence of non-dyonic solutions 186	
7.2	Finite-size corrections in the curve	188
	Finite-size small giant magnon 188, Finite-size pair of small magnons	
	191, Finite-size big magnon 192	
7.3	Dictionary between strings and curves: summary of results	194
8	Conclusions and Future Directions	196
А	Expansions of the Supercharges of $\mathfrak{su}(2 2)$	200
A.1	The Oscillator Representation	200
	Algebra Generators 202	
A.2	Commuting the $\mathfrak{su}(2 2)$ supercharges up to two-loops	204

В	Fermionic Sector of the Single Spike	207
B.1	Fermionic Sector	207
	Setup and definitions 207, Non-zero modes 211, Mass and Counting 2	217
B.2	Fermionic Zero modes	218
С	Fillings and Fermionic Poles	222
C.1	Properties of fillings of branch cuts	222
C.2	The behaviour of the quasi-momenta at a fermionic pole	224
D	On the CP3 Geometry And Conserved Charges	226
D.1	More about the geometry of $\mathbb{C}P^3$	226
D.2	Strings in homogeneous co-ordinates	228
	Using Lagrange multipliers 229, Constraining S^7 solutions 230	
D.3	Fluctuation Hamiltonian for the point particle	231
D.4	Expansions of charges at finite- J for CP^3 magnons	234
-		

BIBLIOGRAPHY

236

LIST OF TABLES

6.1	Summary of giant magnons in the string sigma-model of $AdS_4 \times CP^3$	173
7.1	Summary of giant magnons in the algebraic curve of $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ and corre-	
	sponding dispersion relations at finite-J.	187
A.2	Physical degrees of freedom of $\mathfrak{su}(2)^4$ and corresponding quantum numbers	201

LIST OF FIGURES

3.1	The original and T-dual spiky string in flat space	57
3.2	Giant magnon and single spike as rotating string solutions in S^2	59
4.1	Mapping of giant magnon and single spike into sine-Gordon theory	85
4.2	Scattering of two magnons.	87
5.1	Physical branch cuts in the bosonic algebraic curve formalism of $\mathbb{R}\times S^5$.	122
5.2	The structure of \mathscr{A} -cycles and \mathscr{B} -periods of the branch cuts	127
5.3	Physical branch cuts and fermionic poles in the algebraic curve formalism for	
	the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	140
5.4	Structure of cuts and condensates for finite- J magnons	149
6.1	Giant magnons embedded in S^2 , RP^2 and CP^1	163
6.2	Profiles of the CP^2 magnon solution $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	172
6.3	Two classes of finite-J magnons in S^2	177
7.1	Branch cuts and evaluation points for the resolvent of finite-J magnons	189

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

"There is a theory which states that if ever anyone discovers exactly what the Universe is for and why it is here, it will instantly disappear and be replaced by something even more bizarre and inexplicable. There is another which states that this has already happened."

Douglas Adams, Hitchhiker's Guide to the Galaxy

Having started as an attempt to describe the physics of strong interactions before the introduction of QCD, string theory has become one of the best candidates for a quantum theory of gravity. In this theory, the oscillations of the strings that can be interpreted as particles. In a low energy limit, the oscillations of these strings will look like localized excitations different oscillation modes correspond to the different kinds of particles, including gauge fields. From this perspective, gauge fields appear as non-fundamental objects which are excitations of the fundamental strings. Gravity itself is derived from the interaction of these fundamental objects (through splitting and joining). But such a perspective is too narrow. In fact, a better understanding of non-perturbative string theory and D-branes has shed light into another interpretation of gauge fields: it has been seen that string theory in certain space-time backgrounds has a dual description as a gauge field theory, thus putting gauge fields and strings as fundamental objects in the respective theories. This gauge/string duality, also known as Anti-de-Sitter/Conformal Field Theory (AdS/CFT) correspondence, was first proposed by Maldacena [1], and identified string theory on an $AdS_{d+1} \times X$ background with a conformal field theory living on the boundary of this AdS_{d+1} space (d-dimensional).

String/Gauge Dualities

Gauge/string dualities relate two seemingly different quantum physical descriptions, one being a gauge field theory in a number of space-time dimensions, and the other a string theory on a two-dimensional conformal worldsheet. The most studied of these dualities is the AdS_5/CFT_4 correspondence [1], which relates type IIB superstring theory on the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ background and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang-Mills (SYM) gauge theory in four dimensions.

Both theories in the duality have a coupling constant λ and a genus-counting parameter g_s (string theory) and g_{YM} (on the gauge side). The latter g_s appears naturally on the string side, and related to the coupling of an $U(N_c)$ gauge theory through $g_{YM}^2 = 4\pi g_s$. At N_c large, there is a natural choice for the effective coupling λ in each theory, given by the 't Hooft coupling $\lambda = g_{YM}^2 N_c$ for the gauge theory [2], and is related to the string tension $\lambda = R^4/\alpha^2$ on the string side (R is the radius of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ background, and α is the the inverse of the string tension). In a path integral formulation of these theories, one can easily see that only the combinations $\hbar g_{YM}^2$ and $R^2/\hbar\alpha$ appear in the gauge and string theories, respectively. Then, obtaining an expansion in $\hbar \ll 1$ (quantum corrections) is equivalent to expanding in $g_{YM}^2 \ll 1$ and $\alpha/R^2 \ll 1$. A direct comparison between these two theories is then non-trivial because of the strong/weak property of this duality. In the perturbative regime of gauge theory ('t Hooft coupling small), string theory is strongly coupled (α large), and vice versa. Thus, this property makes checking this conjectured duality a very hard problem to solve. as one cannot access both perturbative regimes at the same time. On the other hand, if we choose to believe in this correspondence, then it gives us access to previously inaccessible regimes in both sides of the duality.

Even though a direct comparison of most quantities in both sides of the duality can not be done, there are a few cases where such a comparison can be performed [3,4]. One example consists in calculating quantities which are protected from receiving quantum corrections (by supersymmetry). Other examples include certain limits which can be taken, such as the plane-wave limit [5], where the existence of some large charge allows us to define an effective coupling, and thus reach both sides of the duality.

Recently, a new example of an AdS/CFT duality has been conjectured [6], which re-

lates the three dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 6$ superconformal Chern-Simons theory (with a gauge group $SU(N) \times SU(N)$) and a theory of M2-branes in the background $AdS_4 \times S^7/Z_k$ (11dimensional). The parameter k in this AdS_4/CFT_3 duality is the Chern-Simons level. If we consider the limit $k, N \to \infty$ keeping $\lambda = 2\pi N/k$ fixed (scaling limit), then the eleven dimensional M-theory becomes the type IIA superstring theory on the $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ background.

One of the main focuses of this dissertation is the study of the classical string and gauge theories of these two examples of the AdS/CFT correspondence, and their semi-classical behaviour. This will be done with using tools such as the symmetries underlying each of these dualities, and their integrability properties.

Symmetries

The symmetries of a physical system are one of our best hopes of truly understanding it. The algebra of symmetries $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ is central in $\mathrm{AdS}_5/\mathrm{CFT}_4$ correspondence, as both the gauge theory and its string theory dual have the same underlying supersymmetry algebra $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$. The two dimensional sigma-model which gives us the perturbative string theory in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ [7] has a manifest global symmetry under PSU(2,2|4) [8,9], the isometry group of the target space. This is the same group of internal and space-time (superconformal) symmetries of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM (see [10] and references therein). Through AdS/CFT correspondence, the spectrum of energies of string states should coincide with the scaling dimensions of conformal gauge operators. This can be seen at the algebra level as a correspondence between the eigenvalues of the string light-cone Hamiltonian and the eigenvalues of the Dilatation operator in gauge theory, and was checked in the so called thermodynamic [11, 12] and BMN [5] limits [13, 14, 15, 16, 17]. In the case of the AdS₄/CFT₃ correspondence the same approach can be taken, but in this case the group of symmetries shared by string and gauge theories is the OSp(2, 2|6) [18].

The sigma-models for these dualities have been shown to be classically integrable [19,18], thus having an infinite number of (non)local integrals of motion. It is of great interest to study the algebra of symmetries of these dualities, which together with the integrability of the theories can give a lot of information on several properties of the physical system, such as scattering.

Integrability

Because of the integrable structures found to exist in planar (and perturbative) $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM and in classical IIB superstring theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5$, these theories are thought to have a Yangian symmetry, that is, an infinite number of conserved charges. Together with the symmetry algebra already known, these charges can provide a much more thorough map between gauge and string theories. But we are far from having a full set of explicit solutions with which to compare the two sides of the duality. Nevertheless, even if we don't know explicit form of the solutions, we can try to use the integrability properties of the theories to construct and compare the respective Bethe ansatz equations, allowing us to explore the full energy spectrum of classical strings and of eigenstates of the (planar) dilatation operator in gauge theory.

The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM theory was first seen to have integrable structures by Minahan and Zarembo in [20], where they found that in the invariant $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ sector (sector containing scalars) and at one-loop order in the 't Hooft coupling λ , the dilatation operator is isomorphic to the Hamiltonian of a $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ integrable quantum spin chain. There it was shown that determining the anomalous dimensions of operators (eigenvalues of the dilatation operator) in the $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ sector of the gauge theory is equivalent to solving the corresponding Bethe equations of this sector. This description of gauge theory operators as spin-chains can be easily pictured in the large N_c limit. In this limit one can restrict local operators to be singletrace operators, and we interpret the traces as cyclic spin-chains, and the fields inside the traces as spin sites. A specific example is the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector, where the operators are traces of products of two scalar fields, and corresponds to the spin-1/2 Heisenberg model (only nearest neighbour interactions). The $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ sector will correspond to a spin-chain where at each site the spin can take six different values. This equivalence between conformal dimensions of operators and integrable spin chains has been generalized to the full $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ algebra [21], and the gauge theory was also seen to be integrable to higher loops [21, 22, 23, 10, 24].

On the string side, the BMN limit allowed one to study the string action in a near planewave geometry, and compare results to near BPS gauge operators. On the other hand, the thermodynamic limit of string theory was seen to correspond to a semi-classical expansion about solitonic string solutions in the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ background [11]. This led to the study of multi-spin string configurations rotating on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ [12, 25] which were then compared to the $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ sector of the gauge theory. This work was later generalized to other classical string solutions with very large angular momentum in some directions of S^5 , called giant magnons [26, 27], or of AdS^5 [28] in a limit which differs somewhat from the BMN limit, allowing us to take the large spin and semi-classical limits separately.

One can also study the comparison of integrable structures of string and gauge theories through the algebraic curve formalism. This was first studied in [29], where the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ conserved currents of the classical string sigma-model were used to construct a Lax pair and re-write the equations of motion as a Riemann-Hilbert problem in terms of hyperelliptic curves. It was also shown that the same can be obtained from the gauge theory side up to two loops. These results have been generalized to other sectors of the theory [30,31,32,33]. The full spectrum of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstrings has been studied in [34] (at the classical level) and in [35] (quantum generalization). A Bethe ansatz for quantum strings was first proposed in [36], and further studied in [37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42], including comparisons to the Bethe ansatz equations from the gauge side.

The integrable structures of the new gauge/string duality, the AdS_4/CFT_3 , have also been studied: the sigma model has been seen to be classically integrable [18], and semiclassical expansions of rotating string configurations have also been studied [43,44,45]. These results were compared to the ones obtained through the algebraic curve formalism [46,47].

Solitons

As with any physical system, it is of great interest to determine any solitonic solutions of the theory, and consider them as the fundamental excitations which one can then use to build the other states of the theory. In the limit of long spinning strings in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ such solitonic solutions were seen to exist [26] and were called giant magnons. Related to these by a generalized T-dual transformation another kind of solutions were also found [48], called the giant single spikes. The solitonic properties of these solutions were discussed through a reduction to the sine-Gordon field theory using the so called Pohlmeyer map [49]. Through this, the giant magnons were mapped to the sine-Gordon kinks (and the single spikes to an unstable kink) and some of their classical and semiclassical properties were determined, such as the time delay of scattering of magnons and their phase shift. This phase shift was found to be different for scattering of giant magnons and of sine-Gordon kinks, a consequence of a different symplectic structure associated to each of the problems [50]. Some attempts have been made to reconcile this issue [51], where the conjectured existence of a bi-Hamiltonian structure on the relativistic N-body model related to both sine-Gordon solitons and giant magnons was seen to lead to such a difference on the phase shifts.

Overview

The main text of this dissertation is divided into six parts. The first three chapters focus of the AdS_5/CFT_4 correspondence, introducing the algebra of symmetries and studying dynamics of giant magnon soliton solutions and the related giant spikes at a semi-classical level. The fourth chapter gives an introduction to the algebraic curve formalism from the string sigma model in $AdS_5 \times S^5$. The last two chapters focus on the AdS_4/CFT_3 correspondence, determining the spectrum of magnon solutions in the $\mathbb{R} \times CP^3$ space in the algebraic curve, and comparing it to several magnon solutions in this space.

CHAPTER 2

The Algebra of ADS_5/CFT_4

The gauge/string duality has been the object of study for more than a decade by means of the AdS/CFT correspondence [1,52,53], between IIB superstrings on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ $U(N_c)$ super Yang-Mills theory in four dimensions. But while the results calculated from the gauge theory are perturbative in 't Hooft coupling $\lambda = g_{YM}^2 N_c$, the calculations on the string side are valid for strong coupling λ .

This strong/weak property of the duality limited its study to operators/states in sectors protected by supersymmetry, as these would receive no quantum corrections. But a heuristic comparison of the algebraic structures in the weak/strong coupling limits was possible by taking the plane-wave limit, or BMN limit [5]. On the gauge theory side, the BMN limit is taken by considering single trace operators, i.e. N_c very large, with large *R*-charge of $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ $J \sim \sqrt{N_c}$ and conformal dimension Δ , keeping $\Delta - J$ finite. These operators consist of a chiral primary (trace of a large number of a complex field) with some impurities (other complex fields, bosonic or fermionic). Even though the 't Hooft coupling $\lambda = g_{YM}^2 N_c$ is very large, one can use perturbation theory provided some effective coupling $\lambda' = g_{YM}^2 N_c/J^2 \sim g_{YM}^2$ is kept fixed and small.

On the string side we start from the Green-Schwarz action on the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ [7], with $J \sim \sqrt{N_c}$ now being the angular momentum in one of the directions of S^5 . We also take the energy E (generator of time translations in AdS_5) to be large, obeying E - J finite, thus originating point-like closed strings with large angular momentum in S^5 . In light-cone gauge, the quantity E - J is just the light-cone Hamiltonian, and the light-cone momentum

 $P_+ = E + J$ is very large. In this case, there is an effective coupling just $\tilde{\lambda} = 4\lambda/P_+^2$, which is equivalent to λ' in the limit $J \to \infty$ $(P_+/2 \to J)$. This limit allowed a direct comparison of the dilatation operator in SYM (anomalous dimensions of operators in the conformal field theory) to the energies (E-J) of point like semiclassical string oscillations in the plane-wave geometry.

The algebra of symmetries $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ is central in $\mathrm{AdS}_5/\mathrm{CFT}_4$ correspondence, as both the gauge theory and its string theory dual have the same underlying supersymmetry algebra. The two dimensional sigma-model, which gives us the perturbative string theory in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ [7], has a manifest global symmetry under $\mathrm{PSU}(2,2|4)$ [8,9], which is the same group of internal and space-time symmetries of the $\mathscr{N} = 4$ SYM (see [10] and references therein).

In particular, one can use the algebra to compare the scattering of particles in the duality. For large 't Hooft coupling the scattering is best described by string theory, but for small 't Hooft coupling the spin-chain description is more adequate. It was shown by Beisert that in this limit the non-perturbative S-matrix is almost completely determined by the centrally extended $\mathfrak{su}(2|2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ algebra [54,55,56], up to an overall dressing phase (determined by a crossing symmetry restriction [57,58,59,60]). In fact, the invariance of the S-matrix under this algebra (that is, its trivial commutation relations with every generator of the algebra) led to discovery that it satisfies the Yang-Baxter equation, requirement for a factorized scattering, which is a property of integrability [55]. The related Yangian symmetry was also found in [61].

Each of these centrally extended algebras $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ has the following structure: bosonic (kinematical) generators $\mathbf{R}^{a}_{b}, \mathbf{L}^{\alpha}_{\beta}$, corresponding to the rotation generators of the bosonic subalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)$; fermionic (dynamical) supersymmetry generators $\mathbf{Q}^{\alpha}_{a}, \mathbf{Q}^{\dagger b}_{\beta}$; and three central charges $\mathbf{H}, \mathbf{C}, \mathbf{C}^{\dagger}$ (Hamiltonian, generator of space translations and of boosts).¹

¹Note that $(\mathbf{Q}_{a}^{\alpha})^{\dagger} = \mathbf{Q}_{\alpha}^{\dagger a}$ and the same relation holds to the central elements **C** and \mathbf{C}^{\dagger} .

Their commutation relations are:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{L}^{\alpha}_{\beta}, \mathbf{J}^{\gamma} \end{bmatrix} = \delta^{\gamma}_{\beta} \mathbf{J}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta} \mathbf{J}^{\gamma}, \qquad [\mathbf{R}^{a}_{b}, \mathbf{J}^{c}] = \delta^{c}_{b} \mathbf{J}^{a} - \frac{1}{2} \delta^{a}_{b} \mathbf{J}^{c}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{L}^{\alpha}_{\beta}, \mathbf{J}_{\gamma} \end{bmatrix} = -\delta^{\alpha}_{\gamma} \mathbf{J}_{\beta} + \frac{1}{2} \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta} \mathbf{J}_{\gamma}, \qquad [\mathbf{R}^{a}_{b}, \mathbf{J}_{c}] = -\delta^{a}_{c} \mathbf{J}_{b} + \frac{1}{2} \delta^{a}_{b} \mathbf{J}_{c}, \\ \left\{ \mathbf{Q}^{\alpha}_{a}, \mathbf{Q}^{\dagger b}_{\beta} \right\} = \delta^{b}_{a} \mathbf{L}^{\alpha}_{\beta} + \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta} \mathbf{R}^{b}_{a} + \frac{1}{2} \delta^{b}_{a} \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta} \mathbf{H}, \qquad (2.1) \\ \left\{ \mathbf{Q}^{\alpha}_{a}, \mathbf{Q}^{\beta}_{b} \right\} = \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{ab} \mathbf{C}, \qquad \left\{ \mathbf{Q}^{\dagger a}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{Q}^{\dagger b}_{\beta} \right\} = \varepsilon^{ab} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{C}^{\dagger}.$$

In the above expressions, \mathbf{J}^{M} (where $M \in \{a, \alpha\}$, *a* being bosonic indices and α being the fermionic ones), is any element of the Lie algebra. From the elements of the algebra, the dilatation operator (or central charge Hamiltonian) has been studied in detail (see [10] and references therein).

Much has been done on the study of sectors of this superconformal algebra on the string side [62,63,64,65,66]. On the gauge side, Beisert has perturbatively studied and determined the action of the generators of the superalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ up to two loops, by first restricting to the subalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2|3)$ whose fundamental representation consists of three complex scalars and two complex fermions [67], and finally considering an infinite chain of one of the scalar operators [55]. Using Bethe Ansatz techniques it was later conjectured an all loop result in this sector for the action of the algebra generators [56].

In this chapter, we present the SUSY algebra in terms of a matrix model reduction of Yang-Mills Theory in the large N limit. The matrix model has played a very useful role in large N theories. In fact, the $\frac{1}{2}$ BPS sector of N = 4 SYM is completely described in terms of a complex matrix model [68, 69, 70, 71, 72], and the $\frac{1}{4}$ BPS generalization is also of great interest (work in progress). Presently, the interest is in the detailed construction and comparison of supercharges and their commutation relations both on the Yang-Mills and on the string side. We will demonstrate that the algebra given by Beisert in [56] (at least at one loop) is correctly reproduced from the reduced Matrix model point of view.

In [73] it was seen that the plane-wave matrix theory [5,74] arises when compactifying $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM in $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$ followed by a consistent truncation in order to keep only the lowest Kaluza-Klein modes (see also [75,76]). These modes have masses proportional to a mass pa-

rameter, given by $\left(\frac{m}{3}\right)^3 = \frac{32\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2}$. This theory was shown (in some sectors) to still be integrable up to four-loops [77, 78]. Study of this model is simpler than the full $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM, and can be found in Section 2.4. In this section we present a detailed study of the supercharges Qand S, following the approach of [73]. In Section 2.5 we restrict the action of the generators of the algebra to a subsector $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$. The results presented in this paper are one-loop, and we compare our results with the non-local generators presented in [56], evaluating some of the parameters defining these generators.

Some methods have been employed in the gauge theory side that allowed a comparison of the Hamiltonian to string theory equivalent algebra generator. Such methods include the use of coherent states [13, 17, 79], collective field theory and string field theory [80, 81]. In this framework one can compare a discrete (first quantized) version of the supercharges on the string side with the oscillator expansion of the charges in SYM, in the BMN limit.

2.1 The algebra of strings in a $AdS_5 \times S^5$ background

We start from the Green-Schwarz string theory on the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ background, following [66,64]. The string sigma-model has a global symmetry given by the supergroup PSU(2,2|4). Because it is a string theory, it also has local worldsheet diffeomorphism symmetries and the fermionic κ -symmetry. So one is interested in fixing these symmetries and keeping only the physical degrees of freedom. In order to do so, the uniform light-cone gauge will be used.²

Our main interest is in studying the generators of the superisometry algebra $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$, which can be divided into two groups, according to whether they (Poisson) commute with the Hamiltonian or not. The first case corresponds to the subalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2|2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ which is the algebra we will be focusing on. We can also separate the generators into dynamical and kinematical generators, depending on whether they depend or not on some unphysical field

 $\frac{PSU\left(2,2|4\right)}{SO\left(1,4\right)\times SO\left(5\right)}$

²One thing to remember is that the manifold space is given by the full group of isometries divided by the little group (that is, the group of isometries, or rigid rotations, given one fixed point). In the case of S^5 we have $S^5 \equiv \frac{SO(6)}{SO(5)}$, and also for $AdS_5 \equiv \frac{SO(2,4)}{SO(1,4)}$. The full group of isometries of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ is PSU(2,2|4), and so the space manifold is equivalent to

 x_{-} (one of the light-cone co-ordinates). The zero mode of this unphysical field x_{-} will be seen to be the conjugate variable to the total light-cone momentum P_{+} , and consequently, the dynamical variables change the light-cone momentum. The large J limit mentioned before corresponds to the limit of infinite P_{+} in light-cone variables, and in this limit one can see that the zero mode x_{-}^{0} can be dropped.

The derivative x'_{-} can also be seen to be a density of the world-sheet momentum (related to rigid symmetries of the σ -direction of the string action, after gauge fixing), and for closed strings the periodicity of the fields requires the total worldsheet momentum to vanish. This imposes a constraint in x_{-} , called the level-matching condition. It can be shown in the string theory frame that relaxing this level-matching condition and considering the limit of infinite light-cone momentum P_{+} leads to a central extended $\mathfrak{su}(2|2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ algebra. This extension consists of an extra common central element, proportional to the level-matching condition, with the Hamiltonian remaining central (as in the on-shell algebra, where the level-matching condition is obeyed).

The same thing should be obtainable from the gauge theory side. In $\mathscr{N} = 4$ gauge theory, the level-matching condition corresponds to working with traces of products of fields (gaugeinvariant operators), and the relaxing of such constraint corresponds to consider infinitely long operators. From [55] one has that the opening of the traces and considering infinitely long operators will add two central charges (to the one already existing, the Hamiltonian) to the algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2|2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2|2)$, functions of the momentum carried by the one-particle excitations.

2.2 Superstrings on $AdS_5 \times S^5$: action and symmetry algebra generators

The full superstring action is a sum of the non-linear σ -model and a topological Wess-Zumino term (uniquely fixed by requiring PSU(2,2|4) and κ -symmetry invariance). Its target space is given by the coset manifold [7]

$$\frac{\mathrm{PSU}(2,2|4)}{\mathrm{SO}(4,1)\times\mathrm{SO}(5)}.$$

We want to study the algebra of isometries of this action, the psu(2,2|4) superalgebra. This analysis follows closely [64]. To study this coset space, consider 8×8 matrices of the form

$$M = \left(\begin{array}{cc} A & X \\ Y & D \end{array}\right),$$

where the 4×4 matrices A and D are Grassmann even, while the matrices X and Y are Grassmann odd. The superalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ can be described by requiring that M has vanishing supertrace, $\operatorname{str} M = \operatorname{tr} A - \operatorname{tr} D = 0$, and satisfies $HM + M^{\dagger}H = 0$. In this last condition, the matrix H is a hermitian matrix, chosen to be

$$H = \left(egin{array}{cc} \Sigma & 0 \ 0 & \mathbb{I} \end{array}
ight), ext{ with } \Sigma = \left(egin{array}{cc} \mathbb{I}_{2 imes 2} & 0 \ 0 & -\mathbb{I}_{2 imes 2} \end{array}
ight).$$

This choice of H allows us to easily see that $A \in \mathfrak{u}(2,2)$ and $D \in \mathfrak{u}(4)$, and also that $Y = -X^{\dagger}\Sigma$ (conjugated to each other). There is a $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ generator from each of the $\mathfrak{u}(2,2)$ and $\mathfrak{u}(4)$, but only the supertraceless combination of the two belongs to $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$. So, the bosonic subalgebra of $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ is

$$\mathfrak{su}(2,2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(4) \oplus \mathfrak{u}(1)$$
.

Finally the superalgebra $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ corresponds to the quotient algebra of $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ over this last $\mathfrak{u}(1)$, and cannot be represented in 8×8 matrices. Nevertheless, this last result will be enough for the present discussion, and we now turn to building the superstring action.

To construct the superstring action, one uses a \mathbb{Z}_4 grading of the superalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$.

This grading is defined by the automorphisms $M \to \Omega(M)$, where

$$\Omega(M) = \begin{pmatrix} KA^{t}K & -KY^{t}K \\ KX^{t}K & KD^{t}K \end{pmatrix}, \text{ with } K = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Given this automorphism, any matrix $M \in \mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ can be decomposed into 4 term

$$M = M^{(0)} + M^{(2)} + M^{(1)} + M^{(3)},$$

where each term will obey $\Omega(M^{(p)}) = i^p M^{(p)}$. Note that $M^{(0,2)}$ are Grassmann even, while $M^{(1,3)}$ are Grassmann odd. It can be seen that the matrices $M^{(0)}$ span the $\mathfrak{so}(4,1) \times \mathfrak{so}(5)$ subalgebra, to be mod out in the coset space.

One now considers a group element g of PSU(2,2|4), and constructs a flat current (\mathbb{Z}_4 decomposition)

$$\mathbf{A} = -g^{-1}dg = \mathbf{A}^{(0)} + \mathbf{A}^{(1)} + \mathbf{A}^{(2)} + \mathbf{A}^{(3)},$$

from which the superstring action can be written as [7]:

$$S = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \mathrm{d}\sigma \mathrm{d}\tau \left(\gamma^{\alpha\beta} \mathrm{str} \left(\mathbf{A}_{\alpha}^{(2)} \mathbf{A}_{\beta}^{(2)} \right) + \kappa \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \mathrm{str} \left(\mathbf{A}_{\alpha}^{(1)} \mathbf{A}_{\beta}^{(3)} \right) \right).$$

In the above expression, λ is the string effective tension, and from κ -symmetry we have $\kappa = \pm 1$. Also $\gamma^{\alpha\beta} = \sqrt{-h}h^{\alpha\beta}$ where $h^{\alpha\beta}$ is the worldsheet metric.

Parametrization of coset group elements

Before we start, it is important to parametrize the bosonic part of the orthogonal complement of $\mathfrak{so}(4,1) \times \mathfrak{so}(5)$ (the latter spanned by the matrices $M^{(0)}$), namely the even matrices $M^{(2)}$. The total bosonic algebra corresponds to $\mathfrak{su}(2,2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(4)$, and we will be treating the algebras $\mathfrak{so}(4,1)$ and $\mathfrak{so}(5)$ and their orthogonal complements separately. The algebra $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ has 15 generators, out of which 10 span the algebra $\mathfrak{so}(5)$, and the other 5 span its orthogonal complement.

$$M^{(0,2)} = \left[egin{array}{cc} A_{0,2} & 0 \ 0 & D_{0,2} \end{array}
ight],$$

then we have the relations

$$\begin{cases} KA_0^t K = A_0 \\ KD_0^t K = D_0 \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{cases} KA_2^t K = -A_2 \\ KD_2^t K = -D_2 \end{cases}$$

In these, $D_{0,2} \in \mathfrak{su}(4) \equiv \mathfrak{so}(6)$, while $A_{0,2} \in \mathfrak{su}(2,2) \equiv \mathfrak{so}(4,2)$. So we can conclude that the D_0 will span $\mathfrak{so}(5)$ while D_2 spans its orthogonal complement (and the analogous relation can be found between $A_0 \in \mathfrak{so}(4,1)$, and $A_2 \in \mathfrak{so}(4,1)^{\perp}$).

In order to parametrize $M^{(2)}$, one introduces the 5 (hermitian) Dirac matrices for SO(5) $\{\gamma_s, s = 1, ..., 4, \gamma_5 = \Sigma\}$, such that

$$K\gamma_s^t K = -\gamma_s$$
, $K\Sigma^t K = -\Sigma$.

These 5 generators span the orthogonal complement to the algebra $\mathfrak{so}(5)$, understood as a subalgebra of $\mathfrak{su}(4)$, while the other 10 generators of $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ will obey the same relations with a plus sign on the r.h.s..

To parametrize the orthogonal algebra to $\mathfrak{so}(4,1)$, one can take $\{\gamma_a, a = 1, ..., 4, i\Sigma\}$, where the γ_a are the Dirac matrices pointed above.

We can finally write a matrix ${\cal M}^{(2)}$ as

$$M^{(2)} = x_M \Sigma_M + \begin{pmatrix} it \Sigma & 0 \\ 0 & i\phi \Sigma \end{pmatrix} + im_0 \mathbb{I},$$

where we have real parameters $x_M = \{z_a, y_s\}, t, \phi, m_0$, and the 8×8 generators:³

$$\Sigma_{M} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{a} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & i\gamma_{s} \end{pmatrix} \right\}, \quad \Sigma_{\pm} = \begin{pmatrix} \pm \Sigma & 0 \\ 0 & \Sigma \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.2)

The real parameters are such that $\{t, z_a\}$ parametrize AdS₅ space, and $\{\phi, y_s\}$ parametrize S⁵.

We are now ready to parametrize a general element of the coset group. For that choose $g(\chi, x, t, \phi) = \Lambda(t, \phi) g(\chi) g(\chi)$. Matrices $\Lambda(t, \phi), g(\chi)$ are even, and give us an embedding of the target space into $SU(2,2) \times SU(4)$, and the matrix $g(\chi)$ is odd, and includes all the 32 fermionic degrees of freedom. We have

$$g(x) = \begin{pmatrix} g_a(z) & 0\\ 0 & g_s(y) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Lambda(t,\phi) = \exp\left\{\frac{i}{2}\left(x_+\Sigma_+ + x_-\Sigma_-\right)\right\}, \quad (2.3)$$

where x_{\pm} are the light-cone co-ordinates, given in the next section, and

$$g_a(z) = (4 - z_a^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}} (2 + z_a \gamma_a) , \quad g_s(y) = (4 + y^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}} (2 + i y_s \gamma_s) .$$

Using this parametrization, the metric of the target space is:

$$ds^{2} = -G_{tt}(z)dt^{2} + G_{\phi\phi}d\phi^{2} + \frac{16}{(4-z^{2})^{2}}dz_{a}dz_{b} + \frac{16}{(4+y^{2})^{2}}dy_{s}dy_{r},$$
(2.4)

with $G_{tt} = \left(\frac{4+z^2}{4-z^2}\right)^2$ and $G_{\phi\phi} = \left(\frac{4-y^2}{4+y^2}\right)^2$.

Finally we need to parametrize the fermionic degrees of freedom. They are given by

$$g(\boldsymbol{\chi}) = \boldsymbol{\chi} + \sqrt{1 + \boldsymbol{\chi}^2}, \quad \boldsymbol{\chi} = \left(egin{array}{cc} 0 & \Theta \\ -\Theta^{\dagger} \Sigma & 0 \end{array}
ight).$$

The next step is to fix κ -symmetry and use the uniform light-cone gauge.

³It includes I the identity 8×8 matrix, which is a U(1) generator, included in the algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$, but divided in the $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$.

The Uniform Light-Cone Gauge

To impose the light cone gauge on a string propagating on some target space, we will use the time co-ordinate of the manifold, called t, and we assume there is an angle variable ϕ with respect to which the manifold has a U(1) isometry under shifts of ϕ [62]. Also the string σ -model action has to be invariant under shifts of both t and ϕ , as well as all of the bosonic and fermionic fields (the string action does not depend explicitly on t or ϕ and depends only on the derivatives of the fields). In particular we will be interested in studying the Green-Schwarz superstring in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ [7]. For this case, t is just the global time co-ordinate of AdS_5 and ϕ is an angle of S^5 .

Invariance under shifts of t and ϕ result in two conserved currents E^{α}, J^{α} , and the corresponding conserved charges

$$E = \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\sigma}{2\pi} E^0$$
 ; $J = \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\sigma}{2\pi} J^0$

In the above expression $E^0 = -p_t$ and $J^0 = p_{\phi}$ are just the momenta conjugate to the coordinates t, ϕ , and E and J are the target space energy and the total U(1) charge of the string (or angular momentum), respectively.

We now need to define the light-cone co-ordinates x_{\pm}

$$\begin{cases} t = x_{+} - x_{-} \\ \phi = x_{+} + x_{-} \end{cases} \Leftrightarrow \begin{cases} x_{+} = \frac{1}{2}(\phi + t) \\ x_{-} = \frac{1}{2}(\phi - t) \end{cases}$$

and the respective momentum conjugates

$$\begin{cases} p_t = \frac{1}{2}(p_+ + p_-) \\ p_{\phi} = \frac{1}{2}(p_+ - p_-) \end{cases} \Leftrightarrow \begin{cases} p_+ = p_{\phi} + p_t \\ p_- = p_t - p_{\phi} \end{cases}$$

Note that p_+ (p_-) is the momentum conjugate to $x_ (x_+)$.

The uniform light-cone gauge is obtained by fixing

$$x_{+} = \tau + \frac{m}{2}\sigma$$
, $p_{+} = P_{+} = E + J = \text{constant}.$ (2.5)

The integer m is just the winding number related to the angle variable ϕ . To fix this gauge we also need to fix the local fermionic κ -symmetry, which will be done next.

In this gauge the worldsheet Hamiltonian corresponds to p_{-} ,

$$H = \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\sigma}{2\pi} p_- = E - J.$$

But the Hamiltonian can be also written as a function of P_+ , and so we get an equation for the energy E = J + H(E+J), which will give the energy E as a function just of J - the dispersion relation.

One now proceeds to fixing the light-cone gauge, and κ -symmetry [64].⁴ If one only considered the bosonic degrees of freedom, then it would be enough to have introduced the momenta canonically conjugate to the light-cone co-ordinates x_{\pm} , But if we keep the fermionic degrees of freedom as well, the expressions for the momenta will be obtained by introducing a auxiliary field π , in the algebra of the $M^{(2)}$:⁵

$$\pi = \frac{i}{4}\pi_{+}\Sigma_{+} + \frac{i}{4}\pi_{-}\Sigma_{-} + \frac{1}{2}\pi_{M}\Sigma_{M} + \pi_{0}i\mathbb{I}.$$
(2.6)

Then we write the superstring action as:

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\sigma d\tau \operatorname{Str} \left(\pi A_0^{(2)} + \kappa \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{A}_{\alpha}^{(1)} \mathbf{A}_{\beta}^{(3)} - \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\lambda}\gamma^{00}} \left(\pi^2 + \lambda (\mathbf{A}_1^{(2)})^2 \right) + \frac{\gamma^{01}}{\gamma^{00}} (\pi \mathbf{A}_1^{(2)}) \right).$$
(2.7)

We get the original action by solving the equations of motion for π :

$$\pi = \sqrt{\lambda} \gamma^{\tau\beta} \mathbf{A}_{\beta}^{(2)}, \qquad (2.8)$$

and plugging them back into the action. Note that the momenta conjugate to the lightcone co-ordinates will also be written as functions of the auxiliary field π . The last two

 $^{^4}$ A simpler version of this gauge fixing, only considering the bosonic part of the theory, can be found in [82].

⁵The field π is an even field that lives on the $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ algebra. It lives on this algebra because it is a momentum field (When the manifold is a group, the momenta, conjugate to the fields that live on the manifold, live on the corresponding algebra). Consequently, we have a \mathbb{Z}_4 decomposition, $\pi = \pi^{(0)} + \pi^{(2)}$ and as we are dividing by the subspace of the $M^{(0)}$, we can consider $\pi = \pi^{(2)}$.

terms in the action correspond to the Virasoro constraints, to be imposed after gauge and κ -symmetry fixing.

$$C_1 = \operatorname{Str}\left(\pi^2 + \lambda \left(\mathbf{A}_1^{(2)}\right)^2\right) = 0, \qquad (2.9)$$

$$C_2 = \operatorname{Str}\left(\pi \mathbf{A}_1^{(2)}\right) = 0.$$
 (2.10)

κ -Symmetry

Recalling that the fermionic part of the group element of the coset space, $g(\chi)$, depends solely on a complex 4×4 odd matrix Θ , we need only to restrict the entries of this matrix to fix κ -symmetry. In fact, κ -symmetry can be fixed by choosing

$$\Theta = \left(egin{array}{cc} 0 & \Theta_1 \\ \Theta_2 & 0 \end{array}
ight),$$

where $\Theta_{1,2}$ are odd 2×2 complex matrices. Then the fixed χ obeys the relations:

$$\Sigma_{\pm}\chi = \mp \chi \Sigma_{\pm}.$$

These relations can be seen as defining the fixed κ -symmetry. Using these relations, together with $g^{-1}(\chi) = g(-\chi)$, we obtain the following properties for $g(\chi)$:

$$g^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\chi})\Sigma_+ = \Sigma_+ g(\boldsymbol{\chi}) \quad ext{and} \quad g^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\chi})\Sigma_- = \Sigma_- g^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\chi}).$$

Note that the bosonic g(x) has similar relations, namely $\Sigma_{\pm}g^{-1}(x) = g(x)\Sigma_{\pm}$ and $g^{-1}(x) = g(-x)$.

One can write the current $\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{A}_{even} + \mathbf{A}_{odd}$ fully parametrized:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{A}_{even} &= -g^{-1}(x) \frac{i}{2} \left\{ dx_{+} \Sigma_{+} \left(1 + 2\chi^{2} \right) + dx_{-} \Sigma_{-} \right\} g(x) - \\ &- g^{-1}(x) \left\{ \sqrt{1 + \chi^{2}} d\sqrt{1 + \chi^{2}} - \chi d\chi + dg(x) g^{-1}(x) \right\} g(x) \\ \mathbf{A}_{odd} &= -g^{-1}(x) \left\{ i dx_{+} \Sigma_{+} \chi \sqrt{1 + \chi^{2}} + \sqrt{1 + \chi^{2}} d\chi - \chi d\sqrt{1 + \chi^{2}} \right\} g(x). \end{aligned}$$

Next, we want to separate the kinetic term as the product of the time derivative of light cone co-ordinates x_{\pm} with the corresponding momentum operators p_{\mp} (the symplectic term). The momentum p_{\pm} does not have a contribution from \mathbf{A}_{odd} , as only \mathbf{A}_{even} depends on x_{\pm} . Once we substitute \mathbf{A} into the action, we easily get that⁶

$$p_{+} = -\frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Str} \left(\pi \Sigma_{-} g \left(x \right)^{2} \right) = G_{+} \pi_{+} - G_{-} \pi_{-}, \qquad (2.11)$$

where $G_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \left(G_{tt}^{\frac{1}{2}} \pm G_{\phi\phi}^{\frac{1}{2}} \right).$

Gauge Fixing

Now we have all the equations needed to write the gauge-fixed Lagrangian. As was done in [64], we first solve equation (2.11) using (2.5), in order to get $\pi_+(P_+,\pi_-)$. We then solve the Virasoro constraint (2.10) to get the unphysical field x_- as a function of the physical fields. In fact one gets the worldsheet momentum density x'_- . Finally, one solves the constraint (2.9) in order to get π_- . The kinematic term of the Lagrangian thus obtained is not in the right form, as it will lead to a complicated Poisson structure. By performing a field redefinition, such that the final fields satisfy the canonical commutation relations, we get:

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\sigma d\tau \left(\mathscr{L}_{kin} - \mathscr{H} \right), \qquad (2.12)$$

where

$$\mathscr{L}_{kin} = p_M \dot{x}_M - i \operatorname{Str}\left(\Sigma_+ \chi \dot{\chi}\right) = p_M \dot{x}_M + i \eta_a^{\dagger} \dot{\eta}_a + i \theta_a^{\dagger} \dot{\theta}_a, \qquad (2.13)$$

and x_M being the physical bosonic degrees of freedom (and p_M their conjugate momenta), and η_a, θ_a are the fermionic ones. Before writing down the expression for the Hamiltonian density \mathscr{H} , a few comments are in order. We will be interested in the limit $P_+ \to \infty$, with the effective coupling $\tilde{\lambda} = \frac{4\lambda}{P_+^2}$ fixed, called the near plane-wave limit. In this limit we can

⁶The only contribution to p_+ will come from the term $\operatorname{Str}\left(\pi \mathbf{A}_0^{(2)}\right)$, as it will be the only term with $\dot{x}_- = \partial_{\tau} x_-$, apart from the Virasoro constraints.

expand the Hamiltonian in powers of P_+^{-1} ,

$$\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{H}_2 + \frac{1}{P_+} \mathscr{H}_4 + \dots + \frac{1}{P_+^{n-1}} \mathscr{H}_{2n} + \dots,$$
(2.14)

where the term \mathscr{H}_{2n} in the Hamiltonian contains a product of 2n fields. The first two terms, the quadratic and quartic Hamiltonians, were deduced in [64], and are⁷

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{H}_{2} &= \frac{1}{2}P_{M}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}x_{M}^{2} + \frac{\tilde{\lambda}}{2}x_{M}^{\prime2} + \kappa \frac{\sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}}}{2}\operatorname{Str}\left(\Sigma_{+}\chi\tilde{\Omega}\chi''\Omega\right) + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Str}\chi^{2}, \\ \mathscr{H}_{4} &= \tilde{\lambda}\left(y'^{2}z^{2} - z'^{2}y^{2} + z'^{2}z^{2} - y'^{2}y^{2}\right) - \\ &- \frac{\tilde{\lambda}}{2}\operatorname{Str}\left(\frac{1}{2}\chi\chi'\chi\chi' + \chi^{2}\chi'^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\left(\chi\chi' - \chi'\chi\right)\Omega\left(\chi\chi' - \chi'\chi\right)^{t}\Omega + \chi\tilde{\Omega}\chi''\Omega\chi\tilde{\Omega}\chi\tilde{\Omega}\chi''\Omega\right) \\ &+ \frac{\tilde{\lambda}}{2}\operatorname{Str}\left(\left(z^{2} - y^{2}\right)\chi'\chi' + \frac{1}{2}x_{M}'x_{N}\left[\Sigma_{M}, \Sigma_{N}\right]\left(\chi\chi' - \chi'\chi\right) - 2x_{M}x_{N}\Sigma_{M}\chi'\Sigma_{N}\chi'\right) \\ &+ i\kappa\frac{\sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}}}{8}\left(x_{N}p_{M}\right)'\operatorname{Str}\left(\left[\Sigma_{N}, \Sigma_{M}\right]\left(\tilde{\Omega}\chi'\Omega\chi - \chi\tilde{\Omega}\chi'\Omega\right)\right). \end{aligned}$$

One last important quantity is the worldsheet momentum density x'_{-} , which integrated over σ will give the total worldsheet momentum:

$$p_{ws} = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\sigma x'_{-} = -\frac{1}{P_{+}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\sigma \left(p_{M} x'_{M} - \frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Str} \left(\Sigma_{+} \chi \chi' \right) \right).$$

The level-matching condition mentioned before becomes $p_{ws} = 0$.

Conserved Charges

Because of the invariance of the action under the PSU(2,2|4), one can determine the following conserved currents (in terms of A_{α}):

$$J^{\alpha} = \sqrt{\lambda} g(x, \chi) \left(\gamma^{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{A}_{\beta}^{(2)} - \frac{\kappa}{2} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \left(\mathbf{A}_{\beta}^{(1)} - \mathbf{A}_{\beta}^{(3)} \right) \right) g(x, \chi)^{-1},$$

 $^7\mathrm{Note}$ that $\Omega,\tilde{\Omega}$ are the following matrices

$$\Omega = \left(\begin{array}{cc} K & 0 \\ 0 & K \end{array}\right) \quad \text{and} \qquad \tilde{\Omega} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} K & 0 \\ 0 & -K \end{array}\right)$$

and the corresponding conserved charges

$$Q=\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{-\pi}^{\pi}d\sigma J^{\tau}.$$

By using the equations of motion for π , and also using $F_{\alpha} = \sqrt{1 + \chi^2} \partial_{\alpha} \chi - \chi \partial_{\alpha} \sqrt{1 + \chi^2}$ (the odd component of $g^{-1}(\chi) \partial_{\alpha} g(\chi)$), we obtain the charges in the form⁸

$$Q = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{d\sigma}{2\pi} \Lambda U \Lambda^{-1}, \qquad (2.15)$$

where Λ was given above (2.3), and

$$U = g(\boldsymbol{\chi}) g(\boldsymbol{x}) \left(\pi + i \frac{\kappa}{2} \sqrt{\lambda} g(\boldsymbol{x}) \tilde{\Omega} F_{\sigma}^{t} \Omega \right) g(\boldsymbol{x})^{-1} g(\boldsymbol{\chi})^{-1}.$$

Combining the components of Q will give the conserved charges corresponding to rotations, dilatations, supersymmetries, etc. To obtain any particular one, we need only to multiply Q by a particular matrix $\mathcal{M} \in \mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ and take the supertrace:

$$Q_{\mathscr{M}} = \operatorname{Str}(Q\mathscr{M}). \tag{2.16}$$

The charges Q live on the algebra $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$, and we know from the generators of this algebra that the trace of the product of two generators will be either zero (if the generators are different) or proportional to the identity (if it is the same generator). This happens because the generators are either Dirac matrices or Σ_{\pm} . So taking the product of Q with a particular matrix \mathscr{M} of the algebra followed by the trace acts as a projection on the direction of that matrix.

$$\mathbf{A}_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^{(1)} - \mathbf{A}_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^{(3)} = -ig(x)\,\tilde{\Omega}F_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^{t}\Omega g(x)^{-1}\,.$$

⁸The definition of F_{σ} allows us to write
This section will be devoted to determining the action of the supercharges from the string action in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ on a lattice string, starting from the definition obtained above for the generators $Q_{\mathcal{M}}$.

An important property of the generators $Q_{\mathscr{M}}$ is that if the generator of a symmetry $Q_{\mathscr{M}}$ is independent of x_+ , it Poisson commutes with the Hamiltonian. That happens because for a symmetry generator in the light-cone gauge $x_+ = \tau$ we have:

$$\frac{dQ_{\mathscr{M}}}{d\tau} = \frac{\partial Q_{\mathscr{M}}}{\partial \tau} + \{H, Q_{\mathscr{M}}\} = 0.$$

This means that the generators independent of x_+ form an algebra that contains the Hamiltonian H as a central element.

The dependence of the charge Q on x_{\pm} comes from the matrix $\Lambda = e^{\frac{i}{2}x_{\pm}\Sigma_{\pm} + \frac{i}{2}x_{-}\Sigma_{-}}$, and consequently we can check the dependence of a charge $Q_{\mathscr{M}}$ on the light-cone variables x_{\pm} b y checking whether \mathscr{M} commutes with Σ_{\pm} . Also, using the definitions of kinematical vs dynamical charges (according to their dependence on x_{-} , $[\Sigma_{-}, \mathscr{M}_{kin}] = 0$), and the property of odd/even \mathscr{M} , we can separate the matrices \mathscr{M} into four categories:

$$\Lambda^{-1} \mathscr{M}_{dyn}^{odd} \Lambda = e^{-\frac{i}{2}x_{-}\Sigma_{-}} \mathscr{M}_{dyn}^{odd},$$

$$\Lambda^{-1} \mathscr{M}_{kin}^{odd} \Lambda = e^{ix_{+}\Sigma_{+}} \mathscr{M}_{kin}^{odd},$$

$$\Lambda^{-1} \mathscr{M}_{dyn}^{even} \Lambda = \Lambda^{2} \mathscr{M}_{dyn}^{even},$$

$$\Lambda^{-1} \mathscr{M}_{kin}^{even} \Lambda = \mathscr{M}_{kin}^{even}.$$
(2.17)

This information tells us that only \mathcal{M}_{dyn}^{odd} and \mathcal{M}_{kin}^{even} will give rise to charges $Q_{\mathcal{M}}$ independent

of x_+ .⁹ The matrices of these categories are of the form

$$\mathcal{M}_{dyn}^{odd} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & d_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & d_2 \\ d_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & d_4 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad \mathcal{M}_{kin}^{even} = \begin{pmatrix} k_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & k_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & k_3 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & k_4 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.18)$$

where the d_i, k_i are 2×2 matrices. The space generated by these matrices is the subalgebra $\mathscr{J} \in \mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ that leaves the Hamiltonian invariant, i.e., the charge $Q_{\mathscr{M}}$ produced by a matrix $\mathscr{M} \in \mathscr{J}$ will commute with the Hamiltonian.

Note that we can write both the Hamiltonian and the constant P_+ as some of these conserved charges:

$$H = -\frac{i}{2}\operatorname{Str}(Q\Sigma_{+}) , \quad P_{+} = \frac{i}{2}\operatorname{Str}(Q\Sigma_{-}) .$$
(2.19)

From the commutation relations of the subalgebra \mathcal{J} , one can determine the Poisson bracket of the corresponding Noether charges $Q_{\mathcal{M}}$:

$$\{Q_{\mathscr{M}}, Q_{\mathscr{N}}\} = (-1)^{\pi(\mathscr{M})\pi(\mathscr{N})} \operatorname{Str}\left(Q[\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{N}]\right) + C\left(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{N}\right).$$
(2.20)

In the above expression $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N} \in \mathcal{J}, \pi$ is the parity of the supermatrices, and $[\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}]$ is the graded commutator (the anti-commutator if both matrices are odd, and the commutator if one or both of them is even). The first term of (2.20) states that the Poisson bracket of two charges $Q_{\mathcal{M}}$ and $Q_{\mathcal{N}}$ gives a charge corresponding to the commutator $[\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}]$. The element $C(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N})$ Poisson-commutes with all Noether charges $Q_{\mathcal{M}}, \mathcal{M} \in \mathcal{J}$, and will correspond to the central extension.

⁹That is because

$$Q_{\mathscr{M}} = \int \frac{d\sigma}{2\pi} \operatorname{Str}\left(\Lambda U \Lambda^{-1} \mathscr{M}\right) = \int \frac{d\sigma}{2\pi} \operatorname{Str}\left(U \Lambda^{-1} \mathscr{M} \Lambda\right),$$

and if $\Lambda^{-1}\mathcal{M}\Lambda$ does not depend on x_+ then the charge will not depend on it. One should keep in mind that the dependence on x_{\pm} is only in Λ^{-1} and Λ .

The Central Extension

The relation of this central extension with the level-matching constraint will be discussed at a later time. We will now focus on the properties of the algebra \mathcal{J} , in order to get an expression for $C(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N})$.

We have seen before that the bosonic sector of $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ is given by $\mathfrak{su}(2,2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(4)$. So the bosonic algebra generated by the matrices given in (2.18) will be generated only by \mathscr{M}_{kin}^{even} , and will correspond to

$$\mathscr{J}_{even} = \mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathbb{R}^2$$
(2.21)

. The $\mathfrak{su}(2)^4$ comes directly from separating the $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ into two $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and the same to $\mathfrak{su}(4)$. The \mathbb{R}^2 corresponds to the fact that we can have a nonzero trace on each of the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$, but require an overall traceless $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ and $\mathfrak{su}(4)$. This is accomplished by the use of the generators Σ_{\pm} .

Including the fermionic sector we have the decomposition:

$$\mathscr{J} = \mathfrak{psu}(2|2) \oplus \mathfrak{psu}(2|2) \oplus \Sigma_+ \oplus \Sigma_-. \tag{2.22}$$

In the limit P_+ infinite, this means that we have one less conserved quantity (the P_+), which implies that the corresponding generator Σ_- won't belong to the invariant subalgebra, and we will have $\mathscr{J} = \mathfrak{psu}(2|2) \oplus \mathfrak{psu}(2|2) \ltimes \mathbb{R}$. This \mathbb{R} direction corresponds to the central element Σ_+ and the corresponding charge, the light-cone Hamiltonian.¹⁰ The central charge $C(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{N})$ will be part of a centrally extended algebra where we include two extra central directions to \mathscr{J} , $\mathscr{J}_{ext} = \mathfrak{psu}(2|2) \oplus \mathfrak{psu}(2|2) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^3$.

Finally we can separate the generators of each of the two $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)$ subalgebras in (2.22). They correspond to keeping k_1, k_3, d_1, d_3 ($\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_L$) or keeping k_2, k_4, d_2, d_4 ($\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_R$) from (2.18).

Our goal is to find the expression for the central charge. To do so, some properties have

¹⁰Note that this subalgebra \mathscr{J} can also be written as $\mathscr{J} = \mathfrak{su}(2|2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2|2)$, where the Hamiltonian is a central element to both subalgebras.

to be taken into consideration. An important property of $C(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N})$ is that it vanishes if \mathcal{M} or \mathcal{N} are bosonic (even). Also it is a bilinear (graded), anti-symmetric form on the algebra \mathcal{J} that Poisson commutes with all other charges $Q_{\mathcal{M}}, \mathcal{M} \in \mathcal{J}$. Together with the Jacobi identity for the Lie brackets, we conclude it is a 2-cocycle.¹¹ One final property is the invariance under the adjoint action of the group G_{even} corresponding to the algebra J_{even} . The charge $Q_{\mathcal{M}}$ is invariant under the transformation (note that the action of the group preserves the \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading of \mathcal{J})

$$Q \to g Q g^{-1}, \ \mathcal{M} \to g \mathcal{M} g^{-1},$$

where $g \in G_{even}$. So the Poisson brackets of two charges also remains unchanged, and consequently

$$C\left(g\mathcal{M}_1g^{-1},g\mathcal{M}_2g^{-1}\right) = C\left(\mathcal{M}_1,\mathcal{M}_2\right)$$

The most general expression for this central element, with such properties, can be found in [66] to be

$$C(\mathcal{M}_1,\mathcal{M}_2) = \operatorname{Str}\left(\left(\rho\mathcal{M}_1\rho\mathcal{M}_2^t + (-1)^{\pi(\mathcal{M}_1)\pi(\mathcal{M}_2)}\rho\mathcal{M}_2\rho\mathcal{M}_1^t\right)\Delta\right),$$

where

$$\Delta = -\frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} c_3 \mathbb{I}_{2 \times 2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & c_1 \mathbb{I}_{2 \times 2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & c_4 \mathbb{I}_{2 \times 2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & c_2 \mathbb{I}_{2 \times 2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \rho = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sigma & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sigma \end{pmatrix},$$

with $\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. The coefficients $c_i, i = 1, ..., 4$ can depend on the physical fields and they commute with any charge $Q_{\mathcal{M}}, \mathcal{M} \in \mathcal{J}$. Remember that the algebra \mathcal{J} has two identical subalgebras $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)$, with the generators given above. Then looking at $\Delta \in \mathcal{J}$,

¹¹Simple Lie algebras possess no nontrivial central extension. This is not the case of super Lie algebras. In fact, for finite super Lie algebras, the cocycle vanishes if one of the elements is bosonic. See [83], page 101 ff.

we see that the matrix blocks proportional to c_3, c_4 correspond to one of these algebras, while the matrix blocks with c_1, c_2 correspond to the other. As they are identical, we can set $c_1 = c_3 \equiv c$ and $c_2 = c_4$. Also because we are dealing with the algebra $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)$, the following conjugation property holds:

$$c_1 + c_2^* = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \qquad c_2 = -c^*$$

Commutation Relations

The easiest way to determine the commutation relations of the Noether charges is to choose an explicit basis for the space of the charges $Q_{\mathcal{M}}, \mathcal{M} \in \mathcal{J}$. As was mentioned \mathcal{J} has two identical $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)$ subalgebras (Left and Right), whose extended (off-shell) algebra shares the same central elements corresponding to the worldsheet light-cone Hamiltonian (already in the original algebra), plus two other central charges. We will be focusing on just the $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_R$, and a possible basis can be found in section 3 of [66].

So for the centrally extended $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ algebra, we have the bosonic (kinematical) generators $\mathbf{R}^{a}_{b}, \mathbf{L}^{\alpha}_{\beta}$, corresponding to the rotation generators of the bosonic subalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus$ $\mathfrak{su}(2)$, the fermionic (dynamical) supersymmetry generators $\mathbf{Q}^{\alpha}_{a}, \mathbf{Q}^{\dagger b}_{\beta}$ and 3 central charges **H**, **C**, **C**^{\dagger}.¹² Their commutation relations can be found by writing the bracket (2.20) in this basis, and are given by (2.1).

The next step is determining the value of the central charges.

The Level-Matching Condition & the Central Charges

The central charges $\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{C}^{\dagger}$ have zero eigenvalues on physical states, and so the algebra on physical states is effectively $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$. But how is this related with the level-matching condition?

The level matching constraint comes from requiring that the unphysical field x_{-} is periodic in σ , or equivalently having the worldsheet momentum vanish, $p_{ws} = 0$. But this cannot be solved in the classical level, in fact it is the worldsheet momentum operator \mathbf{P}_{ws} that van-

¹²Note that $(\mathbf{Q}_a^{\alpha})^{\dagger} = \mathbf{Q}_{\alpha}^{\dagger a}$ and the same relation holds to the central elements **C** and **C**^{\dagger}.

ishes on physical states. So we will treat the variable p_{ws} as a non-trivial (non-vanishing) variable, in the off-shell theory. Note that such an operator commutes with the Hamiltonian, as p_{ws} depends on the non-physical field x_{-} and the Hamiltonian H depends only on physical fields. In the same way, the central charges $\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{C}^{\dagger}$ exist as quantum operators which vanish when acting on physical states.

In order to determine the central charges, we will need to simplify the problem by using a perturbative expansion. For the time being we will consider the light-cone momentum P_+ to be finite, and set λ to be large. This allows us to have a perturbative expansion in powers of $\zeta = 2\pi\lambda^{-1/2}$.¹³ But the central charges are expected to have a non-trivial expansion on ζ , so the results obtained are not exact, and to bypass this problem another expansion is used, in which we only determine the part of the central charges that are independent of the fermionic fields.

Starting with a dynamical generator, one can conclude from (2.16) and (2.17) that it will have the following structure

$$Q_{\mathscr{M}} = \int_{-r}^{r} d\sigma e^{i\alpha x_{-}} \Omega(x, p, \chi; \zeta).$$
(2.23)

In the expression above Ω is a local function of the transverse bosonic fields and of fermionic fields, and α can take two values $\pm \frac{1}{2}$ (one for Q and the other for its conjugate $Q^{\dagger} \equiv \overline{Q}$). See the appendix of [66] for explicit formulas. We then expand the function Ω in powers of ζ :

$$\Omega(x, p, \boldsymbol{\chi}; \boldsymbol{\zeta}) = \Omega_2(x, p, \boldsymbol{\chi}) + \boldsymbol{\zeta} \Omega_4(x, p, \boldsymbol{\chi}) + \cdots$$

As with the Hamiltonian, the subscript in the above expansion denotes the number of fields in the product. The field x_{-} present in the expression for the generator won't be expanded.

The form of the central charges is completely fixed by their bosonic part, which is the one that has a dependence on the level matching constraint. So to determine the bosonic

¹³Such an expansion is equivalent to the expansion done to the Hamiltonian in (2.14), because in the former case we had considered both P_+ and λ going to infinity, but with $\tilde{\lambda} = \frac{4\lambda}{P_+^2}$ finite. This means that we can change the expansion from powers of P_+^{-1} to powers of $\lambda^{-1/2}$. Also with a redefinition of $\sigma \to \sigma \frac{P_+}{2}$ we get a Hamiltonian that only depends on the variable P_+ on the limits of the integral in σ , $r = \frac{\pi P_+}{2}$.

charges, we only need to keep the terms linear in fermions in $Q_{\mathscr{M}}$ (and keep the bosonic terms up to the desired order in ζ). We then determine the anti-commutators (or Poisson brackets) and keep only the terms independent of fermions. We write the charge as

$$Q_{\mathscr{M}} = \int d\sigma e^{i\alpha x_{-}} \chi \left(B_{1}\left(x,p\right) + \zeta B_{3}\left(x,p\right) + \cdots \right) + \mathscr{O}\left(\chi^{3}\right), \qquad (2.24)$$

where we only kept the term linear in fermion fields, and kept all the bosonic terms of the expansion $(B_n(x, p))$ is the term with a product of n bosonic fields).

The Poisson brackets of two charges with $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ can now be determined. For example

$$\left\{Q_{a}^{\alpha},Q_{b}^{\beta}\right\}\sim\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{ab}\int_{-r}^{r}d\sigma e^{-ix_{-}}\left(x_{-}^{\prime}+\frac{d}{d\sigma}f(x,p)\right),$$

where f(x,p) is a local function of the transverse fields (see appendix of [66] for details). The result for $\left\{\bar{Q}^{a}_{\alpha}, \bar{Q}^{b}_{\beta}\right\}$ can be obtained by conjugation. Integrating this expression, we get

$$\left\{Q_a^{\alpha}, Q_b^{\beta}\right\} \sim \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{ab} \int_{-r}^{r} d\sigma \frac{d}{d\sigma} e^{-ix_{-}} = \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{ab} e^{-ix_{-}(-r)} \left(e^{-i[x_{-}(r)-x_{-}(-r)]}-1\right).$$

We know that $p_{ws} = x_-(r) - x_-(-r)$. We also impose the boundary condition $x_-(-r) = x_-^0$, which is the zero mode of x_- , conjugate to P_+ . Then:

$$\begin{cases} Q_a^{\alpha}, Q_b^{\beta} \end{cases} \sim \frac{1}{\zeta} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{ab} e^{-ix_-^0} \left(e^{-ip_{ws}} - 1 \right) \\ \begin{cases} \bar{Q}_a^a, \bar{Q}_\beta^b \end{cases} \sim \frac{1}{\zeta} \varepsilon^{ab} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} e^{ix_-^0} \left(e^{ip_{ws}} - 1 \right), \end{cases}$$

and consequently, the central charges are c, c^* with:

$$c = \frac{1}{\zeta} e^{-ix_{-}^{0}} \left(e^{-ip_{ws}} - 1 \right).$$
(2.25)

Some Comments

In the case of P_+ infinite, the zero mode x_-^0 vanishes, but the same is not true for finite light-cone momentum. This brings some problems, as for P_+ finite, the transverse fields don't have to vanish at the string points, and the symmetry algebra is thus changed. It can be seen that the Poisson bracket of the Hamiltonian H with a dynamical charge is then non-zero, which means that the extension to P_+ finite (which is effectively the length of the string) does not allow us to keep the psu(2,2|4) symmetry algebra.

At the quantum level, both p_{ws} and x_{-}^{0} are promoted to operators $\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{X}_{-}^{0}$, and the central charges are

$$\mathbf{C} = \frac{1}{\zeta} e^{-i\mathbf{X}_{-}^{0}} \left(e^{-i\mathbf{P}} - 1 \right), \qquad (2.26)$$

and its conjugate \mathbf{C}^{\dagger} . \mathbf{X}_{-}^{0} is the conjugate quantum operator of \mathbf{P}_{+} . If we consider a state $\mathbf{P}_{+} | p_{+} \rangle = p_{+} | p_{+} \rangle$, then a state $e^{i\alpha \mathbf{X}_{-}^{0}} | p_{+} \rangle$ obeys

$$\mathbf{P}_{+}e^{i\alpha\mathbf{X}_{-}^{0}}\left|p_{+}\right\rangle = (\alpha + p_{+})e^{i\alpha\mathbf{X}_{-}^{0}}\left|p_{+}\right\rangle.$$

$$(2.27)$$

Because P_+ acts as the length of the string, the operator $e^{i\alpha \mathbf{X}_-^0}$ will be the length changing operator. The Hilbert space of the theory will be a direct sum, $\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{p_+} \mathcal{H}_{p_+}$, of spaces of each of the eigenvalues of \mathbf{P}_+ .

$\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ subsector and mode expansion

The explicit form of the charges $Q_{\mathscr{M}}$ was determined in [66]. The algebra \mathscr{J} includes two $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)$ subalgebras. We will be focusing on the $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_R$.

The leading quadratic order of (2.24) can be read from the results in [66]. The fermionic charges are, at leading order:

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{a}^{\alpha} &= -\frac{1}{2} \int d\sigma e^{-\frac{i}{2}x_{-}} \left[i\theta^{\alpha} \left(2P^{Y} + iY \right)_{a} + \left(2P^{Z} - iZ \right)^{\alpha} \eta_{a}^{\dagger} - \theta^{\dagger} \alpha Y_{a}^{\prime} - iZ^{\prime \alpha} \eta_{a} + \right. \\ &+ \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{ab} \left(i\theta_{\beta} \left(2P^{Y} + iY \right)^{b} + \left(2P^{Z} - iZ \right)_{\beta} \eta^{\dagger b} - \theta_{\beta}^{\dagger} Y^{\prime b} - iZ_{\beta}^{\prime} \eta^{b} \right) \right], \quad (2.28) \\ \bar{Q}_{\alpha}^{a} &= \frac{1}{2} \int d\sigma e^{\frac{i}{2}x_{-}} \left[i\theta_{\alpha}^{\dagger} \left(2P^{Y} - iY \right)^{a} - \left(2P^{Z} + iZ \right)_{\alpha} \eta^{a} + \theta_{\alpha} Y^{\prime a} - iZ_{\alpha}^{\prime} \eta^{\dagger a} + \right. \\ &+ \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon^{ab} \left(i\theta^{\dagger\beta} \left(2P^{Y} - iY \right)_{b} - \left(2P^{Z} + iZ \right)^{\beta} \eta_{b} + \theta^{\beta} Y_{b}^{\prime} - iZ^{\prime\beta} \eta_{b}^{\dagger} \right) \right] \quad (2.29) \\ &= \left. \left(Q_{a}^{\alpha} \right)^{\dagger}. \end{aligned}$$

We want to restrict ourselves to the $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ subsector of [55]. This corresponds to keeping only the 2 complex co-ordinates Y^a and the respective conjugate momenta P^y . These will be seen to correspond, in the SYM side, to some bosonic excitations ϕ^a , with a = 1, 2. In terms of the fermions we will be interested in only keeping $\theta^{\alpha}, \theta^{\dagger}_{\alpha}$, which will correspond to two fermionic fields $\psi_{\alpha}, \psi^{\dagger \alpha}$ from SYM. On the Super Yang-Mills side, the vacuum of this sector of the theory corresponds to a long string of Z bosonic fields, in direct correspondence to the vacuum of the string defined by [5]

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{J}N^{J/2}}\mathrm{Tr}\left(Z^{J}\right)\leftrightarrow\left|0,p^{+}\right\rangle.$$

With these restrictions, the fermionic supercharges (2.28) and (2.29) become:

$$S^{\alpha}_{a} = -\frac{1}{2} \int d\sigma e^{-\frac{i}{2}x_{-}} \left(i\theta^{\alpha} \left(2P^{Y} + iY \right)_{a} - \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{ab} \theta^{\dagger}_{\beta} Y^{\prime b} \right),$$

$$Q^{a}_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \int d\sigma e^{\frac{i}{2}x_{-}} \left(i\theta^{\dagger}_{\alpha} \left(2P^{Y} - iY \right)^{a} + \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon^{ab} \theta^{\beta} Y^{\prime}_{b} \right).$$

Before continuing, let us notice that the co-ordinate $x_{-}(\sigma)$ obeys:

$$x_{-}(\sigma) = \int_{-r}^{\sigma} d\sigma' x_{-}^{\prime}(\sigma') + x_{-}(-r) = \int_{-r}^{\sigma} d\sigma' \pi_{ws}(\sigma') + x_{-}^{0},$$

where $x'_{-} = \pi_{ws}(\sigma)$ is the worldsheet momentum density. The total worldsheet momentum is given by $p_{ws} = \int_{-r}^{r} d\sigma \pi_{ws}(\sigma)$.

We now want to perform a mode expansion. To do so we will follow the notation of [64]. For the bosonic fields we have:

$$Y_{a} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\omega}} \left(A_{a} + B_{a}^{\dagger} \right) \quad ; \quad P^{a} = \frac{\sqrt{\omega}}{4i} \left(A^{\dagger a} - B^{a} \right) ;$$

$$Y^{a} = \overline{Y}_{a} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\omega}} \left(A^{\dagger a} + B^{a} \right) \quad ; \quad P_{a} = \overline{P}^{a} = i \frac{\sqrt{\omega}}{4} \left(A_{a} - B_{a}^{\dagger} \right) , \quad (2.30)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\omega} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{\lambda}\partial_{\sigma}^2}$, and $\tilde{\lambda}$ is the effective coupling constant (light-cone gauge) in the pp-wave limit $\tilde{\lambda} \equiv \frac{4\lambda}{P_+^2}$, kept finite when $P_+, \lambda \to \infty$. For the fermionic fields we have:

$$\theta^{\alpha} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}\left(1+\frac{1}{\omega}\right)}c^{\alpha} \quad ; \qquad \theta^{\dagger}_{\alpha} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}\left(1+\frac{1}{\omega}\right)}c^{\dagger}_{\alpha}. \tag{2.31}$$

With these expansions, we get the following results:

$$\begin{split} i\theta^{\alpha} \left(2P^{Y}+iY\right)_{a} &= -\sqrt{\frac{\omega+1}{2\omega}}c^{\alpha}\left\{\frac{\sqrt{\omega}}{2}\left(A_{a}-B_{a}^{\dagger}\right)+\frac{1}{\sqrt{\omega}}\left(A_{a}+B_{a}^{\dagger}\right)\right\},\\ \theta^{\dagger}_{\beta}Y'^{b} &= \sqrt{\frac{\omega+1}{2\omega}}c^{\dagger}_{\alpha}\frac{\sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}}\partial_{\sigma}}{\sqrt{2\omega}}\left(A^{\dagger b}+B^{b}\right). \end{split}$$

We will be keeping $Y \approx B^{\dagger}$, dropping the oscillators A, A^{\dagger} . Then up to order $\mathcal{O}\left(\sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}}\right)^{,14}$

$$Q^{a}_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{4} \int d\sigma e^{\frac{i}{2}x_{-}} \left(c^{\dagger}_{\alpha} B^{a} + \sqrt{2} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon^{ab} c^{\beta} \sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}} \partial_{\sigma} B^{\dagger}_{b} \right).$$
(2.32)

The same can be done for the supercharge S, which then becomes:

$$S_{a}^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{4} \int d\boldsymbol{\sigma} e^{-\frac{i}{2}x_{-}} \left(c^{\alpha} B_{a}^{\dagger} + \sqrt{2} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{\alpha\beta} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{ab} c_{\beta}^{\dagger} \sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}} \partial_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} B^{b} \right).$$
(2.33)

For a comparison with the Super Yang-Mills supercharges, we need to discretize the above results. To do so recall that $r = P_+/2$, and $\int_{-r}^{r} d\sigma = P_+$. Then the lattice version of Q is:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}^{a}_{\alpha} &= \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\ell=1}^{P_{+}} e^{ix_{-}^{0}/2} \left(\prod_{k=0}^{\ell} e^{\frac{i}{2}\pi(k)} \right) \left\{ c^{\dagger}_{\alpha}(\ell) B^{a}(\ell) + \sqrt{2} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon^{ab} c^{\beta}(\ell) \sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}} \left(B^{\dagger}_{b}(\ell) - B^{\dagger}_{b}(\ell-1) \right) \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\ell=1}^{P_{+}} e^{\frac{i}{2}x_{-}^{0}} e^{\frac{i}{2}p(\ell)} \left\{ c^{\dagger}_{\alpha}(\ell) B^{a}(\ell) + \sqrt{2} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon^{ab} \sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}} \left(B^{\dagger}_{b}(\ell) - B^{\dagger}_{b}(\ell-1) \right) c^{\beta}(\ell) \right\}, \end{aligned}$$
(2.34)

where $p(\ell) = \sum_{k=1}^{\ell} \pi(k)$.

To continue, we need to write what $p(\ell)$ does to an excitation:

$$e^{\frac{i}{2}p(\ell)}\chi(\ell_k)e^{-\frac{i}{2}p(\ell)} = \begin{cases} \chi(\ell_k) & \ell_k < \ell \\ \chi(\ell_k+1) & \ell_k > \ell \end{cases}$$

¹⁴Considering $\boldsymbol{\omega} = \sqrt{1+x}$, with $x = \tilde{\lambda}\partial^2$, then we have the following:

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{\frac{\omega+1}{2\omega}} &= 1 - \frac{x}{8} + \mathcal{O}\left(x^2\right), \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{\omega}} &= 1 - \frac{x}{4} + \mathcal{O}\left(x^2\right), \\ \frac{2-\omega}{2\sqrt{\omega}} &= \frac{1}{2} - \frac{3x}{8} + \mathcal{O}\left(x^2\right). \end{split}$$

By performing the following change of variables, $c^{\dagger}_{\alpha}(\ell) \rightarrow e^{-\frac{i}{2}x_{-}^{0}}e^{-\frac{i}{2}p(\ell)}c^{\dagger}_{\alpha}(\ell)$, the charge becomes:

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{Q}^{a}_{\alpha} &= \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\ell=1}^{P_{+}} \left\{ c^{\dagger}_{\alpha}\left(\ell\right) B^{a}\left(\ell\right) + \sqrt{2} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon^{ab} \sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}} e^{\frac{i}{2}x^{0}} e^{\frac{i}{2}p\left(\ell\right)} c^{\beta}\left(\ell\right) e^{\frac{i}{2}x^{0}} \left(B^{\dagger}_{b}\left(\ell\right) - B^{\dagger}_{b}\left(\ell\right) - B^{\dagger}_{b}\left(\ell-1\right)\right) \right\} \\
&= \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\ell=1}^{P_{+}} \left\{ c^{\dagger}_{\alpha}\left(\ell\right) B^{a}\left(\ell\right) + \sqrt{2} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon^{ab} \sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}} e^{ix^{0}} \left(B^{\dagger}_{b}\left(\ell\right) - B^{\dagger}_{b}\left(\ell-1\right)\right) e^{ip\left(\ell\right)} c^{\beta}\left(\ell\right) \right\}.
\end{aligned}$$
(2.35)

The other supercharge S^α_a can also be determined to be:

$$\begin{split} S_{a}^{\alpha} &= \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\ell=1}^{P_{+}} e^{-\frac{i}{2}x_{-}^{0}} e^{-\frac{i}{2}p(\ell)} \left(c^{\alpha}\left(\ell\right) e^{\frac{i}{2}p(\ell)} e^{\frac{i}{2}x_{-}^{0}} B_{a}^{\dagger}\left(\ell\right) \right. \\ &+ \sqrt{2} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{ab} e^{-\frac{i}{2}x_{-}^{0}} e^{-\frac{i}{2}p(\ell)} c_{\beta}^{\dagger}\left(\ell\right) \sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}} \left(B^{b}\left(\ell\right) - B^{b}\left(\ell-1\right) \right) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\ell=1}^{P_{+}} \left(B_{a}^{\dagger}\left(\ell\right) c^{\alpha}\left(\ell\right) + \sqrt{2} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{ab} \sqrt{\tilde{\lambda}} e^{-ix_{-}^{0}} e^{-ip(\ell)} c_{\beta}^{\dagger}\left(\ell\right) \left(B^{b}\left(\ell\right) - B^{b}\left(\ell-1\right) \right) \right) . \quad (2.36) \end{split}$$

Recall that in the above expressions x_{-}^{0} plays the part of the length changing operator, as it is the conjugate variable to P_{+} , the total light-cone momentum, which is in its turn related to the width of the worldsheet cylinder. For closed strings the level matching condition states that the total worldsheet momentum p_{ws} has to vanish (on-shell). As was mentioned before, if we relax this condition (off-shell) and take $P_{+} \rightarrow \infty$, then we obtain the centrally extended algebra with extra central charges C, C^* added to the Hamiltonian H (the same as the generators of translations P and boosts K).

One other way of comparing results with the SYM side is by writing the supercharges in first quantized framework. Choosing again a state such that:

$$\left|\chi_{1}\cdots\chi_{K};P_{+}\right\rangle = \sum_{\{m_{i}\}=0}^{P^{+}} e^{ip_{1}m_{1}+\cdots+ip_{K}m_{K}}\chi_{1}\left(m_{1}\right)\cdots\chi_{K}\left(m_{K}\right)\left|0;P_{+}\right\rangle,$$

where $\chi_i(m_i) = b_z^{m_i} \chi_i b_z^{-m_i}$, with b_z being the oscillators equivalent to the field Z. Then

$$Q^{a}_{\alpha}|\chi_{1}\cdots\chi_{K};P_{+}\rangle = \frac{1}{4}\sum_{k=1}^{K} \left(\prod_{m=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(m)}\right) \left\{\delta\left(\chi_{k},B^{\dagger}_{b}\right)\delta^{a}_{b}|\chi_{1}\cdots c^{\dagger}_{\alpha}(k)\cdots\chi_{K};P_{+}\rangle + \sqrt{2\tilde{\lambda}}\delta\left(\chi_{k},c^{\dagger}_{\beta}\right)\varepsilon^{ab}\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}\left(\prod_{l=k+1}^{K}e^{ip_{l}}-\prod_{l=k}^{K}e^{ip_{l}}\right)\left|\chi_{1}\cdots B^{\dagger}_{b}(k)\cdots\chi_{K};P_{+}+1\rangle\right\}.$$
 (2.37)

Doing the same calculation for the S generator, one gets:

$$S_{a}^{\alpha} |\chi_{1} \cdots \chi_{K}; P_{+}\rangle = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \left(\prod_{m=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(m)} \right) \left\{ \delta \left(\chi_{k}, c_{\beta}^{\dagger} \right) \delta_{\beta}^{\alpha} \chi_{1} \left(m_{1} \right) \cdots \left(B_{a}^{\dagger} \left(k \right) \right) \cdots \chi_{K} \left(m_{K} \right) |0; P_{+}\rangle + \sqrt{2\tilde{\lambda}} \delta \left(\chi_{k}, B_{b}^{\dagger} \right) \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{ab} \left(\prod_{l=k+1}^{K} e^{-ip_{l}} - \prod_{l=k}^{K} e^{-ip_{l}} \right) \left| \chi_{1} \cdots c_{\beta}^{\dagger} \left(k \right) \cdots \chi_{K}; P_{+} - 1 \right\rangle \right\}.$$
(2.38)

The structure of these supercharges will be compared to the results obtained on the SYM side of the correspondence, present in Section 2.5, in particular expressions (2.49) and (2.50). We will be able to see that the actions of the supercharges Q and S, have a similar structure at one-loop, on both sides of the correspondence. But while the results presented in this section are perturbative in $\tilde{\lambda}$ (BMN limit), the results presented in Section 2.5 are perturbative in the 't Hooft coupling λ , so one cannot perform a direct comparison.

In Section A.1 one can find a summary of the results of [65] on an oscillator formalism for the superalgebra psu(2|2).

2.4 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM on $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$: A review

In this first section, we summarize the method of finding the supercharges of $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ up to 1-loop, as can be found in [75,73].¹⁵

The action for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM in four dimensions can be obtained from dimensional reduction of the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ 10 dimensional SYM on a 6-torus. Using the notation where the D = 10Dirac matrices split into SO(1,3) × SO(6), the action becomes:

$$S = \frac{2}{g_{YM}^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{|g|} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ -\frac{1}{4} F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} D^{\mu} \phi_i D_{\mu} \phi_i - \frac{\mathscr{R}}{12} \phi_i^2 + \frac{1}{4} \left[\phi_i, \phi_j \right]^2 - 2i \lambda_A^{\dagger} \sigma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \lambda^A + (\rho_i)^{AB} \lambda_A^{\dagger} i \sigma^2 \left[\phi_i, \lambda_B^* \right] - \left(\rho_i^{\dagger} \right)_{AB} \left(\lambda^A \right)^T i \sigma^2 \left[\phi^i, \lambda^B \right] \right\}.$$

We have a vector field A_{μ} , six real scalars ϕ_i and four Weyl spinors $\lambda_{\alpha A}$ (all in the adjoint representation of the gauge group). The six scalars transform in a **6** of the *R*-symmetry group $SO(6) \equiv SU(4)_R$, while the spinors transform in a **4**. Co-ordinate indices are $x^{\mu} = (t, x^a)$,

¹⁵We will be following the notation of [73], in which a different basis for the γ -matrices is used. The same procedure could be done by following [75] choice of basis.

 $\mu = 0, ..., 3$, with the spacial co-ordinates having (curved) indices a = 1, 2, 3. The metric is given by

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + R^{2} \left(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta d\psi^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta \sin^{2}\psi d\chi^{2} \right),$$

where R is the radius of $S^3,$ and $\mathcal{R}=\frac{6}{R^2}$ is the Ricci scalar.

Some Notation

From this point on we will be considering $\sigma^{\mu} \equiv (\mathbf{1}, \sigma^a)$ and $\overline{\sigma}^{\mu} = (-\mathbf{1}, \sigma^a)$, where the σ^a are the usual Pauli matrices pulled back to S^3 . Also, $\rho_i^{AB} \equiv \sigma_i^{AB}$ are the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients of SU(4) that relate two **4** irreducible representations (irreps) with one **6**. These coefficients have several properties, in particular $\rho_i^{AB} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{ABCD} \left(\rho_i^{\dagger}\right)_{CD}$, and allow us to write

$$\phi_i = \frac{1}{2} \rho_i^{AB} \Phi_{AB} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\rho_i^{\dagger} \right)_{AB} \Phi^{AB}.$$

Finally, one comment about the Weyl spinors. We know that in D = 10 we start from a 32-component complex spinor, and by imposing a Majorana-Weyl condition, obtain a 16component (after fixing the κ -symmetry) spinor L. This spinor can be written in terms of Weyl spinors as

$$L = \left(\begin{array}{c} \lambda^{\alpha A} \\ i \left(\sigma^2\right)^{\alpha \beta} \lambda^*_{\beta A} \end{array}\right)$$

with $\alpha = 1, 2$ and A = 1, 2, 3, 4. The $\lambda^{\alpha A}$ are four 2-component Weyl spinors.¹⁶

SUSY transformations and corresponding charges

The SUSY transformations are given by:

$$\begin{split} \delta_{\eta}A_{\mu} &= 2i\left(\lambda_{A}^{\dagger}\sigma_{\mu}\eta^{A} - \eta_{A}^{\dagger}\sigma_{\mu}\lambda^{A}\right),\\ \delta_{\eta}\Phi^{AB} &= 2i\left(-\lambda_{E}^{\dagger}i\sigma^{2}\varepsilon^{ABEF}\eta_{F}^{*} - \left(\lambda^{A}\right)^{T}i\sigma^{2}\eta^{B} - \left(\lambda^{B}\right)^{T}i\sigma^{2}\eta^{A}\right),\\ \delta_{\eta}\lambda^{A} &= \frac{1}{2}F_{\mu\nu}\sigma^{\mu\nu}\eta^{A} + 2D_{\mu}\Phi^{AB}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}i\sigma^{2}\eta_{B}^{*} + \Phi^{AB}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}i\sigma^{2}\nabla_{\mu}\eta_{B}^{*} - 2i\left[\Phi^{AC},\Phi_{CB}\right]\eta^{B}. \end{split}$$

¹⁶ In the basis used in [75], the separation of L into $L = (L_+ L_-)^T$ becomes a separation into $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R$, for which one uses dotted/undotted indices $\dot{\alpha}, \alpha$. In the basis used in [73] this separation is not obvious.

Our objective is to build the Noether charge $Q\eta$. To do so we need to take into consideration the pairs of canonical variables. From the action, we have the following (anti-)commutation relations:

$$\begin{split} \begin{bmatrix} F_{0\mu}, A^{\nu} \end{bmatrix} &= \delta^{\nu}_{\mu}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} D_0 \phi_i, \phi_j \end{bmatrix} &= \delta_{ij} \implies \begin{bmatrix} D_0 \Phi_{AB}, \Phi^{CD} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta^D_A \delta^C_B - \delta^C_A \delta^D_B \right), \\ \left\{ -i \left(\lambda^{\dagger}_A \sigma^0 \right)_{\alpha}, \lambda^{B\beta} \right\} &= \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} \delta^B_A. \end{split}$$

Also one has to take into consideration that $\eta^{\alpha A}$ are Killing spinors, which in $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$ obey the equation $\nabla_{\mu} \eta = \pm \frac{i}{2R} \sigma_{\mu} \eta$, and so will give us two solutions η_{\pm} . We will then obtain two charges $Q \equiv Q_L$ and $\overline{Q} \equiv Q_R$, corresponding to η_+ and η_- respectively.

The fermionic Noether charges are thus 17

$$Q\eta = \frac{2}{g_{YM}^2} \int_{S^3} d\Omega \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ -2i\lambda_A^{\dagger} \sigma^0 \delta_{\eta} \lambda^A - 2i \left(\lambda^A\right)^T \sigma^0 \delta_{\eta} \lambda_A^* \right\}.$$

For the purposes of this paper, we will simplify the calculations by setting the vector field to zero (we will be looking only at the sector of scalars and spinors). This truncation is consistent with the one-loop calculation we will be performing.

The non-vector sector of the charges $Q\eta$ is given by:

$$Q\eta = -\frac{2}{g_{YM}^2} \int_{S^3} d\Omega \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ 2i\lambda_A^{\dagger} \left(2\nabla_a \Phi^{AB} \overline{\sigma}^a i \sigma^2 \eta_B^* + \Phi^{AB} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} i \sigma^2 \nabla_{\mu} \eta_B^* - 2i \left[\Phi^{AC}, \Phi_{CB} \right] \eta^B \right) + 2i\lambda_A^{\dagger} \left(2\Pi^{AB} \sigma^0 i \sigma^2 \eta_B^* \right) + 2i \left(\lambda^A \right)^T \left(-2\Pi_{AB} \left(\overline{\sigma}^0 \right)^T i \sigma^2 \eta^B \right) + 2i \left(\lambda^A \right)^T \left(-2\nabla_a \Phi_{AB} \left(\overline{\sigma}^a \right)^T i \sigma^2 \eta^B - \Phi_{AB} \left(\overline{\sigma}^\mu \right)^T i \sigma^2 \nabla_{\mu} \eta^B - 2i \left[\Phi_{AC}, \Phi^{CB} \right] \eta_B^* \right) \right\},$$
(2.39)

where Π_{AB} is the momentum conjugate to the bosonic field Φ^{AB} .

We now have the an expression for the supercharges. The next step is to evaluate it on $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$: we expand the four-dimensional fields in terms of the spherical harmonics of S^3 , and then perform the integration of the sphere.

 $^{17}\mathrm{For}$ comparison purposes, one could also write this charge, in the $SU\left(2\right)_L\times SU\left(2\right)_R$ formalism, as

$$Q_{\varepsilon} = \frac{2}{g_{YM}^2} \int_{s^3} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ i \overline{\lambda}_A^{\dot{\alpha}} \overline{\sigma}_{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}^0 \delta_{\varepsilon} \lambda^{\alpha A} + i \overline{\lambda}_{\alpha}^A \left(\sigma^0 \right)^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \delta_{\varepsilon} \lambda_{\dot{\alpha}A} \right\}.$$

Harmonic Expansion on S³ and the Plane-Wave Limit

Each field, defined by its spin, will have a decomposition in spherical harmonics on S^3 . These spherical harmonics can be labeled by the irreducible representations (irreps) (m_L, m_R) of the isometry group $SO(4) \equiv SU(2)_L \otimes SU(2)_R$. As such, we have:

- Spin 0: We have scalar spherical harmonics $Y_{(0)}^{kl}$, in the irrep (k+1,k+1). Their mass will be (k+1)/R.
- Spin $\frac{1}{2}$: In this case we'll use spinor spherical harmonics: $Y_{(1/2)}^{kI+}$, in the irrep (k+2, k+1); $Y_{(1/2)}^{kI-}$, in the irrep (k+1, k+2). Both have mass (k+3/2)/R.

As usual, k labels different irreducible representations, and I enumerates the elements of a particular irrep $(I = 1 \cdots d)$, where d is the dimension of the irreducible representation.

The expansions of the fields in the corresponding harmonics are:

$$\begin{split} \phi_i(x^{\mu}) &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{I=1}^{(k+1)^2} \phi_i^{kI}(t) Y_{(0)}^{kI}(x^a) \,, \\ \lambda^A_{\alpha}(x^{\mu}) &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{I=1}^{(k+1)(k+2)} \sum_{\pm} \lambda^{A,kI\pm}(t) Y_{(1/2)\alpha}^{kI\pm}(x^a) \,. \end{split}$$

Note that spinor spherical harmonics are 2-dimensional commuting Weyl spinors. The Killing spinor η^A (parameter of the superconformal transformations) will have the same expansion as λ^A , with coefficients $\eta^{A,kI\pm}(t)$.

Plane-Wave Limit [74, 73]

We want to truncate the infinite tower of Kaluza-Klein modes to the lowest supermultiplet. One can then climb up the various states (with increasing masses) by acting with the two supercharges $Q_L = (2, 1, \overline{4})$ and $Q_R = (1, 2, 4)$, where the numbers correspond to representations of $SU(2)_L \otimes SU(2)_R \otimes SU(4)$. Focusing on the zero modes of the Kaluza-Klein tower we find 6 scalar spherical harmonics, constant on S^3 , and 4 lowest spinor spherical harmonics $S_{\alpha}^{\dot{\alpha}\pm}$, in irrep $(2, 1) \oplus (1, 2)$ of $SU(2)_L \otimes SU(2)_R$ (the hatted index refers to the degeneracy of the solution), solutions to the killing spinor equation for a Weyl spinor. The fields with only these zero modes become:

$$\begin{split} \phi_i(x^{\mu}) &= X_i(t), \\ \lambda^A_{\alpha}(x^{\mu}) &= \sum_{\hat{\alpha}=1}^2 \left(\theta^{A+}_{\hat{\alpha}}(t) S^{\hat{\alpha}+}_{\alpha}(x^a) + \theta^{A-}_{\hat{\alpha}}(t) S^{\hat{\alpha}-}_{\alpha}(x^a) \right). \end{split}$$

If we restrict ourselves to half of the supercharges Q_L , then these together with the bosonic symmetry generators will generate the subalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2|4)$. The restriction to the Q_L charges leads us to consider only the zero modes that are $SU(2)_R$ singlets. Then we keep all the lowest scalar harmonics, and only two spinor harmonics $S_{\alpha}^{\hat{\alpha}+}$ (instead of the 4 if we included $S_{\alpha}^{\hat{\alpha}-}$). The conjugate momenta π_i will have the same expansion as its conjugate field ϕ_i , that is $\pi_i(x^{\mu}) = \prod_i(t)$.

Now we can proceed to the actual integration on the supercharges. Going back to (2.39), we find that:¹⁸

$$Q_{L} = Q\eta^{+} = \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\left(\frac{1}{R}X^{AB} + 2i\Pi^{AB}\right)\theta_{A}^{+\dagger}i\sigma^{2}\eta_{B}^{+\ast} - \sqrt{2}\left[X_{AC}, X^{CB}\right]\theta_{\hat{\alpha}}^{+A}\varepsilon^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}}\eta_{B\hat{\beta}}^{+\ast} + \left(\frac{1}{R}X_{AB} - 2i\Pi_{AB}\right)\left(\theta^{+A}\right)^{T}i\sigma^{2}\eta^{+B} - \sqrt{2}\left[X^{AC}, X_{CB}\right]\theta_{A\hat{\alpha}}^{+\dagger}\varepsilon^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}}\eta_{\hat{\beta}}^{+B}\right\}$$
$$= Q_{+}\eta + S_{+}\eta^{*}.$$

The final expression for the supercharges is 19

$$Q_{A}^{\hat{\alpha}} = \operatorname{Tr}\left\{-\theta^{B\hat{\alpha}}\left(\frac{1}{R}X_{BA}-2i\Pi_{BA}\right)-\sqrt{2}\varepsilon^{\hat{\beta}\hat{\alpha}}\theta^{\dagger}_{B\hat{\beta}}\left[X^{BC},X_{CA}\right]\right\},$$

$$S^{A\hat{\alpha}} = \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\theta^{\dagger}_{B\hat{\beta}}\left(\frac{1}{R}X^{BA}+2i\Pi^{BA}\right)-\sqrt{2}\left[X_{BC},X^{CA}\right]\theta^{B}_{\hat{\beta}}\right\}\varepsilon^{\hat{\beta}\hat{\alpha}}.$$
(2.40)

¹⁸In order to obtain the supercharges integrated over S^3 , we used the properties of the spherical harmonics, as well as other properties of the Pauli matrices. These properties can be found in [75, 74, 73], and include $\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}i\sigma^{2}\sigma_{\mu}^{T} = (\overline{\sigma}^{\mu})^{T}i\sigma^{2}\sigma_{\mu} = -2i\sigma^{2}$. In the same references one can find the expansion of spin 1 vector fields. We also used an identification between the radius of the sphere R and the Yang-Mills coupling constant g_{YM} such that $\frac{4\pi^{2}R^{3}}{g_{YM}^{2}} \rightarrow 1$. This prefactor shows up when obtaining the action of the plane-wave matrix theory action from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM action, and would also appear in the charges.

¹⁹Note that in our choice of basis the relation $S = Q^{\dagger}$ is not manifest.

We'll continue by studying the sector $\mathfrak{su}(2|3)$, as in [67]. For that we reduce our fields as follows:

$$\theta^{\alpha} \equiv \theta^{4\hat{\alpha}}, \ \phi^a \equiv X^{a4}, \ \alpha = 1, 2; \ a = 1, 2, 3.$$

By construction we have $\overline{\phi^a} \equiv \phi_a$, and $\pi_a = \Pi_{4a}$, as well as $X^{BC} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{BCAD} X_{AD}$. The supercharges restricted to this sector can then be written as:

$$Q_{a}^{\alpha} = \operatorname{Tr}\left\{-\theta^{4\hat{\alpha}}\left(\frac{1}{R}X_{4a}-2i\Pi_{4a}\right)-\sqrt{2}\theta_{4\hat{\beta}}^{\dagger}\varepsilon^{\hat{\beta}\hat{\alpha}}\left[X^{4C},X_{Ca}\right]\right\}$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\theta^{\alpha}\left(\frac{1}{R}\overline{\phi}_{a}+2i\pi_{a}\right)-\sqrt{2}\theta_{\beta}^{\dagger}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{abc}\left[\phi^{c},\phi^{b}\right]\right\}; \qquad (2.41)$$
$$S^{a\alpha} = \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\theta_{4\hat{\beta}}^{\dagger}\left(\frac{1}{R}X^{4a}+2i\Pi^{4a}\right)-\sqrt{2}\left[X_{4C},X^{Ca}\right]\theta_{\hat{\beta}}^{4}\right\}\varepsilon^{\hat{\beta}\hat{\alpha}}$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\theta_{\beta}^{\dagger}\left(\frac{1}{R}\phi^{a}-2i\overline{\pi}^{a}\right)-\sqrt{2}\varepsilon^{abc}\left[\overline{\phi}_{c},\overline{\phi}_{b}\right]\theta^{\gamma}\varepsilon_{\gamma\beta}\right\}\varepsilon^{\beta\alpha}.$$
(2.42)

In order to continue, we will need to rewrite the fields in terms of creation/annihilation operators. First identify $\frac{1}{R} = \frac{m}{6}$, i.e. exchange the parameter R by a mass parameter m. [73] Then consider the expansion of the six scalars/momenta X_i , Π_i :

$$\begin{cases} a_i = \sqrt{\frac{3}{m}} \left(i \Pi_i + \frac{m}{6} X_i \right), \\ a_i^{\dagger} = \sqrt{\frac{3}{m}} \left(-i \Pi_i + \frac{m}{6} X_i \right), \end{cases} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} X_i = \sqrt{\frac{3}{m}} \left(a_i + a_i^{\dagger} \right), \\ \Pi_i = \frac{1}{2i} \sqrt{\frac{m}{3}} \left(a_i - a_i^{\dagger} \right). \end{cases}$$

The bosons X_{AB} are a combination of two real scalar fields such that $X_{a4} = \frac{1}{2} (X_a + iX_{a+3})$, a = 1, 2, 3. If we now define the creation/annihilation operators as $a^a \equiv a^a + ia^{a+3}$ and $b^{a\dagger} = a^{a\dagger} + ia^{a+3\dagger}$, with a = 1, 2, 3, we then have the following expansions for our (complex) fields:

$$\phi^{a} \equiv X^{a4} = \sqrt{\frac{3}{m}} \left(a^{a} + b^{\dagger a} \right); \quad \pi_{a} \equiv \Pi_{4a} = -\frac{1}{4i} \sqrt{\frac{m}{3}} \left(a^{\dagger}_{a} - b_{a} \right), \quad (2.43)$$

with equivalent expressions for fields $\overline{\phi}_a$ and $\overline{\pi}^a$. Introducing also fermionic creation opera-

tors, the fermions become

$$\theta^{\dagger \alpha} = c^{\alpha} = \varepsilon^{\alpha \beta} c_{\beta} ; \quad \theta^{\alpha} = c^{\dagger \alpha}.$$
 (2.44)

We will be interested in action of the charges on the subspace of states that will only have excitations of c^{\dagger} and b^{\dagger} , so we will drop the oscillators a, a^{\dagger} in the bosonic fields. We find:

$$Q_{a}^{\alpha} = \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sqrt{\frac{m}{3}}c^{\dagger\alpha}b_{a} - \frac{3\sqrt{2}}{m}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{abc}\left[b^{\dagger c},b^{\dagger b}\right]c_{\beta}\right\},$$

$$S_{\alpha}^{a} = \operatorname{Tr}\left\{-\sqrt{\frac{m}{3}}b^{\dagger a}c_{\alpha} - \frac{3\sqrt{2}}{m}\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon^{abc}c^{\dagger\beta}\left[b_{c},b_{b}\right]\right\}.$$
(2.45)

As expected, these results are similar with the ones in [74], up to a change of basis for the gamma matrices.

The $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ subsector: vacuum and excitations

We shall now focus on states that transform in the $\mathfrak{su}(2|3)$ sector and are single trace (gauge invariant) operators of the fields (3 bosons and 2 fermions). This *spin-chain* arises from the large N-limit of the gauge theory. In this sector the action of the algebra generators can be found in [67]. Consider now the vacuum as a long string of $Z \equiv \phi^3$ fields. In oscillator notation, we have $Z = b^{3\dagger}$, and the vacuum state can be written as:

$$|0,J\rangle \equiv \left|Z^{J}\right\rangle \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{J}N^{J/2}} \operatorname{Tr}\left(b^{3\dagger J}\right)\left|0\right\rangle$$

A generalization of this vacuum consists in an infinitely long string of Z fields (the asymptotic regime, $J \to \infty$), as in [55]. The excitations are now the other fields of the $\mathfrak{su}(2|3)$ algebra, $\chi \in \{\psi^1, \psi^2 | \phi^1, \phi^2\}$, which corresponds to the $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ subsector of the algebra. The excitations can move through the chain on Z's with some momentum p. Thus, in momentum space we can write

$$\chi = \sum_{n_k=1}^{N} e^{ip_k n_k} \chi\left(n_k\right) = \sum_{n_k=1}^{J} e^{ip_k n_k} \chi_k \equiv \chi\left(p_k\right),$$

where *n* denotes the position of the impurity/excitation χ on the vacuum string.

A general state with K impurities can then be written as:

$$|\chi_1,...\chi_K;J
angle = \sum_{n_1,...,n_K=1} e^{ip_1n_1+\cdots+ip_Kn_K} |Z\cdots Z\chi_1 Z\cdots \chi_2\cdots \chi_K...Z
angle$$

For an asymptotic state $(J \to \infty)$ we consider the dilute gas approximation, where the positions n_1, \dots, n_k of the impurities obey $n_1 \ll n_2 \ll \dots \ll n_K$.

We should note that on-shell the physical states are cyclic (property of the trace), and so we must have $\sum_{k=1}^{K} p_k = 0$.

Now that we defined the states that the supercharges will be acting on, we can determine their action. The first step will be to check what the charges do to just one excitation on the vacuum. Then one can generalize to multi-excitation states of the $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ subsector of $\mathfrak{su}(2|3)$. Once we have the action of the charges on a multi-excitation state, we can determine the commutator of two supercharges, as a check of our results.

In this subsector the charges (2.45) become

$$Q_{a}^{\alpha} = \sqrt{\frac{m}{3}} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \psi^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi^{a}} - \left(\sqrt{\frac{3}{m}}\right)^{3} \sqrt{2} \varepsilon_{ab} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \left[Z, \phi^{b}\right] \frac{\partial}{\partial \psi^{\beta}} \right\},$$

$$S_{\alpha}^{a} = \sqrt{\frac{m}{3}} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ -\phi^{a} \frac{\partial}{\partial \psi^{\alpha}} - \left(\sqrt{\frac{3}{m}}\right)^{3} \sqrt{2} \varepsilon^{ab} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \psi^{\beta} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial Z}, \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi^{b}}\right] \right\}, \qquad (2.46)$$

where we chose a coherent state basis, such that

$$egin{array}{rcl} c^{\daggerlpha}& o&\psi^{lpha}\,; & c_{lpha} orac{\partial}{\partial\psi^{lpha}};\ b^{\dagger a}& o&\phi^{a}\,; & b_{a} orac{\partial}{\partial\phi^{a}}. \end{array}$$

For a = 3, we have the identification $\phi^3 \equiv Z$. The factor $\sqrt{\frac{m}{3}}$ will appear as an overall factor in every charge calculated, and will be dropped, as we know that the quadratic terms come from the free theory $g_{YM} = 0$.

We now proceed to determine the action of the supercharge Q (and equivalently S) on a single excitation state $|\chi;J\rangle = \sum_{n} e^{ipn} |Z^{n-1}\chi Z^{J-n+1}\rangle$. If the excitation is bosonic, $\chi_{\ell} = \phi^{\ell}$, then

$$Q_{a}^{\alpha}\left|\chi;J\right\rangle = \sum_{n}e^{ipn}\delta_{a}^{\ell}\left|Z^{n-1}\psi^{\alpha}\left(n\right)Z^{J-n+1};J\right\rangle,$$

while if the excitation is fermionic, $\chi^{\beta} = \psi^{\beta}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{Q}_{a}^{\beta} \left| \chi; J \right\rangle &= -\left(\sqrt{\frac{3}{m}} \right)^{3} \sqrt{2} \varepsilon_{ab} \varepsilon^{\alpha \beta} \sqrt{\frac{J+1}{J}} N^{1/2} \left| Z^{n-1} \left[Z, \phi^{b} \right] Z^{J-n+1}; J+1 \right\rangle \\ &= -\left(\sqrt{\frac{3}{m}} \right)^{3} \sqrt{2} \varepsilon_{ab} \varepsilon^{\alpha \beta} \sqrt{\frac{J+1}{J}} N^{1/2} \left| Z^{n} \phi^{b} \left(n+1 \right) Z^{J-n+1}; J+1 \right\rangle + \\ &+ \left(\sqrt{\frac{3}{m}} \right)^{3} \sqrt{2} \varepsilon_{ab} \varepsilon^{\alpha \beta} \sqrt{\frac{J+1}{J}} N^{1/2} \left| Z^{n-1} \phi^{b} \left(n \right) Z^{J-n+2}; J+1 \right\rangle \\ &\approx -\left(\sqrt{\frac{3}{m}} \right)^{3} \sqrt{2} \varepsilon_{ab} \varepsilon^{\alpha \beta} \sum_{n} e^{ipn} \left(e^{-ip} - 1 \right) N^{1/2} \left| Z^{n-1} \phi^{b} \left(n \right) Z^{J-n+2}; J+1 \right\rangle . \end{split}$$

It can be seen from the expression above that the insertion of a Z field before the excitation changes its phase by e^{-ip} , while the insertion after the excitation leaves that phase untouched. This is a property of the asymptotic state, for which an infinite number of Z fields exist after the (last) excitation. This was seen in [55] as being equivalent to "opening" the trace. In the above expression we also kept only the first order in $\frac{1}{I}$.

From the results shown above, we can easily determine the generalization to a *multi*excitation state. First, rewrite the state as

$$|\chi;J\rangle \equiv |\chi_1...\chi_K;J\rangle = \sum_{\{l_i\}} e^{ip_1l_1+...+ip_Kl_K} \chi_1^{\dagger}\chi_2^{\dagger}\cdots\chi_K^{\dagger}|0;J\rangle.$$
(2.47)

The action of one charge on such state is (zeroth order in $\frac{1}{J}$):

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}_{a}^{\alpha} | \chi_{1} \dots \chi_{K}; J \rangle &= \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sum_{\{l_{i}\}} e^{ip_{1}l_{1} + \dots + ip_{K}l_{K}} \left(\prod_{m=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(m)} \right) \chi_{1}^{\dagger} \chi_{2}^{\dagger} \cdots \left(\mathcal{Q}_{a}^{\alpha} \chi_{k}^{\dagger} \right) \cdots \chi_{K}^{\dagger} | 0; J \rangle \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sum_{\{l_{i}\}} e^{ip_{1}l_{1} + \dots + ip_{K}l_{K}} \left(\prod_{m=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(m)} \right) \left\{ \delta \left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \phi^{b} \right) \delta_{a}^{b} \chi_{1}^{\dagger} \chi_{2}^{\dagger} \cdots \psi^{\alpha} \left(l_{k} \right) \cdots \chi_{K}^{\dagger} | 0; J \rangle - \\ &- \frac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^{3}} \delta \left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \psi^{\beta} \right) \left(\prod_{m=k+1}^{K} e^{-ip_{m}} \right) \left(e^{-ip_{k}} - 1 \right) \varepsilon_{ab} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \chi_{1}^{\dagger} \chi_{2}^{\dagger} \cdots \phi^{b} \left(l_{k} \right) \cdots \chi_{K}^{\dagger} | 0; J + 1 \rangle \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.48)$$

and similarly for the *S* charge (noticing that the action of *S* on a bosonic excitation returns an extra factor of *N*). In here $\delta\left(\chi_k^{\dagger}, \phi^b\right)$ means that the excitation $\chi(l_k)$ is bosonic ϕ^b , while in $\delta\left(\chi_k^{\dagger}, \psi^{\beta}\right)$ the excitation $\chi(l_k)$ is fermionic ψ^{β} . The factor $(-1)^{F(m)}$ is equal to 1 if χ_m is bosonic and -1 if χ_m is fermionic. Finally we defined $M = \sqrt{\frac{m}{3}}$. When χ_k is a fermionic excitation, one gets the expected factor of $(e^{-ip_k} - 1)$, which already showed up in the single excitation case, but one also gets an extra factor of $\prod_{m=k+1}^{K} e^{-ip_m}$. This last factor can also be explained by the insertion of the *Z* field. In fact, we saw that in the single excitation case *Z* changed the momentum when inserted before the excitation on the chain of fields. But now the field *Z* gets inserted before all of the excitations χ_m with m > k, hence the change of momenta of all these excitations.

The results of the action of Q and S on a multi-excitation state will be summarized next using a non local notation (see also [56]).

Twisted vs. non-local notations

The supercharges Q and S acting on a general state $|\chi; J\rangle$ can be written in a *non-local notation*:

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{Q}_{a}^{\alpha} |\chi;J\rangle &= \sum_{k=1}^{K} \left\{ a_{k} \delta_{a}^{b} \delta\left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \phi^{b}\right) |\chi_{1} \cdots \psi^{\alpha} \cdots \chi_{K};J\rangle + \\
&+ b_{k} \varepsilon_{ab} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \delta\left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \psi^{\beta}\right) |\chi_{1} \cdots \phi^{b} \cdots \chi_{K};J+1 \rangle \right\}, \quad (2.49) \\
S_{\alpha}^{a} |\chi;J\rangle &= \sum_{k=1}^{K} \left\{ c_{k} \varepsilon^{ab} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \delta\left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \phi^{b}\right) |\chi_{1} \cdots \psi^{\beta} \cdots \chi_{K};J-1 \rangle +
\end{aligned}$$

$$\frac{\lambda}{k=1} \left\{ \begin{array}{ccc} \epsilon_{k} e^{-\epsilon} & \epsilon_{a\beta} e^{-\epsilon} & \chi_{k}, \psi \end{array} \right\} |\chi_{1} \cdots \psi^{a} \cdots \chi_{K}, v = 1/1 \\
+ d_{k} \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} \delta \left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \psi^{\beta}\right) |\chi_{1} \cdots \psi^{a} \cdots \chi_{K}, J \rangle \right\},$$
(2.50)

where the coefficients are given by

$$a_{k} = \prod_{m=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(m)},$$

$$b_{k} = \frac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^{3}} \left[\prod_{m=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(m)} \right] (1 - e^{-ip_{k}}) \left[\prod_{m=k+1}^{K} e^{-ip_{m}} \right] = \frac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^{3}} e^{-iP} (e^{ip_{k}} - 1) \left[\prod_{m=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(m)} e^{ip_{m}} \right],$$

$$c_{k} = \frac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^{3}} \left[\prod_{m=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(m)} \right] (e^{ip_{k}} - 1) \left[\prod_{m=k+1}^{K} e^{ip_{m}} \right] = \frac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^{3}} e^{iP} (1 - e^{-ip_{k}}) \left[\prod_{m=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(m)} e^{-ip_{m}} \right],$$

$$d_{k} = -\prod_{m=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(m)}.$$
(2.51)

There is one other notation, introduced by Beisert in [56], called the *twisted notation*. In this local notation we have

$$\begin{array}{lll}
\left. \begin{array}{lll}
\left. \mathcal{Q}_{a,k}^{\alpha} \left| \cdots \phi_{k}^{b} \cdots \right\rangle &=& a_{k}^{\prime} \delta_{a}^{b} \left| \cdots \mathscr{Y}^{+} \psi_{k}^{\alpha} \cdots \right\rangle, \\
\left. \mathcal{Q}_{a,k}^{\alpha} \left| \cdots \psi_{k}^{\beta} \cdots \right\rangle &=& b_{k}^{\prime} \varepsilon^{\alpha \beta} \varepsilon_{ab} \left| \cdots \mathscr{Z}^{+} \mathscr{Y}^{-} \phi_{k}^{b} \cdots \right\rangle, \\
\left. \begin{array}{lll}
\left. \mathcal{S}_{\alpha,k}^{a} \left| \cdots \phi_{k}^{b} \cdots \right\rangle &=& c_{k}^{\prime} \varepsilon^{ab} \varepsilon_{\alpha \beta} \left| \cdots \mathscr{Z}^{-} \mathscr{Y}^{+} \psi_{k}^{\beta} \cdots \right\rangle, \\
\left. \mathcal{S}_{\alpha,k}^{a} \left| \cdots \psi_{k}^{\beta} \cdots \right\rangle &=& d_{k}^{\prime} \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} \left| \cdots \mathscr{Y}^{-} \phi_{k}^{a} \cdots \right\rangle. \\
\end{array} \right.$$

$$(2.52)$$

We notice the presence of the markers $\mathscr{Z}^{\pm}, \mathscr{Y}^{\pm}$. These markers have a simple explanation, up to one loop. The marker \mathscr{Y}^{\pm} marks the position on the string of fields (the state) where a fermion field was inserted (\mathscr{Y}^+) or removed (\mathscr{Y}^-) . In the twisted notation we are only given the action of the supercharge on the field k of the string. But in order for a supercharge to act on such field it will have to pass by the previous ones. If these are bosonic fields nothing happens, but if they are fermionic, a minus sign will appear (for each fermionic fields it passes). Thus, it is important to know where the supercharge acted, which is done by the marker. The marker is shifted around as follows:

$$|\cdots \chi_k \mathscr{Y}^{\pm} \cdots \rangle = (\xi_k)^{\pm 1} |\cdots \mathscr{Y}^{\pm} \chi_k \cdots \rangle,$$

where

$$\xi_k = (-1)^{F(k)} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \chi_k \text{ bosonic} \\ -1 & \text{if } \chi_k \text{ fermionic} \end{cases}.$$
 (2.53)

The marker \mathscr{Z}^{\pm} marks a position where an extra Z field was inserted in the string. This changes the length of the vacuum spin chain, reflecting a change in the momenta of the excitation fields. But this change in momenta only affects the excitation fields after the position of the marker. The marker has the property

$$\left|\cdots\chi_{k}\mathscr{Z}^{\pm}\cdots\right\rangle = \frac{x_{k}^{\pm}}{x_{k}^{\mp}}\left|\cdots\mathscr{Z}^{\pm}\chi_{k}\cdots\right\rangle, \text{ where } \frac{x_{k}^{\pm}}{x_{k}^{\mp}} = e^{\pm ip_{k}},$$

$$(2.54)$$

with p_k being the momenta of the excitation χ_k , as before.

In summary, the *twisted notation* is a local notation, since it only provides the action of the supercharge on the excitation field χ_k , plus a set of markers that allow us to rewrite it in a *non-local notation*, as found in (2.49, 2.50). We can go from the twisted notation to the non-local one by removing the markers from the first, i.e., shifting them so that they will be at the right (or left) of all the excitation fields.

In the local *twisted notation* we have²⁰

$$a'_k = -d'_k = 1, \quad b'_k = rac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^3} \left(1 - e^{-ip_k}\right), \quad c'_k = -rac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^3} \left(1 - e^{ip_k}\right).$$

Comparison with Beisert at 1-loop

One can find the all-loop version of these coefficients in [56], for both the non-local and the twisted notation. In fact, we can expand the (non-local) coefficients given in that reference to order $\mathscr{O}(g)$, and compare them to our results. These coefficients are:

$$a_{k} = \gamma_{k} \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(j)},$$

$$b_{k} = g \frac{\alpha}{\gamma_{k}} \left(1 - e^{ip_{k}} \right) \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \left(e^{ip_{k}} (-1)^{F(j)} \right),$$

$$c_{k} = i \frac{\gamma_{k}}{\alpha x_{k}^{+}} \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \left(e^{-ip_{k}} (-1)^{F(j)} \right),$$

$$d_{k} = g \frac{x_{k}^{+}}{i\gamma_{k}} \left(1 - e^{-ip_{k}} \right) \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{F(j)}.$$

We used the identifications (2.53) and (2.54) into the transcribed coefficients, and also made a rescaling of the parameter $\gamma_k \to \sqrt{g} \gamma_k$. The expansion in g is hidden in the dependence of

$$\frac{1}{M^6} = \frac{g_{YM}^2}{32\pi^2}.$$

²⁰The coupling constant $M^6 = \left(\frac{m}{3}\right)^3$ is related to the Yang-Mills coupling constant g_{YM} in the following way

This relation comes from matching the prefactor of the reduced SYM action with the prefactor of the matrix model action. In fact we had $m = \frac{6}{R}$, where R was the radius of S^3 . Taking the radius small corresponds to $m \gg 1$ and consequently $g_{YM} \ll 1$.

 x^+, x^- on the coupling constant:

$$x^{+} + \frac{1}{x^{+}} - x^{-} - \frac{1}{x^{-}} = \frac{i}{g}.$$
 (2.55)

This last equation, together with (2.54), allows us to solve for $x^+(g)$:

$$x^{+} = i \frac{1 + \sqrt{1 + 16g^{2} \sin^{2}(p/2)}}{2g(1 - e^{-ip})}$$

Then by expanding this expression up to order $\mathscr{O}(g)$, we obtain exact agreement with (2.51), as long as we identify $\gamma_k = (-1)^{F(k)}$ and $\alpha = e^{-iP}$. Note that the relation between the normalized 't Hooft coupling g and the Yang-Mills coupling constant g_{YM} is $g = \frac{g_{YM}}{4\pi} \sqrt{N_c}$, from the gauge group $SU(N_c)$.

The other charges that we are interested in determining are the Hamiltonian H and the central charges of the extended algebra P, K. These charges arise from commutation relations between the supercharges, which will be determined next.

Commutation Relations

At this moment we have calculated only the supercharges of the full extended algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$, up to $\mathscr{O}(g)$. We are interested in having the complete set of charges at this order, which comprises also the rotations generators L, R, the dilatation operator H, and also the central charges of the extended algebra P, K (bosonic generators of momentum and boosts, which have zero eigenvalues when applied to physical states). All of these generators can be obtained to $\mathscr{O}(g)$ from the commutation relations of the supercharges.

The central charges of the extended algebra receive no loop corrections, and as such, can be obtained exactly by the anti-commutation relations $\{Q,Q\} \sim P$ and $\{S,S\} \sim K$, by knowing the zeroth order of the supercharges. The other generators will be obtained from the last anti-commutator $\{Q,S\} \propto R+L+H$, but while the zeroth order supercharges will be enough to determine rotation generators L and R, the central charge H will only be known correctly up to $\mathcal{O}(g)$, as we'll see below.

In the anti-commutator of any two supercharges the only terms that will not vanish

are the ones where the two supercharges are applied to the same excitation. The anticommutator of two Q charges is:

$$\begin{split} \left\{ \mathcal{Q}_{b}^{\beta}, \mathcal{Q}_{a}^{\alpha} \right\} |\chi_{1}...\chi_{K}; J \rangle &= \sum_{k=1}^{K} \left| \chi_{1} \cdots \left(\left\{ \mathcal{Q}_{b}^{\beta}, \mathcal{Q}_{a}^{\alpha} \right\} \chi_{k} \right) \cdots \chi_{K}; J \right\rangle \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^{3}} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \left[\left(1 - e^{-ip_{k}} \right) \prod_{l=k+1}^{K} e^{-ip_{l}} \right] |\chi_{1}...\chi_{K}; J+1 \rangle \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^{3}} \left(1 - e^{-i\sum_{k=1}^{K} p_{k}} \right) |\chi_{1}...\chi_{K}; J+1 \rangle . \end{split}$$

This is just the action of the central charge $\{Q, Q\} \propto P$ of the extended algebra on a multiexcitation state. The action of the other central charge of the extended algebra is obtained from $\{S, S\} \propto K$:

$$\left\{S^{b}_{\beta},S^{a}_{\alpha}\right\}|\chi_{1}...\chi_{K};J\rangle=\frac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^{3}}\left(1-e^{i\sum_{k=1}^{K}p_{k}}\right)|\chi_{1}...\chi_{K};J-1\rangle$$

We know from [56] that there is an outer automorphism relating H and the central charges of the extended algebra P, K, which corresponds to an $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ algebra. Closure of this algebra on the original commutation relations of the supercharges requires that

$$H^2 - PK = \frac{1}{4}.$$
 (2.56)

This relation should only hold when we consider the all loop H, and not only when we consider the first two orders. Using non-local notation, we find that the product PK is given by

$$PK = -\frac{2N}{M^6} \left(e^{-i\sum_{k=1}^K p_k} - 1 \right) \left(e^{+i\sum_{k=1}^K p_k} - 1 \right) = \frac{8N}{M^6} \sin^2 \left(\sum_{k=1}^K \frac{p_k}{2} \right) = \frac{8N}{M^6} \sin^2 \left(\frac{p}{2} \right),$$

and so $H^2 = \frac{1}{4} + PK = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{8N}{M^6} \sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)$, which implies

$$H = \pm \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{1 + \frac{32N}{M^6} \sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)} = \pm \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{1 + \frac{g_{YM}^2 N}{\pi^2} \sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)}.$$

This is the result expected at one loop. The identification of the matrix model mass param-

eter with the Yang-Mills coupling coupling holds at one loop but some mismatches were seen to appear at higher loop calculations, implying some kind of BMN scaling breakdown, and a substitution of the factor $\frac{32N}{M^6}$ for a function $f\left(\frac{N}{M^6}\right)$ [78].

We now calculate the anti-commutator of Q and S, which will be proportional to to $L^{\alpha}_{\beta}, R^a_b$ and the Hamiltonian H:

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{Q}_{b}^{\beta}, S_{\alpha}^{a} \end{cases} |\chi_{1}...\chi_{K}; J\rangle &= \sum_{k=1}^{K} \left\{ c_{k}b_{k}\varepsilon^{aa'}\varepsilon_{bb'}\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}\delta\left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \phi^{a'}\right) \left|\chi_{1}\cdots\phi^{b'}\cdots\chi_{K}; J\right\rangle + \right. \\ \left. + c_{k}b_{k}\varepsilon^{\beta\beta'}\varepsilon_{\alpha\alpha'}\delta_{b}^{a}\delta\left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \psi^{\beta'}\right) \left|\chi_{1}\cdots\psi^{\alpha'}\cdots\chi_{K}; J\right\rangle + \right. \\ \left. + a_{k}d_{k}\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}\delta\left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \phi^{b}\right) \left|\chi_{1}\cdots\phi^{a}\cdots\chi_{K}; J\right\rangle + \right. \\ \left. + a_{k}d_{k}\delta_{b}^{a}\delta\left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \psi^{\alpha}\right) \left|\chi_{1}\cdots\psi^{\beta}\cdots\chi_{K}; J\right\rangle \right\}.$$

From equations (2.51) we have that:

$$a_k d_k = -1$$
 ; $b_k c_k = \frac{4N}{M^6} \left(1 - e^{-ip_k}\right) \left(e^{ip_k} - 1\right) = -\frac{16N}{M^6} \sin^2\left(\frac{p_k}{2}\right)$

Also, we know from the algebra (2.1) that

$$\begin{array}{lll} \mathscr{L}^{\beta}_{\alpha} \left| \psi^{\gamma} \right\rangle & = & \delta^{\gamma}_{\alpha} \left| \psi^{\beta} \right\rangle - \frac{1}{2} \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} \left| \psi^{\gamma} \right\rangle, \\ R^{a}_{b} \left| \phi^{c} \right\rangle & = & \delta^{c}_{b} \left| \phi^{a} \right\rangle - \frac{1}{2} \delta^{a}_{b} \left| \phi^{c} \right\rangle. \end{array}$$

For multi-particle states this generalizes to

$$\mathscr{L}^{eta}_{lpha} \ket{\chi_1...\chi_K;J} = \sum_{k=1}^K \chi_1^\dagger \cdots \mathscr{L}^{eta}_{lpha} \left(\chi_k^\dagger\right) \cdots \chi_K^\dagger \ket{0;J},$$

with a similar result for the charge $R_b^{a,21}$

²¹The charges \mathscr{L} and R are the generators of the algebra that correspond to rotations of the $\psi^{\gamma} \mathfrak{su}(2)$ algebra and of the $\phi^{a} \mathfrak{su}(2)$ algebras, respectively. As such, $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha}^{\beta} |\phi^{c}\rangle = 0$, and $R_{b}^{a} |\psi^{\gamma}\rangle = 0$.

One can now easily see that

$$\left\{ Q_{b}^{\beta}, S_{\alpha}^{a} \right\} |\chi_{1}...\chi_{K}; J\rangle = \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} R_{b}^{a} |\chi_{1}...\chi_{K}; J\rangle + \delta_{b}^{a} \mathscr{L}_{\alpha}^{\beta} |\chi_{1}...\chi_{K}; J\rangle
+ \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} \delta_{b}^{a} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \left(\frac{1}{2} a_{k} d_{k} + b_{k} c_{k} \right) |\chi_{1}...\chi_{K}; J\rangle
- \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} \sum_{k=1}^{K} b_{k} c_{k} \delta \left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \phi^{b} \right) |\chi_{1}...\phi^{a}...\chi_{K}; J\rangle
- \delta_{b}^{a} \sum_{k=1}^{K} b_{k} c_{k} \delta \left(\chi_{k}^{\dagger}, \psi^{\alpha} \right) |\chi_{1}...\psi^{\beta}...\chi_{K}; J\rangle.$$
(2.57)

If we compare (2.57) with the expected results from commutation relations given in (2.1), the last two terms seem to be extra. But in fact this is the exact result! We (anti-)commuted only the order g^0 and order g^1 of the supercharges. That is, we calculated the nonzero anticommutators $\{Q_0, S_0\} \propto R + L + H_0$ and $\{Q_1, S_1\}$. This last anti-commutator contributes to order g^2 of the Hamiltonian, H_2 , but there will be another contribution to H_2 : the two-loop terms of the supercharges, Q_2 and S_2 , will have nonzero commutation relations with S_0 and Q_0 , respectively, and contribute to $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$. So H_2 (the energy central charge of order g^2) will be fully determined by:

$$H_2 \propto \{S_1, Q_1\} + \{S_2, Q_0\} + \{S_0, Q_2\}.$$
(2.58)

Only considering all the above anti-commutators we will get the correct result for the H_2 . For calculations see Appendix A.2, and also [67].

Supercharges as operators in momentum space

We now present a description of the supercharges in terms of operators in momentum space. Consider as before an infinite chain of fields Z. The vacuum state, written before as $|0;J\rangle = \text{Tr}(Z^J)|0\rangle$, can be rewritten, in the "Hamiltonian formalism" introduced in [5] as $|0;J\rangle = (b_z^{\dagger})^J |0\rangle$, where b_z^{\dagger} creates an extra Z field in the string.²² Then we can write a state

²²The subscript z is used in this section, to distinguish the creation operator b_z^{\dagger} for the boson Z from the creation operator $b^{a\dagger}$ for the two bosonic impurities.

with K impurities as:

$$\left|\Psi\right\rangle = \sum_{n_{1},\dots,n_{K}} e^{i p_{j} n_{j}} b^{\dagger}\left(n_{1}\right) \cdots b^{\dagger}\left(n_{K}\right) \left|0;J\right\rangle = b^{\dagger}\left(p_{1}\right) \cdots b^{\dagger}\left(p_{K}\right) \left|0;J\right\rangle$$

We are imposing dilute gas approximation, in which we consider $n_1 \ll n_2 \ll \cdots \ll n_K$. We will now assume $p_1 < p_2 < \cdots < p_K$.

In the last expression for $|\Psi\rangle$ we used the creation operators $b^{\dagger}(n) = (b_z^{\dagger})^n b^{\dagger}(b_z)^n$, which create a boson *b* at position *n* in the string of *Z's*. One can also introduce $c^{\dagger}(n) = (b_z^{\dagger})^n c^{\dagger}(b_z)^n$ as a creation operator for a fermion at position *n*. The action of the Hamiltonian in this framework can be found in [5], and a further comparison with lattice strings can be found in [81].

To write the action of the supercharges in terms of these operators, we also need to introduce a partial momentum operator

$$\hat{\mathscr{P}}(p) = \int_{0}^{p} dp' \, p' \left[b^{\dagger}\left(p'\right) b\left(p'\right) + c^{\dagger}\left(p'\right) c\left(p'\right) \right],$$

or the discrete momentum version

$$\hat{\mathscr{P}}(p) = \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} k \left[b^{\dagger}(k) b(k) + c^{\dagger}(k) c(k) \right].$$

The total momentum operator is just $\hat{P} = \hat{\mathscr{P}}(p_{max})$, where p_{max} is either ∞ in the continuum case, or finite (but large) in the lattice. Also, define an operator $\hat{\Theta}$ conjugate to the "R-charge operator" $\hat{\mathscr{J}}$. In the spin-chain formalism, $\hat{\mathscr{J}}$ effectively measures the length of the chain of Z fields, and $\hat{\Theta}$ changes that length:

$$\hat{\mathscr{J}} \, e^{\pm i \hat{\Theta}} \ket{0,J} = (J\pm 1) \, e^{\pm i \hat{\Theta}} \ket{0,J}$$
 .

We can now proceed to the action of the supercharges. In momentum space, they become:

$$Q_{b}^{\beta} = -\frac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^{3}} \varepsilon_{bb'} \varepsilon^{\beta\beta'} e^{i\hat{\Theta}} e^{-i\hat{P}} \sum_{p} b^{b'\dagger}(p) \left(e^{ip}-1\right) e^{i\hat{\mathscr{P}}(p)} c_{\beta'}(p) + \sum_{p} c^{\beta\dagger}(p) b_{b}(p);$$

$$S_{\alpha}^{a} = \frac{\sqrt{2N}}{M^{3}} \varepsilon_{\alpha\alpha'} \varepsilon^{aa'} e^{-i\hat{\Theta}} e^{i\hat{P}} \sum_{p} c^{\alpha'\dagger}(p) \left(1-e^{-ip}\right) e^{-i\hat{\mathscr{P}}(p)} b_{a'}(p) - \sum_{p} b^{a\dagger}(p) c_{\alpha}(p). \quad (2.59)$$

It is not hard to check that these definition give us the results obtained in the previous section. In the above expression the sum over momenta has increments of $\frac{2\pi}{J}$.²³ If we wrote the charges obtained from the string formalism (2.37) and (2.38) in momentum space, we would obtain the exact structure for the supercharges as was seen in (2.59), as long as we make the correspondence for the conjugate pair $(x_{-}^{0}, P_{+}) \leftrightarrow (\hat{\Theta}, \hat{\mathscr{J}})$.

Commuting two central charges Q will give us the central charge \mathscr{P} :

$$\{Q,Q\} = e^{i\hat{\Theta}}e^{-i\hat{P}}\sum_{p}b^{\dagger}(p)\left(e^{ip}-1\right)e^{i\hat{\mathscr{P}}(p)}b(p) + e^{i\hat{\Theta}}e^{-i\hat{P}}\sum_{p}c^{\dagger}(p)\left(e^{ip}-1\right)e^{i\hat{\mathscr{P}}(p)}c(p) = \mathscr{P}.$$
(2.60)

One can show that the central charge takes the much more common form:²⁴

$$\mathscr{P} = e^{i\hat{\Theta}} e^{-i\hat{P}} \left(e^{i\hat{P}} - 1 \right) = e^{i\hat{\Theta}} \left(1 - e^{-i\hat{P}} \right).$$
(2.61)

To summarize, we found expressions for the supercharges as operators in momentum space, as well as for their commutation relations, in the large J limit. These expressions once applied to states with K impurities will result in the expressions obtained in the previous section.

Looking at the value of the central charge here (from the spin-chain formalism) and the one obtained from the string side (2.25), we can conclude that the results are correct up to an overall phase $e^{\pm i p_{ws}}$, as long as we match $\{Q, \overline{Q}\} \leftrightarrow \{S, Q\}$ and $\{C, C^{\dagger}\} \leftrightarrow \{K, P\}$. This overall phase found on the string side is natural, as different boundary conditions for x_{-} will

$$\hat{\mathscr{P}}^{n}(p)\chi^{\dagger}(p') = \chi^{\dagger}(p')\left[\theta(p-p')p' + \hat{\mathscr{P}}(p)\right]^{n}.$$

²³ The operator $e^{\pm i\hat{\Theta}}$ does not commute with the sum over the momenta, as it changes the increments in the sum. But in the limit J very large, this change will be negligible.

 $^{^{24}}$ This can be proven by using the property (valid for any power *n*, proven by induction, and for χ fermionic or bosonic)

differ from each other by such a phase. Also the algebra (2.1) allows a U(1) automorphism, which means we can always multiply all supercharges by some phase that can depend on all central charges.

2.6 Summary of the superalgebra results

In this chapter we studied in detail the Q, S generators of the extended algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ in the plane-wave matrix theory formalism. By using a coherent basis we determined the supercharges in the non-local notation of Beisert [56] (as well as in the local twisted notation), and determined some of the coefficients in this notation up to order $\mathscr{O}(g_{YM})$.

We also determined the anti-commutation relations of these supercharges, and obtained the expected results for the central charges P, K and H. We saw that we needed to know the Hamiltonian up to two-loops in order to have a closed (anti-)commutation relation between Q and S.

Finally, we wrote a first quantized formulation of the supercharges obtained directly from the sigma model action for the string. Having the supercharges written in that way allowed us to compare their structure with the what we had previously calculated from gauge side.

The evidence seems to point to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM and IIB superstring theory being integrable models in the 't Hooft limit. It has been seen that the scattering matrix is completely defined by the underlying symmetry algebra $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$. In this limit, the *S*-matrix can be found to actually retain a symmetry algebra that is two copies of a central extension of the $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)$ algebra, in particular: $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^3 = \mathfrak{su}(2|2) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^2$. From the properties of this *S*-matrix, one finds that it naturally satisfies the Yang-Baxter equation [55,56], which is more evidence towards having factorized scattering and integrability. Thus, this symmetry of the *S*-matrix is expected to be a Yangian symmetry, [61,84,85] and have an underlying Hopf algebra [86] (see also [87,88]). Having these new developments in minds, it would be interesting to apply the methods used in this paper to the study of the Hopf algebra related to the central extension, and get some results on the corresponding Yangian generators. The sector of near 1/2 BPS operators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills has been well studied by the use of collective methods [80, 81], and the same methods can be used to study the elements of the algebra in 1/4 BPS sector.

CHAPTER 3

Solitons in $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$: Giant Magnons & Single Spikes

Much has been learned about the AdS₅-CFT₄ correspondence [1] by looking at limits in which an SO(6) charge J also becomes large. At large λ the theory is a theory of classical strings moving in $AdS_5 \times S^5$, with J an angular momentum on the sphere, while at small λ it is perturbative Yang–Mills theory in 4 dimensions, with J an R-charge of this theory [11,89]. This is the large-J sector.

The first well-studied example in this sector is the BMN limit [5,90], as was mentioned before, which on the string side, consists of nearly point-like solutions orbiting the sphere, experiencing a pp-wave geometry. On the gauge theory side, the anomalous dimension $\Delta - J$ can be computed as the energy of a ferromagnetic spin chain [26,67,55]. These spin chains are integrable systems, allowing the use of Bethe ansatz techniques to compute the spectrum from the S-matrix for two-particle scattering [20,91,92,17,93,56] (in some cases one can explicitly recover the string action from the spin-chain [13]).

The elementary excitations of spin chains are magnons, which to be scattered must have some momentum $p \neq 0$. Extending the theory to allow lone magnons with momentum has been seen to lead to the centrally extended algebras [55,66] on the gauge side. This subject was discussed in depth in the previous chapter. These lone magnons are dual to strings which do not close, called giant magnons [26]. Generalizations which have been explored include magnons with more than one large angular momentum [27, 94, 95] and magnons with finite J [82, 96, 97, 98].

Giant magnons are one type of rigidly rotating strings with cusps, moving on the sphere and made as large as they can be. In general these are called spiky strings, and they also exist in flat space [99,100] and in AdS [28,101]. In flat space T-duality leads to another class of spiky strings, with cusps pointing inwards, and these 'T-dual' solutions can also exist on the sphere. Starting with one of these and taking the same maximum-size limit used for the magnon then leads to the single spike solution which we study here. [48] Recent papers on the single spike include [102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108].

The giant magnon can be viewed as an excitation above a vacuum solution of a point particle orbiting along the equator [109] (the label 'giant' is meant to indicate that they explore much of the S^5 geometry, as the earlier giant gravitons did [110, 68]). Fluctuations of this vacuum have Hamiltonian $\Delta - J$ [12] (where $J \leq \Delta$ is the BPS bound). The single spike is similarly an excitation above a string wound around the equator, which we call the "hoop". In the Hamiltonian for fluctuations, the angular momentum J is replaced with a measure of the winding along the same direction, which we call Φ . This is almost T-duality, except that the circle involved is part of sphere. It is not clear whether this duality can be usefully related to the T-duality used in [111] and [112], in S^5 and AdS.

The single spike, and indeed the hoop, are not supersymmetric. Exploring the correspondence in sectors with less or no supersymmetry is of great interest, and it is our hope that the close relationship to the magnon case can be used as a tool for this. The gauge theory dual of the single spike is not known, but it is conjectured to be some excitation of an anti-ferromagnetic state of the spin chain [113, 114] in what has been named the largewinding sector of the correspondence [115]. In the absence of supersymmetry it is possible that integrability will help to find the dual of the spike solution.

Solitons have long been studied in field theory, and a set of tools called semi-classical quantization enables us to learn about the related objects in the quantum theory [116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122]. Many of these techniques have been revived to study solutions of classical string theory in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ [12, 123, 124, 125] (which is known to be integrable [19, 126]). The single spike case has the extra complication that it is an excitation of an unstable vacuum state (as the string wrapped around an equator of S^5 can slide off towards

the pole) so what we aim to calculate by these methods is not an energy correction but a lifetime, as discussed in the text.

3.1 Semiclassical Giant Magnons and Giant Spikes in $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$

In the AdS/CFT correspondence, there are two kinds of operators/states that can be compared avoiding the problem of the strong/weak property of the duality. The first are just sets of chiral primary operators (and their descendants) in which one can use nonrenormalization theorems to make comparisons [1,52,53]. The second are sets of operators of SYM with large global charges, which are dual to semi-classical states on the string side. One example of the latter are the BMN operators mentioned before [5]. The exact string dual of a chiral primary operator is a point-like string orbiting a geodesic of S^5 , with angular momentum J, which has to be large enough for the classical approximation to be correct. We will be studying excitations of this point-like "vacuum" solution, called the giant magnons, as well as related classical solutions called giant spikes. These live on the subspace $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$ of the full background.

String dynamics of bosonic degrees of freedom in the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ space-time can be described by the bosonic σ -model action

$$S = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \int \mathrm{d}\tau \,\mathrm{d}x \left\{ \underbrace{\eta^{ab} \partial_a Y^{\mu} \partial_b Y_{\mu} + \alpha_1 \left(Y^2 + 1\right)}_{AdS_5} + \underbrace{\eta^{ab} \partial_a X^i \partial_b X_i + \alpha_2 \left(X^2 - 1\right)}_{S^5} \right\},\,$$

where one embeds both the sphere as the AdS space in \mathbb{R}^6 with the respective constraints. This action has a symmetry under $\mathfrak{su}(2,2) \times \mathfrak{so}(6)$. To consider magnons moving on the sphere one restricts the space-time to $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$, with \mathbb{R} being one of the time directions of the AdS_5 space, the respective charges are the generators of rotations in S^5

$$J_{ij} = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} dx \left(X_i \dot{X}_j - X_j \dot{X}_i \right),$$

and the generator of time translations

$$\Delta = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} dx \dot{Y^0}.$$

One considers the limit when the angular momentum $J = J_{12}$ in the direction $\varphi \equiv (12)$ of S^5 is very large, and look at states with $\Delta - J$ finite. The momentum of the excitation p is also kept fixed. The relevant limit to be taken here is to have $\Delta, J \to \infty$, while keeping $\Delta - J$, p and the 't Hooft coupling $\lambda = g_{YM}^2 N$ fixed. Then by varying the coupling λ we can reach both sides of the gauge/string correspondence. This limit differs from the previous BMN limit [5] in that the latter considered the coupling λ large, keeping g_{YM} fixed and small, and considered the momentum p to be small, keeping the quantity n = pJ fixed instead. One of the major properties of this limit is that quantum effects (expansions in λ) become decoupled from finite-J effects, and we will be using this fact when studying both effects separately in the next chapters.

In this limit, we find that the string ground state has $\Delta - J = 0$, which consists of a pointparticle with a light-like trajectory along the direction φ , time coordinate $Y^0 \equiv \tau$ obeying $\varphi - \tau = \text{constant}$, and sitting at the origin of the spatial directions of AdS_5 .

To find excitations above this ground state one looks at solutions rotating in the $Z_1 = X^1 + iX^2$ plane. The remaining four directions of the embedding space we call \vec{X} , and $Y^0 \equiv \tau$ is the time co-ordinate (ultimately from AdS). So the motion is all in the time direction of AdS space, and on the subspace $S^2 \subset S^5$: $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$.

Spiky strings in flat space

If instead of S^5 we consider flat space, one can find a spiky string solution [28] [99,100]

$$Y^{0} = \tau,$$

$$X^{1} = A\cos\left(\frac{\tau + x}{2A}\right) + AB\cos\left(\frac{\tau - x}{2AB}\right),$$

$$X^{2} = A\sin\left(\frac{\tau + x}{2A}\right) + AB\sin\left(\frac{\tau - x}{2AB}\right),$$

(3.1)



Figure 3.1: The original and T-dual spiky string in flat space. Both are for B = 5, leading to 6 and 4 spikes respectively.

with two parameters A, B. This solution is a rigidly rotating string with n = B + 1 cusps (spikes) pointing outwards and moving at the speed of light (see figure 3.1). The parameter A determines the overall size of the cusps.

We can perform a T-duality transformation to this solution, in particular in the X^2 direction. But because the solution has neither center-of-mass momentum nor winding, this T-duality only changes the sign of the left-movers in that direction, [48] giving

$$X^{0}$$
 and X^{1} unchanged, (3.2)
 $X^{2} = A \sin\left(\frac{\tau + x}{2A}\right) - AB \sin\left(\frac{\tau - x}{2AB}\right).$

This is again a rigidly rotating string, but now with B-1 spikes pointing inwards, and also moving at the speed of light.

Note that this T-dual solution could also have been obtained by simply interchanging xand t in the spatial co-ordinates X^i . In fact this is a symmetry of the equations of motion

$$\left(-\partial_{\tau}^2 + \partial_x^2\right) X^i = 0$$

and of the Virasoro constraints (for $Y^0 = \tau$)

$$\left(\partial_{\tau}X^{i}\right)^{2}+\left(\partial_{x}X^{i}\right)^{2}=1, \qquad \partial_{\tau}X^{i}\partial_{x}X^{i}=0,$$

as these equations are unchanged by interchanging $x \leftrightarrow \tau$.
On the sphere

Similar solutions exist on the sphere, and when they are small they will reduce to those in flat space. In [48] it was shown that if the analogue of the original solution (3.1) becomes large, so that the spikes touch the equator, then each segment (between spikes) of it becomes a giant magnon. For the analogue of the T-dual solution (3.2), the limit in which the lobes touch the equator is the single spike.

By choosing a time-like $t = \tau$, conformal gauge (the induced metric is proportional to the standard metric, $\partial_a X^{\mu} \partial_b X^{\nu} \eta_{\mu\nu} \propto \eta_{ab}$) we are looking for solutions that solve the Virasoro constraints

$$\left(\partial_{\tau}X^{i}\right)^{2}+\left(\partial_{x}X^{i}\right)^{2}=1, \qquad \partial_{\tau}X^{i}\partial_{x}X^{i}=0,$$

and obey the conformal equations of motion

$$\left(-\partial_{\tau}^{2}+\partial_{x}^{2}\right)X^{i}+X^{i}\left(-(\partial_{\tau}X^{j})^{2}+(\partial_{x}X^{j})^{2}\right)=0.$$

Solving these equations, Hofman and Maldacena [26] found the Giant Magnon solution:

$$Y^{0} = \tau,$$

$$Z_{1} = e^{i\tau} \left(c + i\sqrt{1 - c^{2}} \tanh u \right),$$

$$\vec{X} = \vec{n}\sqrt{1 - c^{2}} \operatorname{sech} u,$$
(3.3)

where $c = \cos(p/2)$ is the worldsheet velocity, and (u, v) are boosted worldsheet co-ordinates

$$u = \gamma(x - c\tau), \qquad (3.4)$$
$$v = \gamma(\tau - cx), \qquad \text{with } \gamma = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - c^2}} = \frac{1}{\sin(p/2)}.$$

This is a rigidly rotating string along the equator of S^2 , with cusps touching this equator and moving at the speed of light. Note that $-\infty < x < \infty$ covers only one of the curves between cusps. It is understood that the physical closed-string solution consists of several



Figure 3.2: The giant magnon (left, $c = \cos(p/2) = 0.7$) and the single spike (right, c = 0.8). These are both are rigidly rotating along the equator shown, with their cusps moving at the speed of light.

giant magnons connected together. The case c = 0 (zero worldsheet velocity, $p = \pi$) is one of GKP's folded strings. [11] In the limit $p \to 0$ the magnon becomes a point particle moving along the equator.

As in flat space, the Virasoro constraints and the conformal equations of motion are unchanged by the interchange of x and τ . So there is another solution $X^{i}_{\text{spike}}(\tau, x) = X^{i}_{\text{magnon}}(x, \tau)$, which has been dubbed the single spike: [48]

$$Y^{0} = \tau,$$

$$Z_{1} = e^{ix} \left(c + i\sqrt{1 - c^{2}} \tanh v \right),$$

$$\vec{X} = \vec{n}\sqrt{1 - c^{2}} \operatorname{sech} v.$$
(3.5)

This solution is drawn in figure 3.2. We keep the same parameter 0 < c < 1, although the worldsheet velocity is now 1/c in the x, τ co-ordinates.¹

Both solutions are localized on the worldsheet. As $x \to \infty$, the magnon solution approaches the point particle $Z_1 = e^{i\tau}$ and $\vec{X} = 0$ while the single spike solution becomes instead the infinitely wound hoop $Z_1 = e^{ix}$. The point particle and the hoop are clearly related by the same $x \leftrightarrow \tau$ swop, and they are also the vacuum solutions needed to obtain the magnon or the single spike by the dressing method, which survives this interchange. [127,128] [109,104]

In the conformal, time-light gauge we started from, the relevant charges can be written

¹This is related to the parameter θ_0 used in [48], which is the angle from the north pole to the spike, by $\sin \theta_0 = c = \cos(p/2)$. Also note that $\bar{\theta} = \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta_0 = p/2$.

$$\Delta = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \int dx \, 1$$
$$J = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \int dx \operatorname{Im}\left(\overline{Z}_1 \partial_\tau Z_1\right)$$
$$p = \frac{1}{i} \int dx \frac{d}{dx} \ln Z_1$$

time-translations,

angular momentum in Z_1 plane,

worldsheet momentum.

For the case of the Giant Magnon, Δ and J are infinite, with $\Phi = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi}p$ and

$$E_{mag} = \Delta - J = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\pi} \sin(p/2). \tag{3.6}$$

For the single spike we have one further charge of interest, the winding charge:

$$\Phi = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \int dx \operatorname{Im}\left(\partial_x \log Z_1\right) = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \Delta\phi \qquad (3.7)$$

This Φ is a conveniently scaled version of the the opening angle $\Delta \phi$, where $\phi = \arg Z_1$ is the azimuthal angle.

For the single spike, it is Φ instead of J that is infinite, and we have

$$\Delta - \Phi = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} p, \qquad (3.8)$$
$$J = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\pi} \sin(p/2).$$

3.2 Other Classical String Solutions: Finite-J solutions

Other classical solutions of the σ -model action in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ have been studied, in particular rigidly rotating solutions, such as spinning strings and pulsating strings [12,129,130,131,25, 123,132,133,134,135], and strings rigidly rotating in some direction of AdS_5 [28,101]. These string solutions are solitons of the worldsheet σ -model which correspond to semiclassical states that are high in the energy spectrum of the string, as well as very large angular momenta J. But a lot remains to be done with respect to the solutions with finite charges. On the gauge side of the correspondence, some wrapping-interactions were seen to require corrections to the Bethe ansatz. On the string side, the finite J was seen to correspond on the light cone gauge to correspond to a finite size worldsheet: the theory is defined on a cylinder with radius proportional to the light-cone momentum, and taking the limit of infinite angular momentum corresponds to decompactifying the cylinder. Explicit calculations in a finite-size world-sheet effects to the energies of rigidly rotating strings and were seen to require an improved Bethe ansatz for the string [38, 136].

Finite-J corrections have been studied for the giant magnon solutions. The first treatment of giant magnons $AdS_5 \times S^5$ at finite J was by [82], who worked in uniform light-cone gauge (in which the worldsheet density of J is constant instead the one of Δ). They used a gauge parameter $a \in [0, 1]$, and at a = 0 (and in conformal gauge) they found the following correction to the dispersion relation:

$$\varepsilon \equiv \Delta - J = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\pi} \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) \left[1 - \frac{4}{e^2} \sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) e^{-2J/\varepsilon} + o(e^{-4J/\varepsilon})\right]$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\pi} \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) \left[1 - 4\sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) e^{-2\Delta/\varepsilon} + \dots\right]. \tag{3.9}$$

The gauge-dependence that seemed to exist in [82] was resolved by [97], making use of the fact that the solutions are periodic both on the worldsheet and in the azimuthal angle on the sphere to see these solutions as wound strings moving on an orbifold of S^5 , in particular on S^2/\mathbb{Z}_n [97,137]. The scattering of finite-J magnons was studied in [98], through the relation to sine-Gordon theory in finite volume.

One can generalize the giant magnon solutions living on S^2 to dyonic bound states [27], and their exact solutions at any J (both in S^2 and in S^3) were studied by [96], where it was shown that they are connected by the Pohlmeyer map (to be described in the next chapter) to periodic soliton solutions of (complex) sine-Gordon theory. In [138] finite-size corrections to the dispersion relation of dyonic giant magnons were given. Other methods of determining these finite-size corrections for the dispersion relation can be used. One can use the fieldtheoretic Lüsher formulas [139], which depend on the world-sheet *S*-matrix [140]. One can also start directly from the algebraic curve description for the giant magnon [140, 141] and determine these corrections.

We will discuss the finite-J corrections to giant magnon solutions in the formalism of the algebraic curve in more detail in Chapters 5 and 7.

3.3 Zero and Non-zero modes for the Single Spike

In order to better understand the classical string theory, we have to develop further the semi-classical properties of the solitons of the theory: the giant magnons and the related giant spike. To do so we first characterize its zero and non-zero modes, focusing on the case of the single spike solution.

Zero modes

We first concentrate on the bosonic zero modes of the giant magnons and spikes, which are the variations due to changing collective co-ordinates

$$\left. \delta_{\nu} X^i = - rac{\partial X^i}{\partial v_0} \right|_{v_0 = 0},$$

where v_0 is some modulus. The single spike solution (3.5) can be written with explicit parameters x_0 and v_0 and orientation \vec{n}

$$Z_{1} = e^{i(x-x_{0})} \left(c + i\sqrt{1-c^{2}} \tanh(v-v_{0}) \right),$$

$$\vec{X} = \vec{n}\sqrt{1-c^{2}} \operatorname{sech}(v-v_{0}).$$

We can then obtain the following modes:

• a rigid rotation of Z_1 , δ_x :

$$\delta_x Z_1 = i Z_1 \,,$$
$$\delta_x \vec{X} = 0 \,;$$

• a reparametrization along v, δ_v :

$$\delta_{\nu} Z_{1} = e^{it} i \sqrt{1 - c^{2}} \operatorname{sech}^{2} v, \qquad (3.10)$$

$$\delta_{\nu} \vec{X} = -\vec{n} \sqrt{1 - c^{2}} \operatorname{sech} v \tanh v;$$

• three possible rotations of the orientation vector \vec{n} , δ_m :

$$\delta_m Z_1 = 0,$$

$$\delta_m \vec{X} = \vec{m} \sqrt{1 - c^2} \operatorname{sech} v,$$

where $\vec{m} \cdot \vec{n} = 0$.

The reason for determining the reparametrization mode δ_v holding x fixed (and δ_x holding v fixed) instead of using one pair x, τ or u, v is that in this case we obtain a convenient linear combination of the modes, in which one is normalizable and the other is not. We can also determine δ_{τ} holding x fixed (and vice versa):

$$egin{aligned} \delta_{ au|x}X^i &= \gamma\delta_{
u}X^i & \delta_{x| au}X^i &= \delta_xX^i - c\gamma\delta_{
u}X^i\,, \ \delta_{ au|x}X^0 &= 1 & \delta_{x| au}X^0 &= 0\,, \end{aligned}$$

where we wrote both time and spacial components. The meaning of these two modes $(\delta_{\tau|x})$ and $\delta_{x|\tau}$ in spacetime is that at any point they are the two tangent vectors to the string: they correspond to the x, τ co-ordinate basis vectors, and will not generate physical modes, just reparametrizations. But in fact we are not studying the complete string solution, and to make a physical state we need to glue two solutions (in the same way as for giant magnons),² i.e., there has to be other solitons in the worldsheet, and the relative motion between them is physical. This is the reason why we keep one of these reparametrization modes. This mode together with the three modes δ_m makes a total of four zero modes.³

 $^{^{2}}$ We return to this question in section 3.4 below.

³The mode δ_{ν} (3.10) is the analogue of (3.11) from [142] and (2.16) from [124]. In [142] this is derived from a translation of the sine-Gordon soliton.

Note that the other physical zero modes, the perpendicular rotations δ_m , are independent of u. Comparing to the giant magnon, the same modes can be found in (2.15) of [124]. These modes are independent of v, which is time boosted by c. This leads us to consider u as being the time co-ordinate for the purpose of identifying zero and non-zero modes.⁴

Non-zero modes

To determine non-zero modes, we allow fluctuations $X^i + \delta X^i$ and plug them into the equations of motion. The equations for the fluctuations then become

$$\partial_a \partial^a \delta X^i + (1 - 2 \operatorname{sech}^2 v) \delta X^i - (X^j \partial_a \partial^a \delta X^j) X^i = 0.$$

The zero modes discussed above are solutions of this equations. To find non-zero modes, we look for solutions of the kind

$$\delta X^j = e^{ikv - i\omega u} f^j(v).$$

For the giant magnon, this problem of finding bosonic non-zero modes was solved in [124], through finding a scattering solution and analytically continuing it. Just like the background solution, the non-zero modes for the giant spike are related to the ones of the giant magnon by simply interchanging x and t. They are:

• one massless solution (i.e. $\omega^2 = k^2$):

$$\delta_r \vec{X} = e^{ikv - i|k|u} \vec{n} \left(k + |k| \cos \frac{p}{2} \right) \operatorname{sech} v \tanh v, \qquad (3.12)$$

$$\delta_r X^1 + i\delta_r X^2 = -i e^{ikv - i|k|u} e^{ix} \left(k - |k| \sinh v \sinh(v + i\frac{p}{2}) \right) \operatorname{sech}^2 v, \qquad \delta_r X^1 - i\delta_r X^2 = i e^{ikv - i|k|u} e^{-ix} \left(k - |k| \sinh v \sinh(v - i\frac{p}{2}) \right) \operatorname{sech}^2 v.$$

We drop this solution as it is pure gauge: at any given point (x,t), it is just a linear

$$u = \gamma(x - c\tau) = -\frac{\tau - \frac{1}{c}x}{\sqrt{(\frac{1}{c})^2 - 1}}.$$
(3.11)

See also (4.6).

⁴We could consider *u* as being the product of a boost by velocity $\frac{1}{c} > 1$

combination of the reparametrization zero modes δ_{v} and δ_{x} :⁵

$$\delta_r X^i = e^{ik\nu - i|k|u} \left(-(k + k\cos\frac{p}{2})\delta_\nu X^i + |k|\,\delta_x X^i \right).$$

• three orthogonal fluctuations, in directions \vec{m} with $\vec{m} \cdot \vec{n} = 0$:

$$\delta_{\perp} \vec{X} = e^{ikv - i\omega u} \vec{m} \left(k + i \tanh v \right), \qquad (3.13)$$

$$\delta_{\perp} X^{1} = \delta X_{\perp}^{2} = 0,$$

and one parallel fluctuation, along the spike's orientation \vec{n} :

$$\delta_{||}\vec{X} = e^{ikv - i\omega u} \vec{n} \left(k + i\tanh v - \left(k + \omega\cos\frac{p}{2} \right) \operatorname{sech}^2 v \right), \qquad (3.14)$$

$$\delta_{||}X^1 + i\delta_{||}X^2 = -ie^{ikv - i\omega u} e^{ix} \left(k\sinh v + \omega\sinh(v + i\frac{p}{2}) + i\cosh v \right) \operatorname{sech}^2 v, \qquad \delta_{||}X^1 - i\delta_{||}X^2 = ie^{ikv - i\omega u} e^{-ix} \left(k\sinh v + \omega\sinh(v - i\frac{p}{2}) + i\cosh v \right) \operatorname{sech}^2 v.$$

These all have the dispersion relation for a particle of mass $m^2 = 1$: $\omega^2 = k^2 + 1$.

These modes appear massive in u, v, but they still represent an instability with respect to physical time. To see this, we write the modes in the original co-ordinates x, t, and define new variables K, W by:

$$\delta X^{j} = e^{ikv - i\omega u} f^{j}(v) = e^{iKx - iW\tau} f^{j}(\gamma(t - cx)).$$
(3.15)

We can see that the dispersion relation now is given by $W^2 = K^2 - 1$, that is, these modes are tachyonic (with $m^2 = -1$) with respect to co-ordinates x, τ . In our gauge, $\tau = X^0$ is the target-space's time co-ordinate. Since there is no reason to exclude modes with |K| < 1, we will have modes with imaginary W: they will not oscillate, instead they will exponentially grow or die in time.

 $^{^{5}}$ Note that the breaking of translational symmetry on the worldsheet (discussed in section 3.3) affects only the zero modes.

Modes in AdS directions

The magnon and spike solutions live in the $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$ subspace of $AdS_5 \times S^5$. Because they stay on the center of the AdS space, there are no zero modes in the AdS directions but there will be non-zero ones. These will be identical in both the giant magnon and single spike cases, and will correspond to the modes of a point particle about the center of Anti-de Sitter space.

If we write the AdS_5 part of the metric as

$$ds_{\text{AdS}}^2 = -\left(\frac{1+\eta^2/4}{1-\eta^2/4}\right)^2 d\tau^2 + \frac{1}{\left(1-\eta^2/4\right)^2} d\eta_k d\eta_k$$

where k = 1, 2, 3, 4, the modes are given by

$$\eta_k(x,t) = e^{iKx - iW\tau} f_k(K)$$

with $W^2 = K^2 + 1$. The infinitely wound hoop also has identical AdS modes to the ones shown above.

A calculation of the single spike's fermionic fluctuations and zero modes can be found in appendix Chapter B. We will now use the results of bosonic and fermionic fluctuations (these last ones will be seen to drop out of the calculations) to determine the semiclassical corrections to the energy of the single spike.

3.4 Quantum Corrections

Corrections to what?

Having found the modes, it would be natural to use them to compute a first quantum correction, i.e. to perform 'semi-classical quantization'. For the giant magnon, this means finding quantum corrections to $\Delta - J$. The origin of this is as follows:

Frolov and Tseytlin [12] consider the 'vacuum' of the large-J sector, the point particle orbiting the sphere, which has $\Delta = J$. They add small perturbations to this, and show that $\Delta - J$ is (at leading order in $1/\sqrt{\lambda}$) the Hamiltonian of a 1+1-dimensional theory. The perpendicular fluctuations in both the sphere and AdS are non-interacting massive fields of this theory. So far this is classical. The semi-classical correction is to treat each mode of these fields as a harmonic oscillator, and their zero-point energies $\frac{1}{2}\hbar\omega$ are corrections to $\Delta - J$. The magnon is interpreted as a 'giant perturbation' of this vacuum, tall enough to see the curvature of spacetime (and, it turns out, of high enough momentum to see that the 1+1-dimensional theory is a spin chain, with periodic dispersion relation).

Here we repeat their calculation, for the 'vacuum of the large-winding sector': the infinitely wound hoop. We find as Hamiltonian $\Delta - \Phi$, with the winding charge Φ replacing the angular momentum J. The single spike is similarly a 'giant perturbation' of this vacuum.

Recall from Section 3.1 that the flat-space versions of these two classes of spiky strings are related by T-duality, which famously exchanges winding and momentum around a compact direction. Clearly this change in the Hamiltonian is somehow a consequence of this duality. But notice that the compact direction here is part of a sphere, and that the radius of this sphere is unchanged.

Finding the Hamiltonian

Write the metric in the $form^6$

$$ds_{AdS}^{2} = -\left(\frac{1+\eta^{2}/4}{1-\eta^{2}/4}\right)^{2} d\tau^{2} + \frac{1}{\left(1-\eta^{2}/4\right)^{2}} d\eta_{k} d\eta_{k} \qquad k = 1, 2, 3, 4$$
$$ds_{S}^{2} = d\theta_{1}^{2} + \cos^{2}\theta_{1} \left(d\theta_{2}^{2} + \cos^{2}\theta_{2} \left(d\theta_{2}^{2} + \cos^{2}\theta_{2} \left(d\theta_{3}^{2} + \cos^{2}\theta_{3} \left(d\theta_{4}^{2} + \cos^{2}\theta_{4} d\phi^{2}\right)\right)\right)\right).$$

The action (in conformal gauge) is

$$S = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \int dx d\tau \,\mathscr{L}_B, \qquad \qquad \mathscr{L}_B = \frac{1}{2} \partial^a X^\mu \partial_a X^\nu G_{\mu\nu}. \qquad (3.16)$$

⁶The azimuthal angle ϕ here is the same as used before, in (B.1), but $\theta_4 = \pi/2 - \theta$ is the elevation above the equator. The expansions of the metric components which we need are $G_{\tau\tau} = -1 - \eta^2 + \cdots$ and $G_{\theta\theta} = 1 - \theta^2 + \cdots$.

We write the perturbed the solution as $X^{\mu}=X^{\mu}_{\rm hoop}+\tilde{X}^{\mu}/\lambda^{1/4}:$

$$t = \tau + \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}} \tilde{t} \qquad \qquad \phi = x + \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}} \tilde{\phi} \qquad (3.17)$$

$$\eta_k = \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}} \tilde{\eta}_k \qquad \qquad \theta_s = \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}} \tilde{\theta}_s, \qquad s = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$

Expanding at large λ , the Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{B} = 1 + \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}} \left(\partial_{0} \tilde{t} + \partial_{1} \tilde{\phi} \right) + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\lambda}} \left(-\partial^{a} \tilde{t} \partial_{a} \tilde{t} + \partial^{a} \tilde{\eta}_{k} \partial_{a} \tilde{\eta}_{k} + \partial^{a} \tilde{\phi} \partial_{a} \tilde{\phi} + \partial^{a} \tilde{\theta}_{s} \partial_{a} \tilde{\theta}_{s} + \tilde{\eta}_{k} \tilde{\eta}_{k} - \tilde{\theta}_{s} \tilde{\theta}_{s} \right) + \frac{1}{\lambda^{3/4}} \left((\partial_{0} \tilde{t}) \tilde{\eta}_{k} \tilde{\eta}_{k} - (\partial_{1} \tilde{\phi}) \tilde{\theta}_{s} \tilde{\theta}_{s} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{\lambda}).$$

$$(3.18)$$

In the quadratic piece, $\tilde{\eta}_k$ appears massive and $\tilde{\theta}_s$ tachyonic, matching what we found for the single spike's modes.

The Virasoro constraints are first $\gamma_{00} + \gamma_{11} = 2T_{00} = 0$:

$$0 = \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}} \left(-\partial_0 \tilde{t} + \partial_1 \tilde{\phi} \right) + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\lambda}} \left(-\partial_a \tilde{t} \partial_a \tilde{t} + \partial_a \tilde{\eta}_k \partial_a \tilde{\eta}_k + \partial_a \tilde{\phi} \partial_a \tilde{\phi} + \partial_a \tilde{\theta}_s \partial_a \tilde{\theta}_s - \tilde{\eta}_k \tilde{\eta}_k - \tilde{\theta}_s \tilde{\theta}_s \right) + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{\lambda^{3/4}}),$$
(3.19)

(writing $\partial_a \partial_a = \partial_0 \partial_0 + \partial_1 \partial_1$ in a temporary abuse of notation) and second $\gamma_{01} = T_{01} = 0$:

$$0 = \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}} \left(-\partial_1 \tilde{t} + \partial_0 \tilde{\phi} \right) + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\lambda}} \left(-\partial_0 \tilde{t} \partial_1 \tilde{t} + \partial_0 \tilde{\phi} \partial_1 \tilde{\phi} + \partial_0 \tilde{\eta}_k \partial_1 \tilde{\eta}_k + \partial_0 \tilde{\theta}_s \partial_1 \tilde{\theta}_s \right) + \mathscr{O}(\frac{1}{\lambda^{3/4}}).$$

Now we expand the spacetime charges: the energy is the integral of the momentum density Π^0_{τ} :

$$\begin{split} \Delta &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int dx \, \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}_B}{\partial \partial_0 t} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int dx \left(\sqrt{\lambda} + \lambda^{1/4} \partial_0 \tilde{t} + \tilde{\eta}_k \tilde{\eta}_k + \mathscr{O}(\frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}}) \right) \,, \end{split}$$

and the winding charge defined in (3.7) is

$$egin{aligned} \Phi &= rac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi}\int dx\,\partial_1\phi \ &= rac{1}{2\pi}\int dx\left(\sqrt{\lambda}+\lambda^{1/4}\partial_1 ilde{\phi}
ight). \end{aligned}$$

Subtracting these two charges, the two $\sqrt{\lambda}$ terms will cancel, leaving a finite result. The linear terms can then be replaced with quadratic terms using the first Virasoro constraint (3.19). To leading order in $1/\lambda$, we obtain:

$$\Delta - \Phi = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int dx \bigg[-\left(\partial_0 \tilde{t} \partial_0 \tilde{t} + \partial_1 \tilde{\tau} \partial_1 \tilde{\tau}\right) + \left(\partial_0 \tilde{\phi} \partial_0 \tilde{\phi} + \partial_1 \tilde{\phi} \partial_1 \tilde{\phi}\right) + \left(\partial_0 \tilde{\eta}_k \partial_0 \tilde{\eta}_k + \partial_1 \tilde{\eta}_k \partial_1 \tilde{\eta}_k\right) + \left(\partial_0 \tilde{\theta}_s \partial_0 \tilde{\theta}_s + \partial_1 \tilde{\theta}_s \partial_1 \tilde{\theta}_s\right) + \tilde{\eta}_k \tilde{\eta}_k - \tilde{\theta}_s \tilde{\theta}_s\bigg].$$
(3.20)

This is the analogue of the result in [12]. The fields \tilde{t} and $\tilde{\phi}$ correspond to transformations that are pure gauge, so we drop them. We can write $\Delta - \Phi$ in terms of the Hamiltonian one would obtain from only the quadratic part of the Lagrangian \mathscr{L}_B , which contains the transverse (physical) modes $\tilde{\eta}_k$ and $\tilde{\theta}_s$ and their conjugate momenta $\tilde{\Pi}_{\tilde{\eta}_k}, \tilde{\Pi}_{\tilde{\theta}_s}$.

Quadratic 2-dimensional Hamiltonian

Starting from the Lagrangian for the fluctuations (3.18), we find its quadratic part to be (up to factors of λ):

$$\tilde{\mathscr{L}}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(-\partial^a \tilde{t} \partial_a \tilde{t} + \partial^a \tilde{\eta}_k \partial_a \tilde{\eta}_k + \partial^a \tilde{\phi} \partial_a \tilde{\phi} + \partial^a \tilde{\theta}_s \partial_a \tilde{\theta}_s + \tilde{\eta}_k \tilde{\eta}_k - \tilde{\theta}_s \tilde{\theta}_s \right).$$

By determining the conjugate momenta for each of the fluctuation fields, $\tilde{\Pi}_{\mu} = \frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial (\partial_0 \tilde{X}^{\mu})}$, we find

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Pi}_{ ilde{ au}} &= \partial_0 ilde{t} \ \\ \tilde{\Pi}_{ ilde{X}^{\mu}} &= -\partial_0 ilde{X}^{\mu} \quad ext{for } ilde{X}^{\mu} = ilde{\eta}_k, ilde{ heta}_s, ilde{ heta}. \end{split}$$

From these we can construct the corresponding Hamiltonian density in the usual way, obtaining

$$\tilde{\mathscr{H}}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(-\tilde{\Pi}_{\tilde{t}}^2 + \tilde{\Pi}_{\tilde{\phi}}^2 + \tilde{\Pi}_{\tilde{\eta}_k}^2 + \tilde{\Pi}_{\tilde{\theta}_s}^2 + \tilde{\eta}_k \tilde{\eta}_k - \tilde{\theta}_s \tilde{\theta}_s \right).$$

We want to check that the quantity $\Delta - \Phi$ is just this Hamiltonian. To do so we start by determining the Hamiltonian corresponding to the original bosonic Lagrangian (3.16), and expand it in fluctuations. The conjugate momenta for the fields are given by $\Pi_{\mu} = \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}}{\partial(\partial_0 X^{\mu})}$ where $X^{\mu} = t, \phi, \eta_k, \theta_s$. To find the Hamiltonian for the fluctuations, we expand the fields as in (3.17), as well as the momenta:

$$\Pi_{\mu} = \Pi_{\mu}^{cl} + \lambda^{-\frac{1}{4}} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mu} ; \qquad X^{\mu} = X^{\mu}_{cl} + \lambda^{-\frac{1}{4}} \tilde{X}^{\mu},$$

where the classical values of the fields are $\Pi_{\tau}^{cl} = 1$, $\Pi_{X^{\mu}\neq\tau}^{cl} = 0$, $t_{cl} = \tau$, $\phi_{cl} = x$ and all other fields are zero. The expansion of the Hamiltonian then gives:

$$egin{aligned} \mathscr{H}_b &= rac{1}{2\sqrt{\lambda}}\left(- ilde{\Pi}_{ ilde{t}}^2+ ilde{\Pi}_{ ilde{\phi}}^2+ ilde{\Pi}_{ ilde{ heta}_s}^2-(\partial_1 ilde{t})^2+\left(\partial_1 ilde{\phi}
ight)^2+(\partial_1 ilde{\eta}_s)^2+\left(\partial_1 ilde{ heta}_s
ight)^2
ight)+\ &+rac{1}{2\sqrt{\lambda}}\left(ilde{\eta}_k ilde{\eta}_k- ilde{ heta}_s ilde{ heta}_s
ight)-rac{1}{\lambda^{rac{1}{4}}}\left(ilde{\Pi}_{ ilde{t}}-\left(\partial_1 ilde{\phi}
ight)
ight)+\mathscr{O}\left(rac{1}{\lambda}
ight). \end{aligned}$$

The Virasoro constraint (3.19) is equivalent to setting $\mathscr{H}_b = 0$.

It is easy to check that $\Delta - \Phi$ can be written in terms of the fields and conjugate momenta as

$$\Delta - \Phi = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \int dx \left(\frac{1}{\lambda^{\frac{1}{4}}} \left(\tilde{\Pi}_{\tilde{t}} - (\partial_1 \tilde{\phi}) \right) \right)$$

By using the Virasoro constraint in the form $\mathcal{H}_b = 0$, we finally find

$$egin{array}{rcl} \Delta - \Phi &=& \int rac{dx}{2\pi} \Big(- ilde{\Pi}_{ ilde{t}}^2 + ilde{\Pi}_{ ilde{ heta}}^2 + ilde{\Pi}_{ ilde{ heta}_s}^2 - (\partial_1 ilde{t})^2 + ig(\partial_1 ilde{ heta}ig)^2 + (\partial_1 ilde{ heta}ig)^2 + ig(\partial_1 ilde{$$

which returns the expected expression, when we drop the gauge fluctuations. We obtain at last:

$$\begin{split} \Delta - \Phi &= \int \frac{dx}{2\pi} \mathscr{H}_{2d} \left(\tilde{t}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\eta}_k, \tilde{\theta}_s \right) \\ &= \sqrt{\lambda} \int \frac{dx}{4\pi} \left[\tilde{\Pi}_{\tilde{\eta}_k}^2 + \tilde{\Pi}_{\tilde{\theta}_s}^2 + \partial_1 \tilde{\eta}_k \partial_1 \tilde{\eta}_k + \partial_1 \tilde{\theta}_s \partial_1 \tilde{\theta}_s + \tilde{\eta}_k \tilde{\eta}_k - \tilde{\theta}_s \tilde{\theta}_s \right]. \end{split}$$

We are left with four massive fields from vibrations in the AdS directions and four tachyonic fields from the sphere directions. Then $\Delta - \Phi$ is the expected quadratic Hamiltonian for these 8 fields. One could perform a similar construction for the fermionic modes obtaining 16 massless fermionic fields [143, 144] [12].

First quantum correction

For each of the eight bosonic modes $\tilde{\eta}_k$ and $\tilde{\theta}_s$, we have a quadratic Hamiltonian of the kind

$$H_2 = \int dx \left[\frac{1}{2} \hat{\Pi}^2 + \hat{\phi} \left(-\partial_x^2 + V \right) \hat{\phi} \right].$$

Note that $V = \pm 1$ in our case, depending on whether the mode is massive or tachyonic. We can expand both $\hat{\Pi}$ and $\hat{\phi}$ eigenfunctions ψ_n of the differential operator $\left(-\partial_x^2 + V\right)\psi_n = \omega_n^2\psi_n$, which we write $\hat{\phi} = \sum \hat{\phi}_n \psi_n$ and $\hat{\Pi} = \sum \hat{\Pi}_n \psi_n$. The Hamiltonian becomes a sum of decoupled harmonic oscillators

$$H_2 = \sum \frac{1}{2} \left(\hat{\Pi}_n^2 + \omega_n^2 \hat{\phi}_n^2 \right)$$

By introducing creation and annihilation operators in the usual way, for each oscillator, we find that each of these contributes with $\frac{1}{2} \sum \hbar \omega_n$, with⁷ $\omega_n = \sqrt{k_n^2 + m^2}$, for some mass m^2 and allowed momenta k_n .

For our solution the bosonic modes in 3.3 have $W(K) = \sqrt{K^2 \pm 1}$. Each of the fermionic modes will contribute $-\frac{1}{2} \sum \hbar W_{\text{fermi}}$, where the fermionic modes found in appendix B.1 have W(K) = K.

There are two important issues here:

• First, to obtain a finite first quantum correction for any solution, one must always

⁷In the literature, $v_n = T \omega_n$ (where T is some large time) is called a stability angle.

subtract the quantum correction for the corresponding vacuum solution. Both of these are normally UV divergent (and this subtraction is not the only renormalization usually needed). For the single spike, the relevant vacuum is the hoop solution. Note that the hoop has $\Delta - \Phi = 0$ classically, so this subtraction is only needed for the quantum corrections.

• Second, we are interested in studying those modes of the spike which result in its instability. To determine the decay time of this unstable solution, we are only interested in the imaginary part of the energy correction. None of the fermionic modes will contribute to this, as they are massless, nor will the 4 bosonic modes in AdS_5 , as they are massive. The only contribution is from the 4 tachyonic modes on the sphere, which have $W(K) = \pm \sqrt{K^2 - 1}$, and here only from those modes with |K| < 1. This excludes the UV modes, and in fact no other renormalization will be needed.

Modes for the hoop (vacuum) solution

It is simple to solve the equations of motion from the bosonic Lagrangian \mathscr{L}_B (3.18) in order to determine the modes for the hoop solution. The transverse modes are

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\eta}_k(x,\tau) &= e^{iKx - iW\tau} f_k(K), \qquad W^2 = K^2 + 1, \\ \tilde{\theta}_s(x,\tau) &= e^{iKx - iW\tau} g_s(K), \qquad W^2 = K^2 - 1, \end{split}$$

i.e $m^2 = 1$ in the AdS directions, and $m^2 = -1$ on the sphere, the same masses as for the single spike's modes. The longitudinal modes are massless:

$$ilde{ au}(x, au) = e^{iKx-i|K| au}f(K),$$

 $ilde{\phi}(x, au) = e^{iKx-i|K| au}g(K).$

The same modes can also be obtained from those for the single spike, by going far away from the spike itself. The sphere modes δ_{\perp} (3.13) and δ_{\parallel} (3.14) of section 3.3 become these simple ones $\tilde{\theta}_s$ in the limit $v \to \infty$, and the *AdS* modes are identical. The $\tilde{\phi}$ mode is the $v \to \infty$ limit of δ_r (3.12), now more obviously pure gauge. We did not write down the analogue of the $\tilde{\tau}$ mode (among the spike's non-zero modes) as we were focusing on the spatial part, but this too is pure gauge.

Performing the same limit $v \to \infty$ for the fermionic modes (B.13) and (B.15) leaves the following modes for the hoop:

$$\begin{split} \Psi^{1} &= \frac{i}{\sqrt{1-c}} \left[\Gamma_{0} \left(\cos \chi + \Gamma_{\phi\theta} \sin \chi \right) - \Gamma_{\phi} \left(\cos \chi - \Gamma_{\phi\theta} \sin \chi \right) \right] \\ &\times \left(\cos \beta \, \tilde{U}_{0} + \sin \beta \, \Gamma_{\phi\theta} \tilde{U}_{1} \right), \\ \Psi^{2} &= \frac{-1}{\sqrt{1+c}} \Gamma_{*} \Gamma_{\theta} \left[\Gamma_{0} \left(\cos \tilde{\chi} + \Gamma_{\phi\theta} \sin \tilde{\chi} \right) - \Gamma_{\phi} \left(\cos \tilde{\chi} - \Gamma_{\phi\theta} \sin \tilde{\chi} \right) \right] \\ &\times \frac{1}{1+4\omega^{2}} \left(\cos \tilde{\beta} \, U_{0} + \sin \tilde{\beta} \, \Gamma_{\phi\theta} U_{1} \right). \end{split}$$

Vacuum

The bosonic and fermionic modes for the hoop found above have the same masses as their counterparts for the single spike, in particular the sphere modes have $W(K) = \pm \sqrt{K^2 - 1}$. To discretize the momentum K, we put the solution in a box $-\frac{L}{2} < x < \frac{L}{2}$ and impose periodic boundary conditions $\delta X\left(-\frac{L}{2}\right) = \delta X\left(\frac{L}{2}\right)$. Then $K_n = \frac{2\pi n}{L}$, with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, and the contribution of these modes to the vacuum energy is given by

$$\Delta E_{\text{hoop}} = 4 \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n} \sqrt{K_n^2 - 1}$$

$$\approx 2 \frac{L}{2\pi} \int_{-1}^{1} dK \sqrt{K^2 - 1} \quad \text{as } L \to \infty$$

$$= \frac{i}{2} L. \qquad (3.21)$$

The integration is over |K| < 1 because we are looking for just the imaginary part. We do not encounter a UV divergence here.

Spike solution

Again we study only the bosonic modes on the sphere with |K| < 1. But the discrete momenta K allowed for the spike are not the same as those for the hoop K_n , as the modes have a phase shift at large x compared to the hoop. Looking at the bosonic sphere modes given in

(3.13) and (3.14), far away from the spike $(|v| \gg 1)$ we have

$$\delta_{\perp} \vec{X} (x) = e^{iKx - i\sqrt{K^2 - 1\tau}} \vec{m} [\gamma(cK - W) + i\tanh(\gamma(\tau - cx))], \qquad (3.22)$$

$$\delta_{\parallel} \vec{X} (x) = e^{iKx - i\sqrt{K^2 - 1\tau}} \vec{n} [\gamma(cK - W) + i\tanh(\gamma(\tau - cx))],$$

and $\delta X^1 = \delta X^2 = 0$ for both.⁸ Fixing t = 0 and evaluating at large distance $x = \pm \frac{L}{2}$, they both become

$$\delta \vec{X} \left(\pm \frac{L}{2} \right) = e^{\pm i K \frac{L}{2} \pm i \delta_{\pm}} A_{\pm},$$

where the phase shifts and amplitudes at the two ends are given by

$$\tan\left(\delta_{\pm}\right) = \frac{-1 \mp \gamma \sqrt{1 - K^2}}{\gamma c K},$$

$$A_{\pm} = \sqrt{\left(\gamma c K\right)^2 + \left(\gamma \sqrt{1 - K^2} \pm 1\right)^2}.$$
(3.23)

The next step would be to impose periodic boundary conditions on δX at $x = \pm \frac{L}{2}$. But here we encounter a problem, as the modes have different amplitudes at the two ends.⁹ Instead we will demand only that the phases match at $x = \pm \frac{L}{2}$, and allow the amplitudes to be different. (We will discuss this further in the next section.) Then K has to obey

$$KL + \delta_+(K) + \delta_-(K) = K_n L,$$

where $K_n = \frac{2\pi n}{L}$ is still the discretized momentum of the vacuum solution. Taking L very

⁸To obtain this, note that K, W and k, ω are related by $K = -\gamma \left(ck + \sqrt{k^2 - 1}\right)$ and $W = -\gamma \left(k + c\sqrt{k^2 - 1}\right)$, from (3.15) and (3.4).

⁹Recall that the worldsheet velocity of the single spike is 1/c > 1. Thus $(x, \tau) = (\pm L/2, 0)$ might be better thought of as points before and after the spike, rather than left and right of it. Consider instead points (x, τ) with large $|\tau|$, for which both of the modes δ_{\perp} and δ_{\parallel} in (3.22) become

$$\begin{split} \delta X &= e^{iKx - iW\tau} \left(\gamma(cK - W) + i\operatorname{sign}(\tau) \right) \\ &= e^{iKx + \sqrt{1 - K^2}\tau} \left(\gamma cK - i\gamma\sqrt{1 - K^2} + i\operatorname{sign}(\tau) \right) \end{split}$$

In the second line we've chosen to focus on the growing mode $W = +i\sqrt{1-K^2}$. Averaging over x by taking the modulus, we get

$$|\delta X| = e^{\sqrt{1-K^2}\tau} \sqrt{(\gamma cK)^2 + \left(\operatorname{sign}(\tau) - \gamma\sqrt{1-K^2}\right)^2}$$

This is an exponentially growing mode, but with a step in it where the spike happens.

large we can approximate K by

$$K = K_n - \frac{1}{L}\delta(K_n) + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{L^2})$$

where $\delta(K) \equiv \delta_+(K) + \delta_-(K)$. Finally we can determine the imaginary correction to the energy of the spike from the four tachyonic modes, by putting $L \to \infty$:

$$\Delta E_{\text{spike}} = 4 \sum_{K} \frac{1}{2} W(K)$$

$$\approx 4 \frac{L}{2\pi} \int_{-1}^{1} dK \frac{1}{2} W\left(K - \frac{1}{L} \delta(K)\right) \quad \text{as } L \to \infty$$

$$= \Delta E_{\text{hoop}} - i2 \sqrt{\frac{1-c}{1+c}}.$$
(3.24)

In the expression above, $\Delta E_{\text{hoop}} = iL/2$ is the correction (3.21) to the vacuum solution. Thus in the difference $\Delta E_{\text{spike}} - \Delta E_{\text{hoop}}$ the IR divergence from $L \to \infty$ is canceled.

About these boundary conditions

We found that the amplitude of the mode (3.22) (for |K| < 1) is different at large positive and negative x. This is the obstruction to imposing periodic boundary conditions, which we avoided by matching only the phases. One should not be surprised that we cannot impose these boundary conditions. They amount to gluing the string to itself after some large number of windings, or rather, gluing the vibrations on it to themselves, and this might not be allowed.

For the giant magnon, one has to glue a series of magnons together with $\sum_i p_i = 0$ to obtain a valid closed string solution. But is not clear that this is a condition on the allowed series of single spikes. It would tell you about periodicity of the spatial $X^i(x, \tau)$ under t, but say nothing about their behaviour at large |x|.

Here we consider a solution of two widely separated spikes with opposite velocities $\frac{1}{c}$ and $-\frac{1}{c}$, because for this choice we can impose honest boundary conditions. In this case we recover the twice the energy correction (3.24) obtained above, one for each spike. This justifies our use of these unusual boundary conditions.

Two spikes

As $x \to \pm \frac{L}{2}$, the amplitude of the mode (3.22) becomes A_{\pm} , given in (3.23). This formula is valid for c > 0; for c < 0 the sign \pm is reversed, and we have instead $|\delta X_{c<0}(\pm \frac{L}{2}, 0)| = A_{\mp}$.

This immediately suggests the following way to impose consistent boundary conditions: take two spikes, far apart, with parameters c and -c. Each is in a box of length L, and we connect these together. That is, consider

$$X^{\mu}(x,\tau) = \begin{cases} X_{\text{spike}(c)} \left(x - \frac{L}{2}, \tau \right) & \text{for} \quad 0 < x < L, \\ \\ X_{\text{spike}(-c)} \left(x - \frac{3L}{2}, \tau \right) & L < x < 2L \end{cases}$$

which is an approximate solution near t = 0. In fact it is a part of a scattering solution, since the two spikes have velocities 1/c and -1/c. It can be viewed as an excitation above a hoop of length 2L.

Vibrations of this solution will be described by the same modes we have been using, and we again focus on the |K| < 1 sphere modes, which give the imaginary energy correction. For the boundary condition at x = L, both modes δX have amplitude A_+ , so matching them sets their phases equal there. And at x = 0, 2L we can impose periodic boundary conditions, since both modes have amplitude A_- there. The resulting condition on the allowed K is simply

$$K = K_n - \frac{1}{2L} \delta_{(c)}(K_n) - \frac{1}{2L} \delta_{(-c)}(K_n) + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{L^2}),$$

where $K_n = \frac{2\pi n}{2L}$ are now the allowed wave numbers for the vacuum in length 2L. This leads to energy correction

$$\Delta E = \Delta E_{\text{spike}(c)} + \Delta E_{\text{spike}(-c)},$$

i.e. we obtain the sum of the corrections we calculated in (3.24) by imposing our phase-only boundary condition at $x = \pm \frac{L}{2}$. The finite piece (after subtracting the vacuum's ΔE_{hoop}) is twice the finite piece for one spike.

3.5 Properties and semi-classical results for the single spike solution

We now present a summary of all of the properties and results found in this chapter for the single spike solution, and compare them to the known results of the giant magnon.

After determining the bosonic and fermionic modes of the single spike solution, we found a mismatch between the modes in these two sectors, both in number and in their masses. This is evidence that the spike solution is not supersymmetric. Some of the bosonic modes found were seen to be tachyonic, showing that the single spike is unstable, just like the relevant 'vacuum' solution which we referred to as the hoop.

In order to perform a semi-classical analysis of the spike, we started by determining the Hamiltonian for small fluctuations of the corresponding vacuum (the hoop), which was seen to be just $\Delta - \Phi$. In this case, the winding Φ has replaced the angular momentum J found in the Hamiltonian for the magnon case. This was expected because we saw that in flat space T-duality related similar solutions. We then used this result to calculate a semi-classical estimate of the lifetime of the single spike solution.

Another subject of interest is the comparison of the single spike solution to some operator on the Super Yang-Mills side. It had been conjectured that the single spike is dual to an excitation of an anti-ferromagnetic spin chain. [48,113] There have been various attempts to find a full N-body description of the giant magnon, such as the Hubbard [145] and Ruijsenaars-Schneider models [51]. It is possible that the single spike solution will be another test case for such a description.

The periodicity in the parameter p of the dispersion relation for giant magnons (3.6) is the signature of discrete space. On the SYM side, this can be understood to be the position along a spin chain. Even though on the case of the single spike it seems that such periodicity is nonexistent (3.8), that shouldn't count as evidence against such discreteness. In [104], one allows p outside our range $0 , and finds that <math>\Delta - \Phi$ becomes periodic (their figure 1). However the meaning of this parameter p is not well understood for the spike.

The single spike is an excitation of an unstable vacuum state, the hoop, which consists of a string wrapped around an equator of S^5 . One can stabilize such loops of strings by making them rotate in other planes [25,133]. Such solutions carry large angular momentum by being wound many times around one equator. It is possible that adding these extra angular momenta may stabilize the spike solution as well, and it may be this object which has a more natural gauge theory dual.

CHAPTER 4

Scattering of N Magnons

Recent progress in understanding the Gauge/String duality in N = 4 Super Yang-Mills theory resulted in complete specification of the worldsheet S-matrix and the associated spectrum [20, 92, 36, 93, 22, 17, 146, 55, 65, 39, 61, 147, 148]. The conjectured exact result received impressive confirmation in both weak coupling Yang-Mills theory calculations and also semiclassical string theory calculations at strong coupling [12, 25, 123, 91, 149, 89, 41, 124, 125, 35]. These successes were accomplished due to the integrability property characterizing the string dynamics and present in Yang-Mills theory through its spin-chain representation [20, 10, 31, 34, 29, 150]. At the spectrum level there is a complete classification of states in terms of magnon excitations. Their dispersion formula is again known from both weak and strong coupling studies [56, 26].

Even though all orders results have been accomplished, further study of the models and of their integrability structures is still desirable. For instance the spin chain Hamiltonian is reliably known only from weak coupling calculations, its comparison (and agreement) with the string theory Hamiltonian is to some degree purely accidental. In this chapter we will pursue the question of multi-magnon dynamics. Magnons scatter from each other with known computable phase shifts [36, 41, 151, 57, 152, 59, 153, 104] and it is of relevance to determine their interactions. We will do that in the simplest case of magnons moving on $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$ working at the the semiclassical level. The equations of motion in this case (in a timelike-conformal gauge) coincide with those of the O(3) nonlinear sigma model. Multimagnon solutions have been constructed in these case using several different techniques, involving the dressing and the inverse scattering methods [151, 127, 154, 109, 155].

One particular approach (Pohlmeyer reduction method) reduces the problem at the equation of motion level to a well known integrable field theory, the sine-Gordon model [49]. In this reduction the role of magnons is played by sine-Gordon solitons. Much is known about inter-soliton dynamics in the sine-Gordon theory [119]. In particular it can be exactly described through an N-body model generalizing the Calogero-Moser model [156, 157]. The relativistic Ruijsenaars-Schneider model [158] is completely integrable, it summarizes the N-soliton (and anti-soliton) dynamics for a given coupling and can be directly deduced from sine-Gordon theory itself [159]. In turn it can be used as a full dynamical theory, even at the quantum level [160]. It is our goal to establish a related dynamical description for string theory magnons.

The connection between string dynamics and sine-Gordon theory, is known to be highly nontrivial. The two theories coincide at the level of equations of motion, but that is where the comparison stops [26]. Physical quantities like the energies (of magnons and solitons) and the associated phase shifts are different and it is our intention to clarify somewhat this nontrivial relationship. The nontrivial dynamical connection between the two systems can be traced back to a (nonabelian) dual description of sigma models and the fact that it is in the dual formulation that the connection can be described in canonical terms. This was established in several works by Mikhailov [161, 50, 128] and remains to be pursued at the quantum level.

For the question of formulating the dynamical system describing multi-magnon dynamics we start from the fact that at the level of equations of motion it coincides with the soliton or rather the N-body RS model. We then require a further fact, namely that the string theory model ought to reproduce the correct magnon energies and the phase shifts, both of which differ from the soliton case. From the comparison of energies we suggest a Hamiltonian, as the n = -1 member of the infinite Hamiltonian sequence [162, 163, 164]. Requiring the correct phase shift we are led to a nontrivial Poisson structure representing the N- magnon dynamics.

In this chapter we will start by giving a brief summary of the relation between magnon solutions in $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$ and sine-Gordon solitons. In Section 4.2 we review the integrable dynamics of solitons in terms of the N-particle R-S description. In Section 4.3 we consider the analogous representation for magnons. From comparison of energy eigenvalues we are led to an N-body Hamiltonian given by the inverse of the lax matrix of the RS model. Elaborating on the phase shift we are led to suggest a need for an alternative symplectic form. This symplectic form is explicitly given in the limit of well separated magnons in Section 4.4.

4.1 From Classical Strings to sine-Gordon: Pohlmeyer Map

It is well-known that the theory of classical strings moving on $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$ is related to the sine-Gordon model at the level of the equations of motion. In fact, the original Pohlmeyer map [49] related the O(3) σ -model co-ordinates to the sine-Gordon theory through a projection map. Let us summarize this map: start from the O(3) σ -model Lagrangian density

$$\mathscr{L}(\sigma,\tau) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(\partial_{\sigma} X_i \, \partial_{\sigma} X_i - \partial_{\tau} X_i \, \partial_{\tau} X_i \right) + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} X_i X_i - 1 \right),$$

where X_i are the embedding co-ordinates on \mathbb{R}^3 and λ is a Lagrange multiplier that fixes the motion to be on an S^2 sphere. This Lagrangian is invariant under the action of the internal symmetry group O(3). To simplify notation, define for a vector of \mathbb{R}^3 the following

$$p = (p_1, p_2, p_3)$$
 , $(p,q) = \sum_{i=1}^3 p_i q_i$, $p^2 = |p|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^3 p_i^2$.

Also we will work with light-cone co-ordinates

$$x_{\pm} = rac{1}{2} \left(\sigma \pm au
ight) , \quad \partial_{\pm} = \partial_{\sigma} \pm \partial_{ au} .$$

In these co-ordinates we have the identity $\partial_+\partial_- = \partial_\sigma^2 - \partial_\tau^2$ (where we defined $\partial_\sigma \equiv \partial/\partial\sigma$, etc), and the equations of motion can be written as

$$\partial_{+}\partial_{-}X_{i} + (\partial_{+}X \cdot \partial_{-}X)X_{i} = 0, \qquad (4.1)$$

with the constraints

$$X \cdot X = 1$$
 , $\lambda = -\partial_+ X \cdot \partial_- X$

The sum and the difference of the energy and momentum densities are just given by $\frac{1}{2}(\partial_-X)^2$ and $\frac{1}{2}(\partial_+X)^2$, respectively. Recalling that we have the constraint $X \cdot X = 1$, then we find

$$X \cdot \partial_{\pm} X = 0,$$

so $\partial_{\pm} X$ are vectors orthogonal to X. From the equations of motion (4.1), we can also see that $\partial_{+}\partial_{-}X$ is parallel to X, and consequently orthogonal to $\partial_{\pm}X$. From these results we can derive the equations of conservation of energy-momentum, which are

$$\partial_{+}\left[\frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{-}X\right)^{2}\right] = \partial_{-}\left[\frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{+}X\right)^{2}\right] = 0$$

These equations imply that

$$(\partial_{+}X)^{2} = h^{2}(x_{+})$$
, $(\partial_{-}X)^{2} = k^{2}(x_{-})$

where the functions h, k are determined completely by initial conditions. Looking back at the equations of motion (4.1), one can easily see that they are invariant under local scale transformations $(x_+, x_-) \rightarrow (x'_+, x'_-)$ such that

$$dx'_{+} = |H(x_{+})| dx_{+}, \quad dx'_{-} = |K(x_{-})| dx_{-},$$

where H, K are non-vanishing functions. Choosing, without loss of generality, |H| = |h| and |K| = |k|, it is easy to see that $\left(\frac{\partial X}{\partial x'_{+}}\right)^2 = 1 = \left(\frac{\partial X}{\partial x'_{-}}\right)^2$, and so the energy density is constant (1/2) while the momentum density vanishes in these new co-ordinates. We can then start from these "normalized" co-ordinates, and drop the primes. Re-writing the results we have so far, in the "normalized" co-ordinates the equations of motion (4.1) are still valid, and we have the following constraints

$$X^{2} = 1$$
, $(\partial_{+}X)^{2} = (\partial_{-}X)^{2} = 1$, $(\partial_{\pm}X \cdot X) = 0$. (4.2)

Only one of the O(3)-invariant quantities formed by the X_i 's (and their derivatives) is undetermined: $\partial_+ X \cdot \partial_- X$. This quantity obeys $-1 \leq \partial_+ X \cdot \partial_- X \leq 1^1$, so we define a field $\alpha(x_+, x_-)$ such that

$$\cos \alpha = (\partial_+ X \cdot \partial_- X). \tag{4.3}$$

Summarizing, in the O(3) model the vectors X, $\partial_+ X$, $\partial_- X$ span the whole \mathbb{R}^3 space, and any solutions of the equations of motion (4.1) obey the constraints (4.2). The converse is also true, that is, if we have a vector $X \in \mathbb{R}^3$ such that it obeys these constraints, it also obeys the equations of motion.

Because the 3 vectors $X, \partial_+ X, \partial_- X$ span the whole \mathbb{R}^3 space, we can write any other vector as a linear combination of these, in particular²

$$\partial_{+}^{2}X = -X + (\partial_{+}\alpha)\cot\alpha\,\partial_{+}X - \frac{(\partial_{+}\alpha)}{\sin\alpha}\,\partial_{-}X,$$

$$\partial_{-}^{2}X = -X - \frac{(\partial_{-}\alpha)}{\sin\alpha}\,\partial_{+}X + (\partial_{-}\alpha)\cot\alpha\,\partial_{-}X.$$

These results allow us to write, from the definition of α and using the constraints (4.2),

$$\partial_{+}\partial_{-}\alpha = -\partial_{-}\left[\frac{\partial_{+}^{2}X \cdot \partial_{-}X}{\sin\alpha}\right]$$

= $-\frac{1}{\sin\alpha}\left[\partial_{+}^{2}X \cdot \partial_{-}^{2}X + \partial_{-}\partial_{+}^{2}X \cdot \partial_{-}X - (\partial_{-}\alpha)\cot\alpha\,\partial_{+}^{2}X \cdot \partial_{-}X\right]$
= $-\sin\alpha$.

¹This happens because if we define $\vec{a} = \partial_+ X$ and $\vec{b} = \partial_- X$, we have $|\vec{a}| = \left|\vec{b}\right| = 1$, and

$$0 \le \left(\vec{a} + \vec{b}\right)^2 = |\vec{a}|^2 + \left|\vec{b}\right|^2 + 2\vec{a} \cdot \vec{b} \le \left(|\vec{a}| + \left|\vec{b}\right|\right)^2 \Rightarrow -1 \le \vec{a} \cdot \vec{b} \le 1$$

 2 To determine the coefficients of the linear combinations we write a general expansion

$$\partial_+^2 X = \phi X + \beta \partial_+ X + \gamma \partial_- X \,,$$

and then determine the projections of $\partial^2_+ X$ on each of the basis vectors

$$\partial_+^2 X \cdot X = \phi = -1, \quad \partial_+^2 X \cdot \partial_+ X = \beta + \gamma \cos \alpha = 0, \quad \partial_+^2 X \cdot \partial_- X = \beta \cos \alpha + \gamma = \partial_+ (\cos \alpha).$$

These equations allow us to solve for the coefficients ϕ, β, γ . The same can be done for $\partial_{-}^{2}X$.

To obtain the last line, we used the following identities (using (4.1) and (4.2))

$$\partial_{+}^{2} X \cdot \partial_{-}^{2} X = 1 - (\partial_{+} \alpha) (\partial_{-} \alpha) \cos \alpha;$$

$$\cot \alpha \, \partial_{+}^{2} X \cdot \partial_{-} X = -(\partial_{+} \alpha) \cos \alpha;$$

$$\partial_{-} \partial_{+}^{2} X \cdot \partial_{-} X = \partial_{+} (\partial_{+} \partial_{-} X) \cdot \partial_{-} X = -\cos^{2} \alpha$$

So the field $\alpha = \arccos(\partial_+ X \cdot \partial_- X)$ obeys the sine-Gordon equation $\partial_- \partial_+ \alpha = -\sin \alpha$, which can be derived from the Lagrangian density

$$\mathscr{L} = -\frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\tau}\alpha)^2 + \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x\alpha)^2 - U(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_+\alpha)(\partial_-\alpha) - U(\alpha),$$

(and thus the Hamiltonian is $\mathscr{H} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\tau}\alpha)^2 + \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x\alpha)^2 + U(\alpha)$, in our sign convention), with the potential

$$U(\alpha) = 1 - \cos \alpha = 2 \sin^2 \left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right).$$

Starting from any solution of the sine-Gordon theory, there is always a corresponding solution of the equations of motion (4.1), with constraints (4.2) and which obeys the map $\partial_+ X \cdot \partial_- X = \cos \alpha$. But because this is a projective map, if we have different solutions of the $O(3) \sigma$ -model that have the same projection $\partial_+ X \cdot \partial_- X$, these solutions will be mapped to the same sine-Gordon field.

Giant magnons and giant spike as sine-Gordon solitons

Our interest is the study of classical rigidly rotating string solution of $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$ such as the giant magnon and the giant spike. For a classical solution in conformal gauge with $Y^0 = t$, one has the Pohlmeyer [49] identification of a scalar field $\phi(x,t)$ as

$$\cos 2\phi = \partial_{\tau} X^i \partial_{\tau} X^i - \partial_x X^i \partial_x X^i \tag{4.4}$$

obeying the sine-Gordon equation

$$-\partial_{\tau}\partial_{\tau}\phi + \partial_x\partial_x\phi = rac{1}{2}\sin 2\phi$$
 .



Figure 4.1: Under the Pohlmeyer map, the magnon is sent to the ordinary kink (in red) while the single spike is mapped to an unstable solution connecting the hilltops (in blue). The sine-Gordon field α is plotted left-to-right, x into the page, and $U(\alpha)$ vertically.

Comparing to the notation above we have the identification $\alpha = -2\phi$.

Under this map, the point particle is mapped to the vacuum $\alpha = 0$, with zero energy, while the giant magnon is mapped to the simple kink [26]

$$\alpha = 4 \arctan\left(e^{\gamma(x-c\tau)}\right),\,$$

connecting $\alpha = 0$ and $\alpha = 2\pi$ at $x = \pm \infty$ (note that α is defined up to mod (2π)). Its energy is ($\hat{\theta}$ is the asymptotic rapidity of the sine-Gordon soliton)

$$\varepsilon_{s.g} = \gamma = \frac{1}{\sin(p/2)} = \cosh\hat{\theta} \,. \tag{4.5}$$

The velocity c can be changed by boosting the kink, and the energy $E_{s.g.}$ changes as one would expect for a relativistic object.³

The comparison between sine-Gordon model and the classical string theory solutions was seen also for another type of "dual" solutions called single spike solutions (see for example

³However, giant magnons of different c are not related by worldsheet boosts (which are just reparametrizations) since $X^0 = t$ is held fixed.

the last Chapter and [104,48,165]). The single spike (3.5) is mapped instead to an unstable kink. From the map (4.4) it is clear that the effect of the $x \leftrightarrow t$ interchange is to shift the field by π :

$$\alpha(x,t) = \alpha_{\text{magnon}}(\tau,x) - \pi = 4 \arctan\left(e^{\gamma(\tau-cx)}\right) - \pi$$

This solution connects two adjacent maxima of $U(\alpha)$, rather than two minima: $\alpha = \pm \pi$ at $x = \pm \infty$, and is drawn in figure 4.1. If we choose the constant in $U(\alpha)$ to place these maxima at zero

$$U(\alpha) = -1 - \cos \alpha = -2\sin^2\left(\frac{\alpha + \pi}{2}\right),$$

then this unstable kink solution has energy

$$\varepsilon_{\text{s.g.}}^{spike} = c\gamma = \frac{\cos(p/2)}{\sin(p/2)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(\frac{1}{c})^2 - 1}}.$$
(4.6)

This direct connection between the two theories, sine-Gordon model and classical strings, holds only at the level of equations of motion [50], and it is non-trivial at the canonical level. Several physical properties are different, in particular the energies and the semiclassical phase shifts [26]. In fact the energies shown above in (3.6) (introduced in the previous Chapter) and (4.5) exhibit an inverse relationship

$$E_{magnon} = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\pi} \frac{1}{\gamma} = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\pi} \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{s.g.}}.$$

That is, the energy coming from the sine-Gordon model's Hamiltonian is inverse to the spin-chain energy for magnons constructed out of target space charges $\Delta - J = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2} \sin(p/2)$.

This relation can be generalized further for the scattering solution of two magnons. The two-magnon scattering state, obtained via dressing method [109] (see figure 4.2), can can be mapped through Pohlmeyer's reduction to the scattering solutions of two solitons, whose scattering solution can found in [119]. It can be seen that the energy of the two-magnon scattering solution is related to the energy of each of the solitons in the following way



Figure 4.2: Scattering of two magnons. At earlier time the two magnons are separated in the worldsheet direction x. They cross each other, and retain the same shape while moving in opposite directions in the worldsheet, but with a time delay. In this figure $X_3 = \cos \theta$ is the height above the equator.

$$E_{2-mag} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{s.g,1}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{s.g,2}}$$

The scattering phase for two magnons is calculated in a very similar way to the scattering of two sine-Gordon solitons [166, 118]. See also [119] for a review on the classical and semiclassical behavior of sine-Gordon solitons. This is not surprising due to the equivalence of the two classical models through Pohlmeyer's map [49] (see also [161, 128]). The time-delay and phase shift of scattering of magnons was also studied through Bethe Ansatz techniques [41, 36, 151, 152, 153].

Since the string and the sine-Gordon equations share a common time t, it obviously follows that the time-delay of scattering of giant magnons (on the string worldsheet) and the time delay for the analogous scattering problem of solitons (in sine-Gordon theory) is the same

$$\Delta t_{sg} = \Delta t_{mag} = \frac{2}{m \sinh \theta} \ln \tanh \theta = \Delta \tau,$$

It does not mean however that the scattering phase shifts of the two problems are the same. In fact they differ, due to the difference in energies stated above. One has the well known relation, where the derivative of the phase shift with respect to energy equals the time delay,

$$rac{\partial \delta_{s.g}}{\partial arepsilon_{s.g}} = \Delta au = rac{\partial \delta_{mag}}{\partial E_{mag}} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \delta_{sg}
eq \delta_{mag}.$$

This will imply that a different interaction is responsible for the behaviour in the two cases.

4.2 Review of sine-Gordon Dynamics

The dynamics of sine-Gordon solitons can be summarized by a relativistic N-body model due to Ruijsenaars and Schneider. These class of models [158, 160] represent a relativistic generalization of the Calogero-Moser models [157, 156]. The relation between the field theoretic system of sine-Gordon solitons and the Lax matrix formulation of the Ruijsenaars-Schneider model was also thoroughly discussed in [159]. In this section we will review some of the aspects of this relation and give a summary of the needed notation. For more details and derivations the reader is directed to the original references.

For establishing the N-body description of soliton dynamics one starts with the N-soliton solution, written as:

$$e^{-i\phi} = \frac{\det\left(1+A\right)}{\det\left(1-A\right)}.$$

where A is a $N \times N$ matrix with components

$$A_{ij} = 2\frac{\sqrt{\mu_i\mu_j}}{\mu_i + \mu_j}\sqrt{X_iX_j}$$

The μ_i are the rapidities, and the $X_i = a_i e^{2(\mu_i z_+ + \mu_i^{-1} z_-)}$ are related to the positions of the soliton through the a_i . Here we use light-cone co-ordinates $z_{\pm} = x \pm t$, and $\partial_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x \pm \partial_t)$. Note that for a soliton or anti-soliton, μ is real and a pure imaginary. The breather solution corresponds to a pair of complex conjugated rapidities $(\mu, \overline{\mu})$ and positions $(a, -\overline{a})$.

The sine-Gordon equation can be described by a Hamiltonian system with the canonical symplectic form (π is the conjugate momentum to the s.G field ϕ)

$$\Omega_{sg} = \int \pi \wedge d\phi$$

This, by direct substitution can be used to deduce the symplectic form of the soliton variables (a_i, μ_i) , which can be seen to reduce to the usual symplectic form after a change of variables.

Considering the evolution of the system in terms of the null plane time $z_+ = \tau$ one has

$$A(\boldsymbol{\sigma},\boldsymbol{\tau}) = e^{\boldsymbol{\sigma}\boldsymbol{\mu}^{-1}}\tilde{A}(\boldsymbol{\tau})e^{\boldsymbol{\sigma}\boldsymbol{\mu}^{-1}},$$

where $[\mu]_{ij} = \mu_{ij} = \mu_i \delta_{ij}$ is the matrix of rapidities, $\tilde{X}_i = a_i e^{\mu_i \tau}$ are the soliton co-ordinates. The matrix (co-ordinate)

$$\tilde{A}(\tau) = 2 \frac{\sqrt{\mu_i \mu_j}}{\mu_i + \mu_j} \sqrt{\tilde{X}_i \tilde{X}_j}.$$

is then used to reconstruct the Lax matrix of the N-body system. Through diagonalization one has:

$$Q = U^{-1}\tilde{A}U,$$
$$L = U^{-1}\mu U.$$

where $Q = \text{diag}(Q_1, \dots, Q_N)$ are the eigenvalues of \tilde{A} . The *N*-soliton solution is then written as $e^{-i\phi} = \prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{1+Q_i}{1-Q_i}$, and the matrix *L* is the Lax operator, as its time evolution is given by a (Lax) equation

$$\dot{L} \equiv rac{dL}{d au} = [M,L], \quad M = \dot{U}U^{-1}.$$

Consequently, the quantities $H_n = \text{Tr}(L^n) = \sum_{i=1}^N \mu_i^n$ are conserved through the evolution of solitons.

Finally, if we define $\rho_i = \dot{Q}_i/Q_i$, and perform the change of variables $(\mu_i, a_i) \to (Q_i, \rho_i)$, which is a symplectic transformation, we find the Lax matrix to have the same form as the original \tilde{A} :

$$L = 2 \frac{\sqrt{Q_i Q_j}}{Q_i + Q_j} \sqrt{\rho_i \rho_j}.$$
(4.7)

The Poisson brackets of these two variables Q_i, ρ_i are not canonical, so it is convenient to introduce a new set of variables θ_i conjugated to the variables q_i , given by

$$ho_i=e^{ heta_i}\prod_{k
eq i}rac{Q_i+Q_k}{Q_k-Q_i},\ Q_j=ie^{iq_j}$$

In these new variables, the original symplectic form $\int \pi \wedge d\phi$ is simply given by the usual $\int \theta_i dq_i$, which corresponds to the canonical Poisson brackets. From the sequence of conserved quantities, or Hamiltonians, $H_n = \text{Tr}(L^n)$ we are interested in particular in the $H_{\pm 1}$, which are the generators of the evolution in the light cone co-ordinates $\tau = z_+$ and $\sigma = z_-$. These are given by

$$H_{\pm 1} = \operatorname{Tr}\left(L^{\pm 1}\right) = \sum_{j} e^{\pm \theta_{j}} \prod_{k \neq j} \left| \operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{q_{j} - q_{k}}{2}\right) \right|.$$

The full Hamiltonian is given by $H = \frac{1}{2}(H_{+1} + H_{-1}) = \text{Tr}\mathscr{L}_{rs}$, where we define

$$\mathscr{L}_{rs} = \frac{1}{2} \left(L + L^{-1} \right). \tag{4.8}$$

This system corresponds to a particular case of the N-particle relativistic Ruijsenaars-Schneider model [158]. The Lax matrix for the general case of RS model was constructed in [158]. This Lax matrix is defined by

$$L_j = V_i C_{ij} V_j, \tag{4.9}$$

where

$$V_i \equiv e^{rac{1}{2} heta_i} \left(\prod_{k
eq i} f\left(q_i - q_k
ight)
ight)^{1/2},$$

and $C_{ij}(q)$ is directly related to the choice of f(q). For a family of interaction potentials of the type given below

$$f(q) = \left[1 + \alpha / \sinh^2\left(\frac{\mu q}{2}\right)\right]^{1/2}, \quad \mu, \alpha \in (0, \infty),$$
(4.10)

the components C_{ij} are just given by $C_{ij}(q) = \left[\cosh\left(\frac{\mu q}{2}\right) + ia\sinh\left(\frac{\mu q}{2}\right)\right]^{-1}$, with $\left(1 + a^2\right)^{-1} = \alpha^2$.

The model has an infinite set of commuting conserved charges

$$H_n = \operatorname{Tr}(L^n), n \in \mathbb{N},$$

with the Hamiltonian (generator of time translations) and momentum (generator of

space translations) given as [158]

$$H = \frac{1}{2} (H_1 + H_{-1}) = mc^2 \sum_{j=1}^{N} \cosh \theta_j \prod_{k \neq j} f(q_k - q_j), \qquad (4.11)$$

$$P = \frac{1}{2} (H_1 - H_{-1}) = mc \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sinh \theta_j \prod_{k \neq j} f(q_k - q_j), \qquad (4.12)$$

where q_i are the positions of the solitons and θ_i the conjugate rapidities. The interaction between solitons is given by the even function $f(q_k - q_j)$, reducing to $f \equiv 1$ in the free theory. The RS model is relativistic, as the generators (\mathscr{B} is the generator for Boosts)

$$\mathscr{H}_{k} = \frac{1}{2} \left(H_{k} + H_{-k} \right), \quad \mathscr{P}_{k} = \frac{1}{2} \left(H_{k} - H_{-k} \right), \quad \mathscr{B} = -\frac{1}{c} \sum q_{j},$$

obey the two-dimensional Poincaré algebra:

$$\{\mathscr{H}_k, \mathscr{P}_k\} = 0, \quad \{\mathscr{H}_k, \mathscr{B}\} = \mathscr{P}_k, \quad \{\mathscr{P}_k, \mathscr{B}\} = \mathscr{H}_k.$$

$$(4.13)$$

Next let us discuss the question of the time delay (and phase shift) in the particle picture. Considering the two particle case, one goes to the center-of-mass frame, as in [158]:

$$s \equiv q_1 + q_2 \quad , \qquad \varphi \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(\theta_1 + \theta_2 \right),$$

$$q \equiv q_1 - q_2 \quad , \qquad \theta \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(\theta_1 - \theta_2 \right), \qquad (4.14)$$

•

The Lax matrix (4.9) and its inverse are then given by

$$L = e^{\varphi} f(q) \begin{pmatrix} e^{\theta} & C_{12} \\ \bar{C}_{12} & e^{-\theta} \end{pmatrix} \quad ; \qquad L^{-1} = e^{-\varphi} f(q) \begin{pmatrix} e^{-\theta} & -C_{12} \\ -\bar{C}_{12} & e^{\theta} \end{pmatrix},$$

where C_{ij} is a 2×2 matrix with entries $C_{11} = C_{22} = 1$, and

$$C_{12} = \bar{C}_{21} = \left[\cosh\left(\frac{\mu}{2}q\right) + ia\sinh\left(\frac{\mu}{2}q\right)\right]^{-1}$$

Now it is simple to check that the Hamiltonian (4.11) becomes

$$H = 2\cosh\varphi\cosh\theta f(q) = (\cosh\theta_1 + \cosh\theta_2)f(q). \tag{4.15}$$

The momentum given by (4.12) also becomes:

$$P = 2\sinh\varphi\cosh\theta f(q) = (\sinh\theta_1 + \sinh\theta_2)f(q). \tag{4.16}$$

One comment should be made with respect to the interaction potential

$$f(q) = \left[1 + \alpha / \sinh^2\left(\frac{\mu q}{2}\right)\right]^{1/2}.$$

Going back to (4.10) one can see that for $\alpha = 1$ it reduces to the particular case of a repulsive soliton-soliton interaction in the sine-Gordon model, $f_r(q) = |\operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{q}{2}\right)|$. An extension of the interaction potential to $\alpha = -1$ leads to the attractive case of soliton-anti-soliton interaction of sine-Gordon, where $f_a(q) = |\operatorname{tanh}\left(\frac{q}{2}\right)|$.

With the Hamiltonian (4.15) and choosing certain interacting potentials f one can fully recover the properties of the sine-Gordon soliton- (anti)soliton scattering, such as time delay and phase shift. From (4.16) it is easy to see that the center of mass P = 0 corresponds to $\varphi = 0$. Then the center-of-mass Hamiltonian for two particles is:

$$H_{cm} = \cosh \theta f(q).$$

Now we have the relation:

$$\dot{q}^2 + f^2(q) = H_{cm}^2$$

Because H_{cm} is a constant of motion, so is the quantity $\varepsilon \equiv H^2 - 1$. Evaluating ε asymptotically, when $x \to \infty$, we obtain $\varepsilon = \sinh^2 \hat{\theta}$, where $\hat{\theta}$ is the asymptotic center-of-mass rapidity. The time delay is then determined by the time taken along a trajectory from -q to q, as $|q| \rightarrow \infty$. For the repulsive soliton-soliton case f_r , we get

$$\int_{-q}^{q} \frac{dq}{\sqrt{\varepsilon - \operatorname{csch}^{2}\left(\frac{q}{2}\right)}} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}} \operatorname{cosh}^{-1} \left(\sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon + 1}} \operatorname{cosh}\left(\frac{q}{2}\right) \right) \Big|_{2\operatorname{cosh}^{-1}\sqrt{\frac{1+\varepsilon}{\varepsilon}}}^{q}$$
$$\xrightarrow[q \to \infty]{} \frac{2q}{\sinh \hat{\theta}} + \frac{1}{\sinh \hat{\theta}} \ln \left(\tanh \hat{\theta}\right).$$

The first term is the time for each of the solitons to go from -q to q if if it was free (no interaction). The second term is in fact the time delay due to having a repulsive interaction, and correctly reproduces the time delay for a soliton-soliton scattering in sine-Gordon theory, obtained through field theoretic methods.

4.3 An ansatz for the dynamics of a two-magnon system

Our aim is to describes the N-magnon dynamics in Hamiltonian terms. The appropriate dynamical system ought to be such that it reproduces the classical equations of motions, its energy, momentum and finally phase shift in agreement with the known magnon results [26]. We will begin by focusing on the two-magnon interactions.

We know that the sine-Gordon and the magnons have the same classical equations of motion, and as such the time delay for both systems agrees

$$\Delta t_m(E_m) = \Delta t_{sg}(\varepsilon_{sg})|_{\varepsilon_{sg} = \frac{1}{E_m}}$$

but with different energies. This implies different Hamiltonians for the two systems. With the semiclassical phase shift obeying $\frac{\partial \delta(E)}{\partial E} = \Delta t$ one can try to deduce the (Hamiltonian) dynamics directly from the phase shift itself.

For the sine-Gordon system the center-of-mass Hamiltonian is $H_{sg} = \cosh \theta f(q) = \varepsilon_{sg}$, the equation of motion for the relative position q gives $\dot{q} = \sqrt{\varepsilon_{sg}^2 - f(q)^2}$, and the time delay in terms of the energy is simply given by

$$\Delta t_{sg} = \int \frac{dq}{\dot{q}} = \int \frac{dq}{\sqrt{\varepsilon^2 - f(q)^2}}$$
and the scattering phase shift of two sine-Gordon solitons is just given by $\delta_{sg}(\varepsilon) = \int d\varepsilon \Delta t_{sg}$, while for the two-magnons

$$\delta_m(E_m) = \int dE_m \,\Delta t_{sg}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{sg})|_{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{sg}=\frac{1}{E_m}} = \int dE_m E_m \int \frac{dq}{f(q)\sqrt{f^{-2}(q) - E_m^2}}.$$
(4.17)

In order to determine which Hamiltonian $H_{cm} \equiv E_m$ produces this phase shift we first perform a change of variables, introducing a new co-ordinate Q through $dQ = \frac{dq}{f(q)}$. Also define $F(Q) = \frac{1}{f(q(Q))}$. The interaction then follows (soliton-soliton interaction): for f(q) =coth q we find $q = \cosh^{-1}(e^Q)$ and $F(Q) = \sqrt{1 - e^{-2Q}}$.

This means that the limit of relative position $q \to \infty$ corresponds to the new relative position doing the same $Q \to \infty$. Also in this limit, we have $f(q), F(Q) \to 1$ (the free theory limit).

After this change of variables, we rewrite the phase shift as

$$\delta(E_m) = \int dE_m \int dQ \sqrt{\frac{E_m^2}{F^2 - E_m^2}} = \int dE_m \int \frac{dQ}{\dot{Q}},$$

and want to find the center-of-mass Hamiltonian $H_{cm} \equiv E_m$ such that

$$\dot{Q} = \frac{\partial H_{cm}}{\partial \alpha} = \sqrt{\frac{F^2 - H_{cm}^2}{H_{cm}^2}},$$
(4.18)

where α is the new relative rapidity, i.e. the conjugate variable to Q. The differential equation above can be solved to give

$$\sqrt{1-\left(\frac{H_{cm}}{F}\right)^2}=-\frac{\alpha}{F}.$$

This result is only valid for $\alpha < 0$. Squaring this result, we can solve for H_{cm} , and find

$$H_{cm} = \sqrt{1 - \alpha^2 - e^{-2Q}}.$$
 (4.19)

This two-body magnon Hamiltonian appears to be of relativistic (Toda) type. It faithfully reproduces the magnon scattering phase shift. But it is not directly recognizable as a known integrable system. Furthermore it is not obvious how to extend it to the N-body case. First one would need to find a two-body Hamiltonian that reduces to H_{cm} in the center-of-mass. In the limit $Q \to \infty$ we have that

$$H=\varepsilon_1+\varepsilon_2=\sin\frac{p_1}{2}+\sin\frac{p_2}{2},$$

where $\varepsilon_{1,2} = \sin \frac{p_{1,2}}{2}$ are the energies of each magnon in the free theory. For only one magnon the Hamiltonian would be given by $H = \sqrt{1 - \alpha^2} = \sin \frac{p}{2}$, which means that the relation between the rapidity $\alpha < 0$ and the momentum p is $\alpha = -\cos \frac{p}{2} = \cos(\pi + \frac{p}{2})$. These results will hold in the free theory limit for each magnon. Then a good ansatz for the two-body Hamiltonian, which reproduces the correct result for the free limit, would be

$$H_2 = \sqrt{1 - \alpha_1^2 - e^{-2Q}} + \sqrt{1 - \alpha_2^2 - e^{-2Q}}, \qquad (4.20)$$

with $Q = Q_1 - Q_2$, and the momentum of each magnon is given by $\frac{p_i}{2} = \arccos(\alpha_i) - \pi$.

This construction is non-unique because we do not have the expression of the total momentum. As mentioned we also have no information on the integrability properties of this system, which is crucial to generalize our results to the dynamics of *N*-magnon solutions. For these reasons we now pursue a different strategy, based on employing the known integrable structure of the RS model, in particular its Lax matrix L. Together with the classical equivalence between sine-Gordon solitons and giant magnons there was evidence that the poles of the S-matrix of scattering magnons were related to a Calogero type system in the non-relativistic limit [147], thus making us believe that the dynamics of magnons are intimately related to the dynamics of solitons in the RS model. In fact one would hope to describe the dynamics of magnons through a Lax pair formulation whose Lax matrix would be directly related to the Lax matrix of the relativistic RS model.

The N-magnon Hamiltonian

With the motivation for using the RS integrable structure described above we now proceed to the construction of the associated magnon dynamical system. This will involve specifying both the Hamiltonian and the symplectic structure. As we have emphasized before, the energies of the sine-Gordon solitons and the magnons are inverse of each other. This result leads us to the following ansatz for the N-magnon Hamiltonian:

$$H_m = \operatorname{Tr}\left[\mathscr{L}_{rs}^{-1}\right],\tag{4.21}$$

where \mathscr{L}_{rs} is related to the Lax matrix of the RS model through (4.8). We will now study this Hamiltonian and consider the two-magnon interaction.

Recall that from (4.8)

$$\mathscr{L}_{rs} = \frac{L+L^{-1}}{2} = \frac{f(q)}{2} \left\{ e^{\varphi} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\theta} & C_{12} \\ \bar{C}_{12} & e^{-\theta} \end{pmatrix} + e^{-\varphi} \begin{pmatrix} e^{-\theta} & -C_{12} \\ -\bar{C}_{12} & e^{\theta} \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$$

The RS Hamiltonian (4.11) is just the trace of the matrix above. This matrix has the following eigenvalues:⁴

$$h_{\pm} = \frac{f(q)}{2} \left(\cosh\left(\varphi + \theta\right) + \cosh\left(\varphi - \theta\right) \right)$$
$$\pm \sqrt{\left(\cosh\left(\varphi + \theta\right) - \cosh\left(\varphi - \theta\right) \right)^2 + 4\sinh^2\varphi \left(1 - f(q)^{-2}\right)} \right).$$

Then the Hamiltonian for the 2-magnon problem (4.21) will be just

$$H_{m} = h_{+}^{-1} + h_{-}^{-1} = \frac{1}{f(q)} \frac{2\cosh\theta\cosh\phi}{\cosh^{2}\theta + f(q)^{-2}\sinh^{2}\phi}.$$

Recall that if M is a diagonalizable matrix with $\Lambda = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_N)$ the diagonal matrix of eigenvalues, then for a smooth function g(M) the trace of g(M), it will be given by

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[g\left(M\right)\right] = \operatorname{Tr}\left[g\left(\Lambda\right)\right] = \sum_{i=1}^{N} g\left(\lambda_{i}\right).$$
(4.22)

It is easy to check that in the free theory $(f(q) \equiv 1)$ we have:

$$H_m^{free} = \frac{1}{\cosh \theta_1} + \frac{1}{\cosh \theta_2} = E_{mag,1} + E_{mag,2},$$

⁴For a 2×2 matrix $M = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$, its eigenvalues are simply given by $\lambda_{\pm} = \frac{a+d}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{(a-d)^2 + 4bc}$.

which corresponds to the sum of the energy of the two magnons, as expected.

To have an ansatz for the momentum of the N-body magnon problem, we first look at the momentum for the magnons. In [26] we have that for one magnon the relation between the momenta p_m and the rapidity θ is given by $\cosh \theta = \left[\sin \frac{p_m}{2}\right]^{-1}$. But we know that for the sine-Gordon model the total momentum is $P = \sum_i p_i = \sum_i \sinh \theta_i$. Then a simple comparison allows us to conclude that the momenta for each magnon $p_{m,i}$ is related to the momenta of each soliton p_i by:

$$\sin\left(\frac{p_{m,i}}{2}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+p_i^2}}.$$
(4.23)

Thus, a good ansatz for the momenta of the magnon $P_m = \sum_i p_{m,i}$ will be

$$P_m = 2 \operatorname{Tr} \left[\arcsin \left(\mathbf{1} + \mathscr{P}_{rs}^2 \right)^{-1/2} \right], \qquad (4.24)$$

where we defined the momentum matrix for the RS model (whose trace gives the RS momenta given by (4.12)) to be $\mathscr{P}_{rs} = \frac{L-L^{-1}}{2}$. By knowing the eigenvalues of this last matrix, we can determine P_m by using the result (4.22):

$$P_m = 2\sum_{i=\pm} \arcsin\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1+p_i^2}}\right). \tag{4.25}$$

The eigenvalues of \mathcal{P}_{rs} are

$$p_{\pm} = \frac{f(q)}{2} \left\{ \sinh \theta_1 + \sinh \theta_2 \pm \sqrt{\left(\sinh \theta_1 - \sinh \theta_2\right)^2 + 4\cosh^2 \varphi \left(1 - f(q)^{-2}\right)} \right\}$$

The magnon momentum will then be given by

$$\sin rac{P_m}{2} = rac{p_+ + p_-}{\sqrt{1 + p_+^2}\sqrt{1 + p_-^2}}.$$

In the limit of the free theory $f(q) \to 1$, we find the expected relation $P_m^{free} = p_1^m + p_2^m$, i.e. the magnon momentum is the sum of the momenta for each magnon.

Note that because all integrals of motion H_k Poisson commute with each other, so will

 H_m and P_m :

$$\{H_m, P_m\} = 0$$

The center of mass condition is given by

$$P_m = 0 \Rightarrow \sin \frac{P_m}{2} = 0 \Rightarrow \theta_1 + \theta_2 = 0.$$

In the center of mass, the Hamiltonian is simply

$$H_m = \frac{1}{f(q)} (\operatorname{sech} \theta_1 + \operatorname{sech} \theta_2) = \frac{2}{f(q)} \operatorname{sech} \theta,$$

with f(q) the same as before.

A method for checking our ansatz is to determine the classical and semiclassical behaviors of our system, such as the time delay and phase shift for this two-body problem of scattering magnons, and compare them to the known results [26].

We start from the center-of-mass Hamiltonian determined above, and determine the classical equations of motion and time delay. But to do so, we need to choose a Poisson structure. Let us assume that the Poisson structure is the symplectic one. Then the equation of motion for q is just

$$\dot{q} \equiv \frac{\partial H}{\partial \theta} = -H_m \tanh \theta = H_m \sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{4} f(q)^2 H_m^2},$$

The Hamiltonian is a conserved quantity, $H_m \equiv E$ and can be evaluated when $q \to \infty$, giving $E = \operatorname{sech} \hat{\theta}$, where $\hat{\theta}$ is the asymptotic rapidity. We find the time delay in this case to be

$$\Delta T_m = \int \frac{dq}{\dot{q}} = \cosh^2 \hat{\theta} \Delta T_{RS}.$$

But this time delay is not correct, nor does it reproduce the right phase shift.

The phase shift is determined by WKB semiclassical methods to be given by the symplectic structure $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ (the inverse of the Poisson structure). In phase space variables (x_i, p_i) we have:

$$\delta(E) \equiv \int p_i \,\omega_{ij} dx_j. \tag{4.26}$$

For the results in this section we have used a canonical Poisson brackets (the standard symplectic structure $\{p_i, x_j\} = \delta_{ij}$), so the phase shift is simply $\delta(E) = \int \theta \, dq$. By solving $H_m \equiv \frac{2}{f(q)} \operatorname{sech} \theta = E$, with respect to the rapidity, $\theta = \cosh^{-1}\left(\frac{2}{f(q)E}\right)$, we can determine the semiclassical phase shift to be

$$\delta(E) = \int \cosh^{-1}\left(\frac{2}{f(q)E}\right) dq. = \int dE \,\Delta T_m.$$

We find that even though our ansatz correctly reproduces the energies and momenta of the magnon system, it does not give the expected classical behaviour (time delay or equations of motion) nor the semiclassical phase shift. But in these calculations we have assumed the usual canonical Poisson brackets, which is equivalent to having a canonical symplectic form for q and p and which resulted in the usual form of the Hamilton-Jacobi equations, namely $\dot{q} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p}$ and $\dot{p} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial p}$. One can trace the difference in phase shifts to the different Poisson structures in the two cases. The semiclassical phase shift can be related to the symplectic form $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ (the inverse of the Poisson structure) as follows :

$$\boldsymbol{\delta} = \int p_i \boldsymbol{\omega}_{ij} dq_j = \int p_i \boldsymbol{\omega}_{ij} \dot{q}_j dt \,.$$

For the trivial symplectic structure, $\omega \equiv \text{Id}$, and the phase shift has the usual form. But a non-trivial symplectic form is required for reproducing the correct phase shifts and for defining the full magnon N-body dynamics. This we will identify in the next section.

4.4 Poisson Structure for the N-Magnon Dynamics

We have identified above the N-body Hamiltonian for magnons as one member of the RS hierarchy. We have also understood that a new modified Poisson (and symplectic) structure is needed in order to obtain both the correct equations of motion and the correct magnon phase shift. In the present section we will be able to specify the modified symplectic structure in an approximation of well separated magnons. This approximation which we take just for the purpose of simplifying the problem involves a limit of the RS model when the solitons are

far away from each other, called the Toda lattice. The relativistic Toda lattice was introduced in [163] as a relativistic version of the regular Toda lattice [167, 168, 169]. In these models the study of master symmetries [170, 171, 172] and of recursion relations [173, 174, 164] led to the discovery of a sequence of Hamiltonian/Poisson structures that return the same classical equations of motion, result of the existence of a bi-Hamiltonian system [162].

As seen in [163] we obtain the simpler model of relativistic Toda Lattice from the original Ruijsenaars-Schneider model (4.11) by considering that the particles are very far from each other $q_{i-1} \ll q_i$.⁵ This allows us to keep only the nearest neighbour interactions and these interactions become exponential $f(q) = \sqrt{1+g^2e^q}$. Note that we are studying the nonperiodic Toda lattice, for which $q_0 = -\infty$ and $q_{N+1} = \infty$.

The Hamiltonian for the relativistic Toda lattice is given by

$$H = \sum_{i=1}^{N} e^{\theta_i} V_i(q_1, ..., q_N).$$
(4.27)

But now the interaction potential is given by nearest neighbour interactions only

$$V_i(q_1,...,q_N) = f(q_{i-1}-q_i)f(q_i-q_{i+1}), \quad i=1,...N.$$
(4.28)

Also, the symplectic form remains

$$\omega = \sum_{i=1}^N dq_i \wedge d heta_i$$

This system is integrable and has a Lax matrix formulation, inherited from the RS model (up to some similarity transformation) [163, 174, 164, 175, 176]. To write the Lax matrix we introduce the following change of variables

$$a_{j} = g^{2} e^{q_{j} - q_{j+1} + \theta_{j}} \frac{f(q_{j-1} - q_{j})}{f(q_{j} - q_{j+1})} \quad ; \quad b_{j} = e^{\theta_{j}} \frac{f(q_{j-1} - q_{j})}{f(q_{j} - q_{j+1})}, \quad j = 1, ..., N.$$

⁵In fact Ruijsenaars introduced the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ of the variables

$$q_j^{\varepsilon} \to q_j - 2j \ln \varepsilon, \quad j = 1, \cdots, N.$$

Note that $a_0 = a_N = 0$. The Lax matrix is then given by

$$L = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 + b_1 & a_1 & & \\ a_2 + b_2 & a_2 + b_2 & a_2 & 0 & \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \\ a_{N-1} + b_{N-1} & a_{N-1} + b_{N-1} & \cdots & a_{N-1} + b_{N-1} & a_{N-1} \\ b_N & b_N & \cdots & b_N & b_N \end{pmatrix}$$

The Hamiltonian $H_1(q, p)$ given in (4.27) can be written in the new variables:

$$h_1 = \text{Tr}L = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} a_i + \sum_{i=1}^{N} b_i, \qquad (4.29)$$

The equations of motion in the (q, θ) co-ordinates are given by

$$\dot{q}_j = e^{ heta_j} V_j \quad ; \quad \dot{ heta}_j = -\sum_k e^{ heta_k} \frac{\partial V_k}{\partial q_j},$$

which can be obtained from the Hamiltonian (4.27) by using the symplectic Poisson bracket J_0 , defined by $\{q_i, p_j\} = \delta_{ij}$. In the (a, b) variables, the symplectic Poisson bracket J_0 becomes a quadratic Poisson bracket π_2 :

$$\{a_i, a_{i+1}\} = -a_i a_{i+1}, \quad \{a_i, b_i\} = a_i b_i, \quad \{a_i, b_{i+1}\} = -a_i b_{i+1}.$$

$$(4.30)$$

From this Poisson bracket and the Hamiltonian (4.29) one obtains the equations of motion in the (a,b) co-ordinates

$$\dot{a}_j = a_j (b_j - b_{j+1} + a_{j-1} - a_{j+1}) \quad ; \quad \dot{b}_j = b_j (a_{j-1} - a_j).$$

$$(4.31)$$

The Toda lattice is an integrable model. It also has a bi-Hamiltonian structure. Before continuing, let us summarize the properties of this structure..

Bi-Hamiltonian structure of Relativistic Toda Lattice

We now quickly summarize the properties of the bi-Hamiltonian structure of the relativistic Toda lattice, based on [174,164,175,176]. The relativistic Toda lattice is an integrable model, and has a sequence of conserved quantities

$$h_n = \frac{1}{n} \mathrm{Tr}\left(L^n\right)$$

To this sequence we have a corresponding set of Hamiltonian vector fields $\chi_1, ..., \chi_n$, with $\chi_i = [\pi, h_i]$, where π is some Poisson structure and [,] is the Schouten bracket (Lie bracket). Also, we have a hierarchy of Poisson 2-tensors $\pi_1, ..., \pi_n$ (which are polynomial homogeneous of degree n), and a sequence of master symmetries $X_1, ..., X_n$, which obey the following properties (more information on the properties of these entities can be found in [176] and references therein):

1. the π_n tensors are all Poisson structures. The corresponding Poisson brackets are given by

$$\{f,g\} = \sum_{i,j} \pi^{ij} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^i} \wedge \frac{\partial g}{\partial x^j}, f,g \in C^{\infty}.$$

Note that π^{ij} are the matrix elements of the matrix π_n corresponding to this 2tensor, and $\bar{x} = (x^1, ..., x^M)$ are the co-ordinates of the Hilbert space, in our case $(a_1, ..., a_{N-1}, b_1, ..., b_N)$;

- 2. functions h_n are in involution with all π_m ;
- 3. $X_n(h_m) = (n+m)h_{m+n};$
- 4. $\mathscr{L}_{X_n}(\pi_m) \equiv [X_n, \pi_m] = (m n 2) \pi_{n+m}$, where \mathscr{L}_X in the Lie derivative in the direction of the vector X;
- 5. $[X_n, X_m] = (m n) X_{n+m};$
- 6.

$$\pi_n \nabla h_m = \pi_{n-1} \nabla h_{m+1}, \tag{4.32}$$

where π_n now denotes the Poisson matrix of the tensor π_n , and $\nabla = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^1}, \dots, \frac{\partial}{x^M}\right)$.

It is known that once our system is bi-Hamiltonian [162], which means that we can identify two Hamiltonian functions h_1, h_2 and two compatible Poisson tensors π_1, π_2 satisfying

$$\pi_1 \nabla h_2 = \pi_2 \nabla h_1,$$

then we can find the whole hierarchy stated above, and the equations of motion are just given by

$$\frac{d\overline{x}}{dt} = \pi_1 \nabla h_2 = \pi_2 \nabla h_1 = \pi_0 \nabla h_3 = \cdots .$$
(4.33)

All of these properties are valid for m, n > 0 but can be seen to generalize to negative values as well.

In the case one of the Poisson brackets is symplectic, one can find a recursion operator which can then be applied to the initial symplectic bracket to determine the hierarchy [173, 164]. In our case, we will see that in the (a,b) co-ordinates the Poisson brackets are not symplectic (not even non-degenerate, as we don't have the same number of a's and b's) and it is non-trivial to find an extra Poisson bracket in the (p,q) co-ordinates apart from the symplectic one, in order to form a bi-Hamiltonian system [175]. The construction of another Poisson bracket in the (p,q) variables, compatible with the symplectic one was done in [177], and has a structure highly non-trivial (not a polynomial dependence on the (p,q) variables).

Construction of the hierarchy of Poisson brackets

In order to construct this bi-Hamiltonian structure one needs to identify two Hamiltonian functions h_1, h_2 and two compatible Poisson tensors π_1, π_2 satisfying the same equations of motion, i.e. if $\nabla = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^1}, \dots, \frac{\partial}{x^M}\right)$ where x^i are our phase space co-ordinates, then

$$\frac{d\overline{x}}{dt} = \pi_1 \nabla h_2 = \pi_2 \nabla h_1 \,. \tag{4.34}$$

We already have the Hamiltonian function $h_1 = \text{Tr}L$ (4.29), and the corresponding quadratic Poisson bracket π_2 (4.30) such that $\pi_2 \nabla h_1$ gives the equations of motion (4.31) [174, 164]. A compatible linear Poisson bracket π_1 was found in [178] such that

$$\{a_i, b_i\} = a_i; \quad \{a_i, b_{i+1}\} = -a_i; \quad \{b_i, b_{i+1}\} = a_i;$$

which together with the Hamiltonian $h_2 = \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr} (L^2)$ also gives the equations of motion (4.31). These two pairs make a bi-Hamiltonian system with equations of motion given by (4.34). If we now construct the master symmetries that obey the properties shown in Section 4.4 [164, 176], it becomes possible to construct the hierarchy of Poisson brackets with the same equations of motion:⁶

$$\cdots = \pi_0 \nabla h_3 = \pi_1 \nabla h_2 = \pi_2 \nabla h_1 = \pi_2 \nabla h_{-1} = \cdots$$

Our final objective is to make an analogy with the system of N magnons. Recalling the RS Lax matrix \mathscr{L}_{rs} , the sine-Gordon model corresponds to the Hamiltonian $H \propto \operatorname{Tr} \mathscr{L}_{rs}$ with the canonical Poisson brackets, while the system of magnons was conjectured to correspond its "inverse" $H_m \propto \operatorname{Tr} \mathscr{L}_{rs}^{-1}$, with some other Poisson structure. In the limit we are considering (relativistic Toda), we have

$$H_{sg} \propto \operatorname{Tr} \mathscr{L}_{rs} \to h_1 \quad ; \quad H_{mag} \propto \operatorname{Tr} \mathscr{L}_{rs}^{-1} \to h_{-1}.$$

So, having started from the Hamiltonian $h_1 = \text{Tr}L$, with a quadratic Poisson bracket π_2 , we want to find the Poisson bracket corresponding to $h_{-1} = -\text{Tr}(L^{-1})$ that gives origin to the equations of motion (4.31), i.e.

$$\pi_2 \nabla h_1 = \pi_m \nabla h_{-1}.$$

To do so, we will restrict ourselves to N = 2.

$$h_0 = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \operatorname{Tr} \left(L^{\varepsilon} \right) \sim \operatorname{Tr} \left(\ln L \right).$$

⁶The Hamiltonian function h_0 is singular, reason why that point is skipped from the sequence. h_0 can only be defined as a limit

But to continue the sequence after this point, one can just do power counting, followed by a direct verification of the equations of motion.

$$L = \left(\begin{array}{cc} a_1 + b_1 & a_1 \\ b_2 & b_2 \end{array}\right),$$

the Hamiltonian functions are given by

$$h_1 = \operatorname{Tr} L = a_1 + b_1 + b_2;$$

$$h_2 = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} L^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(a_1^2 + 2a_1b_1 + 2a_1b_2 + b_1^2 + b_2^2 \right),$$

and the corresponding Poisson bracket matrices are

$$\pi_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a_1 & -a_1 \\ -a_1 & 0 & a_1 \\ a_1 & -a_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} ; \quad \pi_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a_1b_1 & -a_1b_2 \\ -a_1b_1 & 0 & 0 \\ a_1b_2 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The equations of motion obtained from this bi-Hamiltonian system is

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ \dot{b_1} \\ \dot{b_2} \end{pmatrix} = \pi_1 \nabla h_2 = \pi_2 \nabla h_1 = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 (b_1 - b_2) \\ -a_1 b_1 \\ a_1 b_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

•

The objective is to determine which π_m gives origin to the previous equations of motion with Hamiltonian function

$$h_{-1} = -\text{Tr}L^{-1} = -\frac{1}{b_1b_2}(a_1+b_1+b_2).$$

We want to construct the next Poisson brackets given the master symmetries. The master symmetries X_1 and X_2 were determined in [176], such that: $X_1(h_n) = (n+1)h_{n+1}$ and $X_2(h_n) =$

 $(n+2)h_{n+2}$. These are given by

$$X_{1,2} = r_{1,2}^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial a_1} + s_{1,2}^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial b_1} + s_{1,2}^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial b_2},$$

with $r_1^1 = a_1^2 + 3a_1b_2; r_2^1 = a_1 \left(a_1^2 + 5a_1b_1 + 4b_1^2 + 2b_1b_2 - b_2^2\right);$
 $s_1^1 = b_1^2 + 2a_1b_1; s_2^1 = b_1 \left(-2a_1^2 - a_1b_1 - 2a_1b_2 + b_1^2\right);$
 $s_1^2 = b_2^2 - a_1b_2 \quad ; s_2^2 = b_2 \left(2a_1^2 + 3a_1b_1 + 4a_1b_2 + b_2^2\right).$

Then the next Poisson Brackets are given by property 4 (recall that the Poisson matrices are anti-symmetric):⁷

$$\pi_3 = -\mathscr{L}_{X_1}\pi_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a_1b_1(a_1+b_1) & -a_1b_2(a_1+b_2) \\ & 0 & -a_1b_1b_2 \\ & & 0 \end{pmatrix};$$

$$\pi_4 = -\frac{1}{2}\mathscr{L}_{X_2}\pi_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a_1b_1((a_1+b_1)^2+a_1b_2) & -a_1b_2(a_1(a_1+b_1)+2a_1b_2+b_2^2) \\ 0 & -a_1b_1b_2(a_1+b_1+b_2) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

With these results we can easily see that $\pi_3 \nabla h_{-1}$ does not give the right equations of motion, but $\pi_4 \nabla h_{-1}$ does. So the Hamiltonian h_{-1} with Poisson bracket π_4 will give the same classical behavior than the Hamiltonian h_1 with Poisson bracket π_2 . The hierarchy is given by (the point π_3, h_0 is not defined)

$$\cdots = \pi_0 \nabla h_3 = \pi_1 \nabla h_2 = \pi_2 \nabla h_1 = \pi_4 \nabla h_{-1} = \cdots$$

All of these pairs generate the same equations of motion and time delay. In particular, the Hamiltonian h_{-1} with (quartic) Poisson bracket π_4 will give the same classical behavior

⁷To determine the Lie derivative of the 2-tensor π^{ij} , we use the rule for a general tensor

$$\mathscr{L}_{X}T^{a_{1}\dots a_{r}}_{b_{1}\dots b_{s}} = X^{c}\nabla_{c}T^{a_{1}\dots a_{r}}_{b_{1}\dots b_{s}} - \nabla_{c}X^{a_{1}}T^{c\dots a_{r}}_{b_{1}\dots b_{s}} - \cdots - \nabla_{c}X^{a_{r}}T^{a_{1}\dots c}_{b_{1}\dots b_{s}} + \nabla_{b_{1}}X^{c}T^{a_{1}\dots a_{r}}_{c\dots b_{s}} + \cdots + \nabla_{b_{s}}X^{c}T^{a_{1}\dots a_{r}}_{b_{1}\dots c}.$$

than the Hamiltonian h_1 with Poisson bracket π_2 . Since we have found that (in the limit of well separated magnons) the Hamiltonian reduces to

$$H_{mag} = \mathrm{Tr}\mathscr{L}_{rs}^{-1} \to h_{-1},$$

it will reproduce the correct equations of motion (the same as the limiting case of sine-Gordon solitons) as long as we use the quartic Poisson structure π_4 defined above.

For a non degenerate Poisson structure, the phase shift is given by the corresponding symplectic form (the inverse of the Poisson tensor). The usual symplectic form is replaced with the following

$$\int p_i \dot{q}_i \to \int p_i \left(\pi^{-1} \right)_{ij} \dot{q}_j$$

(for a degenerate Poisson structure one has to check this more carefully). Consequently, if two different systems have the same equations of motion, the different Poisson Structures give origin to different phase shift.

4.5 Summary of results

In this chapter, we considered the question of an *N*-particle dynamics that would fully describe interacting magnons at the semiclassical level. For this we have specified the interacting Hamiltonian as a member of the RS hierarchy. This Hamiltonian had the property that it reproduces energies of magnons. We argued that an alternative symplectic form is needed in order to obtain the correct magnon phase shifts. We have considered the question of the modified symplectic form explicitly for the case of well separated magnons. In this limit one had the results of relativistic Toda theory where a sequence of symplectic forms was already established in the literature.

Altogether the new Hamiltonian and the modified symplectic form are defined so to reproduce correctly the original classical equations of motion and therefore the time delay. Regarding future interesting problems we mention the following. We have succeeded in establishing the necessary symplectic form in the limit of well separated magnons. For establishing an exact result one will have to give the multi-Poisson structure for the RS model itself. It is likely that this is definitely possible, although technically (and possibly conceptually) challenging. But one can definitely expect that a sequence of symplectic structures always follows for an integrable system. Generalization of the present construction to magnons moving on higher spheres [94] is also a challenging task. One would also want to define the dynamics in the periodic case appropriate for string motions with finite J [98].

CHAPTER 5

Algebraic curve formalism for strings in $AdS_5 \times S^5$

In the previous chapters we discussed some classical string solutions and comparison to their counterparts in the gauge theory, but we are far from having a full spectrum of solutions. Nevertheless, even if we don't know explicit form of the solutions, we can use the (classical) integrability of the string σ -model in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ to find a classification of the energy spectrum of classical strings. The first step towards this classification was done in [29] for bosonic string in $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$, where a correspondence was seen to exist between classical string solutions and hyperelliptic curves. From this algebraic formalism one could determine all of the conserved charges corresponding to each solution. So the problem of determining the set of classical string solutions becomes a problem of finding the moduli space of admissible curves.

The algebraic curve formalism is constructed from the classical string σ -model using the Lax connection, composed by a family of flat connections on the two-dimensional worldsheet, thus highlighting the importance of integrability in this formalism. In fact, for σ -models on group manifolds and coset spaces such a connection is known, and an infinite set of conserved charges [127,49,179,180,181] can be constructed, characteristic of integrable models. The search for the moduli space of curves that correspond to classical string solutions then becomes the issue of finding solutions to a spectral problem in terms of algebraic curves, which can in its turn be formulated as Riemann-Hilbert problem. This is done by representing the algebraic curves as Riemann sheets connected by branch cuts.

correspond to fundamental particles, and are represented by contour integrals and densities on the complex plane. The quest of finding admissible curves is then summarized by some integral equations. These integral equations seem to describe a factorizable scattering problem, again pointing out the importance of integrability.

Solutions to the problem of finding curves corresponding to classical strings have been found in several (bosonic) subsectors of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ [30, 31, 32, 33], and the full spectrum of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstrings has been studied in [34] (at the classical level) and in [35] (quantum generalization).

In the gauge theory dual to strings in $AdS_5 \times S^5$, the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory, integrability allowed to determine a Bethe ansatz and to show an equivalence to quantum spin chains [20]. This Bethe ansatz gives a set of algebraic equations, whose solutions have a one-to-one correspondence with the eigenstates of the dilatation operator of the gauge theory [21, 23, 22]. These algebraic equations become integral in a particular limit [25, 91] and very similar to the integral equation obtained from the string side. A Bethe ansatz for quantum strings was first proposed in [36], and further studied in [37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42], including comparisons to the Bethe ansatz equations from the gauge side.

Knowing the structure of the string algebraic curve and corresponding Bethe ansatz is an essential step in the effort of better understanding the correspondence between gauge and string theories. This chapter will be mainly a summary on the string Bethe ansatz and algebraic curve formalism for the string σ -model on $AdS_5 \times S^5$, and most of the results included in here can be found in [29, 31, 34]. A brief application of this formalism for the case of giant magnons is also discussed.

5.1 The sigma model of $\mathbb{R} \times S^{m-1}$

We start from the 2-dimensional σ -model on $\mathbb{R} \times S^{m-1}$ in conformal gauge (with Virasoro constraints) - classically equivalent to the truncation of the type IIB superstring in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ for m = 6. Consider, as before, the embedding co-ordinates $\vec{X} = (X_i)$, $i = 1, \dots, m$ of S^{m-1} , such that $\vec{X}^2 = 1$, plus the time co-ordinate X_0 . If $G_{\mu\nu}$ is the metric in $\mathbb{R} \times S^{m-1}$, and defining

 $X^{\mu} = (X^0, X_i)$, then the classical action of the bosonic string is given by

$$S = -rac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi}\int d\sigma d au \left(G_{\mu
u}\partial_a X^\mu\partial^a X^
u + \Lambda(ec X^2-1)
ight).$$

Recall that in conformal gauge, the string obeys the following equations of motion and Virasoro constraints

$$\partial_{+}\partial_{-}\vec{X} + \left(\partial_{+}\vec{X}\cdot\partial_{-}\vec{X}\right)\vec{X} = 0; \qquad (5.1)$$

$$\partial_{+}\partial_{-}X^{0} = 0; \qquad (\delta_{\pm}\vec{X})^{2} = (\partial_{\pm}X_{0})^{2},$$

where now $\sigma_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} (\tau \pm \sigma)$ and $\partial_{\pm} = \partial_{\tau} \pm \partial_{\sigma}$.¹ We further fix the residual gauge freedom to be "time-like", that is

$$X_0(\tau,\sigma)=\kappa\tau$$

This system of equations can be equivalently represented by a system of orthogonal/chiral fields. Define the matrices h_v (vector representation of $\mathfrak{so}(m)$) and h_s (spinor representation), such as

$$h_v = 1 - 2\vec{X}\vec{X}^T$$
, $h_s = \vec{\gamma}\cdot\vec{X}$,

where γ_i is a basis of the Clifford algebra of $SO(m) \sim S^{m-1}$. The matrix h_v describes a reflection along the direction of \vec{X} , being an orthogonal, symmetric matrix, which obeys $\det h_v = -1$ and $h_v^{-1} = h_v^T = h_v$. On the other hand h_s can be seen as the spinor equivalent of h_v .

In the vector representation, we can construct two currents, left j_v and right ℓ_v , which are elements of $\mathfrak{so}(m)$ in the vector representation. They are given by

$$j_v \equiv h_v^{-1} dh_v$$
, $\ell_v \equiv -dh_v h_v^{-1}$.

¹We will keep this choice of conventions throughout this chapter, in order to limit the use of \pm in later expressions. Also in this chapter x will be the spectral parameter. It is simple to go from this to the conventions used in other chapters, where we chose $\sigma_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} (\sigma \pm \tau)$, it is enough in most places to change the sign of the $(\cdots)_{-}$ terms.

Because of the properties of the matrix h_v these two currents coincide and obey

$$j_{\nu} = \ell_{\nu} = 2\left(\vec{X}d\vec{X}^T - d\vec{X}\vec{X}^T\right),\tag{5.2}$$

or in components $(j_v)_{a,ij} = (\ell_v)_{a,ij} = 2(X_i\partial_a X_j - X_j\partial_a X_i)$. These currents are flat:

$$dj_v + j_v \wedge j_v = 0.$$

The Lagrangian of the sphere part of the σ -model can be re-written in terms of these currents as

$$S = -rac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi}\int d\sigma d au \operatorname{Tr}\left(j_{
u}\wedge *j_{
u}
ight).$$

Invariance of this Lagrangian under right shifts h_v is associated with the current j_v being conserved

$$d(*j_v) = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \partial_a j_v^a = 0.$$

This conservation equation together with the flatness condition is equivalent to the equations of motion of the σ -model (5.1). One can also find equivalent currents in the spinor representation, $j_s = \ell_s$, starting from shifts produced by h_s .

From the flat, conserved current j (j can be either j_v or j_s), we can construct a family of flat currents parametrized by a spectral parameter x, called the Lax connection:

$$a(x) = \frac{1}{1 - x^2}j + \frac{x}{1 - x^2} * j,$$

and a Lax pair from the operator d + a(x):²

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{L}(\mathbf{x}) &= \partial_{\sigma} + a_{\sigma}\left(\mathbf{x}\right) = \partial_{\sigma} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{j_{+}}{1-x} - \frac{j_{-}}{1+x}\right), \\ \mathscr{M}(\mathbf{x}) &= \partial_{\tau} + a_{\tau}\left(\mathbf{x}\right) = \partial_{\tau} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{j_{+}}{1-x} + \frac{j_{-}}{1+x}\right). \end{split}$$

Current conservation and flatness conditions are now given by $da + a \wedge a = 0$ in terms of a(x)(that is, a(x) is flat for all values of x), and $[\mathscr{L}, \mathscr{M}] = 0$ in terms of the Lax pair operators.

²Note that j (and a(x)) is a 1-form in the worldsheet, so $*(j_{\tau}, j_{\sigma}) = (j_{\sigma}, j_{\tau})$, and $j_{\pm} = j_{\tau} \pm j_{\sigma}$.

We continue next by calculating the monodromy matrix of the operator d + a around the closed string, which corresponds to the Wilson line along a (closed) curve γ that winds once around the string (starts and ends at point (τ, σ)):³

$$\Omega(x,\tau,\sigma) = P \exp \int_{\gamma} (-a(x)).$$

Because a(x) is flat, Ω is independent of the path γ . Then choosing the path $\tau = 0, \sigma \in [0, 2\pi]$, the monodromy Ω only depends on the point $\gamma(0) = \gamma(2\pi)$, where the path is cut open. A shift on $\gamma(0)$ leads to a similarity transformation $(d\Omega + [a, \Omega] = 0)$. A change in the points of the path cannot be physical, so only the conjugacy class of the monodromy matrix will be physical. In particular, only its eigenvalues are invariant under this similarity transformation and thus physical. The monodromy with this particular path can be written as

$$\Omega(x) = P \exp \int_0^{2\pi} d\sigma \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{j_+}{x-1} + \frac{j_-}{x+1} \right).$$

Vector representation If $j = j_v$, and noticing that $j_v^T = -j_v$, then Ω_v is complex (because x is complex) orthogonal $\Omega \in SO(m, \mathbb{C})$ and can be diagonalized as

$$\Omega_{\nu}(x) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{diag}\left(e^{iq_{1}(x)}, e^{-iq_{1}(x)}, \cdots, e^{iq_{[m/2]}(x)}, e^{-iq_{[m/2]}(x)}\right) & m \text{ even} \\ \operatorname{diag}\left(e^{iq_{1}(x)}, e^{-iq_{1}(x)}, \cdots, e^{iq_{[m/2]}(x)}, e^{-iq_{[m/2]}(x)}, 1\right) & m \text{ odd} \end{cases}$$

These $q_i(x)$, i = 1, ...[m/2] are the quasi-momenta, which are the physical quantities (apart from possible permutations).

Spinor representation In the spinor representation $j = j_s$, the monodromy matrix has a diagonalized form such as

$$\Omega_s = \operatorname{diag}\left(\exp\left(\pm \frac{i}{2}q_1 \pm \frac{i}{2}q_2 \pm \cdots \pm \frac{i}{2}q_{[m/2]}\right)\right),$$

 $^{^{3}\}mathrm{P}$ in the monodromy matrix is the path ordering operator.

with all possible combinations of signs included $(2^{[m/2]} \text{ possibilities})$. In the case *m* is even, SO(*m*) has a chiral representation, and Ω_s can be decomposed in its chiral/anti-chiral parts Ω_s^{\pm} :

$$\Omega_s = \left(egin{array}{cc} \Omega_s^+ & 0 \ 0 & \Omega_s^- \end{array}
ight),$$

where in Ω_s^+ we only allow an even number of plus signs, and in Ω_s^- we have odd numbers of plus signs in front of the eigenvalues. We then redefine $\Omega_s^+ = \text{diag}\left(e^{ip_1}, \cdots, e^{ip_{2^m/2^{-1}}}\right)$.

Properties of the monodromy matrix

The monodromy matrix is analytic on x except at $x = \pm 1$, but its eigenvalues $q_i(x)$ present some more singularities. Assume that there is a point x_a^* at which two eigenvalues e^{iq_k} and e^{iq_l} degenerate. The restriction of $\Omega(x)$ to the subspace of these two eigenvalues then has the form

$$\Gamma = \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array}\right).$$

One can calculate the eigenvalues of this sub-matrix to be

$$\gamma_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \left(a + d \pm \sqrt{(a-d)^2 + 4bc} \right).$$

The parameters a, b, c, d depend analytically on x. We define

$$f(x) = (\gamma_{+} - \gamma_{-})^{2} = (a - d)^{2} + 4bc = (\text{Tr}\Gamma)^{2} - 2\text{Tr}\Gamma^{2},$$

which vanishes at $x = x_a^*$, that is $f(x^*) = 0$. But its derivative need not be zero, $f'(x_a^*) \neq 0$. This implies that we can expand the square root above close to x_a^* and obtain $f(x) = f'(x_a^*)(x - x_a^*) + \mathcal{O}\left((x - x_a^*)^2\right)$, and the corresponding expansion for the quasi-momenta

$$e^{iq_{k,l}(x)} = e^{iq_k(x_a^*)} \left(1 \pm \alpha_a \sqrt{x - x_a^*} + \mathcal{O}\left(x - x_a^*\right)\right),$$

for some coefficient α_a , or

$$iq_{k,l}(x) = iq_{k,l}(x_a^*) \pm \alpha_a \sqrt{x - x_a^*} + \mathcal{O}(x - x_a^*).$$

A full circle around one of these square root singularities will result in an interchange of the two eigenvalues associated with the singularity: we introduce branch cuts C_a which connect the square root singularities. The function $q_k(x)$ is therefore analytic except at $\{\pm 1, C_a\}$.⁴ Recalling that the q_k 's are only defined modulo 2π , that is, at the cuts the q'_k s can be permuted and shifted by multiples of 2π . Defining the principal part of $q_k(x)$ to be

$$q_{k}(x) = \frac{1}{2}q_{k}(x+i\varepsilon) + \frac{1}{2}q_{k}(x-i\varepsilon),$$

then at the cuts \mathscr{C}_a where the eigenvalues q_k and q_l are permuted, we have:

$$\mathbf{q}_k(x) \neq \mathbf{q}_l(x) = 2\pi n_a, \text{ for } x \in \mathscr{C}_a.$$

 n_a is the mode number of \mathscr{C}_a . Without loss of generality, one can restrict the possible permutations to the permutations between q_k and q_{k+1} such that⁵

$$q_k(x) - q_{k+1}(x) = 2\pi n_{k,a}, \quad x \in \mathcal{C}_{k,a}.$$
(5.3)

The next step is to study the asymptotic behaviour of the monodromy matrix at $x \to \infty$, as well as its behaviour at the singularities $x = \pm 1$.

⁴Note that for the bosonic superstring [34], one uses another parameter $z^2 = \frac{x-1}{x+1}$, which has singularities at $\{0,\infty\}$ when $x \to \pm 1$. Other relations include $x \mapsto 1/x$ equivalent to $z \mapsto iz$ and $\frac{dx}{1-1/x^2} = \frac{dz}{z}$.

⁵This condition is complemented with, for *m* even $\oint_{[m/2]-1}(x) + \oint_{[m/2]}(x) = 2\pi n_{[m/2],a}$ and for *m* odd, $2\oint_{[m/2]}(x) = 2\pi n_{[m/2],a}$.

Asymptotic behaviour at $x \to \infty$

Expanding the connection a(x) at infinity gives $a(x) = -\frac{1}{x} * j + \mathcal{O}(1/x^2)$. The monodromy matrix then becomes

$$\Omega(x) = P \exp\{\frac{1}{x} \int_0^{2\pi} d\sigma j_\tau + \mathcal{O}\left(1/x^2\right)\} = 1 + \frac{1}{x} \int_0^{2\pi} d\sigma j_\tau + \mathcal{O}\left(1/x^2\right)$$

We can see from the result above that the asymptotic behaviour of the monodromy matrix is directly related to a conserved charge of the σ -model

$$J=\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi}\int_0^{2\pi}d\sigma j_{\tau},$$

being its first order in the expansion in 1/x:

$$\Omega(x) = 1 + \frac{1}{x} \frac{4\pi J}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \mathcal{O}(1/x^2).$$

In the vector representation $J=J_{\nu}$ has eigenvalues

$$J_{\nu} \simeq egin{cases} \mathrm{diag}\left(iJ_{1},-iJ_{1},\cdots,iJ_{[m/2]},-iJ_{[m/2]}
ight) & m ext{ even} \ \mathrm{diag}\left(iJ_{1},-iJ_{1},\cdots,iJ_{[m/2]},-iJ_{[m/2]},0
ight) & m ext{ odd} \end{cases}$$

.

These eigenvalues are directly related to the Dynkin labels of SO(m), $[s_1, s_2, \cdots]$ by

$$J_k = \sum_{j=k}^{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor} s_j - \frac{1}{2} \left(s_{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor - 1} + s_{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor} \right)$$

for m even, and

$$J_k = \sum_{j=k}^{[m/2]} s_j - \frac{1}{2} s_{[m/2]}$$

for *m* odd. Finally we can also write the asymptotic behaviour of the eigenvalues of the monodromy matrix, q_k 's. The diagonalization matrix of Ω should also diagonalize *J* for

large x, and consequently

$$q_k(x) = \frac{1}{i} \ln\left(1 + \frac{i}{x} \frac{4\pi J_k}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \mathscr{O}\left(1/x^2\right)\right) \approx \frac{1}{x} \frac{4\pi J_k}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \mathscr{O}\left(1/x^2\right).$$
(5.4)

To obtain this last result, we fixed the branch of the logarithms so that all q_k 's vanished at $x = \infty$.

Asymptotic behaviour at singularities $x = \pm 1$

In [31] there is an argument for why it is enough to integrate the eigenvalues of $j_{\nu,\pm}$ for determining the leading singular behaviour of the eigenvalues of Ω_{ν} . The argument goes as follows. Suppose that have matrices $u_{\pm}(\sigma)$ which diagonalize the currents j_{\pm} for all σ at points $x = \pm 1$. That is

$$j_{\pm}^{\mathrm{diag}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) = u_{\pm}j_{\pm}u_{\pm}^{-1}$$

Also one considers an analytic continuation of $u_{\pm}(\sigma)$ to $u_{\pm}(\sigma, x) = u_{\pm}(\sigma) + \mathcal{O}(x \mp 1)$. We can expand $u_{\pm}(x, \sigma) = \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} (x \mp 1)^r u_{\pm,r}(\sigma)$, as well as $\mathscr{L}(x) = \partial_{\sigma} + a_{\sigma}(x, \sigma)$ at the points $x = \pm 1$. Let us focus on the case x = 1. Then we want that each term in $u_{+} = \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} (x-1)^r u_{+,r}(\sigma)$ diagonalizes the corresponding term in $\mathscr{L}(x)$.

The expansion of $a_{\sigma}(x)$ at x = 1 is given by

$$a_{\sigma}(x) = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{j_{+}}{x-1} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} (x-1)^{r} j_{-,r}$$

Thus we can assume the same behaviour of $\tilde{a}(x)$, defined at the singularity x = 1 by

$$\partial_{\sigma} + \tilde{a}(x) = u_{+}(\partial_{\sigma} + a_{\sigma})u_{+}^{-1}$$

= $u_{+}\partial_{\sigma}u_{+}^{-1} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{x-1}u_{+}j_{+}u_{+}^{-1} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{r=0}^{\infty}(x-1)^{r}u_{+}j_{-,r}u_{+}^{-1}$

We first note that $u_+\partial_\sigma u_+^{-1} = \partial_\sigma - (\partial_\sigma u_+)u_+^{-1}$, and consequently

$$\tilde{a}(x) = -(\partial_{\sigma}u_{+})u_{+}^{-1} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{x-1}u_{+}j_{+}u_{+}^{-1} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{r=0}^{\infty}(x-1)^{r}u_{+}j_{-,r}u_{+}^{-1} = \sum_{r=-1}^{\infty}(x-1)^{r}\tilde{a}_{r}(x).$$

Now we determine $u_{+,0}$ such that it diagonalizes the first order \tilde{a}_{-1} . The first term in the expression above is of order $\mathscr{O}((x-1)^0)$, as well as all of the last terms: the only term surviving at this order is the second one. So $u_{+,0}$ diagonalizes j_+ (as expected). One can construct the rest of the matrix $u_+(x,\sigma)$, and perform the same analysis for x = -1, thus obtaining $u_{\pm}(x)$ that completely diagonalizes $\mathscr{L}(x)$ for all σ . To first order we find:

$$u_{\pm}(x)\mathscr{L}(x)u_{\pm}^{-1}(x) = \partial_{\sigma} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{j_{\pm}^{\text{diag}}}{x \mp 1} + \mathscr{O}\left((x \mp 1)^{0}\right),$$

and the diagonalized leading order of the connection is $\tilde{a}_{\pm}(x) = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{diag}{x \mp 1}$ at the singularities $x = \pm 1$, for all σ . The monodromy matrix can then be written as

$$u_{\pm}(x,2\pi)\Omega(x)u_{\pm}^{-1}(x,0) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{2\pi}d\sigma\frac{j_{\pm}^{\text{diag}}}{x\mp 1} + \mathcal{O}\left((x\mp 1)^{0}\right)\right)$$

Looking back at the vector representation of j_{ν} (5.2), we can see that it is an antisymmetric matrix of the form $M = X_{[i}Y_{j]}$ where \vec{X} and \vec{Y} are independent vectors. Because of being antisymmetric real, its eigenvalues are pure imaginary and come in pairs $\pm i\lambda_k$. In particular one can show that M has maximum rank 2 (maximum two non-zero eigenvalues). Assume that u is an eigenvector of M with eigenvalue $i\lambda$. Then

$$M_{ij}u_j = X_i\left(\vec{Y}\cdot\vec{u}\right) - Y_i\left(\vec{X}\cdot\vec{u}\right) = i\lambda u_i$$

This is equivalent to

$$\vec{u} \propto \vec{X} \left(\vec{Y} \cdot \vec{u} \right) - \vec{Y} \left(\vec{X} \cdot \vec{u} \right),$$

that is, for any eigenvector \vec{u} related to a non-zero eigenvalue, it has components only in the directions of \vec{X} and \vec{Y} . In other words, the eigenvectors associated with non-zero eigenvalues span a vector space of dimension 2 at most. Because all of the non-zero eigenvalues come in pairs, this matrix M has either rank zero or rank 2.⁶

⁶In the particular case of \vec{X} and \vec{Y} being orthogonal then one can use them as a basis of eigenvectors, and a diagonalized form of M would have the form $M = \text{diag}(i\lambda, -i\lambda, 0, ..., 0)$. This is the case of j_v as $\vec{X} = \vec{X}$ and $\vec{Y} = d\vec{X}$.

$$\operatorname{Tr} (j_{\nu,\pm})^{2} = 4 (X_{i}\partial_{\pm}X_{j} - X_{j}\partial_{\pm}X_{i}) (X_{j}\partial_{\pm}X_{i} - X_{i}\partial_{\pm}X_{j})$$
$$= -8 \left((\partial_{\pm}X_{i}X_{i})^{2} + \partial_{\pm}X_{j}\partial_{\pm}X_{j} \right)$$
$$= -8 \left(\partial_{\pm}\vec{X} \right)^{2}.$$

where we used the fact that we have $X_i \partial_a X_i = 0$ ($\vec{X}^2 = 1$). Now using the Virasoro constraint (5.1) we find

$$\operatorname{Tr}(j_{\nu,\pm})^2 = -8(\partial_{\pm}X_0)^2 = -8\kappa^2.$$

Thus the diagonalized current becomes (independent of σ)

$$j_{\nu,\pm}^{\text{diag}} = 2i\kappa \text{diag}(1,-1,0,\cdots).$$

We can now relate these eigenvalues with the quasi-momenta q_k :

$$iq_k = \frac{2\pi i\kappa}{x\mp 1} \delta_{k1} + \mathscr{O}\left((x\mp 1)^0\right) \qquad \text{if } x \to \pm 1.$$
(5.5)

Note that κ is directly related to the energy of the classical string.

Inversion symmetry

In our σ -model analysis we found both left and right currents, $j = h^{-1}dh$ and $\ell = -dhh^{-1}$ respectively. We also found a family of flat currents $a_r(x) \equiv a(x)$ related to the right current. There is also a family of left flat currents $a_\ell(x)$ which is related to $a_r(x)$ by an inversion of the spectral parameter. The corresponding flat connections d + a obey the following:

$$\begin{aligned} h(d+a_r(x))h^{-1} &= hdh^{-1} + \frac{1}{1-x^2}h\,jh^{-1} + \frac{x}{1-x^2}h*jh^{-1} \\ &= d - dhh^{-1} - \frac{1}{1-x^2}\ell - \frac{x}{1-x^2}*\ell \\ &= d + \frac{1}{1-1/x^2}\ell + \frac{1/x}{1-1/x^2}*\ell \\ &= d + a_\ell\left(1/x\right). \end{aligned}$$

But for S^{m-1} the currents obey $j = \ell$ and consequently this relation becomes a symmetry: $h_{\nu}\mathscr{L}_{\nu}(x)h_{\nu}^{-1} = \mathscr{L}_{\nu}(1/x)$ and the same for \mathscr{L}_{s} . In terms of the monodromy matrix we have $h(2\pi)\Omega(x)h^{-1}(0) = \Omega(1/x)$ for both Ω_{ν} and Ω_{s} . If *m* is even, then the reduction into chiral/anti-chiral components means that h_{s} inverts chirality (it has one gamma matrix $\vec{\gamma}$) while $j_{s} = h_{s}^{-1}dh_{s}$ preserves it (has the square of the gamma matrix). Consequently, $h_{s}(2\pi)\Omega^{\pm}(x)h_{s}^{-1}(0) = \Omega^{\mp}(1/x)$. For a closed string we have $h(0) = h(2\pi)$ and the last expression is just a similarity transformation. Thus $\Omega(x)$ and $\Omega(1/x)$ have the same eigenvalues: the set of eigenvalues q_{k} transforms into one other eigenvalue under the transformation $x \to 1/x$.

Recalling how q_1 behaves at $x \to \pm 1$. It is easy to see that $q_1(1/x) \to -q_1(x)$. In fact this is not the whole story, and the right expression is

$$q_1(1/x) = 4\pi n_0 - q_1(x)$$
.

The fact that there is such an integer n_0 is because when we determine the relation between eigenvalues of the monodromy matrix, these are of the form $e^{iq_k(x)}$, and to find a relation such as the one above requires the use of the complex logarithm function: there is an ambiguity in the choice of branch of the logarithm when $x \to 0$ and when $x \to \infty$, and choosing different branches will give rise to the term with n_0 . But the monodromy matrix in the spinor representation has eigenvalues of the shape $e^{\pm \frac{i}{2}q_k(x)}$, which show this same ambiguity. Consequently the integer n_0 has to come with a factor of 4π .

What happens to the other q_k for $k \neq 1$? In the case *m* odd there are no restrictions, but for *m* even one finds that the interchange of chiral/anti-chiral representations on Ω gives rise to extra restrictions: one has to flip an odd number of signs of the q_k . As q_1 already flips sign, the rest must show an even number of flips. We will make a possible choice of all of the other q_k staying invariant:⁷

$$q_k(1/x) = (1 - 2\delta_{k1})q_k(x) + 4\pi n_0 \delta_{k1}.$$
(5.6)

⁷There might be other consistent choices, but one assumes this is the correct one. [31]

Restriction to $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$: Bethe ansatz

The isometry group of S^5 is $SO(4) \cong SU(4)$, which has a chiral spinor representation related to the quasi-momenta p_i as defined above. The chiral representation **4** of SO(6) is equivalent to the fundamental of SU(4): $\Omega_s^+ \sim \text{diag}(e^{ip_1}, \dots, e^{ip_4})$ can be seen as the monodromy matrix of SU(4), with quasi-momenta defined by:

$$p_{1} = \frac{1}{2}(q_{1}+q_{2}-q_{3}),$$

$$p_{2} = \frac{1}{2}(q_{1}-q_{2}+q_{3}),$$

$$p_{3} = \frac{1}{2}(-q_{1}+q_{2}+q_{3}),$$

$$p_{4} = -\frac{1}{2}(q_{1}+q_{2}+q_{3}),$$
(5.7)

and $\sum_{i} p_{i} = 0$. The inversion symmetry found in terms of the q_{k} (5.6) becomes in terms of p_{k} :

$$p_{1,2}(1/x) = 2\pi n_0 - p_{2,1}(x)$$
, $p_{3,4}(1/x) = -2\pi n_0 - p_{4,3}(x)$.

This inversion symmetry gives rise to the structure of cuts and mirror cuts shown in figure $5.1.^{8}$

The asymptotic behaviour of the p_k at the poles $x = \pm 1$ can be seen to be

$$p_{1,2}(x) = -p_{3,4}(x) = \frac{\pi\kappa}{x \mp 1} + \mathcal{O}\left((x \mp 1)^0\right) \quad \text{if } x \to \pm 1.$$

Finally the asymptotic behaviour at $x = \infty$ is

$$p_{1}(x) = \frac{1}{x} \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}} (J_{1} + J_{2} - J_{3}) + \dots = \frac{1}{x} \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \left(\frac{3}{4}r_{1} + \frac{1}{2}r_{2} + \frac{1}{4}r_{3} \right) + \dots,$$

$$p_{2}(x) = \frac{1}{x} \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}} (J_{1} - J_{2} + J_{3}) + \dots = \frac{1}{x} \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \left(-\frac{1}{4}r_{1} + \frac{1}{2}r_{2} + \frac{1}{4}r_{3} \right) + \dots,$$

$$p_{3}(x) = \frac{1}{x} \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}} (-J_{1} + J_{2} + J_{3}) + \dots = \frac{1}{x} \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \left(-\frac{1}{4}r_{1} - \frac{1}{2}r_{2} + \frac{1}{4}r_{3} \right) + \dots,$$

$$p_{4}(x) = \frac{1}{x} \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}} (-J_{1} - J_{2} - J_{3}) + \dots = \frac{1}{x} \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \left(-\frac{1}{4}r_{1} - \frac{1}{2}r_{2} - \frac{3}{4}r_{3} \right) + \dots,$$
(5.8)

⁸ In figure 5.1 both cuts and mirror cuts are shown outside the circle $|x|^2 = 1$ for easier visualization, even though to be exact one of the cuts should be placed inside this circle (due to inversion symmetry $x \to 1/x$).



Figure 5.1: Algebraic curve of $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$ in the spinor representation of SO(6). Bosonic excitations are shown: cut \mathcal{C}_1 between sheets 1,2 (and its mirror cut), cut \mathcal{C}_2 between sheets 2,3 (mirror cut between 1,4), and cut \mathcal{C}_3 between 3,4 (and mirror cut). The dots in red are singularities of the quasi-momenta, including $x = \pm 1$.

In the above expression $[r_1, r_2, r_3]$ are the Dynkin labels of SU(4), related to the Dynkin labels of SO(6) $[s_1, s_2, s_3]^9$ through:

$$r_1 = s_2 = J_2 - J_3$$
, $r_2 = s_1 = J_1 - J_2$, $r_3 = s_3 = J_2 + J_3$.

Branch cuts

From the above results, plus the known relation connecting sheets k and k+1:

$$p_k(x) - p_{k+1}(x) = 2\pi n_a, \quad x \in \mathscr{C}_a,$$

we find that e^{ip} is a single valued holomorphic function of a Riemann surface with four sheets, except at the points $x = \pm 1, \infty$. But it is not an algebraic curve, because it has an essential singularity at $x = \pm 1$ of the type $\exp\left(\frac{i}{x\pm 1}\right)$. On the other hand p(x) only has pole singularities, but it is only defined up to multiples of 2π . So we work with its derivative p'(x), which has double poles at $x = \pm 1$, and no other poles, and will indeed be an algebraic

$$J_1 = s_1 + \frac{1}{2}s_2 + \frac{1}{2}s_3 \;, \quad J_2 = \frac{1}{2}s_2 + \frac{1}{2}s_3 \;, \quad J_3 = -\frac{1}{2}s_2 + \frac{1}{2}s_3.$$

⁹And consequently to the J_k by inverting the the result of the J_k in terms of the s_j :

curve of degree four.

Define a function y(x) that will be analytic at $x = \pm 1$:

$$y_k(x) = (x - 1/x)^2 x p'_k(x).$$

The extra factor not only removes the poles but also simplifies the the symmetry $x \rightarrow 1/x$. This function y satisfies a quartic algebraic equation

$$F(y,x) = P_4(x)y^4 + P_2(x)y^2 + P_1(x)y + P_0(x) = P_4(x)\prod_{k=1}^4 (y - y_k(x)) = 0.$$
 (5.9)

For a solution that shows a finite number of cuts, one can assume that $P_k(x)$ is a polynomial in x. There is no term y^3 because we have $p_1 + p_2 + p_3 + p_4 = 0$.

Noting that if $p(x) \sim \sqrt{x-x^*}$ at a branch point x^* , then $y \sim 1/\sqrt{x-x^*}$. Then at this point, solving F(y,x) = 0 at $y \to \infty$ implies $(x-x^*) = -P_4(x)/P_2(x)$, that is we look for the roots of P_4/P_2 . Considering a general P_2 , and assuming P_4 to be of order 2A, we look for roots of $P_4(x)$

$$P_4(x) \sim \prod_{a=1}^{A} (x - a_a) (x - b_a)$$

and we can see that A is just the number of cuts and a_a, b_a are the branch points.¹⁰

Asymptotics at $x \to \infty$

At $x = \infty$ we had $p(x) \sim 1/x$, so we now have $y(x) \sim x$. From (5.9) we can see that the highest order of each P_k will be related to the order of P_0 by $P_k(x) \sim x^{-k}P_0(x)$. Assuming P_4 is of order x^{2A} , then $P_2 \sim x^{2A+2}$, $P_1 \sim x^{2A+1}$ and $P_0 \sim x^{2A+4}$. Through the $x \to 1/x$ symmetry we have that at x = 0 $y(x) \sim \frac{1}{x}$ (the inversion symmetry requires that $p_k \sim x$ at x = 0). Then the lowest order term in P_k is related to the lowest order term of P_0 by $P_k(x) = x^k P_0(x)$, that is, if P_0 's lowest order is x^0 , then $P_k(x) \sim x^k$ at $x \sim 0$. In general $P_k(x)$ will be a polynomial

$$R = -4P_1^2 P_2^3 + 16P_0 P_2^4 - 27P_1^4 P_4 + 144P_0 P_1^2 P_2 P_4 - 128P_0^2 P_2^2 P_4 + 256P_0^3 P_4^2$$

¹⁰The algebraic equation can have further cuts of the kind $y \sim \sqrt{x-x^*}$, which would lead to the unwanted behaviour $p(x) \sim (x-x^*)^{3/2}$. Their positions can be found as the roots of the discriminant R of the quartic equation [31]

All solutions of R = 0 with odd multiplicity originate the unwanted branch cuts, so we have to require that the discriminant be a perfect square $R(x) = Q(x)^2$ for some polynomial Q(x).

of the type

$$P_k(x) = a_{k1}x^k + \cdots + a_{k,2A+4-2k}x^{2A+4-k}.$$

But for this expression to make sense, one would have to have 2A + 4 - k > k for all k = 0, 1, 2, 4, requirement for the highest order to be not smaller that the lowest order, and we find that $A \ge 2$. We can redefine $A \to A - 2$ (to have $A \ge 0$), and we then find¹¹

$$P_k(x) = a_{k1}x^k + \dots + a_{k,2A+8-2k}x^{2A+8-k}$$

Inversion symmetry

We have seen how the inversion symmetry determines the behaviour of y(x) at $x \sim 0$. For a finite x the function y(x) obeys:

$$y_{1,2,3,4}(1/x) = \left(x - \frac{1}{x}\right)^2 \frac{1}{x} \frac{d}{dy} p_{1,2,3,4}(y) \Big|_{y = \frac{1}{x}}$$

= $\left(x - \frac{1}{x}\right)^2 \frac{1}{x} \frac{d}{dy} (-p_{2,1,4,3}(1/y)) \Big|_{y = \frac{1}{x}}$
= $\left(x - \frac{1}{x}\right)^2 x p'_{2,1,4,3}(x) = y_{2,1,4,3}(x).$ (5.10)

But for y(x) to behave in this form, then the polynomials have to obey $P_k(1/x) = x^{-2A-8}P_k(x)$, that is, the coefficients of these polynomials are the same when read backwards and forwards.¹² For the particular case of P_4 and its expansion in branch points, the inversion symmetry requires that $a_a = 1/a_b$ and $b_a = 1/b_b$ for a pair of cuts $\mathcal{C}_{a,b}$ that are interchanged through this symmetry.

The symmetry found in the coefficients of P_k only states that $y_k(1/x) = y_{\pi(k)}(x)$ for some permutation $\pi(k)$. In fact the permutation chosen above in (5.10) is only allowed if we

$$R(x) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{10A+24} r_{\ell} x^{8+\ell}.$$

¹²The discriminant obeys $R(1/x) = x^{-10A-40}R(x)$.

¹¹The discriminant becomes:

consider the four extra constraints

$$y_{1,3}(x) = y_{2,4}(x)$$
 for $x = \pm 1$.

This can be seen from the inversion symmetry at the points $x = \pm 1$.¹³

Asymptotic behaviour at the singularities $x = \pm 1$

Because of the behaviour of the quasi-momenta at the singularities, one can assume that the most general expansion allowed for its derivative is

$$p'_{k}(x) = \frac{\alpha_{k}^{\pm}}{(x \pm 1)^{2}} + \frac{\beta_{k}^{\pm}}{x \pm 1} + \mathcal{O}\left((x \pm 1)^{0}\right).$$

From requiring that $y_{1,3}(\pm 1) = y_{2,4}(\pm 1)$, we find that $\alpha_{1,3}^{\pm} = \alpha_{2,4}^{\pm}$. Now requiring $y_{1,3}(1/x) = y_{2,4}(x)$ gives us a condition for the β 's. One can easily see that we have $\beta_{1,3}^{\pm} = -\beta_{2,4}^{\pm}$. But other constraints can be found. The sum of all sheets has to be zero $p_1 + p_2 + p_3 + p_4 = 0$, and the p'_k have to obey the same equation. Around the singularities, the condition $\sum p'_k = 0$ requires that $\alpha_{1or2}^{\pm} = -\alpha_{3or4}^{\pm}$, with no extra requirements for the β_k^{\pm} . Consequently, there are three independent parameters that define the behaviour of all p'_k at each point $x = \pm 1$, for example $\alpha_1^{\pm} = \alpha_2^{\pm} = -\alpha_3^{\pm} = -\alpha_4^{\pm}$, $\beta_1^{\pm} = -\beta_2^{\pm}$ and $\beta_3^{\pm} = -\beta_4^{\pm}$. One other information we have is that the residues of p at $x = \pm 1$ are equal (proportional to κ , related to the energy), giving us one more constraint on the α 's, and finally, if p does not have a logarithmic behaviour, then all β 's to be zero (total of five extra constraints).

Cycles, periods and fillings

As was said before the eigenvalues e^{ip_k} of the monodromy matrix Ω_s^+ are holomorphic in x, but the p_k can present at particular cuts jumps of multiples of 2π (and are smooth apart from that). These cuts can in general be originated from logarithmic or branch cut

$$R(x) = x^8 \left(x^2 - 1\right)^4 \left(\sum_{\ell=1}^{10A+16} r_{\ell} x^{\ell}\right).$$

¹³This seems to require that the discriminant has a quadruple pole at $x = \pm 1$, see [31]

singularities, but we will assume for now that p_k does not have the former. Such cuts show up when a closed integral around a singularity does not vanish. Considering \mathscr{A}_a -cycles to be closed paths around a cut \mathscr{C}_a , see figure 5.2, we have that

$$\oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} dp = 2\pi m_a,$$

where one can rearrange the cuts between (square root) branch points in order to set $m_a = 0$, except for the case when the cycle \mathscr{A}_a crosses a condensate of poles. These condensates happen when there is constant density of poles (of p) in a certain area, and can be viewed as extra logarithmic cuts which connect pairs of original cuts \mathscr{C}_l .

In the same way as the quasi-momenta, the branch cuts and poles have to obey the inversion symmetry. So for each cut \mathscr{C}_a there is an image or mirror cut $\mathscr{C}_{A+a} = 1/\mathscr{C}_a$, the independent cuts are then given by \mathscr{C}_a , $a = 1, \dots, A$. The same is true for the \mathscr{A}_a cycles. Assuming that there is a cut \mathscr{C}_a connecting sheets 1,2 (or sheets 3,4, see figure 5.1), the cycle \mathscr{A}_a circles the cut \mathscr{C}_a in either of the sheets. Through inversion symmetry, the cycle $\mathscr{A}_b \equiv \mathscr{A}_{A+a} = 1/\mathscr{A}_a$ circles the cut \mathscr{C}_a^{-1} on both of the sheets 1,2 once more. Then

$$\oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} dp_1 = -\oint_{\mathscr{A}_b} dp_2 = \oint_{\mathscr{A}_{A+a}} dp_1.$$

One obtains this result by first applying inversion symmetry, through which $\mathscr{A}_a \to \mathscr{A}_b$ and $dp_1 \to -dp_2$, so while the first integral is in sheet 1, the second is in sheet 2. Also one can switch sheets 1,2 by using an involution property of solutions of the equation F(x,y) = 0.14

Considering another type of cut, between sheets 2,3, its mirror cut is between sheets 1,4, and we have

$$\oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} dp_2 = - \oint_{\mathscr{A}_b} dp_1.$$

We find then that for each pair of (mirror) cuts we have only one constraint $\oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} dp = 0$. Considering that there are A branch cuts, the \mathscr{A} -cycles would give us $\frac{1}{2}A$ constraints. Indeed the number of constraints is $\frac{1}{2}A - 2$ because the cycles around all poles will be trivially zero

¹⁴An involution $y \to -y$ of the Riemann surface can be used to move the contour between the two sheets, by interchanging the two sheets and flipping the sign of y(x). If y(x) changes sign (for the same values of x), so will the differential dp. This corresponds to going from Ω^+ to Ω^- , or from $q_{1,2,3}$ to $q_{4,5,6} = -q_{3,2,1}$.



Figure 5.2: One can define an \mathscr{A} -cycle around a cut which connects sheets k, l, as well as a \mathscr{B} -period contour connecting points $x = \infty$ on both sheets k, l.

(there are no more single poles on any sheet). There are two independent such cycles (the ones from sheets 1 and 2 are related, so are the ones from 3 and 4).

We now concentrate on the fact that through a cut \mathscr{C}_a the eigenvalues $p_k(x)$ can permute and be shifted by a multiple of 2π . This can be summarized by the integral of dp along a curve \mathscr{B}_a connecting the points $x = \infty$ on the two sheets connected by the cut \mathscr{C}_a , see figure 5.2. p(x) is analytic along the \mathscr{B}_a -period except at the point where \mathscr{B}_a intersects \mathscr{C}_a . Recalling that we set the logarithm branch such that $p(\infty) = 0$, we have that the shift of p(x) at the cut \mathscr{C}_a is

$$\int_{\mathscr{B}_a} dp = 2\pi n_a.$$

What happens with respect to the inversion symmetry? Because we have chosen the quasimomenta to be zero at infinity $p_k(\infty) = 0$, we automatically have $\int_0^\infty dp_k = -p_k(0)$. Then the inversion symmetry tells us that

$$p_{1,2}(0) = -p_{3,4}(0) = 2\pi n_0,$$

called the momentum constraint (reduces the degrees of freedom by one). Note that n_0 is an overall winding number. The \mathscr{B}_a -period between sheets 1,2 (or 3,4) crossing the cut \mathscr{C}_a at the point x_a gives us, by inversion symmetry,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathscr{B}_a} dp &= \int_{\infty}^{x_a} dp_1 + \int_{x_a}^{\infty} dp_2 = -\int_{0}^{1/x_a} dp_2 - \int_{1/x_a}^{0} dp_1 \\ &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} dp_2 - \int_{\infty}^{x_b} dp_2 - \int_{\infty}^{0} dp_1 - \int_{x_b}^{\infty} dp_1 \\ &= p_2(0) - p_1(0) + \int_{\infty}^{x_b} dp_1 + \int_{x_b}^{\infty} dp_2 = \int_{\mathscr{B}_b} dp, \end{split}$$

where we have used the same arguments as for the \mathscr{A} -cycles, plus the fact that $\int_0^x = \int_0^\infty - \int_x^\infty$. For a \mathscr{B} -period between sheets 2,3 (mirror cut between 1,4) we get similarly:

$$\int_{\mathscr{B}_{a}} dp = \int_{\infty}^{x_{a}} dp_{2} + \int_{x_{a}}^{\infty} dp_{3} = -\int_{0}^{1/x_{a}} dp_{1} - \int_{1/x_{a}}^{0} dp_{4}$$
$$= p_{1}(0) - p_{4}(0) - \int_{\infty}^{x_{b}} dp_{1} - \int_{x_{b}}^{\infty} dp_{4} = 4\pi n_{0} - \int_{\mathscr{B}_{b}} dp$$

We find that the \mathscr{B} -periods through a pair of (mirror) cuts are related, and together with the momentum constraint, the number of constraints from the \mathscr{B} -periods is $\frac{1}{2}A + 1$.

Degrees of freedom: The algebraic curve is a solution y(x) of the equation F(x,y) = 0. This equation has a total of 8A + 22 coefficients, from all possible coefficients of the polynomials $P_k(x)$ (each has a total of 2A + 8 - 2k coefficients). Using the inversion symmetry on the polynomials $P_k(x)$, one finds that A + 4 - k of the coefficients of P_k are determined by the others, giving a total of 4A + 9 constraints. Because we are determining solutions of F(x,y) =0, the overall normalization of F doesn't matter, removing one more degree of freedom (total degrees of freedom up to now are 4A + 12). We have seen that branch points appear as roots of the discriminant R(x) = 0 (defined in footnote 10on page 123) which have even multiplicity. The number of non-trivial (other than zero and ± 1) roots of R(x) after inversion symmetry is 5A + 8, and the even multiplicity cuts this number by 2: R(x) = 0 fixes $\frac{5}{2}A + 4$ coefficients of the P_k 's. As was seen above, at the singularities $x = \pm 1$, the values of the residues are related by inversion symmetry, and the absence of logarithmic singularities gives 5 more constraints added to another 4 from constraining the y_k to non-trivial permutations. The \mathscr{A} -cycles and \mathscr{B} -periods give A - 1 more constraints. The total of degrees of freedom in solving the equation F(x, y) = 0 is $\frac{1}{2}A$, which will correspond to one filling number for each pair of cuts.

The filling of a cut \mathscr{C}_a is given by (using integration by parts)

$$K_a = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} dx \left(1 - \frac{1}{x^2}\right) p\left(x\right) = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} \left(x + \frac{1}{x}\right) dp.$$
(5.11)

We should introduce a further quantity L such that

$$L = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{16\pi^2 i} \oint_{+1} \sum_{k=1}^4 \varepsilon_k p_k + \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{16\pi^2 i} \oint_{-1} \sum_{k=1}^4 \varepsilon_k p_k + \sum_{a=1}^{A/2} \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} \frac{dx}{x^2} \sum_{k=1}^4 \varepsilon_k p_k, \tag{5.12}$$

where $\varepsilon_k = (1, 1, -1, -1)$ is defined by the inversion symmetry $p_k(1/x) = -p_{k'}(x) + 2\pi\varepsilon_k n_0$, with k' = (2, 1, 4, 3) when k = (1, 2, 3, 4). We know the behaviour of p_k at the singularities:

$$p_k \sim \frac{\pi\kappa}{x \mp 1} + \mathcal{O}\left((x \mp 1)^0\right)$$

Then $\sum_{k=1}^{4} \varepsilon_k p_k = 4p_1(x)$ at these singularities, and the sum of the first two integrals of (5.12) just gives $\sqrt{\lambda}\kappa$. Among $\{L, K_a\}$ there are only A/2 independent continuous parameters, A/2 - 1 independent fillings K_a and the quantity L. This is true because L is related to the fillings by the constraint

$$n_0 L = \sum_{a=1}^{A/2} n_a K_a.$$

The proof of this constraint can be found in page 685 of [34] and page 641 of [31].

The filling numbers have been shown to be the action angle variables of the theory [182], and in comparison to the gauge side, these filling numbers correspond to an integer number of Bethe roots.

Global charges

Now we want to determine the global charges, or equivalently the Dynkin labels, at $x = \infty$, as functions of the fillings. From the relation (5.8) between the quasi-momenta p_k and the
Dynkin labels $r_{1,2,3}$ at infinity, we easily see that:

$$r_{j} = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\infty} dx \left(p_{j}(x) - p_{j+1}(x) \right).$$

From this expression, and using inversion symmetry, we find 15

$$\begin{split} r_{1} &= -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\infty} dxx \left(p_{1}^{'}(x) - p_{2}^{'}(x) \right) = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\infty} dxx \frac{1}{x^{2}} \left(p_{2}^{'}(1/x) - p_{1}^{'}(1/x) \right) \\ &= -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{0} dy \left(-\frac{1}{y^{2}} \right) y \left(p_{2}^{'}(y) - p_{1}^{'}(y) \right) = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{0} dy \frac{1}{y} \left(p_{2}^{'}(y) - p_{1}^{'}(y) \right) \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi} \left(p_{2}^{'}(0) - p_{1}^{'}(0) \right), \end{split}$$

and a similar result for r_3 and r_2 :

$$r_{3} = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\infty} dxx \left(p'_{3}(x) - p'_{4}(x) \right) = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi} \left(p'_{3}(0) - p'_{4}(0) \right),$$

$$r_{2} = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\infty} dxx \left(p'_{2}(x) - p'_{3}(x) \right) = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi} \left(p'_{4}(0) - p'_{1}(0) \right).$$

We want to re-write the Dynkin labels as functions of the fillings. Using the results of Appendix C.1 we can finally write:

$$r_{1} = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\infty} dxx \left(p_{1}^{'}(x) - p_{2}^{'}(x) \right) = \sum_{a=1}^{A_{2}/2} K_{2,a} - 2\sum_{a=1}^{A_{1}/2} K_{1,a},$$

$$r_{3} = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\infty} dxx \left(p_{3}^{'}(x) - p_{4}^{'}(x) \right) = \sum_{a=1}^{A_{2}/2} K_{2,a} - 2\sum_{a=1}^{A_{3}/2} K_{3,a},$$

$$r_{2} = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\infty} dxx \left(p_{2}^{'}(x) - p_{3}^{'}(x) \right) = L + \sum_{a=1}^{A_{1}/2} K_{1,a} - 2\sum_{a=1}^{A_{2}/2} K_{2,a} + \sum_{a=1}^{A_{3}/2} K_{3,a}.$$

One final useful relation, also obtained from these relations, is

$$\frac{1}{2}r_1 + r_2 + \frac{1}{2}r_3 = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\infty} dx \, (p_1 + p_2) = L - \sum_{a=1}^{A_2/2} K_{2,a} \, .$$

¹⁵Recall that $p'_{1}(x) = \frac{1}{x^{2}}p'_{2}(x)$.

5.2 General Bethe Ansatz for a string in $\mathbb{R} \times S^{m-1}$

We want to be able to recover the group theory information into our Bethe Ansatz equations. To do so we introduce singular resolvents \tilde{H}_k , related to the simple roots of $\mathfrak{so}(m)$:

$$\tilde{H}_k = \sum_{j=1}^k q_j, \tag{5.13}$$

where for m even we also have

$$\tilde{H}_{[m/2]-1} = \sum_{j=1}^{[m/2]-1} \frac{1}{2}q_j - \frac{1}{2}q_{[m/2]}, \quad \tilde{H}_{[m/2]} = \sum_{j=1}^{[m/2]-1} \frac{1}{2}q_j + \frac{1}{2}q_{[m/2]},$$

and for m odd

$$ilde{H}_{[m/2]} = \sum_{j=1}^{[m/2]} \frac{1}{2} q_j.$$

These singular resolvents are directly related to the roots of $\mathfrak{so}(m)$. At $x = \infty$ one can expand the resolvents and find a relation to the Dynkin labels $[s_1, s_2, \cdots]$. Considering the Cartan matrix M_{kj} of $\mathfrak{so}(m)$, one finds

$$\tilde{H}_k(x) = \frac{1}{x} \sum_{j=1}^{[m/2]} M_{kj}^{-1} \frac{4\pi s_j}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \mathcal{O}(1/x^2).$$
(5.14)

This can easily be seen to be true for the SO(6) case by using the expansion of the quasimomenta q_j and the explicit form of the Cartan matrix M. At the singularities one finds

$$\tilde{H}_{k} = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \frac{2\pi\kappa}{x \mp 1} \delta_{j1} + \mathcal{O}\left((x \mp 1)^{0}\right) = \frac{2\pi\kappa}{x \mp 1} \sum_{j=1}^{[m/2]} M_{kj}^{-1} V_{\nu,j} + \mathcal{O}\left((x \mp 1)^{0}\right),$$

where $V_{v,j} = (1,0,0,\cdots)$ are the Dynkin labels in the vector representation [31]. The \tilde{H}_k also have a inversion symmetry transformation:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{H}_{k}\left(1/x\right) &= \tilde{H}_{k}\left(x\right) - 2M_{k1}^{-1}\tilde{H}_{1}\left(x\right) + 4\pi n_{0}M_{k1}^{-1} \\ &= \tilde{H}_{k}\left(x\right) - 2\sum_{j,\ell=1}^{[m/2]}M_{kj}^{-1}V_{\nu,j}V_{\nu,\ell}\tilde{H}_{\ell}\left(x\right) + 4\pi n_{0}\sum_{j=1}^{[m/2]}M_{kj}^{-1}V_{\nu,j}\,. \end{split}$$

Assume that we have a function H_k such that $H_k(x)$ incorporates the A/2 cuts, while $H_k(1/x)$ incorporates the mirror image cuts. Then \tilde{H}_k will be a linear combination of these, but will also have components at the singularities $x = \pm 1$, as well as an arbitrary constant c_k to be able to fix $\tilde{H}_k = 0$ at infinity. Finally \tilde{H}_k will have a constant corresponding to its value at x = 0. Then we can consider an ansatz such as¹⁶

$$\tilde{H}_{k}(x) = H_{k}(x) + H_{k}(1/x) - 2M_{k1}^{-1}H_{1}(1/x) + \frac{4\pi\kappa}{x - 1/x}M_{k1}^{-1} + c_{k} - c_{1}M_{k1}^{-1} + 2\pi n_{0}M_{k1}^{-1}.$$
 (5.15)

One introduces a density function $\rho_k(x)$ describing the discontinuities across the cuts $\mathscr{C}_k = \bigcup \mathscr{C}_{k,a}$ ($\mathscr{C}_{k,a}$ are the connected components of the curves \mathscr{C}_k) as

$$\boldsymbol{\rho}_{k}(x) = \frac{1 - 1/x^{2}}{2\pi i} \left(H_{k}(x - i\varepsilon) - H_{k}(x + i\varepsilon) \right) \qquad x \in \mathscr{C}_{k},$$

where the weight $1 - 1/x^2$ will be essential for ρ_k to be a density. With this definition, the resolvent becomes

$$H_{k}(x) = \int_{\mathscr{C}_{k}} dy \frac{\rho_{k}(y)}{1 - 1/y^{2}} \frac{1}{y - x}.$$
(5.16)

In fact substituting ρ_k into this last expression, we find that the resulting integral can be represented by a contour integral, with the contours surrounding all the cuts. The integrand has only one singularity on the outside of the contour: it is a pole at y = x, with residue $H_k(x)$. Shrinking the contour around the cuts we find the that the above expression is true.

We can now use the asymptotic behaviour of the resolvents H_k at $x = \infty$ and x = 0 to determine some of the unknown constants. At $x = \infty$, the behaviour of H_k is given by

$$H_{k}(x) = -\frac{1}{x} \int_{\mathscr{C}_{k}} dy \frac{\rho_{k}(y)}{1 - 1/y^{2}} + \mathscr{O}(1/x^{2}) = -\frac{1}{x} \left(\int_{\mathscr{C}_{k}} dy \rho_{k}(y) + \int_{\mathscr{C}_{k}} dy \frac{\rho_{k}(y)}{y^{2} - 1} \right) + \mathscr{O}(1/x^{2}).$$

Differentiating H_k , we easily see that the derivative of H_k at x = 0 is just $H'_k(0) = \int_{\mathscr{C}_k} dy \frac{\rho_k(y)}{y^2 - 1}$.

$$H_k(x) \to H_k(x) + f_k(x) - f_k(1/x) + 2M_{k1}^{-1}f_1(1/x)$$

¹⁶This ansatz is defined up to an anti-symmetric function

Also one can define the fillings (normalizations) of the densities as

$$K_{k}=\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi}\int_{\mathscr{C}_{k}}dy\rho_{k}\left(y\right).$$

As a consequence we can rewrite $H_k(x)$ at $x = \infty$ in the following form

$$H_{k}(x) = -\frac{1}{x} \left(\frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}} K_{k} + H_{k}^{'}(0) \right) + \mathcal{O}(1/x^{2}).$$

At x = 0, a simple Taylor expansion of $H_k(x)$ produces

$$H_k(x) = H_k(0) + xH'_k(0) + \mathcal{O}(x^2).$$

Now we can relate these expansions with the analogue expansions for $\tilde{H}_k(x)$, in order to determine the constants in its expression (5.15). For $x = \infty$ (5.15) becomes:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{H}_{k}(x) &= c_{k} - c_{1}M_{k1}^{-1} + 2\pi n_{0}M_{k1}^{-1} + H_{k}(0) - 2M_{k1}^{-1}H_{1}(0) + \\ &+ \frac{1}{x}\left(4\pi\kappa M_{k1}^{-1} - \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}}K_{k} - 2M_{k1}^{-1}H_{1}^{'}(0)\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(1/x^{2}\right). \end{split}$$

We also know the asymptotic behaviour of $\tilde{H}_k(x)$ as a function of the Dynkin labels (5.14). Comparing these two, we find a relation between fillings and Dynkin labels

$$K_{k} = \sqrt{\lambda} M_{k1}^{-1} \left(\kappa - \frac{1}{2\pi} H_{1}^{'}(0) \right) - \sum_{j=1}^{[m/2]} M_{kj}^{-1} s_{j}, \qquad (5.17)$$

and also a relation for the constants in $\tilde{H}_k{:}^{17}$

$$c_{k} = c_{1}M_{k1}^{-1} - 2\pi n_{0}M_{k1}^{-1} - H_{k}(0) + 2M_{k1}^{-1}H_{1}(0).$$

For the particular case of k = 1 one finds the momentum constraint written as:

$$H_1(0) = 2\pi n_0. \tag{5.18}$$

¹⁷The constant c_1 cannot be fixed from these equations.

Finally substituting these results back into (5.15) we get

$$\tilde{H}_{k}(x) = H_{k}(x) + H_{k}(1/x) - H_{k}(0) + M_{k1}^{-1} \left\{ -2H_{1}(1/x) + 2H_{1}(0) + \frac{4\pi\kappa}{x - 1/x} \right\}.$$
(5.19)

We found an expansion of the singular resolvents \tilde{H}_k which respects the asymptotic behaviour of the quasi-momenta, and has branch cuts along the \mathscr{C}_k . These branch cuts don't exist at the level of the monodromy matrix, as the latter are analytic everywhere except special points. To make sure of this analyticity condition, one has to enforce that across a cut, only the labeling of the sheets and the branch of the logarithms can change. This condition is reflected in the following expression for the singular resolvents:

with $H_k(x) = \frac{1}{2}H_k(x+i\varepsilon) + \frac{1}{2}H_k(x-i\varepsilon)$. The above equations (5.20) are the Bethe equations. Substituting the expression for $\tilde{H}_k(x)$ in the Bethe equations, these become¹⁸

$$2\pi n_{k,a} = \sum_{j=1}^{[m/2]} M_{kj} \left(H_j(x) + H_j(1/x) - H_j(0) \right) + \delta_{k1} \left(-2H_1(1/x) + 2H_1(0) + \frac{4\pi\kappa}{x - 1/x} \right),$$

when $x \in \mathcal{C}_{k,a}$.

For a given set of mode numbers $n_{k,a}$ and of fillings $K_{k,a} = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi} \int_{\mathscr{C}_{k,a}} dy \rho_k(y)$, the Bethe equations only have a solution if κ has particular values. That is the same as saying that the energy has particular values, because in classical string solutions, κ is related to the spacetime energy through (a less trivial relation exists for infinite length strings)

$$\Delta = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} d\sigma \partial_\tau X_0 = \sqrt{\lambda} \kappa.$$

One can rewrite some equations to get κ , or Δ , as a function of the fillings and the length

¹⁸For the cut $x \in \mathcal{C}_{k,a}$ the resolvent H(x) notices the cut, but H(1/x) does not: we are considering one cut at a time and H(1/x) notices the mirror cut.

L. In fact using the definition of L (5.12) we find

$$\sqrt{\lambda}\kappa = L - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \sum_{a=1}^{A/2} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_a} \frac{dx}{x^2} q_1(x) = L + \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} \sum_{a=1}^{A/2} \int_{C_{1,a}} \frac{dy \rho_1(y)}{1 - 1/y^2} \frac{1}{y^2} dx$$

The u-plane

A final useful result is to determine the Bethe equations in the so called u-plane, related to the spectral parameter x by

$$x(u) = \frac{1}{2}u + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{u^2 - 4} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad u = x + 1/x.$$

In this new variable, one defines the singular resolvent to be

$$\tilde{H}_k(u) = \int dy \frac{\rho_k(y)}{y+1/y-u} = \int dv \frac{\rho_k(v)}{v-u},$$

where we have that $dx\rho_k(x) = du\rho_k(u)$, as expected for a density. $\tilde{H}_k(u)$ is related to the resolvents in the *x*-space by

$$\tilde{H}_{k}(x+1/x) = H_{k}(x) + H_{k}(1/x) - H_{k}(0),$$

and the resulting Bethe equations are written as

$$\sum_{j=1}^{[m/2]} M_{kj} \tilde{H}_j(u) + \delta_{k1} F_{string}(u) = 2\pi n_{k,a} \quad , u \in \mathscr{C}_{k,a},$$

where the function F_{string} is given by

$$F_{string}(u) = \frac{4\pi\kappa}{\sqrt{u^2 - 4}} + 2H_1(0) - 2H_1(1/x(u)).$$

The quasi-momenta for $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$

One can now write the quasi-momenta in terms of the resolvents $H_k(x)$. We will restrict ourselves to the case of S^5 (m = 6). From the relation of the singular resolvents \tilde{H}_k and the quasi-momenta q_j (5.13), we can easily see that

$$\begin{array}{rcl} q_1 \left(x \right) & = & \tilde{H}_1 \left(x \right) \,, \\ \\ q_2 \left(x \right) & = & - \tilde{H}_1 \left(x \right) + \tilde{H}_2 \left(x \right) + \tilde{H}_3 \left(x \right) \,, \\ \\ q_3 \left(x \right) & = & - \tilde{H}_2 \left(x \right) + \tilde{H}_3 \left(x \right) \,. \end{array}$$

The Cartan matrix of $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ is given by

$$M = M_{\mathfrak{so}(6)} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 & -1 \\ -1 & 2 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \quad \Rightarrow \qquad M^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1/2 & 1/2 \\ 1/2 & 3/4 & 1/4 \\ 1/2 & 1/4 & 3/4 \end{pmatrix},$$

and we can write

$$\begin{aligned} q_1(x) &= \frac{4\pi\kappa x}{x^2 - 1} + H_1(x) - H_1(1/x) + H_1(0) ,\\ q_2(x) &= -H_1(x) - H_1(1/x) + H_1(0) + H_2(x) + H_2(1/x) - H_2(0) + H_3(x) + H_3(1/x) - H_3(0) ,\\ q_3(x) &= -H_2(x) + H_2(1/x) - H_2(0) + H_3(x) + H_3(1/x) - H_3(0) . \end{aligned}$$

These once more obey the inversion symmetry

$$q_{k}(1/x) = (1 - 2\delta_{k1}) q_{k}(x) + 4\pi n_{0}\delta_{k1},$$

and recalling that H_k are analytic at $x = \pm 1$, the q_k have the right asymptotics at these singularities. The behaviour at $x \to \infty$ is (in terms of the SO(6) charges and Dynkin labels $[s_1, s_2, s_3]$)

$$\begin{array}{rcl} q_1\left(x\right) &\sim & \frac{1}{x}\left(4\pi\kappa - \frac{4\pi K_1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} - 2H_1'\left(0\right)\right) = \frac{1}{x}\frac{4\pi J_1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} = \frac{1}{x}\frac{4\pi\left(s_1 + \frac{1}{2}s_2 + \frac{1}{2}s_3\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda}},\\ q_2\left(x\right) &\sim & \frac{1}{x}\left(\frac{4\pi K_1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} - \frac{4\pi K_2}{\sqrt{\lambda}} - \frac{4\pi K_3}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\right) = \frac{1}{x}\frac{4\pi J_2}{\sqrt{\lambda}} = \frac{1}{x}\frac{4\pi\left(s_2 + s_3\right)}{2\sqrt{\lambda}},\\ q_3\left(x\right) &\sim & \frac{1}{x}\left(\frac{4\pi K_2}{\sqrt{\lambda}} - \frac{4\pi K_3}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\right) = \frac{1}{x}\frac{4\pi J_3}{\sqrt{\lambda}} = \frac{1}{x}\frac{4\pi\left(-s_2 + s_3\right)}{2\sqrt{\lambda}}. \end{array}$$

$$\oint_{k} (x) - \oint_{k+1} (x) = 2\pi n_{k,a} , x \in \mathcal{C}_{k,a},$$
(5.21)

together with the extra condition

$$q_2(x) + q_3(x) = 2\pi n_{3,a} \quad , x \in \mathcal{C}_{3,a}.$$
(5.22)

One can re-do these equations in terms of the SU(4) quasi-momenta p_k . We know that the resolvents are related to the $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ Dynkin labels at $x = \infty$, $\tilde{H}_k \sim M_{kj}^{-1} s_j$. The resolvents related to the SU(4) quasi-momenta p_k (representation **4**) will have the corresponding relation $\tilde{G}_k \sim \left(M_{\mathfrak{su}(4)}^{-1}\right)_{kj} r_j$, and recalling that $r_{1,2,3} = \mathfrak{s}_{2,1,3}$, we have that

$$\tilde{G}_{1,2,3} = \tilde{H}_{2,1,3}.$$

Also from the definition of the p_k we find that the SO(6) quasi-momenta in the **6** representation are given by:

$$q_{1} = p_{1} + p_{2},$$

$$q_{2} = p_{1} + p_{3},$$

$$q_{3} = p_{2} + p_{3},$$

$$q_{4} = p_{1} + p_{4} = -q_{3},$$

$$q_{5} = p_{2} + p_{4} = -q_{2},$$

$$q_{6} = p_{3} + p_{4} = -q_{1},$$

This means that a cut between sheets 1,2 in the q_k 's corresponds to a cut between sheets 2,3 of the p_k 's, or the earlier C_2 cuts. Its mirror cut, between 2,6 of the q_k is the mirror cut between the sheets 1,4 in the p_k 's. A cut between q_2 and q_3 will have a mirror cut between q_4, q_5 , and will correspond to the cuts between sheets p_1 and p_2 (mirror is p_1, p_2), the C_1 cuts. Finally a cut between q sheets 2,4 (which corresponds to the Bethe equation (5.22))

and its mirror cut between sheets 3,5 (or 2,4 again) will correspond to the cuts between p_3 and p_4 , called previously C_3 , see figure 5.1. With these results one can simply re-write the Bethe equations as:

$$\begin{aligned} 2\pi n_{1,a} &= p_1 - p_2 = 2\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_1(x) - \tilde{G}_2(x) , & x \in \mathscr{C}_{1,a}, \\ 2\pi n_{2,a} &= p_2 - p_3 = 2\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_2(x) - \tilde{G}_1(x) - \tilde{G}_3(x) , & x \in \mathscr{C}_{2,a}, \\ 2\pi n_{3,a} &= p_3 - p_4 = 2\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_3(x) - \tilde{G}_2(x) , & x \in \mathscr{C}_{3,a}. \end{aligned}$$

In the above result we find that the singular resolvent $\tilde{G}_k(x)$ only feels the cuts of the kind \mathscr{C}_k .

Branch cuts and condensates

As was mentioned above, the quasi-momenta can have two kinds of singularities in the x complex plane: branch cuts along some contour $\mathscr{C}_{k,a}$ and condensate cuts $\mathscr{B}_{k,j}$. The first corresponds to cuts at which two of the quasi-momenta are interchanged on the two sides of the cut up to a multiple of 2π . The second case happens when we have (pairs of) singular points where the quasi-momenta changes by a factor of 2π when it goes around each of these singular point. If we consider a contour $\mathscr{B}_{k,j}$ connecting each pair of singular points, then the quasi-momentum $q_k(x)$ will change by a multiple of 2π when crossing this contour. These pairs of singular points, which are the the endpoints of the contour, are single poles of the differential of the quasi momenta (or p'(x)). So the \mathscr{A} -cycle around each will pick up a multiple of 2π . From the point of view of the quasi-momenta themselves (and the resolvents), this contour is in fact a condensate of poles with constant density, equivalent to a logarithmic cut.¹⁹

Generalizing the density function $\rho_k(x)$ to describe the discontinuities across both the cuts $\mathscr{C}_k = \bigcup \mathscr{C}_{k,a}$ and the condensates $\mathscr{B}_k = \bigcup \mathscr{B}_{k,j}$, we find that the resolvent H_k in (5.16)

¹⁹Each of this singular points is an end point of a branch cut, and the condensate cut connects them. If the \mathscr{A} -cycle encircles the branch cut that the singular point belongs to, then it will cross the condensate cut and so jump by 2π . Because this point is a single pole of dp, the \mathscr{A} -cycle is just a contour integral around a single pole, resulting in the residue at that pole, which is proportional to the constant density.

can be generalized to be^{20}

$$H_{k} = \sum_{a} \int_{\mathscr{C}_{k,a}} dy \frac{\rho_{k}(y)}{y-x} + \sum_{j} \int_{\mathscr{B}_{k,j}} dy \frac{\rho_{k}(y)}{y-x}.$$

This density ρ_k characterizes the distribution of Bethe roots in the complex plane, and the term condensate comes from the fact that it can be interpreted as a condensate of Bethe roots, and as such, the density becomes constant: it is just $\rho_k(y) = in_{k,j}$ when $y \in \mathscr{B}_{k,j}$. Then one can readily see that the terms coming from the condensate cuts give a logarithmic behaviour to H_k : they are logarithmic cuts, in general connecting pairs of original contours \mathscr{C}_k .

The Bethe equations found above still have to be obeyed for solutions that admit branch cuts, but if we also allow condensates, in addition to the Bethe equations derived above we will have extra conditions on the solutions of these equations when they cross a logarithmic cut.

Different string solutions have been addressed in the literature, from circular and pulsating strings [29, 91] where the resolvent is given just by branch cuts, to giant magnon bound states [89] where one only considers condensate cuts. In the latter case (no branch cuts, only logarithmic cuts), the ending points $X_{k,j}^{\pm}$ of the condensate contour have to be complex conjugate of each other, in order to have real energy and angular momenta.

5.3 The full $AdS_5 \times S^5$ string Bethe ansatz

In this section we will present a brief summary of major results for the full $AdS_5 \times S^5$ algebraic curve formalism, which can be found in [34]. In this case we have eight sheets defined by the quasi-momenta

$$p(x) = \{\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2, \tilde{p}_3, \tilde{p}_4 | \hat{p}_5, \hat{p}_6, \hat{p}_7, \hat{p}_8\},\$$

where $e^{i\tilde{p}_k}$ and $e^{i\hat{p}_l}$ are eigenvalues of the monodromy matrix, but corresponding to two different gradings, so while we can interchange each set of four quasi-momenta, we cannot

²⁰We have dropped the weight factor $1 - 1/x^2$ on the definition of the density for convenience.



Figure 5.3: The algebraic curve, with \hat{p}_k corresponding to AdS_5 and \tilde{p}_l corresponding to S^5 . Three physical modes are shown: the cut \hat{C}_{14} (and its mirror cut, in blue) corresponds to a bosonic AdS_5 excitation; the cut \tilde{C}_{13} (in red) corresponds to a bosonic S^5 excitation; the pole x_{13}^* corresponds to a fermionic excitation. The dots in red are singularities of the quasi-momenta, including $x = \pm 1$.

interchange between them by a simple bosonic similarity transformation. The \tilde{p}_k are related to the S^5 part, and the \hat{p}_k to the AdS_5 part. The momentum condition is in this case

$$\sum_{k=1}^{4} \tilde{p}_k - \sum_{l=1}^{4} \hat{p}_l = 2\pi n_0.$$

All quasi-momenta are analytic. They have single poles at $x = \pm 1$, where all sheets have equal residues. One has bosonic degrees of freedom at a collection of branch cuts $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a, \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_b$ with $a = 1, \dots, 2\tilde{A}$, and $b = 1, \dots, 2\hat{A}$, where the branch cuts $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a$ connect sheets \tilde{k}_a and \tilde{l}_a of quasi-momenta $\tilde{p}(x)$, while branch cuts $\hat{\mathcal{C}}_b$ connect sheets \hat{k}_b and \hat{l}_b of quasi-momenta $\hat{p}(x)$. At the ends of all these cuts, \tilde{x}_a^{\pm} and \hat{x}_b^{\pm} , we have square-root singularities. The fermionic degrees of freedom are poles x_a^* , with $a = 1, \dots, 2A^*$, which "connect" one sheet k_a^* of $\tilde{p}(x)$ and one sheet l_a^* of $\hat{p}(x)$ with the same residue on both sheets.²¹ This structure of cuts and poles is shown in Figure 5.3.

 $^{^{21}}$ To see that in the case of fermionic modes, we have poles instead of the square root singularities that give rise to the bosonic branch cuts, we use an argument similar to the one on page 114. This argument can be found in [34] and is summarized in appendix Section C.2.

At $x \to \infty$ the quasi-momenta approaches zero, and its expansion will be related to the conserved charges, or Dynkin labels, as before. The inversion symmetry for the quasimomenta can be written as follows

$$\tilde{p}_{k}(1/x) = 2\pi m \varepsilon_{k} - \tilde{p}_{k'}(x) , \quad \hat{p}_{l}(1/x) = \hat{p}_{l'}(x) ,$$

where we defined for each sheet k = (1,2,3,4), a permutation k' = (2,1,4,3), and a sign change $\varepsilon_k = (1,1,-1,-1)$. Note that the shift by $2\pi m$ is related to the winding allowed in S^5 , but not allowed in AdS_5 (there aren't any windings in the time direction). The cuts and poles also obey this inversion symmetry in the same way as before: $\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{\tilde{A}+a} = 1/\hat{\mathscr{C}}_a$, $\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{\hat{A}+a} = 1/\hat{\mathscr{C}}_a$ and $x^*_{A^*+a} = 1/x^*_a$.

Defining cycles $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_a, \hat{\mathcal{A}}_b$ surrounding respective cuts $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a, \hat{\mathcal{C}}_b$ is done as before, but we have another cycle to define, the \mathcal{A}_a^* , which surrounds a fermionic pole x_a^* . Assuming no logarithmic singularities at any poles (including $x = \pm 1$) we have

$$\oint_{\tilde{\mathscr{A}_a}} d\tilde{p} = \oint_{\hat{\mathscr{A}_b}} d\hat{p} = \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a^*} d\tilde{p} = \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a^*} d\hat{p} = 0.$$

We again define the periods $\tilde{\mathscr{B}}_a(\hat{\mathscr{B}}_b)$ connecting $x = \infty$ on sheets \tilde{k}_a and $\tilde{l}_a(\hat{k}_b$ and $\hat{l}_b)$ through the cuts $\tilde{\mathscr{C}}_a(\hat{\mathscr{C}}_b)$, and also define an extra period \mathscr{B}_a^* that connects $x = \infty$ to $x = x_a^*$ on sheet k_a^* of $\tilde{p}(x)$, and then goes through the fermionic singularity to connect $x = x_a^*$ to $x = \infty$ on sheet l_a^* of $\hat{p}(x)$. On these periods we have

Another way of writing this is

$$\begin{split} \tilde{p}_{\tilde{l}_{a}}\left(x\right) - \tilde{p}_{\tilde{k}_{a}}\left(x\right) &= 2\pi \tilde{n}_{a} \quad , \qquad x \in \tilde{\mathscr{C}}_{a} \,, \\ \hat{p}_{\hat{l}_{b}}\left(x\right) - \hat{p}_{\hat{k}_{b}}\left(x\right) &= 2\pi \hat{n}_{b} \quad , \qquad x \in \hat{\mathscr{C}}_{b} \,, \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} p_{\hat{l}_{a}}\left(x_{a}^{*}\right) - p_{\tilde{k}_{a}}\left(x_{a}^{*}\right) &= 2\pi n_{a}^{*} \,. \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

One final thing to note is that for a period connecting x = 0 and $x = \infty$, we once again obtain

the winding of S^5 and a vanishing contributions from AdS_5 : $\tilde{p}_{1,2}(0) = -\tilde{p}_{3,4}(0) = 2\pi m$ and $\hat{p}_l(0) = 0$.

Having summarized the properties of the 8 sheets quasi-momenta, we will now present the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ Bethe ansatz.

$AdS_5 \times S^5$ string Bethe ansatz

Consider a general cycle \mathscr{A}_a and a period \mathscr{B}_a , where $a = 1, \dots, 2A$, which includes all cuts and poles, with $A = \tilde{A} + \hat{A} + A^*$. We also introduce an integral form of bosonic resolvents in terms of densities as²²

$$\tilde{G}_{kl}(x) = \int_{\tilde{\mathscr{C}}_{kl}} dy \frac{\tilde{\rho}_{kl}(y)}{1 - 1/y^2} \frac{1}{y - x}, \quad \hat{G}_{kl}(x) = \int_{\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{kl}} dy \frac{\hat{\rho}_{kl}(y)}{1 - 1/y^2} \frac{1}{y - x},$$

and a fermionic resolvent as a sum of (discrete) poles

$$G_{kl}^{*}(x) = \sum_{a=1}^{A_{kl}^{*}} \frac{\alpha_{kl}^{*}}{1 - 1/x_{kl,a}^{*}} \frac{1}{x_{kl,a}^{*} - x}.$$

In the above expression the subscript kl states that the two sheet being connected are sheets k and l of the corresponding cut or pole. The fillings are defined now in terms of the densities as

$$\tilde{K}_{kl,a} = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi} \int_{\tilde{\mathscr{C}}_{kl,a}} dy \,\tilde{\rho}_{kl}\left(y\right) \,, \quad \hat{K}_{kl,a} = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi} \int_{\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{kl,a}} dy \,\hat{\rho}_{kl}\left(y\right) \,, \quad K^*_{kl,a} = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi} \alpha^*_{kl,a}$$

Together with these fillings we had previously seen that in the $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$ case there were two other quantities: the length *L* and the winding *m*. In the full theory we will have yet another quantity, called the energy shift δE :

$$\delta E = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} \frac{dx}{x^2} \sum_{k} \varepsilon_k \left(\hat{p}_k - \tilde{p}_k \right)$$

From the fillings written above, one can define some global fillings (both in S^5 and in AdS_5) by

$$K_{j} = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{a=1}^{A} \oint_{\mathscr{C}_{a}} dx \left(1 - \frac{1}{x^{2}}\right) \sum_{k} a_{k,j} p_{k}(x) ,$$

 $^{^{22}\}mathrm{These}$ resolvents have to be antisymmetric in exchange of sheets k,l.

$$\begin{split} \tilde{r}_1 &= \tilde{K}_2 - 2\tilde{K}_1 \,, & \tilde{r}_2 &= L - 2\tilde{K}_2 + \tilde{K}_1 + \tilde{K}_3 \,, & \tilde{r}_3 &= \tilde{K}_2 - 2\tilde{K}_3 \,, \\ \hat{r}_1 &= \hat{K}_2 - 2\hat{K}_1 \,, & \hat{r}_2 &= -L - \delta E - 2\hat{K}_2 + \hat{K}_1 + \hat{K}_3 \,, & \hat{r}_3 &= \hat{K}_2 - 2\hat{K}_3 \,, \end{split}$$

where the Dynkin labels are just the residue of the quasi-momenta at infinity

$$\tilde{r}_j = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\infty} dx \left(\tilde{p}_j - \tilde{p}_{j+1} \right), \quad \hat{r}_j = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\infty} dx \left(\hat{p}_{j+1} - \hat{p}_j \right).$$

In the full theory there is also one global fermionic filling K^* , related to the hypercharge eigenvalue r^* by

$$r^* \equiv -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} dx \sum_{k=1}^{A} \frac{1}{2} \left(\tilde{p}_k + \hat{p}_k \right) = 2B - K^*,$$

where B a constant (hypercharge of the vacuum).

The full expression for the quasi-momenta in terms of the resolvents \tilde{G}, \hat{G}, G^* is just given by

$$\tilde{p}_{k}(x) = \sum_{l=1}^{4} \left(\tilde{H}_{kl}(x) + H_{kl}^{*}(x) \right) + \varepsilon_{k} \tilde{F}(x) + F^{*}(x) ,$$

$$\hat{p}_{k}(x) = \sum_{l=1}^{4} \left(\hat{H}_{lk}(x) + H_{lk}^{*}(x) \right) + \varepsilon_{k} \hat{F}(x) + F^{*}(x) , \qquad (5.24)$$

where as before we define an inversion symmetric function

$$H_{kl}(x) \equiv G_{kl}(x) + G_{kl}(1/x) - G_{kl}(0)$$

and have some auxiliary potentials

$$\begin{split} \tilde{F}(x) &= \left(\frac{2\pi L}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \tilde{G}'_{+}(0)\right) \frac{x}{x^{2} - 1} + \frac{\hat{G}_{+}(0)}{1 - 1/x^{2}} - \tilde{G}_{+}(1/x) + G_{mom}(0), \\ \hat{F}(x) &= \left(\frac{2\pi L}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \tilde{G}'_{+}(0)\right) \frac{x}{x^{2} - 1} + \frac{\hat{G}_{+}(0)}{1 - 1/x^{2}} - \tilde{G}_{+}(1/x), \\ F^{*}(x) &= \left(\frac{2\pi B}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + G^{*'}_{+}(0)\right) \frac{x}{x^{2} - 1} + \frac{G^{*'}_{+}(0)}{1 - 1/x^{2}} - G^{*'}_{+}(1/x). \end{split}$$

The resolvents G_+ and G_{mom} are simply given by

$$\begin{split} \tilde{G}_{+}\left(x\right) &= & \frac{1}{2}\sum_{k,l=1}^{4}\varepsilon_{k}\left(\tilde{G}_{kl}+G_{kl}^{*}\right)\left(x\right), \\ \hat{G}_{+}\left(x\right) &= & \frac{1}{2}\sum_{k,l=1}^{4}\varepsilon_{l}\left(\hat{G}_{kl}+G_{kl}^{*}\right)\left(x\right), \\ G_{+}^{*}\left(x\right) &= & \frac{1}{2}\sum_{k,l=1}^{4}G_{kl}^{*}\left(x\right), \\ G_{mom}\left(x\right) &= & \tilde{G}_{+}\left(x\right)-\hat{G}_{+}\left(x\right). \end{split}$$

,

These resolvent are defined to take into account that only the cuts/poles with $\varepsilon_k \neq \varepsilon_l$ are physical and these are the only ones to contribute for G_{mom} .²³

The behaviour of the quasi-momenta at $x = \infty$ gives us the conserved charges of the system, which can be described through the Dynkin labels or through the fillings K, the length L and the energy shift δE . Expanding the symmetric H at infinity we obtain

$$H(x) = -\frac{1}{x} \sum_{a=1}^{A} \frac{4\pi K_a}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \mathcal{O}(1/x^2),$$

while the expansions of the auxiliary potentials are given by

$$\tilde{F}(x) = \frac{1}{x} \frac{2\pi L}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \mathcal{O}(1/x^2), \quad \hat{F}(x) = \frac{1}{x} \frac{2\pi (L + \delta E)}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \mathcal{O}(1/x^2),$$

where the energy shift is just $\delta E = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\pi} G'_{mom}(0)$.

The integral Bethe equations (5.23) still have the same form, but with the additional

 $^{^{23}\}text{The physical cuts connect sheets 1,2 or sheets 3,4 of of both <math display="inline">\tilde{p}$ and $\hat{p}.$

momentum constraint $G_{mom}(0) = 2\pi m$.

Moduli of string solutions

Performing a similar counting of degrees of freedom to the one done above for the $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$ case, we can determine the number of moduli of allowed curves. For each pair of cuts connecting sheets k_a , l_a we have one continuous modulus, the filling K_a and one discrete parameter n_a . The full theory still has the (continuous) length L and the (discrete) winding m parameters (and one constraint connecting all of these). Most of these have a direct analogous in the classification of physical excitation modes of classical strings in flat space (or a plane-wave geometry): in light-cone gauge each excitation mode has a mode number n_a , an amplitude K_a , and an orientation k_a , l_a (for the superstring we will have 8 physical bosonic modes plus 8 fermionic ones). The quantities corresponding the length L and winding do not exist in flat space, as they are related to the effective curvature of the space and the winding around S^5 , respectively. As one expects the number of moduli to remain the same for closed strings in different backgrounds, then each string solution of the σ -model in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ will have a corresponding curve in this formalism.

5.4 Restriction to $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$: The dyonic Giant Magnon solution

The restriction of the full σ -model to $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$ was extensively studied in [29]. In this case we are interested in the isometry group $SO(4) \sim SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R$. In the spinor representation $(\mathbf{2}_L, \mathbf{2}_R)$ we have the monodromy matrix decomposed in two matrices, diagonalized as

$$\Omega_S^+ = \operatorname{diag}\left(e^{ip_L}, e^{-ip_L}\right), \quad \Omega_S^- = \operatorname{diag}\left(e^{ip_R}, e^{-ip_R}\right).$$

We then have two independent quasi-momenta p_L, p_R , related to the quasi-momenta of the vector representation by

$$p_L = \frac{1}{2} (q_1 + q_2), \quad p_R = \frac{1}{2} (q_1 - q_2)$$

By inversion symmetry one can easily see that $p_R(x) = -p_L(1/x) + 2\pi n_0$. This means that we can either choose two independent quasi-momenta with inversion symmetry relating them, or one quasi-momentum $p(x) = p_R(x)$ with no inversion symmetry. The behaviour of this p(x) at the singularities $x = \pm 1$ is just

$$p(x) = \frac{\pi\kappa}{x \mp 1} + \mathscr{O}\left((x \mp 1)^0\right).$$

The asymptotic behaviour when $x \to \infty$ is

$$p(x) = \frac{2\pi (J_1 - J_2)}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \frac{1}{x} + \mathcal{O}(1/x^2),$$

while for $x \to 0$ (through inversion symmetry) we have

$$p(x) = 2\pi n_0 - \frac{2\pi (J_1 + J_2)}{\sqrt{\lambda}} x + \mathcal{O}(x^2).$$

Note that the Dynkin labels $[r_L, r_R]$ of $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R$ are related to the charges of S^3 by $r_L = J_1 + J_2$ and $r_R = J_1 - J_2$. Finally the analyticity conditions are just

$$2\not p(x) = 2\pi n_a, \quad x \in \mathscr{C}_a.$$

We can re-write these results in terms of the resolvent H(x). The SO(4) Cartan Matrix is just

$$M_{SO(4)} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 \end{array}\right),$$

and so, from (5.13) we find

$$\tilde{H}_1 = \frac{1}{2}(q_1 - q_2) \equiv p_R$$
, $\tilde{H}_2 = \frac{1}{2}(q_1 + q_2) \equiv p_L$.

We keep \tilde{H}_1 , related to p(x), and define the resolvent H(x) in a similar way to (5.15):

$$H(x) = \tilde{H}_1(x) - \frac{2\pi\kappa}{x - 1/x} = \sum_a \int_{\mathscr{C}_a} dy \frac{\rho(y)}{y - x} + \sum_j \int_{\mathscr{B}_j} dy \frac{\rho(y)}{y - x}.$$
(5.25)

In the above expression, the first sum is over all branch cuts, while the second is over condensates.

The asymptotics of H(x) is just (note that $\Delta = \sqrt{\lambda} \kappa$, and that $p = 2\pi n_0$)

$$H(x) = \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \left(-\Delta + J_1 - J_2\right) \frac{1}{x} + \mathcal{O}\left(1/x^2\right), \quad x \to \infty,$$

$$H(x) = p - \frac{2\pi (J_1 + J_2)}{\sqrt{\lambda}} x + \mathcal{O}\left(x^2\right), \quad x \to 0.$$
(5.26)

The Bethe integral equation for the resolvent H(x) crossing a branch cut is just given by

$$H(x+i\varepsilon) + H(x-i\varepsilon) = 2 - \int dy \frac{\rho(y)}{y-x} = -\frac{2\pi\kappa x}{x^2-1} + 2\pi n_a, \quad x \in \mathscr{C}_a.$$

Giant magnons were first studied using the algebraic curve by [89], where it was shown that they correspond to logarithmic cuts (see also [183]). In fact, giant magnon solutions and their bound states are solutions made up of only condensates. The condition that we have a closed string requires that the total string momentum is $p = 2\pi n_0$. But the contribution of each condensate for the charges is additive, and as such we can consider each condensate separately with a momentum p that does not satisfy such condition, as long as the momentum of all the condensates satisfies it. For one condensate, we can go back to (5.25) and set the density to be constant, $\rho(x) = -in$, and the end points of the condensate to be complex conjugate X^{\pm} . Then we find an ansatz for the giant magnon solution

$$H(x) = -in \int_{X^{-}}^{X^{+}} \frac{dy}{y-x} = -in \log\left(\frac{x-X^{+}}{x-X^{-}}\right).$$
(5.27)

The factor n will give us a bound state of n magnons. We are interested at the moment to work with one magnon, so we set n = 1:

$$G_{\rm mag}(x) \equiv -i \log\left(\frac{x - X^+}{x - X^-}\right) \tag{5.28}$$

From the asymptotics of the resolvent (5.26), and the expansion of the expression for

 $G_{mag}(x)$ (5.28), we find

$$p = -i \log \left(\frac{X^{+}}{X^{-}}\right),$$

$$\Delta - J + Q = -2ig \left(X^{+} - X^{-}\right),$$

$$\Delta - J - Q = 2ig \left(\frac{1}{X^{+}} - \frac{1}{X^{-}}\right).$$
(5.29)

In the above expression we redefined $J_1 \equiv J$, $J_2 \equiv Q$ to better compare to the known results for the dispersion relation of the giant magnon. Also, we redefined the coupling as $\lambda = 8g^2$. Solving these equations for X^{\pm} in terms of p, Q, we have

$$X^{\pm} = e^{\pm i\frac{p}{2}} \csc\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) \frac{Q + \sqrt{Q^2 + 16g^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)}}{4g},$$

and we find the dispersion relation for a dyonic giant magnon as expected

$$\mathscr{E} \equiv \Delta - J = \sqrt{Q^2 + 16 g^2 \sin^2 \frac{p}{2}}$$

Finite size corrections

In the particular case of the giant magnon solutions, we consider an new ansatz for the resolvent to determine finite-J corrections to the S^2 magnon [184], that is, we replace $G_{mag}(x)$ with the resolvent

$$G_{\text{finite}}(x) = -2i\log\left(\frac{\sqrt{x-X^{+}} + \sqrt{x-Y^{+}}}{\sqrt{x-X^{-}} + \sqrt{x-Y^{-}}}\right)$$
(5.30)

where Y^{\pm} are points shifted from the end points of the cut X^{\pm} by a small amount $\delta \ll 1$:²⁴

$$Y^{\pm} = X^{\pm} \left(1 \pm i\delta e^{\pm i\phi} \right) \tag{5.31}$$

The giant magnon can be described as singular limit of a solution with two branch cuts \mathscr{C}_X and \mathscr{C}_Y , with endpoints X^{\pm} and Y^{\pm} respectively, when one takes $Y^{\pm} \to X^{\pm}$. The finite-size correction to the giant magnon will then appear when we consider Y^{\pm} very close to X^{\pm} but

²⁴This is a different choice of ϕ to that used in [141,184,185]. It was chosen to separate ϕ from the phase of X^{\pm} , which is p/2. The phase ϕ will be seen to give the orientation factor $\cos(2\phi)$ in $\delta \mathscr{E}$.



Figure 5.4: Structure of cuts and condensates for finite-J magnons

still apart. In [184] one finds that a $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ takes us from this picture to the one shown in figure 5.4, where we have one condensate cut between points X^{\pm} and two square root branch cuts, one connecting X^+, Y^+ and the other connecting X^-, Y^- . It is this picture that leads to the ansatz for the finite resolvent (7.9).

When $\delta = 0$ this new $G_{\text{finite}}(x)$ clearly reduces to the infinite-size magnon resolvent (5.28). The square root cuts of G_{finite} are such that the relative sign between square roots in the numerator (or denominator, depending on which cut we are crossing) changes when the contour crosses the respective cut $\mathscr{C}(X^+, Y^+)$ (or $\mathscr{C}(X^-, Y^-)$), see figure 5.4. We will be using the superscript G^- to indicate that this term is being evaluated on the other side of the cut from what G is being evaluated (and thus has the opposite sign between the terms of the numerator inside G).

To determine the leading finite-J correction to the giant magnon dispersion relation, we again calculate the asymptotic behaviour at $x \to \infty$ of the quasi-momenta using the ansatz (7.9) to determine the charges of the solution as functions of the end points X^{\pm}, Y^{\pm} , and then solve the equations for these charges to second order in δ .

In Chapter 7 we will apply this method to some giant magnon solutions in the context of bosonic string in another background. We will then give a full description on how to obtain these finite-J leading corrections to the dispersion relation.

CHAPTER 6

GIANT MAGNONS IN $AdS_4 \times CP^3$

Classical string solutions in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ have played an important role in the study of the duality to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM [11, 12, 26]. It seems that this pattern is being repeated in the new $\mathcal{N} = 6$ duality [6], in which planar superconformal Chern–Simons theory is dual to string theory on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$. Some of the most interesting recent papers study strings moving in an $AdS_2 \times S^1$ subspace, where although the classical solutions are identical to those used in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ case, the quantum properties are different. The results from semiclassical quantization [43, 45, 186, 18, 187, 188] can be compared to those from the asymptotic Bethe ansatz, and there appeared to be some difficulties [47, 189, 190, 44, 191].

In this chapter, we study string solutions exploring primarily the CP^3 factor. One would expect to find analogues of the giant magnons [26] here, which in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ case live in an $S^2 \subset S^5$. And indeed, it turns out that the same solutions exist in CP^3 [192, 193]. There are two inequivalent ways to embed the basic S^2 magnon, into either $CP^1 = S^2$ or $RP^2 = S^2/\mathbb{Z}_2$ [192], both two-dimensional subspaces of CP^3 .

In either theory, the anomalous dimension can be calculated as the Hamiltonian of some spin chain [20, 194, 195, 192]. The giant magnons are dual to the elementary excitations of this spin chain, and have a periodic dispersion relation $\Delta - J = \sqrt{1 + f^2(\lambda) \sin^2(p/2)}$ which on the gauge side is an symptom of the discrete spatial dimension of the spin chain, and on the string side arises from p being an angle along an equator. The conformal dimension Δ and the R-charge J are mapped by AdS/CFT to energy and angular momentum of the string state. For the state dual to the (ferromagnetic) vacuum of the spin chain, which is a point particle, $\Delta - J$ becomes the Hamiltonian for small fluctuations. We confirm that in the $\mathcal{N} = 6$ case, the difference $\Delta - (J_1 - J_4)/2$ has the same property.

An important difference between the old $\mathcal{N} = 4$ case and the new $\mathcal{N} = 6$ case is the behaviour of the function $f(\lambda)$, the only part of the dispersion relation not fixed by supersymmetry [55, 26]. In the old case, calculations of $f(\lambda)$ at both large and small λ give $f(\lambda) = \sqrt{\lambda}/\pi$, and this is conjectured to be true for all λ . In the new case, however, the function (often called *h* instead) is $h(\lambda) = \lambda$ at small λ but $h(\lambda) \sim \lambda^{1/2}$ at large λ . Our knowledge of this function at large λ comes (in both cases) from studying classical string theory, and so depends on the correct identification of the relevant string solutions.

Dyonic giant magnons are those with more than one large angular momentum, dual to a large condensate of impurities on the spin chain. These are string solutions in S^3 , and they can at least sometimes be embedded into CP^3 in much the same way as the basic magnon, generalizing the RP^2 magnons and living in an RP^3 subspace [196, 197]. There is room for dyonic solutions with other angular momenta, truly exploring CP^3 , including those generalizing the CP^1 magnon.

Solutions of the string sigma-model should be in exact correspondence to algebraic curves [46]. Here too several giant magnon solutions were known (compared to one in the S^5 case [89]) named 'small' and 'big' [198]. However these could not be the same two solutions as those previously known in the sigma-model. In the S^5 case, and for the small magnon, one naturally obtains a dyonic (two-parameter, two-spin) solution. But the big magnon is something not seen in the S^5 case, a two-parameter solution with only one non-zero angular momentum, and thus cannot be the RP^3 magnon. There are also two distinct small giant magnons, and it has been observed that a pair of small magnons has all the properties we expect the RP^3 magnon to have [185].

The situation has improved with the recent publication of two new string solutions. The first was found using the dressing method, and, like the big giant magnon, is a two-parameter one-angular-momentum solution [199, 200, 201]. They have exactly the same dispersion relation, and in both cases we can take a non-dyonic limit and recover the RP^2 /pair of small magnons. The second one is a dyonic generalization of the CP^1 magnon [202]. This is a solution which does not exist in S^5 , exploring the four-dimensional subspace CP^2 , and it has

a dispersion relation matching that of the small giant magnon. It exists in two orientations, and like the small magnon has a third angular momentum which is $J_3 = \pm Q$ in these two cases. We have as yet only been able to find the $p = \pi$ case of this solution, but this is sufficient to see these properties.¹

In this chapter we will introduce the CP^3 geometry, and discuss potentially interesting subspaces where one could find non-trivial solutions. Noteworthy is the fact that the subspace frequently called $S^2 \times S^2$ in the literature is in fact just RP^2 , and while there is a genuine $S^2 \times S^2$ subspace, one cannot place arbitrary S^2 string solutions into each factor, because the equations of motion couple the two factors. This discussion will be followed by a description of the giant magnon solutions known in particular subspaces, and corresponding charges. In particular, their dispersion relations will allow us to set up the correspondence with the algebraic curve results, which will be given in the next chapter.

6.1 Groups in ABJM theory

The ABJM [6] $\mathcal{N} = 6$ superconformal Chern–Simons-matter theory² has a $U(N) \times U(N)$ gauge symmetry. We want to focus on its scalar sector A_i, B_i . The fields A_1, A_2 are matrices which transform under the (N, \bar{N}) representation of this group (one fundamental index, one anti-fundamental), while the fields B_1, B_2 transform under the (\bar{N}, N) . The *R*-symmetry can be decomposed in a manifest $SU(2)_A$, in which the *A* fields form a doublet, and $SU(2)_B$, which acts on the *B* fields. The theory is also invariant under the conformal group SO(2,3), since we are in 2+1 dimensions. We consider spacetime to be $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$, we consequently restrict ourselves to fields in the lowest Kaluza–Klein mode on this S^2 , i.e. in the singlet representation of $SO(3)_r$ - the spatial part of the conformal group.

It was seen in [212] that the *R*-symmetry group can be extended to the full SU(4), with

¹Note that we use the term dyonic to mean a two-parameter two-charge solution, but sometimes write 'dyonic' to mean a two-parameter, one-charge solution, like the big giant magnon. This last use of the term dyonic is to specify that we mean the $r \neq 1$ case, and when we talk about the non-dyonic limit, that means taking the second parameter $r \rightarrow 1$. This limit always takes us into some embedding of the HM magnon.

 $^{^{2}}$ These theories were discovered after the explorations of 3-dimensional superconformal theories with non-Lie-algebra gauge symmetry by BLG, [203, 204, 205, 206, 207] and built on earlier work on Chern–Simons-matter theories by [208, 209, 210, 211].

the following combination of scalars transforming in its fundamental representation:

$$Y^{A} = (A_{1}, A_{2}, B_{1}^{\dagger}, B_{2}^{\dagger}), \qquad (6.1)$$

while Y_A^{\dagger} transforms in the anti-fundamental. Keeping only the scalars $(Y^1, Y^4) = (A_1, B_2^{\dagger})$, only a subgroup called $SU(2)_{G'}$ remains from the full symmetry group. If we kept only $(Y^2, Y^3) = (A_2, B_1^{\dagger})$ then the subgroup would be $SU(2)_G$.³

This theory was found to be dual to membranes on $AdS_4 \times S^7/\mathbb{Z}_k$, where (k, -k) are the level numbers of the two Chern–Simons terms. In the 't Hooft limit $N \to \infty$ with $\lambda = N/k$ fixed we need to take $k \to \infty$, and in this limit the theory of membranes on $AdS_4 \times S^7/\mathbb{Z}_k$ reduces to type IIA strings on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$.

A spin-chain description of ABJM theory can be obtained [194, 192, 195], through the study of gauge invariant operators of length 2L of the form

$$\mathscr{O} = \chi^{B_1 B_2 \cdots B_L}_{A_1 A_2 \cdots A_L} \operatorname{tr} Y^{A_1} Y^{\dagger}_{B_1} Y^{A_2} Y^{\dagger}_{B_2} \cdots Y^{A_L} Y^{\dagger}_{B_L}.$$

When χ is fully symmetric (in the As, and in the Bs) and traceless, \mathscr{O} is a chiral primary with protected scaling dimension $\Delta = L$, that is, the anomalous dimension defined by $D = \Delta - L$ will be zero.

The $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ sector of the theory corresponds to operators \mathcal{O} in which only Y^1, Y^2 and $Y_3^{\dagger}, Y_4^{\dagger}$ appear.⁴ The relevant vacuum is given by

$$\mathscr{O}_{\rm vac} = {\rm tr} \left(Y^1 Y_4^{\dagger} \right)^L. \tag{6.2}$$

This has $\Delta = L$, and J = L, where J is the Cartan generator in $SU(2)_{G'}$: $J(Y^1) = \frac{1}{2}$ and $J(Y^4) = -\frac{1}{2}$, thus $J(Y_4^{\dagger}) = +\frac{1}{2}$.

The SU(3) sector allows operators with Y^1 , Y^2 , Y^3 and Y_4^{\dagger} , and has the same vacuum (6.2) as the previous sector.

³These subscripts are the notation of [192], except that they have B_1 and B_2 the swapped: their spin chain vacuum is $tr(A_1B_1^{\dagger})^L$ rather than the $tr(Y^1Y_4^{\dagger})^L$ of [194] used here, (6.2).

⁴This equivalent to saying that only fields A_1, A_2, B_1 and B_2 appear The two factors of SU(2) in the sector are just $SU(2)_A$ and $SU(2)_B$.

The two-loop anomalous scaling dimension of operators in the $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ sector can be determined by the sum of the Hamiltonians of two independent Heisenberg XXX spin chains, for the even and odd sites. The momentum constraint (from the U(N) trace tr) is that the sum of both their momenta be zero (the condition in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ case was slightly stronger [20], as in that case there was one total momentum which had to be zero).

6.2 The geometry of CP^3

The string dual of ABJM theory in the 't Hooft limit is type IIA superstrings in $AdS_4 \times CP^3$, with sizes specified by the metric

$$ds^2 = \frac{R^2}{4} ds^2_{AdS_4} + R^2 ds^2_{CP^3}$$
(6.3)

where $R^2 = 2^{5/2} \pi \sqrt{\lambda}$. The large- λ limit gives strongly coupled gauge theory, dual to classical strings. In addition to this (string-frame) metric, there is a dilaton and RR forms, given by [6], which do not influence the motion of classical strings.

The metric for CP^3 is given in [6] as

$$ds_{CP^{3}}^{2} = \frac{dz_{i}d\bar{z}_{i}}{\rho^{2}} - \frac{|z_{i}d\bar{z}_{i}|^{2}}{\rho^{4}}, \qquad \text{where } \rho^{2} = z_{i}\bar{z}_{i}$$
(6.4)

in terms of the homogeneous co-ordinates $\vec{z} \in \mathbb{C}^4$, where $\vec{z} \sim \lambda \vec{z}$ for any complex λ . The SU(4) isometry symmetry is manifest here, with \vec{z} in the fundamental representation. AdS/CFT identifies this isometry group with the SU(4) R-symmetry group, so it is natural to take \vec{z} to be in the same basis as the fields Y^A in (6.1) above.

Instead of using four complex numbers as co-ordinates for CP^3 , we can use six real angles.

One set of these is defined by

$$\vec{z} = \begin{pmatrix} \sin\xi \cos(\vartheta_2/2) e^{-i\eta/2} e^{i\varphi_2/2} \\ \cos\xi \cos(\vartheta_1/2) e^{i\eta/2} e^{i\varphi_1/2} \\ \cos\xi \sin(\vartheta_1/2) e^{i\eta/2} e^{-i\varphi_1/2} \\ \sin\xi \sin(\vartheta_2/2) e^{-i\eta/2} e^{-i\varphi_2/2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.5)

and in terms of these angles, the metric is [213,214]:

$$ds_{CP^{3}}^{2} = d\xi^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\sin^{2}2\xi \left(d\eta + \frac{1}{2}\cos\vartheta_{1}d\varphi_{1} - \frac{1}{2}\cos\vartheta_{2}d\varphi_{2}\right)^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\cos^{2}\xi \left(d\vartheta_{1}^{2} + \sin^{2}\vartheta_{1}d\varphi_{1}^{2}\right) + \frac{1}{4}\sin^{2}\xi \left(d\vartheta_{2}^{2} + \sin^{2}\vartheta_{2}d\varphi_{2}^{2}\right)$$
(6.6)

where $\xi \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$, $\vartheta_1, \vartheta_2 \in [0, \pi]$, $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in [0, 2\pi]$ and $\eta \in [0, 4\pi]$ (this can be obtained by building S^7 from $S^3 \times S^3$ with the seventh co-ordinate ξ controlling their relative sizes).

This parametrization in terms of angles is one of two angular parametrizations commonly used. The other one is given by [215]:

$$ds_{CP^{3}}^{2} = d\mu^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\sin^{2}\mu\cos^{2}\mu\left[d\chi + \sin^{2}\alpha\left(d\psi + \cos\theta\,d\phi\right)\right]^{2} + \sin^{2}\mu\left[d\alpha^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\sin^{2}\alpha\left(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta\,d\phi^{2} + \cos^{2}\alpha\left(d\psi + \cos\theta\,d\phi\right)^{2}\right)\right]$$
(6.7)

with ranges $\alpha, \mu \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}], \ \theta \in [0, \pi], \ \phi \in [0, 2\pi] \text{ and } \psi, \chi \in [0, 4\pi].$

In Appendix D.1 we give the maps between these angles and the homogeneous coordinates.

6.3 The string sigma-model for $AdS_4 \times CP^3$

The full metric of $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ is then

$$ds^{2} = \frac{R^{2}}{4}ds^{2}_{AdS} + R^{2}ds^{2}_{CP} = R^{2}\left(\frac{dy_{\mu}dy^{\mu}}{-4\vec{y}^{2}} + \frac{dz_{i}d\bar{z}_{i}}{|\vec{z}|^{2}} - \frac{|z_{i}d\bar{z}_{i}|^{2}}{|\vec{z}|^{4}}\right)$$

where we have embedded $AdS_4 \subset \mathbb{R}^{2,4}$ and $CP^3 \subset \mathbb{C}^4$, parametrized by \vec{y} and \vec{z} respectively. To study strings in this space, we constrain the lengths of these embedding co-ordinate vectors: $\vec{y}^2 = y_\mu y^\mu = -(y^{-1})^2 - (y^0)^2 + (y^1)^2 + (y^2)^2 + (y^3)^2 = -1$ and $|\vec{z}|^2 = z_1 \bar{z}_1 + z_2 \bar{z}_2 + z_3 \bar{z}_3 = +1$. In addition to these constraints, points in \mathbb{C}^4 differing by an overall phase are identified in CP^3 . This can be dealt with by introducing a gauge field: write the conformal gauge Lagrangian as

$$2\mathscr{L} = \frac{1}{4}\partial_a \vec{y} \cdot \partial^a \vec{y} - \Lambda(\vec{y}^2 + 1) + \overline{D_a \vec{z}} \cdot D^a \vec{z} - \Lambda'(\vec{z} \cdot \vec{z} - 1)$$

where the covariant derivative is $D_a = \partial_a - A_a$. The equation of motion for the gauge field fixes $A_a = \vec{z} \cdot \partial_a \vec{z}$. We can write the equations of motion for \vec{y} and \vec{z} as⁵

$$\partial_a \partial^a \vec{y} + (\partial_a \vec{y} \cdot \partial^a \vec{y}) \vec{y} = 0, \qquad D_a D^a \vec{z} + (\overline{D_a \vec{z}} \cdot D^a \vec{z}) \vec{z} = 0.$$

The AdS and CP components are coupled by the Virasoro constraints, which read:

$$\frac{1}{4}\partial_{\tau}\vec{y}\cdot\partial_{\tau}\vec{y} + \overline{D_{\tau}\vec{z}}\cdot D_{\tau}\vec{z} + \frac{1}{4}\partial_{x}\vec{y}\cdot\partial_{x}\vec{y} + \overline{D_{x}\vec{z}}\cdot D_{x}\vec{z} = 0$$
$$\frac{1}{4}\partial_{\tau}\vec{y}\cdot\partial_{x}\vec{y} + \operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{D_{\tau}\vec{z}}\cdot D_{x}\vec{z}\right) = 0.$$

We now restrict to solutions in $\mathbb{R} \times CP^3$, with $y^{-1} + iy^0 = e^{2i\tau}$ and $y^1 = y^2 = y^3 = 0$. We will always work in a gauge in which this τ is worldsheet time (timelike, or static, conformal

⁵Note that the CP^3 equation here reduces to that derived in Appendix D.2, where instead of treating the total phase as a gauge symmetry it was fixed to a constant using another Lagrange multiplier.

$$ds_{\mathbb{R}\times CP^3}^2 = -d\tau^2 + \left|d\vec{z}\right|^2 - \left|\vec{z}\cdot d\vec{z}\right|^2.$$

In writing the Lagrangian, and this metric, we have pulled out the large radius factor $R^2 = 2^{5/2} \pi \sqrt{\lambda}$ to give a prefactor to the action:

$$S = \int \frac{dx d\tau}{2\pi} R^2 \mathscr{L} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx d\tau \mathscr{L}.$$

This same factor appears when calculating conserved charges. The one from time-translation (which we define with respect to AdS time, $\tan t_{AdS} = y^0/y^{-1}$) is simply

$$\Delta = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}}{\partial \partial_{\tau} t_{AdS}} = \sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \, 1 \tag{6.8}$$

where we used the fact that $t = 2\tau$ for the solutions we're studying. The charges from rotations of CP^{3} 's embedding co-ordinate planes are:

$$J_{i} \equiv J(z_{i}) = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}}{\partial \partial_{\tau}(\arg Z_{i})} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \left[\operatorname{Im}(\bar{z}_{i}\partial_{\tau}z_{i}) - |z_{i}|^{2} \sum_{j} \operatorname{Im}(\bar{z}_{j}\partial_{\tau}z_{j}) \right]$$
(6.9)
$$= 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \operatorname{Im}(\bar{z}_{i}D_{\tau}z_{i})$$
($\overleftarrow{\Sigma}_{i}$)

Only three of the four $J(z_i)$ are independent, since $\sum_{i=1}^{4} J(z_i) = 0$. These three are the charges from the Cartan generators of $\mathfrak{su}(4)$, and the charges from all of the generators can be obtained using their Lie-algebra matrices $T^a = (T^a)_{ij}$:

$$J[T^a] = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \operatorname{Im}\left(\vec{z} \cdot T^a D_{\tau} \vec{z}\right)$$

The matrices T^a are Hermitian and traceless, and the charges $J(z_i)$ are those generated by

⁶This implies the the length of the worldsheet cannot be held fixed to 2π . Instead it is proportional to the energy Δ , and thus infinite for the giant magnon. Taking this to be finite makes Δ and J finite too, thus we use 'finite-J' and 'finite-size' interchangeably.

diagonal T^a . The charges we will need for the giant magnons are

$$J = J(z_1) - J(z_4) = J [\operatorname{diag}(1, 0, 0, -1)]$$

$$Q = J(z_2) - J(z_3) = J [\operatorname{diag}(0, 1, -1, 0)]$$

$$J_3 = J [\operatorname{diag}(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2})]$$
(6.10)

The charges of interest can also be written using the angles defined in (6.5): writing $J_{\varphi_2} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}}{\partial \sigma_{\tau} \varphi_2}$ etc., we have $J = 2J_{\varphi_2}$, $Q = 2J_{\varphi_1}$ and $J_3 = J_{\eta}$

The Penrose limit describes the geometry very near to a null geodesic [216] and has been very important in AdS/CFT [5]. This has been studied in $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ by [192], where the particle travels along $\chi = 4\tau$ with $\alpha = 0$, $\mu = \pi/4$ in terms of the angles in (6.7), and by [217,193], who use co-ordinates (6.6), expanding near $\vartheta_1 = \vartheta_2 = 0$, $\xi = \pi/4$ with distance along the line $\tilde{\psi} = \eta + (\varphi_1 - \varphi_2)/2 = -2\tau$. In all cases, the test particle moves along the path⁷

$$\vec{z} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(e^{i\tau}, 0, 0, e^{-i\tau} \right).$$
 (6.11)

This has large angular momentum in opposite directions on the z_1 and z_4 planes, as one would expect for the state dual to the operator (6.2). This led to write this state down as the string state dual to the vacuum \mathcal{O}_{vac} [194].

In the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ case, the spin chain vacuum $\operatorname{tr}(\Phi_1 + i\Phi_2)^L$ is dual to a point particle defined by $X = (\cos \tau, \sin \tau, 0, 0, 0, 0)$. This string state has large angular momentum $J = \Delta$ in the 1-2 plane. The study of small fluctuations around this string state, one can show that $\Delta - J$ is a Hamiltonian for the physical modes [12]. In fact, semiclassical quantization views these modes as quantum fields with energy $\Delta - J$. As giant magnons are excitations above this vacuum, their semiclassical quantization is directly related to calculating quantum corrections to this energy [142, 124].

For the present case of $AdS_4 \times CP^3$, given the point particle state (6.11) and the dual vacuum (6.2), one would guess that $\Delta - (J_1 - J_4)/2$ will play the same role. In Appendix

⁷We stress that there are not different Penrose limits for the different giant magnon sectors. To get precisely this path \vec{z} , using our conventions given in (D.2) and (D.3), we fix in addition $\theta = \pi$ (in the first case) and $\varphi_1 = \varphi_2$ (in the second), and also swop $z_2 \leftrightarrow z_4$ in the second case.

D.3 we explicitly derive the fluctuation Hamiltonian for this case, and confirm that $\Delta - (J_1 - J_4)/2$ is indeed a Hamiltonian for the physical states.

6.4 Placing giant magnons into CP^3

Recall that the Hofman–Maldacena giant magnon [26] is a rigidly rotating classical string solution in $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$, given in timelike conformal gauge by

$$\cos \theta_{\text{mag}} = \sin \frac{p}{2} \operatorname{sech} u \tag{6.12}$$
$$\tan \left(\phi_{\text{mag}} - \tau \right) = \tan \frac{p}{2} \tanh u$$

where $u = (x - \tau \cos \frac{p}{2})/\sin \frac{p}{2}$ is the boosted spatial co-ordinate for a soliton with worldsheet velocity $\cos(p/2)$ (we will be using worldsheet space and time to be x, τ). The spacetime is $ds^2 = -d\tau^2 + d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta \, d\phi^2$ — by timelike gauge we mean that the target-space time is also worldsheet time.⁸

We define conserved charges here as follows:

$$\Delta = \sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \, 1 \tag{6.13}$$

$$J_{\text{sphere}} = \sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \operatorname{Im}\left(\bar{W}_1 \partial_\tau W_1\right). \tag{6.14}$$

This Δ matches (6.8) used in Appendix D.3 when the AdS fluctuations \tilde{t} and $\tilde{\tilde{r}}$ are turned off. Note that we keep the same prefactor $\sqrt{2\lambda}$ here, which is not the one we would use in the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ case. Finally, we write the complex embedding co-ordinates $S^2 \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ and we find⁹

$$\vec{w} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} W_1 \\ W_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\tau} \left[\cos \frac{p}{2} + i \sin \frac{p}{2} \tanh u \right] \\ \sin \frac{p}{2} \operatorname{sech} u \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\phi_{\max}(x,\tau)} \sin \theta_{\max}(x,\tau) \\ \cos \theta_{\max}(x,\tau) \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.15)

⁸What we call timelike conformal gauge is sometimes called static conformal gauge. In our conventions, AdS time t is given by $t = 2\tau$. However, because of the factor $\frac{1}{4}$ in the metric (D.8), it is τ rather than t which is physical time.

⁹Our notation is that (w_1, w_2) are complex embedding co-ordinates for the sphere, while z_i are for CP^3 . Capital letters indicate a string solution in this space.

Both Δ and J_{sphere} are infinite for the solution (6.12), but their difference is finite:

$$\Delta - J_{\rm sphere} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda}\,\sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right).$$

The parameter p is the (absolute value of the) momentum of the spin chain excitation in the dual gauge theory, which is why this is called a dispersion relation. It is also equal to the opening angle $\Delta \phi_{\text{mag}}$ of the string solution on the equator $\theta_{\text{mag}} = \frac{\pi}{2}$.

We now turn to solutions in $\mathbb{R} \times CP^3$, with metric $ds^2 = -d\tau^2 + ds_{CP^3}^2$. All solutions will be in conformal gauge, and with worldsheet time τ related to AdS time t by $t = 2\tau$, so we will continue to use the definition of Δ from (6.13), although for J we must now use (6.9) and (6.10). We will also continue to use the parameter $p \in [0, 2\pi]$ in all the cases below, and while this should still be a momentum in the dual theory, we make no comment here on the precise factors involved.

The subspace CP^1

If we set $z_2 = z_3 = 0$, or in terms of angles (6.7) $\alpha = 0$, then we obtain the space $CP^1 = S^2$ with metric

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{4} \left[d(2\mu)^{2} + \sin^{2}(2\mu)d\left(\frac{\chi}{2}\right)^{2} \right].$$
 (6.16)

This is a sphere of radius $\frac{1}{2}$, so to place the magnon solution (6.12) here (as was done by [192]) maintaining conformal gauge we need to set

$$2\mu = \theta_{\text{mag}}(2x, 2\tau)$$

$$\frac{\chi}{2} = \phi_{\text{mag}}(2x, 2\tau).$$
(6.17)

Using the map (D.3), given in appendix D.1, and choosing $\theta = \pi$, we obtain

$$\vec{Z}(x,\tau) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}\phi_{\max}(2x,2\tau)} \sin\left(\frac{1}{2}\theta_{\max}(2x,2\tau)\right) \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ e^{-\frac{i}{2}\phi_{\max}(2x,2\tau)} \cos\left(\frac{1}{2}\theta_{\max}(2x,2\tau)\right) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.18)

Calculating charges for this solution, using definitions (6.10) for J and (6.13) for Δ , we recover the dispersion relation¹⁰

$$\mathscr{E}(p) = \Delta - \frac{J}{2} = \sqrt{2\lambda} \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right). \tag{6.19}$$

One should check that this subspace is a legal one, meaning that solutions found here are guaranteed to be solutions in the full space. This can be done by finding the conformal gauge equations of motion coming from the Polyakov action with the metric (6.7), and confirming that α 's equation is solved by $\alpha = 0$.¹¹ But in this case it is easier to note that $z_2 = z_3 = 0$ trivially solves their equations of motion, (D.5), which we derive in appendix D.2.

The subspace RP^2

A second embedding of the S^2 solution was first used by $[193]^{12}$

$$\vec{Z}(x,\tau) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\phi_{\max}(x,\tau)}\sin\theta_{\max}(x,\tau) \\ \cos\theta_{\max}(x,\tau) \\ \cos\theta_{\max}(x,\tau) \\ e^{-i\phi_{\max}(x,\tau)}\sin\theta_{\max}(x,\tau) \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} W_1 \\ W_2 \\ \bar{W}_2 \\ \bar{W}_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.20)

This solution lives in an \mathbb{RP}^2 subspace, as can be seen by simply rotating some of the planes in $\mathbb{C}^4 = \mathbb{R}^8$ by $\frac{\pi}{4}$: in terms of new co-ordinates \vec{w} defined by

¹⁰Note that if you were to omit the second term in (6.9) when calculating J, thus effectively using (6.14) appropriate for the sphere, you would get instead $\Delta - J/2 = \sqrt{2\lambda} p \cos\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)$. In the RP^2 and RP^3 subspaces discussed below, this second term vanishes.

¹¹In addition to solving the conformal gauge equations of motion, a string solution must be in conformal gauge, i.e. must solve the Virasoro constraints. If the solution on the subspace is in conformal gauge, then it follows trivially that the solution in the full space is too: the induced metric $\gamma_{ab} = \partial_a X^{\mu} \partial_b X^{\nu} G_{\mu\nu}$ is influenced only by those directions the solution explores, and in these directions the metric $G_{\mu\nu}$ is the same in both the full space and the subspace.

 $^{^{12}}$ We discuss the equations of motion used by [193] for strings in CP^3 in Appendix D.2.

this solution has $w_3 = w_4 = 0$ and is precisely the original giant magnon in the other two co-ordinates:

$$(w_1, w_2) = \left(e^{i\phi_{\text{mag}}}\sin\theta_{\text{mag}}, \cos\theta_{\text{mag}}\right).$$

The reason this is \mathbb{RP}^2 rather than S^2 is that sending $(w_1, w_2) \to -(w_1, w_2)$ gives an overall sign change on \vec{z} , and these two points are identified in \mathbb{CP}^3 .¹³

The subspace which this magnon explores can also be obtained from the metric (6.6), by fixing $\vartheta_1 = \frac{\pi}{2}$, $\vartheta_2 = \frac{\pi}{2}$, $\varphi_1 = 0$ and $\eta = 0$. The metric then becomes

$$ds^2 = d\xi^2 + \sin^2 \xi \, d\left(\frac{\varphi_2}{2}\right)^2$$

and the magnon (6.20) is simply $\xi = \theta_{mag}(x, \tau)$, $\varphi_2 = 2\phi_{mag}(x, \tau)$. This can be checked to be a legal restriction from the equations of motion for the four angles fixed.

This subspace is sometimes, rather misleadingly, referred to as $S^2 \times S^2$. It is true that $|z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2 = \frac{1}{2}$ and $|z_3|^2 + |z_4|^2 = \frac{1}{2}$, and $\operatorname{Im} z_2 = 0 = \operatorname{Im} z_3$. These restrictions alone would describe a subspace of \mathbb{C}^4 , namely $S^2 \times S^2 \subset \mathbb{C}^2 \times \mathbb{C}^2$. But we are in CP^3 , not \mathbb{C}^4 , and the space described by θ, ϕ (or by ξ, φ_2) has only two dimensions — these two S^2 factors are not independent. In Section 6.5 below we discuss a genuine four-dimensional $S^2 \times S^2$ subspace.

The charges of this solution are very simply related to those of the magnon on the sphere, since the extra term in the CP^3 angular momentum (6.9) compared to the that for the sphere vanishes: $J_{\text{sphere}} = \frac{1}{2}(J_1 - J_4) = \frac{J}{2}$, and we get simply

$$\mathscr{E} = \Delta - \frac{J}{2} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \sin\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right).$$
 (6.22)

One difference from the magnon on S^2 is that when $p' = \pi$ the magnon becomes a single closed string. Its cusps, at opposite points on the equator of S^2 , are in fact at the same point in RP^2 . In general the magnon connects two points a distance $\Delta \varphi_2 = 2\Delta \phi_{mag} = 2p'$ apart on

¹³In S^2 , the standard co-ordinates have ranges $\theta \in [0, \pi]$ and $\phi \in [0, 2\pi]$, and changing $\theta \to \pi - \theta$ and $\phi \to \phi + \pi$ simultaneously moves you to the antipodal point on S^2 . But performing this change in the subspace of CP^3 parametrized by (6.20) changes $\vec{z} \to -\vec{z}$, and these two points are identified by the definition of CP^3 . This is what makes the subspace $RP^2 = S^2/\mathbb{Z}_2$ instead of S^2 . To obtain co-ordinates which cover this subspace only once, we can shorten the range of either θ or ϕ , and in figure 6.1 we choose to restrict to $\phi \in [0, \pi]$ while keeping $\theta \in [0, \pi]$.



Figure 6.1: Two giant magnons are shown (in red) on the unit sphere S^2 (left), on RP^2 (center, drawn here as half a sphere) and on CP^1 , a sphere of radius $\frac{1}{2}$ (right). In all cases they have $p_1 = \frac{1}{2}$ and $p_2 = \pi - \frac{1}{2}$, which leads to a closed string in the RP^2 case, but not in the S^2 or CP^1 cases.

In both the RP^2 and CP^1 cases, the equator is of length π , and we parametrize it by $\beta \in [0, \pi]$. The magnon with $p_1 = \frac{1}{2}$ spans $\Delta\beta = \frac{1}{2}$ in the RP^2 case, but only $\Delta\beta = \frac{1}{4}$ in the CP^1 case. On CP^1 we have also drawn a third magnon (in blue) with $p_3 = 1$, which spans the same length of equator $\Delta\beta = \frac{1}{2}$ as does the p_1 magnon on RP^2 .

the equator, but $\varphi \sim \varphi + 2\pi$ so $p' = \delta$ and $p' = \pi + \delta$ both connect the same two points. As was noted by [192], this can be viewed as giving rise to a second class of magnons, with

$$\Delta - \frac{J}{2} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \sin\left(\frac{\pi + \delta}{2}\right) = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \cos\left(\frac{\delta}{2}\right).$$

Figure 6.1 shows two magnons on S^2 and then on RP^2 , one with $p = \frac{1}{2}$ and another with $p = \pi - \frac{1}{2}$. In the RP^2 case they have opposite opening angles $\delta = \pm \frac{1}{2}$, thus form a single closed string, while in the S^2 case the total opening angle is π . Note that between the parameter p in the CP^1 case and the parameter p' here we have the relation p = 2p'.

The subspace RP^3

In the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ case, Dorey's giant magnons with a second large angular momentum $J' \sim \sqrt{\lambda}$ allow one to see that the dispersion relation is $\Delta - J_{\text{sphere}} = \sqrt{J'^2 + \frac{\lambda}{\pi^2} \sin^2(p/2)}$ [27,94]. These necessarily live in S^3 rather than S^2 . They are called dyonic magnons, and (embedding $S^3 \subset \mathbb{C}^2)$ can be written as

$$W_1 = e^{i\tau} \left(\cos \frac{p}{2} + i \sin \frac{p}{2} \tanh U \right)$$
$$W_2 = e^{iV} \sin \frac{p}{2} \operatorname{sech} U$$

where

$$U = (x \cosh \beta - \tau \sinh \beta) \cos \alpha, \qquad \qquad \cot \alpha = \frac{2r}{1 - r^2} \sin \frac{p}{2},$$
$$V = (\tau \cosh \beta - x \sinh \beta) \sin \alpha, \qquad \qquad \tanh \beta = \frac{2r}{1 + r^2} \cos \frac{p}{2}.$$

The parameter p is still the opening angle along the equator in the W_1 plane, although $\cos(p/2)$ is clearly no longer the worldsheet velocity. Sending the new parameter $r \to 1$ reproduces the original giant magnon.

The second method of embedding S^2 solutions into CP^3 , given by (6.20), points out a way to embed S^3 solutions:

$$\vec{Z} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (W_1, W_2, \bar{W}_2, \bar{W}_1).$$
 (6.23)

As before, this is in fact a subspace RP^3 rather than S^3 , thanks to the identification of $(w_1, w_2) \sim -(w_1, w_2)$ implied.¹⁴

Embedding a dyonic giant magnon in this way gives a CP^3 solution with charges¹⁵

$$\begin{split} \Delta - \frac{J}{2} &= 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \frac{1+r^2}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right) \,, \\ \frac{Q}{2} &= 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \frac{1-r^2}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right) \,, \end{split}$$

where the angular momenta J and Q were defined in (6.10). The third angular momenta

¹⁴Note that the rotation from \vec{z} to \vec{w} given by (6.21) is not an isometry, and in particular that the identification $\vec{z} \sim \lambda \vec{z}$ which defines CP^3 does not apply afterwards: $\vec{w} \approx \lambda \vec{w}$ for complex λ . If $w_3 = w_4 = 0$, as is implied by (6.23), then the phases of w_1 and w_2 are both physical. (Which is good if we're claiming that the dyonic magnon has momentum along both of them.)

However, the relation $\vec{w} \sim \lambda \vec{w}$ is true for real λ , and since we have fixed $w_1^2 + w_2^2 = 1$ by starting with a string solution on S^2 , the identification $(w_1, w_2) \sim -(w_1, w_2)$ is all that survives.

¹⁵In calculating these charges from (6.9), the same cancellation of the second term happens here as happened in the previous section. Thus using the charges one would expect for $S^7 \subset \mathbb{C}^4$ gives the right answer here. This does not work in the CP^1 case, see footnote 10.

from (6.10) is still zero. These charges satisfy the relation¹⁶

$$\mathscr{E} = \Delta - \frac{J}{2} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{Q}{2}\right)^2 + 8\lambda \sin^2\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right)}.$$
(6.24)

Notice that the second angular momentum here, $Q \equiv J_2 - J_3$, is that carried by Y^2 and Y_3^{\dagger} , which are the impurities we insert into the vacuum (6.2) to make magnons in the $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ sector.

This subspace can also be obtained from (6.6), by fixing $\vartheta_1 = \frac{\pi}{2}$, $\vartheta_2 = \frac{\pi}{2}$ and $\eta = 0$. The metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = d\xi^{2} + \sin^{2}\xi d\left(\frac{\varphi_{2}}{2}\right)^{2} + \cos^{2}\xi d\left(\frac{\varphi_{1}}{2}\right)^{2}.$$

This restriction can be checked to be a legal one from the equations of motion for the angles ϑ_1 , ϑ_2 and η . The dyonic giant magnon in this space was re-derived by [197], using exactly these angles. It was also re-derived by [196] using co-ordinates \vec{z} .

Like the RP^2 magnons above, at $p' = \pi$ these form single closed strings, and beyond this $(\pi < p' < 2\pi)$ give a second class of magnons connecting the same two points on the equator as the magnon with $\tilde{p} = p' - \pi$.

Comparison of CP^1 and RP^2 magnons

In Section 6.4 we looked at two different ways to embed the basic single-charge giant magnon (6.15), into either CP^1 or RP^2 [192, 193]. This CP^1 is a two-sphere of radius $\frac{1}{2}$, while RP^2 is half a two-sphere, so both have an equator of length π . We lined up the embeddings into \mathbb{C}^4 such that, in both cases, the equator is the line

$$\vec{z} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(e^{i\beta}, 0, 0, e^{-i\beta} \right)$$

where we name the angle $\beta \in [0, \pi]$, as in (D.7), to avoid confusion.

¹⁶We again used the prime p' to distinguish from the parameter p = 2p' in $\mathbb{C}P^1$.
Since the basic magnon (6.15) has opening angle $\Delta \phi_{mag} = p$, these two solutions have

$$CP^{1}: \qquad \beta = \chi/4 = \phi_{mag}/2 \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \Delta\beta = p/2$$
$$RP^{2}: \qquad \beta = \varphi_{2}/2 = \phi_{mag} \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \Delta\beta = p'$$

(where we write p' for the parameter of the RP^2 magnon, to distinguish it from the CP^1 case's p). A single giant magnon is not a closed string solution, one must join a set of them together at their endpoints on the equator. The condition for a set p_i of CP^1 magnons or p'_j of RP^2 magnons to close is that the total opening angle $\Delta\beta$ should be a multiple of π , that is,

$$CP^{1}: \qquad \sum_{i} p_{i} = 2\pi n \qquad (6.25)$$
$$RP^{2}: \qquad \sum_{j} 2p'_{j} = 2\pi n, \qquad n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Another way of putting this last result is that for the CP^1 magnon, like the original S^2 solution, the condition for the set of giant magnons to close is $\sum_i p_i = 0 \mod 2\pi$, since p is the opening angle along the equator. However, for the RP^2 magnon, the $p' = \pi$ magnon is also a closed string, due to the \mathbb{Z}_2 identification in this space, and thus we have $\sum_i p'_i = 0 \mod \pi$ instead.

The point particle (6.11) moves along the same equator too, and by calculating fluctuations of this solution, we checked in Appendix D.3 that $\Delta - \frac{J_1 - J_4}{2}$ is indeed a Hamiltonian for them, just as $\Delta - J$ is in the S^5 case. Calculating the same difference of charges for the two magnon embeddings, we obtained dispersion relations (6.19) and (6.22), which we now write also in terms of the opening angle $\Delta\beta$:

$$CP^{1}: \qquad \Delta - \frac{J_{1} - J_{4}}{2} = \sqrt{2\lambda} \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) = \sqrt{2\lambda} \sin\left(\Delta\beta\right)$$
$$RP^{2}: \qquad \Delta - \frac{J_{1} - J_{4}}{2} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \sin\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right) = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \sin\left(\frac{\Delta\beta}{2}\right).$$

Notice that these agree at small $\Delta\beta$. The limit $p \to 0$ takes you from giant magnons to the Penrose limit (via the interpolating case of [218], studied here by [219]). Finite-*J* effects in

the Penrose limit were studied by [220].

As noted in Section 6.4, there is also a second magnon on RP^2 for any given opening angle $\Delta\beta$, which has charges [192]

$$RP^{2\prime}: \qquad \Delta - \frac{J_1 - J_4}{2} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda}\cos\left(\frac{\Delta\beta}{2}\right)$$

For small $\Delta\beta$ this is almost a circular string, with its ends slightly offset along the equator — see figure 6.1 on page 163.

6.5 Some larger subspaces

All of the string solutions we have discussed so far are known from the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ case, and explore known subspaces S^2 or $S^3 \subset S^5$. In this section we look into CP^2 and $S^2 \times S^2$ subspaces of CP^3 , in search of possible string solutions which explore the full geometry. In the first of these subspaces, the CP^2 subspace, such solutions have been found, and are discussed in the next Section 6.6.

We also study restrictions of this $S^2 \times S^2$ subspace (in Section 6.5), since these restrictions have been used in the literature.

The subspace CP^2

The simplest nontrivial subspace one can find is CP^2 , obtained by setting $z_3 = 0$. This is certainly a legal subspace, for the same reason as given for CP^1 : setting $z_3 = 0$ solves the z_3 equation of motion. The corresponding metric can be obtained as a restriction of (6.6) to $\vartheta_2 = 0$ (and $\varphi_2 = 0$, since now φ_2 is redundant):

$$ds^{2} = d\xi^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\cos^{2}\xi \left(d\vartheta_{1}^{2} + \sin^{2}\vartheta_{1}\,d\varphi_{1}^{2}\right) + \frac{1}{4}\sin^{2}2\xi \,\left(d\eta + \frac{1}{2}\cos\vartheta_{1}\,d\varphi_{1}\right)^{2}.$$

We have two manifest isometries, along φ_1 and η . For $\xi = 0$ we recover an S^2 equivalent to (6.16) (once $z_2 \leftrightarrow z_4$ are exchanged). Allowing $\xi \neq 0$ will allow us to determine a new dyonic solution (in section 6.6), generalizing the CP^1 solution (6.18) in the same way the dyonic

 RP^3 solution generalizes the RP^2 one.

The subspace $S^2 \times S^2$

Setting $\varphi_1 = \varphi_2$ and $\vartheta_1 = \vartheta_2$ in the metric (6.6) leads us to the four-dimensional space

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{4} \left[d(2\xi)^{2} + \sin^{2}(2\xi) d\eta^{2} \right] + \frac{1}{4} \left[d\vartheta^{2} + \sin^{2}\vartheta d\varphi^{2} \right]$$
(6.26)

which is a $S^2 \times S^2$ (possibly up to co-ordinate ranges). The new angles are defined by $\vartheta \equiv (\vartheta_1 + \vartheta_2)/2$ and $\varphi \equiv (\varphi_1 + \varphi_2)/2$.

To obtain this space, the restrictions on the angles are that $\vartheta_{-} \equiv \vartheta_{1} - \vartheta_{2} = 0$ and $\varphi_{-} \equiv \varphi_{1} - \varphi_{2} = 0$. Unfortunately, the equations of motion for ϑ_{-} and φ_{-} are not automatically solved by this choice: they have complicated relations between the other co-ordinates. For ϑ_{-} we have

$$0 = -\partial_{\tau} \left(\cos 2\xi \, \partial_{\tau} \vartheta \right) + \partial_{x} \left(\cos 2\xi \, \partial_{x} \vartheta \right) + \frac{1}{2} \cos 2\xi \sin 2\vartheta \left(\partial_{\tau}^{2} \varphi - \partial_{x}^{2} \varphi \right) \\ - \sin^{2} 2\xi \sin \vartheta \left(\partial_{\tau} \eta \, \partial_{\tau} \varphi - \partial_{x} \eta \, \partial_{x} \varphi \right)$$

and for φ_{-} the equation is

$$0 = -\partial_{\tau} \left(\sin^2 2\xi \cos \vartheta \, \partial_{\tau} \eta + \cos 2\xi \sin^2 \vartheta \, \partial_{\tau} \varphi \right) + \partial_x \left(\sin^2 2\xi \cos \vartheta \, \partial_x \eta + \cos 2\xi \sin^2 \vartheta \, \partial_x \varphi \right).$$

These equations do not rule out the existence of solutions on this subspace, but because these equations couple the variables ξ, η of one of the factors to the variables ϑ, φ of the other factor, just placing an arbitrary S^2 solution into each of the factors is not likely to give a solution.

The subspace $S^2 \times S^1$

We can further restrict the above subspace by holding one of the angles fixed, giving origin to a $S^2 \times S^1$ subspace (again up to identifications). This space, studied by [197], can be obtained by putting $\vartheta = \frac{\pi}{2}$:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{4} \left[d(2\xi)^{2} + \sin^{2}(2\xi) d\eta^{2} + d\varphi^{2} \right].$$

The equation of motion for ϑ is solved simply by $\vartheta = \frac{\pi}{2}$, which simplifies the constraints imposed by $\vartheta_{-} = 0$ and $\varphi_{-} = 0$ to

$$0 = -\partial_{\tau} \eta \, \partial_{\tau} \varphi + \partial_{x} \eta \, \partial_{x} \varphi \tag{6.27}$$

$$0 = -\partial_{\tau} \left(\cos 2\xi \, \partial_{\tau} \varphi \right) + \partial_{x} \left(\cos 2\xi \, \partial_{x} \varphi \right). \tag{6.28}$$

These constraints were not taken into account by [197], who sets $\vartheta_{-} = 0$ before calculating the equation of motion for ϑ (which is indeed solved) but never checks if the constraint coming from $\vartheta_{-} = 0$ is obeyed.¹⁷ In that paper, the magnon ansatz used sets $\eta = \omega \tau + f(u)$, $\varphi = v\tau$ and $\xi = g(u)$, in terms of boosted worldsheet co-ordinates $u = \beta \tau + \alpha x$. The first constraint (6.27) then implies $\beta f'(u) = -\omega$, while one would expect $f(u) \propto \tanh u$ for a magnon solution. The second constraint (6.28) then gives $\beta = 0$, and together they imply $\omega = 0$.

In the other case studied by [197] one doesn't find the same problem, because the ϑ_{-} equation is solved by $\eta = 0$, and there is no φ_{-} constraint because $\varphi_{1} \neq \varphi_{2}$. The subspace consequently found is the RP^{3} subspace of Section 6.4.

The subspace CP^1 , again

If we restrict the subspace $S^2 \times S^2$ of (6.26) even further, by setting ξ and η to be constants, it reduces to the space

$$ds^2 = \frac{1}{4} \left[d\vartheta^2 + \sin^2 \vartheta \, d\varphi^2 \right]$$

which is a sphere of radius $\frac{1}{2}$, equivalent to the CP^1 of Section 6.4. This is a legal subspace: the equations of motion for ξ and η are trivially solved (a stationary particle anywhere on the sphere is a solution) and the constraints arising from $\vartheta_- = 0$ and from $\varphi_- = 0$ become the equations of motion for ϑ and φ .

¹⁷The constraint (6.27) can be derived without using ϑ_{-} , if we set $\vartheta_1 = \frac{\pi}{2}$ and $\vartheta_2 = \frac{\pi}{2}$ in their respective equations of motion.

Setting $\xi = \frac{\pi}{2}$, this space can be embedded in homogeneous co-ordinates by (see Appendix D.1 for more details)

$$\vec{z} = \left(e^{i\varphi/2}\cos\frac{\vartheta}{2}, 0, 0, e^{-i\varphi/2}\sin\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right),$$

which is just the same subspace CP^1 as in (6.16), even though we had started from the other set of angles (6.7) and fixed $\alpha = 0$. Setting ξ to any other value will just rotate the 1-2 and 3-4 planes, still giving the subspace $S^2 = CP^1$.

These co-ordinates of the CP^1 space were used in [221] to study finite-J effects on the CP^1 giant magnon. These results can be found in (6.33).

6.6 New solutions in CP^3

Until now, we have focused on giant magnon solutions which are "trivial" embeddings of already known string solutions moving $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$ and $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$. But there is great interest in finding solutions that truly explore the geometry of \mathbb{CP}^3 . In this section we present two such solutions, the first being a dyonic generalization of the \mathbb{CP}^1 magnon, and the second being some kind of "bound state" of two magnons (we will have a better interpretation for it when comparing to the results in the algebraic curve formalism) – that is, a two-parameter, one angular momentum string solution. Both of these solutions explore the full \mathbb{CP}^2 space.

Dyonic generalization of the CP^1 magnon

Consider the subspace CP^2 obtained by fixing $z_3 = 0$, or in terms of the angles, $\theta_1 = 0$ and $\eta = 0$, leaving

$$\vec{z} = \begin{pmatrix} \sin\xi \cos(\vartheta_2/2) e^{i\varphi_2/2} \\ \cos\xi e^{i\varphi_1/2} \\ 0 \\ \sin\xi \sin(\vartheta_2/2) e^{-i\varphi_2/2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.29)

The metric for this subspace can be written as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{4}\sin^{2}\xi \left[d\vartheta_{2}^{2} + \sin^{2}\vartheta_{2} d\varphi_{2}^{2} + \cos^{2}\xi \left(d\varphi_{1} - \cos\vartheta_{2} d\varphi_{2} \right)^{2} \right] + d\xi^{2}.$$

At $\xi = \frac{\pi}{2}$ the space is CP^1 , described by ϑ_2 and φ_2 only, but away from this value there is a second isometry direction $d\varphi_1$. It was proposed in [222] that the dyonic generalization of the CP^1 magnon might have momentum along this direction, but to do so, it must in addition have $\xi \neq \frac{\pi}{2}$ except at the endpoints of the string, at $x = \pm \infty$, where it must touch the same equator as the CP^1 solution.

We have not yet been able to find the full solution, but can find a GKP-like dyonic solution (i.e. a $p = \pi$ magnon¹⁸) using the ansatz:

This amounts to assuming that the back-reaction on the original solution in ϑ_2, φ_2 created by giving it new momentum along φ_1 is exactly as for the S^3 dyonic solution, but unlike the S^3 case, there is one extra function e(x).

With this ansatz the equations of motion for φ_1 and φ_2 , and the second Virasoro constraint, are already solved. The equation of motion for ϑ_2 can be written

$$\partial_x \left(\cos^2 e(x) \operatorname{sech} X \right) = -2 \frac{\cos^2 e(x)}{\sqrt{1 - \omega^2}} \tanh X \left\{ \operatorname{sech} X \cos^2 e(x) + \omega \sin^2 e(x) \right\},$$

where $X = \sqrt{1 - \omega^2} 2x$. Using a change of variables $y(x) = \ln(\cos^2 e(x))$, this equation can be written as

$$y'(x) = e^{y(x)}f(x) + g(x),$$
 (6.30)

¹⁸GKP [11] studied rotating folded strings, which at $J = \infty$ are the $p = \pi$ case of the HM magnon [26]. Two-spin folded string solutions were studied by F&T [25], and are the $p = \pi$ case of Dorey's dyonic giant magnon [27,94].



Figure 6.2: Profiles of the CP^2 solution. $\cos \vartheta_2$ is the same as for Dorey's S^3 dyonic giant magnon, but the solution also spreads away from $\xi = \frac{\pi}{2}$ as we increase ω . This is shown for $\omega = 0.2$ and 0.8.

where

$$f(x) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{1 - \omega^2}} (\omega - \operatorname{sech} X) \sinh X,$$

$$g(x) = -f(x) - \frac{2\omega^2}{\sqrt{1 - \omega^2}} \tanh X.$$

The equation (6.30) has solutions of the form $y(x) = -\ln(-F(x)) + G(x)$, where G'(x) = g(x)and $F'(x) = f(x)e^{G(x)}$. After some algebra, we find the following form for the solution:

$$\cos^2(e(x)) = \sin^2 \xi = \frac{1}{1 + \omega \cos \vartheta_2} = \frac{1}{1 + \omega \operatorname{sech}\left(\sqrt{1 - \omega^2} 2x\right)}$$
(6.31)

where $\boldsymbol{\omega} \geq 0$.

Calculating charges J and Q for this solution, we find

$$\Delta - \frac{J}{2} = \sqrt{2\lambda} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \omega^2}}, \qquad \qquad \frac{Q}{2} = -\sqrt{2\lambda} \frac{\omega}{\sqrt{1 - \omega^2}}$$

and therefore the dispersion relation is

$$\Delta - \frac{J}{2} = \sqrt{\frac{Q^2}{4} + 2\lambda} \,.$$

	$\mathscr{E} = \Delta - \frac{J}{2}$	$\delta \mathscr{E} ext{ (finite } J)$		J_3
Vacuum	0			
CP^1 giant magnon	$\sqrt{2\lambda}\sin(\frac{p}{2})$	$-4\mathscr{E}\sin^2(\frac{p}{2})e^{-2\Delta/\mathscr{E}}$	0	0
Dyonic version in CP^2	$\sqrt{\frac{Q^2}{4}+2\lambda}$ when $p=\pi$	(Use 'small' curve, (7.12))	Q	$\pm Q$
RP^2 giant magnon	$2\sqrt{2\lambda}\sin(\frac{p'}{2})$	$-4\mathscr{E}\sin^2(\frac{p'}{2})e^{-2\Delta/\mathscr{E}}$	0	0
Dyonic version in RP^3	$\sqrt{\frac{Q^2}{4}+8\lambda\sin^2(\frac{p'}{2})}$	Like S^5 result, (6.34)	Q	0
HM/KSV/S dressed solution	$\sqrt{Q_f^2+8\lambda\sin^2(rac{p'}{2})}$	(Use 'big' curve, (7.15))	0	0

Table 6.1: Summary of giant magnons in the string sigma-model. The dressed solution of [199, 200, 201] also lives in \mathbb{CP}^2 (the \mathbb{RP}^2 solution has often been called $SU(2) \times SU(2)$, 'big' and $S^2 \times S^2$ in the literature). To match the curves we want p' = p/2.

We conjecture that for the general case (allowing $p \neq \pi$) the dispersion relation is

$$\mathscr{E} = \Delta - \frac{J}{2} = \sqrt{\frac{Q^2}{4} + 2\lambda \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)}$$

matching the one for the 'small giant magon' in the algebraic curve.

Unlike the RP^3 dyonic magnon, this one is charged not only under Q but also under J_3 , with $J_3 = Q$. There is a second CP^2 solution, in the subspace with $z_2 = 0$ instead of $z_3 = 0$, which has $J_3 = -Q$ but is otherwise similar. In the limit $\omega \to 0$ both kinds become the same CP^1 solution. All of these properties match those of the two kinds of small giant magnons in the algebraic curve perfectly.

Dressing method solution in CP^2

One other solution which does not exist in S^5 was recently constructed by several groups using the dressing method [199, 200, 201].

The dressing method is used to generate multi-soliton solutions above a given vacuum in the principal chiral model, and is closely related to the Bäcklund transformation [154,223]. We start from the 'bare' vacuum solution Ψ_0 , and construct the so called 'dressed' solution Ψ by setting $\Psi = \chi(0)\Psi_0$, where $\chi(\lambda)$ is the dressing matrix and λ is a spectral parameter. Each independent pole λ_1 of the dressing matrix $\chi(\lambda)^{19}$ leads to one soliton, whose characterizing parameters are given by λ_1 's position in the complex plane.

This method was first used to generate giant magnons in S^3 by [109]. In there, the string sigma-model was mapped to an SU(2) principal chiral model and an SO(3) vector model. For the former case, it was seen that a pole at $\lambda_1 = re^{ip/2}$ gave rise to a dyonic giant magnon with charges

$$\Delta - J_1 = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\pi} \frac{1 + r^2}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right), \qquad \qquad J_2 = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\pi} \frac{1 - r^2}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)$$

which combine to give the usual dispersion relation (J_2 can be viewed as the second parameter of the solution, instead of r). In the SO(3) case, only the non-dyonic giant magnon, r = 1 case, can be obtained.

The solution that was constructed in CP^3 makes use of the map to an SU(4)/U(3) model. The position of the dressing pole $\lambda_1 = re^{ip'/2}$ provides two parameters, but unlike the S^3 case, there is only one nonzero angular momentum²⁰

$$J = 2\Delta - 4\sqrt{2\lambda} \frac{1+r^2}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right)$$

Nevertheless, if we replace the parameter r with a new parameter defined by

$$Q_f = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \frac{1-r^2}{2r} \sin(\frac{p'}{2}),$$

then the dispersion relation can be re-written as

$$\Delta - \frac{J}{2} = \sqrt{Q_f^2 + 8\lambda \sin^2\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right)}.$$

The factor in front of Q_f has been chosen to make the above expression for the dispersion relation match the dispersion relation for the big giant magnon in the algebraic curve (after setting p = 2p'). In fact, the big giant magnon is also a two-parameter single-momentum

 $^{^{19}\}mathrm{And}$ sometimes also an image pole at $1/\lambda_1.$

²⁰As in \mathbb{RP}^2 , we will call the "opening angle" parameter p'.

solution, as will be seen in Section 7.1 below.

Choosing the same basis as [199,200],²¹ the solution in the GKP²² case $p' = \pi$ is given by:²³

$$\vec{z}' = N \begin{pmatrix} (1+r^2)\cos(\tau) + \cos\left(\frac{1-3r^2}{1+r^2}\tau\right) + r^2\cos\left(\frac{3-r^2}{1+r^2}\tau\right) + i(1-r^2)\sin(\tau)\sinh\left(\frac{4r}{1+r^2}x\right) \\ -(1+r^2)\sin(\tau) + \sin\left(\frac{1-3r^2}{1+r^2}\tau\right) - r^2\sin\left(\frac{3-r^2}{1+r^2}\tau\right) - i(1-r^2)\cos(\tau)\sinh\left(\frac{4r}{1+r^2}x\right) \\ 2(1-r^2)\left[\sin\left(\frac{1-r^2}{1+r^2}\tau\right)\sinh\left(\frac{2r}{1+r^2}x\right) - i\cos\left(\frac{1-r^2}{1+r^2}\tau\right)\cosh\left(\frac{2r}{1+r^2}x\right)\right] \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

where N is a normalization factor ensuring $|\vec{z}|^2 = 1$. The vacuum related to this solution, $\vec{z}'_{vac} = (\cos(t), \sin(t), 0, 0)$, has a large charge under $J' = J[\sigma_2 \oplus 1]$, and all other charges $J[T^a]$ zero. In the presence of this magnon solution, the value of the non-zero charge J' changes, but all the other charges remain zero. If we perform a rotation in the vacuum \vec{z}'_{vac} so that it matches our $\vec{z}_{vac} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(e^{it}, 0, 0, e^{-it} \right)$, the same transformation will also rotate J' into the charge J used for the other magnons.

Taking the limit $r \to 1$, or $Q_f \to 0$ in this solution, we recover the dispersion relation of the RP^2 giant magnon. The same limit will naturally take the solution (in this basis) to the embedding of the ordinary magnon (6.12) given by $\vec{z}' = (\operatorname{Re} w_1, \operatorname{Im} w_1, \operatorname{Re} w_2, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^4$.

Finite-*J* corrections to this solution have not been done in the string sigma-model (except trivially at $Q_f = 0$, where it coincides with the RP^2 magnon) but we compute them through the algebraic curve formalism in the next Chapter, Section 7.2.

We summarize all the properties of the various string solutions in table 6.1.

6.7 Finite-J corrections

All of the giant magnons solutions we have been discussing so far have both infinite energy and infinite angular momentum. One can easily see from (6.13) that in the timelike conformal

 $^{^{21}\}mathrm{In}$ [201] the basis used to get the solution was the same as ours.

 $^{^{22}}$ See footnote 18 about this name.

²³At $p' = \pi$ this solution is a closed string, just as it happened for the RP^2 and RP^3 magnons.

gauge we are using, this corresponds to having infinite worldsheet length.

The finite-J generalizations of the basic giant magnon are still solutions moving on S^2 , and so one can embed them into CP^3 using either of the maps given in sections 6.4 and 6.4 above. For the RP^2 giant magnon, the corrections to the dispersion relation were derived in [224] to be

$$\Delta - \frac{J}{2} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda}\sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) \left[1 - 4\sin^2\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right)e^{-2\Delta/2\sqrt{2\lambda}\sin\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right)} + \dots\right]$$
(6.32)

The CP^1 giant magnon case was studied in [221] where they found the corrected dispersion relation to be^{24}

$$\Delta - \frac{J}{2} = \sqrt{2\lambda} \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) \left[1 - 4\sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) e^{-2\Delta/\sqrt{2\lambda}\sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)} + \dots \right].$$
(6.33)

We observe that, even at finite J, two CP^1 magnons have the same dispersion relation as one RP^2 magnon, provided all three have the same value of the parameter p.²⁵

For the RP^3 dyonic giant magnon, we can similarly embed the results from S^3 . The corrections to the dispersion relation of the dyonic giant magnon in S^3 were originally computed by [138], from the all-*J* solutions of [96]. The embedded solutions in CP^3 were then studied by [196, 225], and the result is:

$$\Delta - \frac{J}{2} = \sqrt{\frac{Q^2}{4} + 8\lambda \sin^2\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right)} - 32\lambda \cos(2\phi) \frac{1}{\mathscr{E}} \sin^4\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right) e^{-\Delta \mathscr{E}/25}$$
(6.34)

$$\frac{J_1(\frac{L}{2}) - J_4(\frac{L}{2})}{2} = \frac{1}{2} J_{\text{sphere}}(L).$$

Thus $\Delta(\frac{L}{2}) - (J_1(\frac{L}{2}) - J_4(\frac{L}{2}))/2 = \Delta(\frac{L}{2}) - \frac{1}{2}J_{\text{sphere}}(L) = \frac{1}{2}(\Delta(L) - J_{\text{sphere}}(L))$. In the result (6.33), it is the energy for one magnon $\Delta(\frac{L}{2})$ which appears both on the left hand side and in the exponent.

²⁴Here is a brief note about deriving these two results from the original S^2 case. The integrals defining the charges are now over a finite length -L < x < L, so write J(L) and $\Delta(L)$. Note that $\Delta(2L) = 2\Delta(L)$. To get the charges for one magnon, we must integrate from one cusp to the next: choose L such that $\theta_{mag}(x = \pm L, \tau = 0)$ are at the first cusps.

For the RP^2 case, the relationship we used before $J_{\text{sphere}}(L) = J_1(L) = (J_1(L) - J_4(L))/2$ still holds, leading to (6.32). We wrote the S^2 result (3.9) on page 61 using the prefactor appropriate for $AdS_5 \times S^5$, so to get this result for the $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ theory one has to replace $\sqrt{\lambda}/\pi \to 2\sqrt{2\lambda}$.

For the CP^1 case, the cusp at $\theta_{mag}(L,0)$ is at $\hat{Z}_{CP^1}(\frac{L}{2},0)$, thanks to the scaling (6.17). The relationship between charges is that

²⁵One can see that all the properties of the two CP^1 magnons seem to add up to give those of the single RP^2 magnon: energy Δ , angular momentum J/2, the worldsheet length L and the opening angle along the equator (which we have called $\Delta\beta$ previously).



Type (i): $2\phi = 0, \, \delta \mathcal{E} < 0$ Type (ii): $2\phi = \pi, \, \delta \mathcal{E} > 0$

Figure 6.3: The two classes of finite-J magnons found by [96].

where \mathscr{E} was given in (6.24) and we also define 2627

$$S = \frac{Q^2}{16\sin^2(\frac{p'}{2})} + 2\lambda\sin^2\left(\frac{p'}{2}\right).$$
 (6.35)

We should clarify the meaning of the factor $\cos(2\phi)$. In [138], this factor is set to be +1 for 'type (i) helical strings', and -1 for 'type (ii)' strings. These are two kinds of finite-Jsolutions, which in the non-dyonic case in S^2 have the property that adjacent magnons either have the same or opposite orientations. Type (i) strings will then have a cusp not touching the equator, while type (ii) strings cross the equator at less than a right angle – see figure 6.3. Everything points to the interpretation of 2ϕ being the same in the CP^3 solutions: 2ϕ should be the angle between the two magnons' orientation vectors (the same factor could be included in the non-dyonic cases (6.32) and (6.33)).

As was mentioned before, in the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ case the finite-J corrections can also be calculated using algebraic curves [29, 31, 32, 34, 89, 183, 35, 141, 226, 184] or using the Lüscher formula [139, 227, 140, 228, 229]. The corrections obtained through these methods agree with the string σ -model result, which can be found in (3.9) on page 61. For calculations on the gauge theory side of the correspondence see [23, 230, 231, 136, 232, 233, 234, 235].

In $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ one can also use any of the methods mentioned above. In Chapter 7,

²⁶Note that $S(\frac{p'}{2}) \rightarrow \frac{1}{4} \mathscr{E}^2$ as $Q \rightarrow 0$. Comparing to [138], we should mention that $\cosh(\theta/2) = \mathscr{E}/2\sqrt{2\lambda} \sin(\frac{p'}{2})$. In terms of our notation for the next chapter, this θ is defined $r = e^{\theta/2}$.

 $^{^{27}\}mathcal{E}\equiv\Delta-J/2$ is defined at infinite J.

we will discuss the application of the algebraic curve formalism to determine these finite-J corrections for the giant magnon solutions presented in this chapter.

CHAPTER 7

ALGEBRAIC CURVES IN *CP*³ AND FINITE-J CORRECTIONS

Classical and semi-classical strings allow us to explore some sectors of the $\mathcal{N} = 6$ ABJM / $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ duality [6], and these are much richer than their well-known counterparts in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM / $AdS_5 \times S^5$ duality [1]. It was known very early on that there are at least two kinds of giant magnons, created by placing the HM giant magnon [26] into various S^2 -like subspaces, namely CP^1 and RP^2 [192, 193]. It is equally easy to place Dorey's S^3 dyonic giant magnon [27, 94] into RP^3 , giving a two-spin generalization of the RP^2 magnon [196]. Other solutions truly living in CP^3 have also been studied, one being a two-parameter one-angular-momentum solution [199,200,201] generalizing the RP^2 magnon, and the other being a dyonic generalization of the CP^1 magnon [202], living in CP^2 .

As was mentioned in the last Chapter, the solutions of the classical string sigma-model should be in exact correspondence to algebraic curves [46]. After having described the known giant magnon solutions on the string side, we can now review the solutions known from the algebraic curve formalism, and write the dictionary of solutions on both sides of this correspondence.

Finite-J corrections are of increasing importance in the study of gauge and string integrability. They can sometimes be computed directly on the string side by finding solutions with $J < \infty$, and all existing finite-J giant magnon solutions are embeddings of well-known S^5 results of this type [82,96,97,138]. Other methods that have been used to calculate finite size corrections includes the construction of corresponding algebraic curves [141, 226, 184, 185] and the Lüscher formulae [227, 185, 138, 236].

In this Chapter we will start by setting up the algebraic curve formalism for $AdS_4 \times CP^3$. We then extend the algebraic curve calculations of [185], by calculating finite-*J* corrections not only for a pair of small giant magnons, but also for a single small magnon and the big magnon. In the non-dyonic case, all of these give the result AFZ [82] found for a magnon in S^2 . Likewise the dyonic pair of giant magnons matches the S^3 result: this too is a simple embedding of that string solution. But for the dyonic small and big magnons, which correspond to string solutions not found in S^5 , we find new formulae for these energy corrections. We will finally conclude with the dictionary between strings and curves, summarized in two tables, on pages 173 and 187.

7.1 The algebraic curve for $AdS_4 \times CP^3$

In Chapter 5 we studied classical strings in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ from the point of view of algebraic curves, following the works of [29, 30, 31, 32, 34, 146]. One can take the same approach for the $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ case, starting from the σ -model given by [187, 18]. This was first studied by Gromov and Vieira [46]. We will start by summarizing the bosonic algebraic curve on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ and some of its properties, which can be found in [46].¹

The eigenvalues of the monodromy matrix in this background are $e^{i\tilde{p}_1}, e^{i\tilde{p}_2}, e^{i\tilde{p}_3}, e^{i\tilde{p}_4}$ for the CP^3 part, and $e^{i\hat{p}_1}, e^{i\hat{p}_2}, e^{i\hat{p}_3}, e^{i\hat{p}_4}$ for the AdS part, where the functions \tilde{p}_i and \hat{p}_i as are the quasi-momenta, as before. The continuity in the complex plane of the function $\operatorname{eig}(\Omega(\mathbf{x}))$ demands that when a branch cut C_{ij} connects sheets i and j, we must have

$$p_i^+ - p_j^- = 2\pi n$$
, for $x \in C_{ij}$.

The superscript \pm indicates that the function is being evaluated immediately above/below

¹In this section we use x to be the spectral parameter of the curves, and σ, τ to be the worldsheet co-ordinates which we called x, τ before.

the cut. These quasi-momenta also obey the traceless condition of the monodromy matrix

$$\sum_{k=1}^{4} \tilde{p}_{k}(x) = 0, \quad \hat{p}_{1}(x) + \hat{p}_{4}(x) = \hat{p}_{2}(x) + \hat{p}_{3}(x) = 0.$$

With respect to these quasi-momenta, one can then define fillings, and relate them to the relevant Dynkin labels or conserved charges, by performing an expansion at $x \to \infty$:

$$\begin{array}{lll} (\hat{p}_1, \hat{p}_2, \hat{p}_3, \hat{p}_4) &\sim & \displaystyle \frac{1}{g_x} \left(L + \Delta, S, -S, -L - \Delta \right) , \\ (\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2, \tilde{p}_3, \tilde{p}_4) &\sim & \displaystyle \frac{1}{2g_x} \left(L - M_u, M_u - M_r, M_r - M_v, -L + M_r \right) , \end{array}$$

where L is the length operator charge, Δ is the energy (time-translations) charge, S is an angular momentum in the AdS factor, and the excitation numbers $M_{u,v,r}$ are related to the SU(4) Dynkin labels by

$$\begin{bmatrix} p_1 \\ q \\ p_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} L - 2M_u + M_r \\ M_u + M_v - 2M_r \\ L - 2M_v + M_r \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^3.$$
(7.1)

In the singularities $x = \pm 1$ the quasi-momenta can be expanded as

$$\begin{array}{lll} (\hat{p}_1, \hat{p}_2, \hat{p}_3, \hat{p}_4) &\sim & \displaystyle \frac{1}{x \mp 1} \left(\alpha_{\pm}, 0, 0, -\alpha_{\pm} \right), \\ (\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2, \tilde{p}_3, \tilde{p}_4) &\sim & \displaystyle \frac{1}{2} \displaystyle \frac{1}{x \mp 1} \left(\alpha_{\pm}, 0, 0, -\alpha_{\pm} \right). \end{array}$$

Finally, under the inversion symmetry $x \rightarrow 1/x$, these quasi-momenta behave as

$$\hat{p}_k(1/x) = \varepsilon_k \hat{p}_k(x)$$
, $\tilde{p}_k(1/x) = \tilde{p}_{k'}(x) + \varepsilon_k 2\pi m$

where $\varepsilon_k = (-1, 1, 1, -1)$ and k' = (4, 2, 3, 1) when k = (1, 2, 3, 4).

The quasi-momenta \tilde{p}_i and \hat{p}_i describe the bosonic sector of type IIA string theory on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$, and are the analogous quantities to the ones used in Chapter 5. Nevertheless, to perform calculations it is more convenient to work in a formalism with explicit OSp(2,2|6)

symmetry. To do this we define ten new quasi-momenta q_i as [46]

$$\{q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4, q_5\} = \frac{1}{2}\{\hat{p}_1 + \hat{p}_2, \hat{p}_1 - \hat{p}_2, \tilde{p}_1 + \tilde{p}_2, -\tilde{p}_2 - \tilde{p}_4, \tilde{p}_1 + \tilde{p}_4\}$$

and

$$\{q_6, q_7, q_8, q_9, q_{10}\} = \{-q_5, -q_4, -q_3, -q_2, -q_1\}$$

The functions q_i now define a ten-sheeted Riemann surface.

Algebraic curve with manifest OSp(2,2|6) symmetry

In this ten-sheeted Riemann surface, the quasi-momenta q_i have to obey the following relations [46]:

1. Only five of the quasi-momenta are independent:

$$\{q_6, q_7, q_8, q_9, q_{10}\} = \{-q_5, -q_4, -q_3, -q_2, -q_1\}.$$

2. If we have a square-root branch cut C_{ij} between sheets i, j then:

$$q_i^+(x) - q_j^-(x) = 2\pi n_{ij}, x \in C_{ij}.$$

- 3. Synchronized poles: the residues at poles $x = \pm 1$ are the same $(\alpha_{\pm}/2)$ for q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4 , while q_5 does not have a pole at $x = \pm 1$.
- 4. Inversion symmetry:

$$\begin{pmatrix} q_{1}(1/x) \\ q_{2}(1/x) \\ q_{3}(1/x) \\ q_{4}(1/x) \\ q_{5}(1/x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -q_{2}(x) \\ -q_{1}(x) \\ -q_{4}(x) + 2\pi m \\ -q_{3}(x) + 2\pi m \\ +q_{5}(x) \end{pmatrix}.$$

This $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ gives the momentum condition: $p = 2\pi m$.

5. Asymptotic behaviour as $x \to \infty$:

$$\begin{pmatrix} q_{1} \\ q_{2} \\ q_{3} \\ q_{4} \\ q_{5} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2gx} \begin{pmatrix} \Delta + S \\ \Delta - S \\ L - M_{r} \\ L + M_{r} - M_{u} - M_{v} \\ M_{v} - M_{u} \end{pmatrix} + o(\frac{1}{x^{2}}) = \frac{1}{2gx} \begin{pmatrix} \Delta + S \\ \Delta - S \\ J_{1} \\ J_{2} \\ J_{3} \end{pmatrix} + \dots$$
(7.2)

where, as before, $\lambda=8g^2$ (i.e. $4g=\sqrt{2\lambda}).$

In [185] they used the following ansatz for solutions mostly in \mathbb{CP}^3 :

$$q_{1}(x) = \frac{\alpha x}{x^{2} - 1}$$

$$q_{2}(x) = \frac{\alpha x}{x^{2} - 1}$$

$$q_{3}(x) = \frac{\alpha x}{x^{2} - 1} + G_{u}(0) - G_{u}(\frac{1}{x}) + G_{v}(0) - G_{v}(\frac{1}{x}) + G_{r}(x) - G_{r}(0) + G_{r}(\frac{1}{x})$$

$$q_{4}(x) = \frac{\alpha x}{x^{2} - 1} + G_{u}(x) + G_{v}(x) - G_{r}(x) + G_{r}(0) - G_{r}(\frac{1}{x})$$

$$q_{5}(x) = G_{u}(x) - G_{u}(0) + G_{u}(\frac{1}{x}) - G_{v}(x) + G_{v}(0) - G_{v}(\frac{1}{x})$$
(7.3)

From q_1 and q_2 we can conclude that S = 0 (that is, we have zero AdS angular momentum) and that $\alpha = \Delta/2g$.

The resolvents G_u, G_v, G_r control the CP^3 part of the curve, q_3, q_4, q_5 . Consequently, their asymptotic expansion will be related to the SU(4) excitation numbers M_u, M_v, M_r . The values of these resolvents at x = 0 will in turn control the momentum²

$$p = 2\pi m = q_3\left(\frac{1}{x}\right) + q_4(x).$$
 (7.4)

²For a closed string $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, however, we want to consider a single giant magnon which in general is not a closed string. Hence we will relax this condition and consider general p. To get a physical state this momentum condition should be imposed. This can be done by considering multi-magnon states [141,185].

The Dynkin labels of SU(4) are directly related to the excitation numbers $M_{u,v,r}$ through (7.1), and thus can be combined into the SO(6) charges:

$$\begin{pmatrix} J_1 \\ J_2 \\ J_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} q + (p_1 + p_2)/2 \\ (p_1 + p_2)/2 \\ (p_2 - p_1)/2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} L - M_r \\ L + M_r - M_u - M_v \\ M_u - M_v \end{pmatrix},$$

which are in turn combined into the magnons' major and minor charges:

$$J = J_1 + J_2 = 2L - M_u - M_v = p_1 + q + p_2,$$

$$Q = J_1 - J_2 = M_u + M_v - 2M_r = q.$$

Giant magnons in the curve

This discussion now follows the introduction of giant magnon solutions in the algebraic curve formalism, in Section 5.4 on page 145, where we saw that a condensate of poles gave rise to giant magnon solutions in $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$. For the CP^3 case, two different kinds of giant magnons were seen to exist in [198], who named them 'small' and 'big'. These can be constructed by setting some of the resolvents in the above ansatz to the giant magnon resolvent (5.28):

$$G_{\text{mag}}(x) = -i\log\left(\frac{x-X^+}{x-X^-}\right).$$
(7.5)

Recall that for solutions only with logarithmic cuts, X^{\pm} are complex conjugates.

'Small giant magnon'

The first curve in [198] is the 'small giant magnon' with

$$G_{\nu}(x) = G_{\text{mag}}(x), \qquad G_{u} = G_{r} = 0.$$

Reading off the charges from this curve we find:

$$p = -i\log\frac{X^{+}}{X^{-}}, \qquad \qquad Q = -i2g\left(X^{+} - X^{-} + \frac{1}{X^{+}} - \frac{1}{X^{-}}\right), \qquad \qquad J = 2\Delta + i2g\left(X^{+} - X^{-} - \frac{1}{X^{+}} + \frac{1}{X^{-}}\right), \qquad \qquad J_{3} = Q.$$
(7.6)

We can use the above relations to solve for X^{\pm} and obtain the dispersion relation

$$\Delta - \frac{J}{2} = \sqrt{\frac{Q^2}{4} + 16g^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)}.$$

Another kind of small magnon can be obtained from G_u instead of G_v . The only change is in the sign of $J_3 = -Q$.

'Big giant magnon'

There is also the 'big giant magnon', which has

$$G_u(x) = G_v(x) = G_r(x) = G_{\text{mag}}(x)$$

We then obtain the charges

$$p = -2i \log \frac{X^{+}}{X^{-}}, \qquad Q = 0,$$

$$J = 2\Delta + i4g \left(X^{+} - X^{-} - \frac{1}{X^{+}} + \frac{1}{X^{-}} \right), \qquad J_{3} = 0.$$
(7.7)

This is the second curve used by [198]. In the dispersion relation, it is not the total Q but rather Q_u , the contribution from just the u part (which is canceled by the v part in the full solution), that appears. This is the same function of X^{\pm} as for the small giant magnon (7.6) above. The result is

$$\Delta - \frac{J}{2} = \sqrt{Q_u^2 + 64g^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{p}{4}\right)}.$$

For this solution, $\mathscr{E} = \Delta - J/2$ is a function of two parameters, Q_u and p, but Q_u is not an asymptotic charge of the full solution. Here we have only one angular momentum, plus another parameter Q_u , unlike the case of the ordinary dyonic giant magnons, which are two-parameter two-momentum solutions.

Pair of small magnons

We can also put one small magnon into each sector, $G_v(x) = G_u(x) = G_{mag}(x)$ keeping $G_r = 0$. All of the charges (including both Δ and p) are just the sum of those of each of the constituent small giant magnons, and we write $Q = Q_u + Q_v$ etc. Thus we get the dispersion relation

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta - \frac{J}{2} &= \sqrt{\frac{Q_u^2}{4} + 16g^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{p_u}{2}\right)} + \sqrt{\frac{Q_v^2}{4} + 16g^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{p_v}{2}\right)} \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{Q^2}{4} + 64g^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{p}{4}\right)} \end{aligned}$$

If we were to use the momentum p_u of one constituent magnon, rather than the total p, then we would have $\sin^2(p_u/2)$, as was found in [185]. Note that this solution has total $J_3 = 0$ (like the big magnon).

We summarize all of these properties, and more, in table 7.1.

Coalescence of non-dyonic solutions

In the non-dyonic limit $Q \ll g$, and $Q_u \ll g$, the dispersion relations for the pair of small magnons and the big magnon agree. This result is not limited to just the dispersion relation, in fact, $X^{\pm} = e^{\pm ip/4}$ in this limit (in both cases), and we have

$$G_{\text{mag}}(x) - G_{\text{mag}}(0) + G_{\text{mag}}\left(\frac{1}{x}\right) = 0.$$
 (7.8)

Looking at the ansatz (7.3), we can see that (7.8) is equivalent to setting $G_r = 0$. Consequentely, in this limit, the big giant magnon becomes the same algebraic curve as the pair of small magnons.

For the small giant magnon, the same identity in the non-dyonic limit implies that $q_5 = 0$. This removes the difference between curves for the u and v small giant magnons in (7.3).

M_u, M_v, M_r	$[p_1,q,p_2]$	$\mathscr{E} = \Delta - \frac{J}{2}$	$\delta \mathscr{E} ext{ (finite } J)$ 🖗	Q	J_3
Vacuum					
0, 0, 0	[L,0,L]	0		0	0
Small giant magne	on				
1, 0, 0	[L-2,1,L]	$\sqrt{2\lambda}\sin(\frac{p}{2})$	$-4\mathscr{E}\sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)e^{-2\Delta/\mathscr{E}}$	1	1
Q, 0, 0	[L-2Q,Q,L]	$\sqrt{\frac{Q^2}{4}+2\lambda\sin^2(\frac{p}{2})}$	$\propto Q/\mathcal{E}\sqrt{S}$, see (7.12)	Q	Q
and similar with	n $u \leftrightarrow v$:				
0, Q, 0	[L,Q,L-2Q]	(same)	(same)	Q	-Q
Big giant magnon					
1, 1, 1	[L-1, 0, L-1]	$2\sqrt{2\lambda}\sin(\frac{p}{4})$	$-4\mathscr{E}\sin^2\left(rac{p}{4} ight)e^{-2\Delta/\mathscr{E}}$	0	0
Q_u, Q_u, Q_u	$[L-Q_u,0,L-Q_u]$	$\sqrt{Q_u^2+8\lambda\sin^2(\frac{p}{4})}$	$\propto S/\mathcal{E}Q_u^2$, see (7.15)	0	0
Pair of small giant magnons					
1, 1, 0	[L-2,2,L-2]	$2\sqrt{2\lambda}\sin(\frac{p}{4})$	$-4\mathscr{E}\sin^2(\frac{p}{4})e^{-2\Delta/\mathscr{E}}$	2	0
$\frac{Q}{2}, \frac{Q}{2}, 0$	[L-Q,Q,L-Q]	$\sqrt{\frac{Q^2}{4}+8\lambda\sin^2(\frac{p}{4})}$	Like S^5 case, see (7.14)	Q	0

Table 7.1: Summary of giant magnons in the algebraic curve. In each case we list dyonic solutions, meaning $Q \sim \sqrt{\lambda}$, below the non-dyonic case. We write these using λ rather than g for comparison with the string sigma-model results on page 173; the relation is $\sqrt{2\lambda} = 4g$. (Note that the AFZ-like result for the pair of small magnons is not new to this paper, it was found by [185].)

7.2 Finite-size corrections in the curve

Once more, we continue the discussion started in Section 5.4, on page 148. The finite-size corrections to algebraic curves in the CP^3 case were studied by [185], where one replaced the basic magnon's resolvent by the ansatz (7.9):

$$G_{\text{finite}}(x) = -2i \log \left(\frac{\sqrt{x - X^+} + \sqrt{x - Y^+}}{\sqrt{x - X^-} + \sqrt{x - Y^-}} \right).$$
(7.9)

As was explained in that Section, to determine the leading finite-J correction to the giant magnon dispersion relation, we calculate the asymptotic behaviour at $x \to \infty$ of the quasimomenta using the above ansatz (7.9) to determine the charges of the solution as functions of the end points X^{\pm}, Y^{\pm} , and then solve the equations for these charges to second order in δ . Recall that $Y^{\pm} = X^{\pm} (1 \pm i \delta e^{\pm i \phi})$ are points shifted from the end points of the cut X^{\pm} by a small amount $\delta \ll 1$, as in (5.31). We will now present the explicit calculations for the finite-J corrections of dispersion relations for the giant magnon solutions presented above (small, big and pair cases).

Finite-size small giant magnon

We want to study the magnon created by setting $G_u(x) = G_{\text{finite}}(x)$ in the general ansatz (7.3), keeping $G_v = G_r = 0$. We will discuss this case in the most detail, as subsequent examples are similar. We write the end points of the logarithmic cut as

$$X^{\pm} = r e^{i p_0/2}$$

in terms of which $p = p_0 + \delta p_{(1)} + \delta^2 p_{(2)} + o(\delta^3)$ and

$$\mathcal{E} = \Delta - \frac{J}{2} = 4g \frac{r^2 + 1}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) - \frac{\delta}{2} J_{(1)} - \frac{\delta^2}{2} J_{(2)} + o(\delta^3)$$
$$Q = 8g \frac{r^2 - 1}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) + \delta Q_{(1)} + \delta^2 Q_{(2)} + o(\delta^3)$$
(7.10)



Figure 7.1: Branch cuts & evaluation points. On the left, the situation for the pair of small magnons, where only the cuts for $G_{\text{finite}}(x)$ appear. The evaluation points x^{\pm} straddle the cut from X^+ to Y^+ , which is at radius |x| = r. On the right, the cuts in $G_{\text{finite}}(1/x)$ are drawn too, which is the situation encountered in the 'small' and 'big' magnons. The evaluation points are on the same side of the cut from $1/X^+$ to $1/Y^+$, and remain so even when we take the non-dyonic limit $r \to 1$. (These are drawn for $\phi = 0$.)

We give formulae for these expansions in Appendix D.4 on page 234. From the full asymptotic charges, we can determine the energy correction in terms of δ . The first nonzero contribution is at order δ^2 :

$$\delta \mathscr{E} = \left(\Delta - \frac{J}{2}\right) - \sqrt{\frac{Q^2}{4} + 16g^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)}$$
$$= -\delta^2 \frac{g}{4} \cos(2\phi) \frac{2r}{1+r^2} \sin\left(\frac{p}{2}\right) + o(\delta^3) \tag{7.11}$$

The resolvent $G_{\text{finite}}(x)$ has a square-root branch cut from X^+ to Y^+ , which in the curve (7.3) we can choose to connect sheets q_4 and $q_6 = -q_5$. We can then fix δ using the branch cut condition:

$$2\pi n = q_4(x^+) - q_6(x^-)$$

= $\frac{2\alpha x}{x^2 - 1} + G_{\text{finite}}^+(X^+) + G_{\text{finite}}^-(X^+) - G_{\text{finite}}(0) + G_{\text{finite}}\left(\frac{1}{X^+}\right)$

As explained in Section 5.4, the superscript G^- indicates that this term is evaluated on the other side of the cut from the others (thus having the opposite sign between the terms of the numerator inside G). Once we take this into account, we may take both evaluation points x^{\pm} to be at $x = X^+$. Figure 7.1 shows the cuts and the evaluation points used. We finally obtain

$$\delta = \frac{8ie^{-ip/4}e^{i\pi n}e^{-i\phi}\sqrt{r^2 - 1}\sin(\frac{p}{2})}{\sqrt{e^{-ip/2} - r^2e^{ip/2}}}\exp\left(\frac{i\Delta r/4g}{e^{-ip/2} - r^2e^{ip/2}}\right) = e^{i\psi}|\delta|$$

In order to have a real energy correction, we require a real δ . We then find the correction to be

$$\delta \mathscr{E} = -32g\cos(2\phi)\frac{r^2 - 1}{r^2 + 1}\frac{\sin^3\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{r^2 + \frac{1}{r^2} - 2\cos(p)}}e^{-\Delta \mathscr{E}/S(\frac{p}{2})} + o(\delta^3)$$

= $-32g^2\cos(2\phi)\frac{Q}{\mathscr{E}\sqrt{S(\frac{p}{2})}}\sin^3\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)e^{-\Delta \mathscr{E}/S(\frac{p}{2})} + o(\delta^3)$ (7.12)

where we define

$$S(\frac{p}{2}) = 4g^2 \frac{(r^2 - 1)^2}{r^2} + 16g^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{p}{2}\right).$$

Note that for the case of the 'small' magnon, $S(\frac{p}{2}) = \frac{Q^2}{4\sin^2(\frac{p}{2})} + 16g^2\sin^2(\frac{p}{2}) \to \mathcal{E}^2$ when $r \to 1$.

$Three \ comments$

• The result (7.12) is valid for the dyonic case $Q/g \sim 1$. As written it appears that $\delta \mathscr{E} \to 0$ in the non-dyonic limit $r \to 1$. In fact, this is not correct, as we've implicitly assumed, when expanding in δ , that $\delta \ll r-1 \sim \sqrt{Q/g}$, and this forbids taking $r \to 1$. Nevertheless, we can derive the correction for the non-dyonic case by writing $r = 1 + k\delta$ before assuming that δ is small. We then expand in δ , fix δ using the branch cut, and only after we take the limit $k \to 0$. The result is the AFZ form:

$$\delta \mathscr{E}_{r=1} = -16g\cos(2\phi)\sin^3\left(\frac{p}{2}\right)e^{-2\Delta/\mathscr{E}} + o(\delta^3). \tag{7.13}$$

• The reality condition of δ is equivalent to its phase ψ being 0 or π :

$$\psi = n\pi - \frac{p}{4} - \phi - \frac{\Delta Q \cot(\frac{p}{2})}{4S(\frac{p}{2})} - \frac{1}{2} \arctan\left(\frac{2\mathscr{E}}{Q} \tan(\frac{p}{2})\right) = 0 \text{ or } \pi.$$

Like the energy correction (7.12), this expression is valid for the dyonic case; the phase of δ in the non-dyonic limit $r \to 1$ is instead

$$\psi_{r=1} = 2\pi n - \frac{p}{2} = 0$$
 or π

where we have assumed $\cos(2\phi) = \pm 1$. This implies that the momentum obeys $p = 0 \mod 2\pi$, exactly the usual condition for a closed string.

• Finally, notice that the the same factor $\cos(2\phi)$ appears in both these results and the sigma-model results (6.34). We interpreted this factor there as a geometric angle between adjacent magnons. Here we can observe that for the identity (7.8) to hold at the evaluation point $x = X^+$ (in the limit $\delta \to 0$, as well as $r \to 1$), we must set $\cos(2\phi) = \pm 1$.

Finite-size pair of small magnons

The non-dyonic (r = 1) pair of small magnons was studied in [185], who obtained

$$\delta \mathscr{E}_{r=1} = -32g\cos(2\phi)\sin^3\left(\frac{p}{4}\right)e^{-2\Delta/\mathscr{E}} + \dots$$

The same result can be obtained by adding together all the charges of two small magnons, giving twice the correction (7.13). The dyonic case, however, is not as trivially obtained by adding together two dyonic finite-J small magnons, because they interact with each other. We must then perform a similar analysis to the one presented above for the small giant magnon.

The curve of interest is now $G_u = G_v = G_{\text{finite}}$ and $G_r = 0$. We now set

$$X^{\pm} = re^{\pm ip_0/4},$$

giving $p = p_0 + \dots$ and $\mathscr{E} = 8g \frac{r^2 + 1}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p}{4}\right) + \dots$, $Q = 16g \frac{r^2 - 1}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p}{4}\right) + \dots$ ³ The energy cor-

³As before, we give these expansions in δ in appendix D.4 on page 234.

rection in terms of δ is

$$\delta \mathscr{E} = -\delta^2 \frac{g}{2} \cos(2\phi) \frac{2r}{r^2 + 1} \sin\left(\frac{p}{4}\right) + \dots$$

We continue by using the branch cut condition connecting sheets⁴ q_4 and $q_7 = -q_4$ to fix δ :

$$2\pi n = q_4(x^+) - q_7(x^-)$$

= $\frac{2\alpha x}{x^2 - 1} + 2G_{\text{finite}}^+(X^+) + 2G_{\text{finite}}^-(X^+)$

The final energy correction is then:

$$\delta \mathscr{E} = -256g^2 \cos(2\phi) \frac{1}{\mathscr{E}} \sin^4\left(\frac{p}{4}\right) e^{-\Delta \mathscr{E}/2S(\frac{p}{4})} + \dots$$
(7.14)

This correction has the same form as the S^5 string result, and exactly matches the RP^3 magnon's correction (6.34).

In this case there is no issues about taking the $r \to 1$ limit, where it reduces to the \mathbb{RP}^2 correction (6.32) (note that in this limit $S(\frac{p}{4}) \to \frac{1}{4}\mathscr{E}^2$, instead of \mathscr{E}^2 as in the small case).

The phase of δ is, in this case,

$$\psi = \frac{n\pi}{2} - \frac{p}{4} - \phi - \frac{\Delta Q \cot(\frac{p}{4})}{8S(\frac{p}{4})} = 0 \text{ or } \pi.$$

When Q = 0 and $\phi = 0$, we have $p/2 = p' = n'\pi$, $n' \in \mathbb{Z}$, exactly matching the condition for the RP^2 magnon to be a closed string.

Finite-size big magnon

In this case, the curve of interest is $G_u = G_v = G_r = G_{\text{finite}}$. We write $X^{\pm} = r e^{ip_0/4}$, and consider the 'dyonic' case in the sense that r > 1 (even though Q = 0). We also define Q_u to be the

⁴In [185] a condition for the G_{ν} component to connect sheets q_4 and q_5 is used instead. This involves separating the two cuts slightly, so that $q_5 \neq 0$. The G_u component has instead a cut connecting q_4 and q_6 , which gives the same equation. The resulting condition is the same as that given here except n is replaced by 2n.

Q from the small magnon. Due to this choice of p_0 , $Q_u = 8g \frac{r^2 - 1}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p}{4}\right) + \dots$, and we have $\mathscr{E} = 8g \frac{1+r^2}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p}{4}\right) + \dots$ With the expansions in δ of the asymptotic charges, we get

$$\delta \mathscr{E} = -\delta^2 \frac{g}{2} \cos(2\phi) \frac{2r}{r^2+1} \sin\left(\frac{p}{4}\right) + \dots$$

We continue to set the branch cut condition. We will connect sheets q_3 and $q_7 = -q_4$, at evaluation points x^{\pm} on either side of the cut from X^+ to Y^+ , but both x^{\pm} on the same side of the cut from $1/X^+$ to $1/Y^+$, thus obtaining the matching condition

$$2\pi n = q_3(x^+) - q_7(x^-)$$

= $2\frac{\alpha x}{x^2 - 1} + G_{\text{finite}}^+(x) + G_{\text{finite}}^-(x) + 2G_{\text{finite}}(0) - 2G_{\text{finite}}\left(\frac{1}{x}\right)$

As before, this equation fixes δ , and after demanding that it be real, we obtain the energy correction:

$$\delta \mathscr{E} = -64g\cos(2\phi)\frac{r^2 + \frac{1}{r^2} - 2\cos(p/2)}{(r^2 + 1)(r^2 - 1)^2}r^3\sin^3\left(\frac{p}{4}\right)e^{-\Delta\mathscr{E}/S(\frac{p}{4})} + \dots$$

= $-1024g^2\cos(2\phi)\frac{S(\frac{p}{4})}{\mathscr{E}Q_u^2}\sin^6\left(\frac{p}{4}\right)e^{-\Delta\mathscr{E}/S(\frac{p}{4})} + \dots$ (7.15)

This expression is valid only in the dyonic case. The non-dyonic limit $r \to 1$ can be approached in the same way as for small magnon case, by setting $r = 1 + k\delta$ before expanding in δ . The limit $k \to 0$ then gives the result

$$\delta \mathscr{E}_{r=1} = -32g\cos(2\phi)\sin^3\left(\frac{p}{4}\right)e^{-2\Delta/\mathscr{E}} + \dots$$

matching the r = 1 limit of the pair of small magnons (7.14), and thus the \mathbb{RP}^2 string result (6.32).

The phase of δ in this case is

$$\psi = n\pi - \frac{p}{2} - \phi - \frac{\Delta Q_u \cot(\frac{p}{4})}{2S(\frac{p}{4})} + \arctan\left(\frac{\mathscr{E}}{Q_u}\tan(\frac{p}{4})\right).$$

This expression is once more not valid in the non-dyonic case. In this limit $(r \rightarrow 1)$ we have

instead (in the case $\cos(2\phi) = \pm 1$)

$$\psi_{r=1} = \frac{n\pi}{2} - \frac{p}{4} = 0 \text{ or } \pi.$$

i.e. $p = 0 \mod 2\pi$. Consequently, the momentum condition is $p' = 0 \mod \pi$, which is the condition for a closed string in \mathbb{RP}^2 , and matches the 'pair' case above.

7.3 Dictionary between strings and curves: summary of results

Let us summarize the dictionary of string and curve solutions which we have found:

- The small giant magnon in the curve matches the CP^1 giant magnon, and its dyonic generalization in CP^2 .
- The RP^2 magnon is to be identified with the pair of small magnons. In the dyonic case this becomes the RP^3 magnon solution.
- The dressed solution is identified with the big giant magnon. Both are two-parameter one-charge solutions, and when the additional parameter $(Q_f \text{ or } Q_u)$ is sent to zero, they become the RP^2 solution / pair of small magnons, respectively.

The non-dyonic RP^2 and CP^1 string solutions seem to have multiple descriptions in the algebraic curves: the big and pair of small magnons differ in their excitation numbers M_u, M_v, M_r , as do the two kinds of small magnons. However these numbers are all of order $1 \ll 4g = \sqrt{2\lambda}$ and so, just like Q, they are invisible in the sigma-model. In the limit $Q \to 0$ the curves forget these distinctions too.

Finite-size corrections to these magnons are summarized as follows:

- In the non-dyonic cases, the corrections are always of the AFZ form. These can be calculated in both the string and curve pictures.
- For the RP^3 / 'pair' magnon, the corrections are the same as those for S^3 dyonic giant magnons, and can again be calculated in both pictures.

• For the dressed / big magnon, and also for the CP^2 / small magnon, we have calculated corrections in the algebraic curve. These do not have the same form as in S^5 .

The above result for the finite-J corrections to the small giant magnon differs from that of the algebraic curve calculation in [185]. This difference can be seen to arise from an orderof-limits problem. As noted in section 7.2, we need to be careful in the non-dyonic case with how we take limits $Q \rightarrow 0$ $(r \rightarrow 1)$ and $\delta \rightarrow 0$. However, the result of [185] is confirmed by the Lüscher-calculations in [185, 236]. It would be instructive to see if these results can be explained in a similar manner.

While the overall picture is now clear, there are various details which one would like to analyze explicitly in the string sigma-model. First, our CP^2 solution should certainly exist at $p \neq \pi$, but so far we have not been able to find such solutions. Second, it would be interesting to understand exactly how the two different CP^2 solutions join (and interact) to form one RP^3 magnon. Finally, finite-J versions of both this CP^2 solution and the dressed solution should exist as string solutions, and would provide confirmation of the energy corrections calculated here.

We conclude by noting that our results fit well into the context of the integrable alternating spin-chain for operators in the ABJM gauge theory [192, 194, 195, 237, 238, 47]. The two small giant magnons correspond to simple magnons in either the fundamental or anti-fundamental part of the spin-chain. The big magnon, on the other hand, carry the same charges as the heavy scalar excitation first discussed in [192].⁵ In a recent paper Zarembo [239] showed that in the BMN limit these heavy modes disappear from the spectrum as soon as quantum corrections are taken into account. It would be very interesting to understand to what extent these arguments carries over to the giant magnon regime.

⁵In [200] the authors write the big giant magnon solution, and also a second solution, equation (4.14). This solution has the same angular momentum as the big giant magnons, but lives just in \mathbb{CP}^1 and is a trivial embedding of the bound state solution (5.14) of [155], by setting $r = e^{-q/2}$. This bound state is an analytic continuation of two \mathbb{CP}^1 magnons. Comparing to the results of the curve, it is possible that this is a bound state of two \mathbb{CP}^1 magnons of the same kind (*u* of *v* kind), while the big giant magnon is some kind of bound state of two \mathbb{CP}^1 magnons of different polarizations (one *u* and one *v*).

CHAPTER 8

Conclusions and Future Directions

The main focus of this dissertation is the study of the symmetries and integrability properties of two major examples of the AdS/CFT correspondence.

Symmetry algebra and semi-classical string solutions

In Chapter 2 we started by introducing the algebra of symmetries $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ of the $\mathrm{AdS}_5/\mathrm{CFT}_4$ duality from the classical string sigma-model in $AdS_5 \times S^5$, and restricted our attention to the action of the fermionic generators on the $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ sector for both the sigma-model and the $\mathscr{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills gauge theory at one-loop. This study was done through the use of a matrix model formalism. The bosonic part of this sector, $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ was then taken into account on the string side, and on Chapter 6 we studied giant magnon solutions and the related giant spikes, and presented a semi-classical analysis of the giant spike solution.

The symmetry algebra of AdS_5/CFT_4 is very well understood in the $\frac{1}{2}$ BPS sector of the correspondence, but developments on the $\frac{1}{4}$ BPS sector have been harder to achieve [240, 241]. The set of $\frac{1}{4}$ BPS operators in SYM can be described by a two-matrix quantum mechanics, but the large N limit has both single trace and double trace operators, unlike the $\frac{1}{2}$ BPS sector which had only the former. It would be interesting to obtain a collective field theory description of the $\frac{1}{4}$ BPS correlator functions from SYM, in order to derive an effective string field theory Hamiltonian for the interactions of these correlators, thus connecting to the known results derived by A. Donos in supergravity [241]. Such a collective description comes as an application of the results found in Chapter 2.

In the framework of the AdS_4/CFT_3 correspondence [6], there is a new superconformal group of symmetries, the OSp(6|4), shared by the gauge and string sides of the duality. Another generalization of the work found in Chapter 2 is the study of the common algebra of these dual theories using matrix model techniques. In particular, the study of the fermionic generators is of great interest, as it can lead to a better understanding of this algebra and to the observation of a Yangian structure, typical of integrable systems.

Giant magnon solutions living in the space $\mathbb{R} \times CP^3$ have been extensively studied. Most of these are trivial embeddings of the known giant magnon solutions from $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$, in particular the RP^2 , the RP^3 and the CP^1 magnons. But two other solutions which truly explore the CP^3 space have been found. In Chapter 6 we review the embeddings of giant magnons into CP^3 and a two parameter, one angular momentum giant magnon solution that lives in CP^2 , found through dressing method. We also present the derivation a new dyonic magnon solution living in CP^2 , which is a dyonic generalization of the CP^1 magnon.

Integrability and dynamics of string solutions

Integrability was intensely studied on both sides of the AdS_5/CFT_4 duality. On the gauge theory side the study of integrability through Bethe Ansatz techniques led to the discovery of an equivalent description in terms of Heisenberg spin chains and a relation to the Hubbard model (integrable short-range model of strongly correlated electrons) [20,145]. On the string theory side, the classical equivalence of (dyonic) giant magnons and (complex) sine-Gordon solitons through Pohlmeyer reduction, gave a very promising hint towards finding an integrable *N*-body description of string solutions. The *N*-body descriptions of gauge operators and of string solutions is important to the complete understanding of dynamics of these objects, and a discussion of the dynamics of giant magnon solutions from an *N*-body perspective can be found in Chapter 4. In this Chapter, we find a relation between the scattering of magnons and the Ruijsenaars-Schneider (RS) *N*-body model, motivated by the Poisson hierarchy of a limiting case of this *N*-body model.

With respect to the relation between giant magnons and the RS model, the next step

in checking this relation is finding the Poisson hierarchy in the RS model and calculate the Poisson bracket related to the magnon Hamiltonian. It is also of great interest to generalize the work done in Chapter 4 for string solutions with more than one angular momentum (on $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$), called dyonic giant magnons. To do so one needs to find a Lax formulation for the interacting complex sine-Gordon solitons, a challenge still to be overcome.

The giant magnon solutions, defined in an infinite worldsheet volume $\sigma \in (-\infty, \infty)$, were seen to have finite-size corrections by considering the range of the worldsheet to be finite. These finite-size giant magnons are classically equivalent to the kink train solution of the sine-Gordon theory [98], and it would be interesting to find a similar *N*-body description of the dynamics of these finite-size giant magnons.

Another important aspect to analyze is the relation between string solutions in the CP^3 subspace and generalized sine-Gordon models. The RP^2 , RP^3 and CP^1 magnons are trivially related to the sine-Gordon solitons, but the small and big magnons, both living in CP^2 , are mapped to a non-trivial generalization of the sine-Gordon model [242].

The integrability of the gauge theories and string sigma models can be approached with the algebraic curve formalism. Chapter 5 is a review of this approach for the string sigmamodel in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and the derivation of the classical string Bethe ansatz for the $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ sector. While this formalism cannot be used directly to obtain the explicit form of string solutions, it still gives us a complete classification of the spectrum of those solutions, as the solutions of the classical string sigma-model should be in exact correspondence to algebraic curves [46]. This can be restricted to giant magnon solutions, by restricting the type of singularities in the algebraic curve, as in Chapter 5, on page 145. In Chapter 7 we review the algebraic curve formalism for $\mathbb{R} \times CP^3$, and the expected giant magnon solutions in this space. With these results, we can then write a dictionary between these and the string solutions in Chapter 6:

- The small giant magnon in the curve corresponds to the CP^1 magnon, and its dyonic generalization is the CP^2 magnon;
- The RP^2 giant magnon is identified with the pair of small magnons, and the RP^3 giant magnon is its dyonic generalization;

• The two parameter, one charge dressed solution is the so called big magnon in the curve, which becomes the RP^2 magnon in the taking a limit on the second parameter;

In this last chapter we also use the curve formalism to determine finite-J corrections to the energy of these solutions, which on the non-trivial cases of the small and big magnons were not known from string calculations.

There is still a lot to understand about the solutions living in the CP^3 space. For example, the CP^2 dyonic solution found in Chapter 6 was only determined for the GKP-like case of $p = \pi$, and one would have great interest in generalizing this case. Also, the solution called big magnon is still not very well understood. The fact that it has a second parameter but just one angular momentum points to it being some kind of bound state but it is not obvious how to construct it as such.

APPENDIX A

EXPANSIONS OF THE SUPERCHARGES OF $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$

In this appendix we present two different expansions of the fermionic charges of $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$. The first uses an oscillator representations of the string degrees of freedom. The second one uses a regular expansion up to two loops in the coupling on the gauge side, and is followed by a discussion of the commutation relations of these supercharges.

A.1 The Oscillator Representation

This summary follows [65] closely. We start by redefining the degrees of freedom that are left after fixing light-cone gauge. Again we have the same choice of metric on the target space, and the fields are t, z^a from AdS₅ and ϕ, y^s from S⁵. The transverse bosonic fields y^s, z^a transform under a representation of $SU(2)^2$ out of the possible four bosonic factors $SU(2)^4$. These fields can then be represented as bi-spinors of the relevant SU^2 . For that we introduce Pauli matrices $\sigma_a = (\mathbb{I}, i\vec{\sigma})$ and $\sigma_s = (\mathbb{I}, i\vec{\sigma})$ for each of the two copies of SO(4), and write:

$$Y_{a\dot{a}} = (\sigma_s)_{a\dot{a}} y^s , \qquad Z_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = (\sigma_a)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} z^a.$$

Spin Index of each $su(2)$	J, a	\dot{J}, \dot{a}	Ś, ά	S, α
Y _{aà}	2	2	1	1
Ζαά	1	1	2	2
$\Psi_{a\dot{lpha}}$	2	1	2	1
$\Upsilon_{\alpha\dot{a}}$	1	2	1	2

Table A.2: Physical degrees of freedom of $\mathfrak{su}(2)^4$ and their quantum numbers. The first two $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ are from S^5 while the two last ones are from AdS_5 . Also $a, \dot{a}, \dot{\alpha} = 1, 2$.

After fixing κ -symmetry we have the fermionic fields:

$$\Psi_{a\dot{lpha}}$$
, $\Upsilon_{lpha\dot{a}}$

which are also bi-spinors of some $SU(2)^2$ (they are charged under different SU(2) factors than the bosonic fields).

We lower/raise indices in the following way

$$x^a = \varepsilon^{ab} x_b; \quad x_a = x^b \varepsilon_{ba},$$

where $\varepsilon^{12} = \varepsilon_{12} = 1$. The same rule applies to all other indices. Complex conjugation changes the position of the indices $(Y_{a\dot{a}})^* \equiv Y^{*a\dot{a}}$, which is different from $Y^*_{a\dot{a}} \equiv Y^{*b\dot{b}}\varepsilon_{ba}\varepsilon_{\dot{b}\dot{a}}$. Finally, the bosonic fields satisfy the reality condition $Y^*_{a\dot{a}} = Y_{a\dot{a}}$ and $Z^*_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = Z_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$.

The quantum numbers of these fields with respect to $SU(2)^4$ can be found in [65] and are summarized in table A.2. We have seen before that bosons and fermions together form the bi-fundamental representation of $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_L \times \mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_R$, where the bosonic subgroup of each $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)$ factor consists of two $\mathfrak{su}(2)$. If we define the super-indices $A = (a|\alpha)$ and $\dot{A} = (\dot{a}|\dot{\alpha})$ (where lower-case Latin indices are Grassmann even and greek indices are Grassmann odd) then the fields combine into a single bi-fundamental supermultiplet of $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_L \times \mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_R$, denoted by $\Phi_{A\dot{A}}$.

We can write the gauge fixed Lagrangian in terms of the fields Y, Z, Ψ, Υ , and determine the corresponding equations of motion, as shown in [65]. These were solved by introducing
mode expansions in momentum space:

$$\begin{split} Y_{a\dot{a}}\left(\vec{x}\right) &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\varepsilon}} \left(a_{a\dot{a}}\left(p\right) e^{-i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{x}} + a^{\dagger}_{a\dot{a}}\left(p\right) e^{+i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{x}} \right), \\ Z_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\left(\vec{x}\right) &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\varepsilon}} \left(a_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\left(p\right) e^{-i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{x}} + a^{\dagger}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\left(p\right) e^{+i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{x}} \right), \\ \Psi_{a\dot{\alpha}}\left(\vec{x}\right) &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}} \left(b_{a\dot{\alpha}}\left(p\right) u\left(p\right) e^{-i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{x}} + b^{\dagger}_{a\dot{\alpha}}\left(p\right) v\left(p\right) e^{+i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{x}} \right), \\ \Upsilon_{\alpha\dot{a}}\left(\vec{x}\right) &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}} \left(b_{\alpha\dot{a}}\left(p\right) u\left(p\right) e^{-i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{x}} + b^{\dagger}_{\alpha\dot{a}}\left(p\right) v\left(p\right) e^{+i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{x}} \right), \end{split}$$

where $\varepsilon = \sqrt{1+p^2}$ is the energy, and $u(p) = \cosh \frac{\theta}{2}$ and $v(p) = \sinh \frac{\theta}{2}$ are the wave functions. The rapidity θ is related to momentum by $p = \sinh \theta$, and to energy by $\varepsilon = \cosh \theta$. Also note that $\vec{p} \cdot \vec{x} \equiv \varepsilon \tau + p \sigma$.

The mode operators have canonical commutation relations:

$$\begin{bmatrix} a^{a\dot{a}}\left(p\right), a^{\dagger}_{b\dot{b}}\left(p'\right) \end{bmatrix} = 2\pi\delta^{a}_{b}\delta^{\dot{a}}_{\dot{b}}\delta\left(p-p'\right), \quad \left\{ b^{a\dot{\alpha}}\left(p\right), b^{\dagger}_{b\dot{\beta}}\left(p'\right) \right\} = 2\pi\delta^{a}_{b}\delta^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\dot{\beta}}\delta\left(p-p'\right), \\ \begin{bmatrix} a^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\left(p\right), a^{\dagger}_{\beta\dot{\beta}}\left(p'\right) \end{bmatrix} = 2\pi\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}\delta^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\dot{\beta}}\delta\left(p-p'\right), \quad \left\{ b^{\alpha\dot{a}}\left(p\right), b^{\dagger}_{\beta\dot{b}}\left(p'\right) \right\} = 2\pi\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}\delta^{\dot{a}}_{\dot{b}}\delta\left(p-p'\right).$$

Note that the oscillators a, a^{\dagger} are conjugate to each other, which comes from the reality condition for the bosonic fields. But also for the fermionic oscillators b, b^{\dagger} are conjugate to each other, even though fermionic fields Ψ, Ψ^{\dagger} are independent. This comes from the equations of motion.

Algebra Generators

We have found the generators for the off-shell symmetry algebra in the light-cone gaugefixed theory, $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_L \times \mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_R \ltimes \mathbb{R}^2$ in Chapter 7. These generators were found in terms of the worldsheet fields. The total momentum is measured by one of the central generators C of the extended algebra, while the total energy is measured by the other central charge H.

We are now interested in knowing the generators in terms of the oscillator representation. We will leave the nonlocal nature of the generators for discussion elsewhere and focus on the local part,¹ which corresponds to determining the currents \tilde{J} . Considering integration over fixed time slices, the oscillator representation for the generators of $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_L$ is (up to quadratic order)

$$\begin{split} \ell^b_a &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \frac{1}{2} \left[c^{\dagger}_{a\dot{C}} c^{b\dot{C}} - c^{\dagger b\dot{C}} c_{a\dot{C}} \right], \\ \mathbf{r}^{\beta}_{\alpha} &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \frac{1}{2} \left[c^{\dagger}_{\alpha\dot{C}} c^{\beta\dot{C}} - c^{\dagger\beta\dot{C}} c_{\alpha\dot{C}} \right], \\ \mathbf{Q}^b_{\alpha} &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} (-1)^{[\dot{C}]} \left[u c^{\dagger}_{\alpha\dot{C}} c^{b\dot{C}} - v c^{\dagger b\dot{C}} c_{\alpha\dot{C}} \right], \\ \mathbf{S}^{\beta}_a &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} (-1)^{[\dot{C}]} \left[u c^{\dagger}_{\alpha\dot{C}} c^{\beta\dot{C}} - v c^{\dagger\beta\dot{C}} c_{\alpha\dot{C}} \right], \end{split}$$

and the generators of $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_R$ are similarly:

$$\begin{split} \dot{\ell}_{a}^{\dot{b}} &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \frac{1}{2} \left[c_{C\dot{a}}^{\dagger} c^{C\dot{b}} - c^{\dagger C\dot{b}} c_{C\dot{a}} \right], \\ \dot{\mathbf{r}}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{\dot{\beta}} &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \frac{1}{2} \left[c_{C\dot{\alpha}}^{\dagger} c^{C\dot{\beta}} - c^{\dagger C\dot{\beta}} c_{C\dot{\alpha}} \right], \\ \dot{\mathbf{Q}}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{\dot{b}} &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \left[u c_{C\dot{\alpha}}^{\dagger} c^{C\dot{b}} - v c^{\dagger C\dot{b}} c_{C\dot{\alpha}} \right], \\ \dot{\mathbf{S}}_{\dot{a}}^{\dot{\beta}} &= \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \left[u c_{C\dot{a}}^{\dagger} c^{C\dot{\beta}} - v c^{\dagger C\dot{\beta}} c_{C\dot{\alpha}} \right]. \end{split}$$

The two central charge generators are given by

$$\mathbf{C} = \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} p \, c^{\dagger}_{A\dot{A}} c^{A\dot{A}} \quad , \qquad \mathbf{H} = \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} \varepsilon \, c^{\dagger}_{A\dot{A}} c^{A\dot{A}}$$

Note that in the above notation, the oscillator c can be either a or b, depending on the value of the super-index \dot{C}, C .

From the (anti) commutation relations for the oscillators, it is easy to see that these generators obey the centrally extended $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)^2$ algebra. The supercharges Q and S transform as components of a Lorentz spinor, from which one can conclude that this representation of

$$J_{Q_B^A} = e^{i\sigma_{AB}x^-/2}\tilde{J}_{Q_B^A}, \qquad Q_B^A = \int d\sigma J_{Q_B^A}(\sigma),$$

¹The nonlocal behaviour of the symmetry generators in light-cone gauge comes from the presence of the light-cone field x^- . The $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ super-currents whose supercharges generate $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)^2$ depend on x^- . We can then write

where $\sigma_{AB} = [A] - [B]$, with [A] being the grade of the index A, i.e. [a] = 0 and $[\alpha] = 1$. \tilde{J} is a local combination of the transverse fields, and these local generators are the ones will will be working with.

generators will be related to a representation of the non-centrally extended algebra (C = 0)by a Lorentz boost.

The algebra $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_L$

The rotation generators \mathbf{r}, ℓ act on a generic generator J canonically as was seen before:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \ell_a^b, J_c \end{bmatrix} = \delta_c^b J_a - \frac{1}{2} \delta_a^b J_c, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \ell_a^b, J^c \end{bmatrix} = -\delta_a^c J^b + \frac{1}{2} \delta_a^b J^c, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{\alpha}^{\beta}, J_{\gamma} \end{bmatrix} = \delta_{\gamma}^{\beta} J_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} J_{\gamma}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{\alpha}^{\beta}, J^{\gamma} \end{bmatrix} = -\delta_{\alpha}^{\gamma} J^{\beta} + \frac{1}{2} \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} J^{\gamma}.$$

The fermionic charges obey

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{Q}^{a}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{Q}^{b}_{\beta} \\ \mathbf{S}^{a}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{S}^{\beta}_{b} \end{cases} = -\frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon^{ab} \mathbf{C}, \\ \begin{cases} \mathbf{S}^{\alpha}_{a}, \mathbf{S}^{\beta}_{b} \\ \mathbf{S}^{\alpha}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{S}^{\beta}_{b} \end{cases} = -\frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{ab} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{C}^{*}, \\ \begin{cases} \mathbf{Q}^{a}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{S}^{\beta}_{b} \\ \mathbf{S}^{\alpha}_{b} \end{cases} = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} \ell^{a}_{b} + \delta^{a}_{b} \mathbf{r}^{\beta}_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} \delta^{a}_{b} \mathbf{H} \end{cases}$$

Actually in the quadratic approximation, one finds that the central charge appearing in the anti-commutators of the Qs and the Ss is the same, and only including higher orders we would find that they are actually conjugate to each other. The algebra $\mathfrak{psu}(2|2)_R$ would be identical.

A.2 Commuting the $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ supercharges up to two-loops

The expressions found here are restrictions to the $\mathfrak{su}(2|2)$ subsector of the full sector $\mathfrak{su}(2|3)$ found in [67]. The supercharges at order g^0 , Q_0, S_0 , at order g^1 , Q_1, S_1 and at order g^2 , Q_2, S_2 in the dilute gas approximation can be written as follows:

$$(Q_0)^b_\beta = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} b\\ \beta \end{array} \right\},$$
$$(S_0)^\alpha_a = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \alpha\\ a \end{array} \right\};$$

$$(Q_1)^b_\beta = \frac{A}{\sqrt{2}} \varepsilon_{\beta\beta'} \varepsilon^{bb'} \left(\left\{ \begin{array}{c} \beta'\\ b'3 \end{array} \right\} - \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \beta'\\ 3b' \end{array} \right\} \right),$$

$$(S_1)^\alpha_a = \frac{A}{\sqrt{2}} \varepsilon_{aa'} \varepsilon^{\alpha\alpha'} \left(\left\{ \begin{array}{c} a'3\\ \alpha' \end{array} \right\} - \left\{ \begin{array}{c} 3a'\\ \alpha' \end{array} \right\} \right);$$

$$(Q_{2})^{b}_{\beta} = \left(\frac{A^{2}}{4} - \frac{i}{2}\gamma_{3} + \frac{i}{2}\gamma_{4}\right) \left(\left\{\begin{array}{c}b3\\\beta3\end{array}\right\} + \left\{\begin{array}{c}3b\\3\beta\end{array}\right\}\right) + \left(-\frac{A^{2}}{4} - i\gamma_{1}\right) \left(\left\{\begin{array}{c}b3\\3\beta\end{array}\right\} + \left\{\begin{array}{c}3b\\\beta3\end{array}\right\}\right),$$

$$(S_{2})^{\alpha}_{a} = \left(\frac{A^{2}}{4} + \frac{i}{2}\gamma_{3} - \frac{i}{2}\gamma_{4}\right) \left(\left\{\begin{array}{c}\alpha3\\a3\end{array}\right\} + \left\{\begin{array}{c}3\alpha\\a3\end{array}\right\}\right) + \left(\begin{array}{c}3\alpha\\3a\end{array}\right) + \left(-\frac{A^{2}}{4} + i\gamma_{1}\right) \left(\left\{\begin{array}{c}\alpha3\\3a\end{array}\right\} + \left\{\begin{array}{c}3\alpha\\a3\end{array}\right\}\right).$$

We will be using the notation used in [67]. The index 3 above means an insertion of a field Z. The action of $\begin{cases} \alpha bc \\ c\alpha b \end{cases}$ on a state looks for a sequence of a fermion followed by two bosons, and permutes them in the order 2nd boson-fermion-1st boson. As an example in $\mathfrak{su}(2|3)$, where indices 1,2,3 correspond to bosons and indices 4,5 correspond to fermions, we have

$$\left\{\begin{array}{c} \alpha bc\\ c\alpha b\end{array}\right\} |142334452\rangle = |134234452\rangle + |242334415\rangle.$$

Determining the anti-commutation relations, we have:

$$\frac{2}{A^{2}}\left\{\left(S_{1}\right)_{a}^{\alpha},\left(Q_{1}\right)_{\beta}^{b}\right\} = \delta_{a}^{b}\delta_{\beta}^{\alpha}\frac{1}{A^{2}}H_{2} - \delta_{a}^{b}\left[2\left\{\begin{array}{c}\alpha\\\beta\end{array}\right\} - \left\{\begin{array}{c}3\alpha\\\beta\end{array}\right\} - \left\{\begin{array}{c}\alpha3\\\beta\end{array}\right\} - \left\{\begin{array}{c}\alpha3\\\beta\end{array}\right\}\right]$$
$$-\delta_{\beta}^{\alpha}\left[2\left\{\begin{array}{c}b\\a\end{array}\right\} - \left\{\begin{array}{c}3b\\\alpha\end{array}\right\} - \left\{\begin{array}{c}b3\\\beta\end{array}\right\}\right];$$

$$\frac{2}{A^{2}}\left\{\left(S_{2}\right)_{a}^{\alpha},\left(Q_{0}\right)_{\beta}^{b}\right\}+\frac{2}{A^{2}}\left\{\left(S_{0}\right)_{a}^{\alpha},\left(Q_{2}\right)_{\beta}^{b}\right\}=2\left[\delta_{\beta}^{\alpha}\left\{\begin{array}{c}b\\a\end{array}\right\}+\delta_{a}^{b}\left\{\begin{array}{c}\alpha\\\beta\end{array}\right\}-\delta_{\beta}^{\alpha}\left[\left\{\begin{array}{c}3b\\a\end{array}\right\}+\left\{\begin{array}{c}3b\\a\end{array}\right\}+\left\{\begin{array}{c}b\\3a\end{array}\right\}\right]-\delta_{\beta}^{\alpha}\left[\left\{\begin{array}{c}a\\\beta\end{array}\right\}+\left\{\begin{array}{c}a\\\beta\end{array}\right\}\right]-\delta_{\beta}^{\alpha}\left[\left\{\begin{array}{c}a\\\beta\end{array}\right\}+\left\{\begin{array}{c}a\\\beta\end{array}\right\}\right].$$

Then the sum of these anti-commutators gives:

$$\left\{ (S_1)_a^{\alpha}, (Q_1)_{\beta}^{b} \right\} + \left\{ (S_2)_a^{\alpha}, (Q_0)_{\beta}^{b} \right\} + \left\{ (S_0)_a^{\alpha}, (Q_2)_{\beta}^{b} \right\} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_a^b \delta_{\beta}^{\alpha} H_2,$$

where the two loop contribution for the Hamiltonian (dilute gas approx) is:

$$\frac{1}{A^2}H_2 = 2\left\{\begin{array}{c}a\\a\end{array}\right\} + 2\left\{\begin{array}{c}\alpha\\\alpha\end{array}\right\} - \left\{\begin{array}{c}a3\\3a\end{array}\right\} - \left\{\begin{array}{c}3a\\a3\end{array}\right\} - \left\{\begin{array}{c}\alpha3\\3\alpha\end{array}\right\} - \left\{\begin{array}{c}3\alpha\\\alpha3\end{array}\right\} - \left\{\begin{array}{c}3\alpha\\\alpha3\end{array}\right\}.$$

From the results presented above, we can see that we can only get the complete order g^2 of the Hamiltonian from the commutation of the supercharges if we consider their two-loops contributions.

Appendix B

Fermionic Sector of the Single Spike

The calculation of the fermionic fluctuations is important to determine whether the solution has any supersymmetry. We proceed to calculate these fermionic fluctuations for the single spike, and we will find that they are all massless, while to have 2D supersymmetry these fluctuations would have to have the same masses as the bosonic modes previously calculated. Another argument for the lack of supersymmetry is that we will find twice as many fermionic modes as there are bosonic ones, while supersymmetry requires equally many.

B.1 Fermionic Sector

This calculations follow closely the procedure done for the giant magnon in [142] (zero modes) and in [124] (non-zero modes).

Setup and definitions

We will use the notation from [142] as much as possible, except for the worldsheet coordinates: we use non-boosted co-ordinates (x, τ) , and boosted co-ordinates (u, v), boosted by c (instead of (σ, t) and boost by v to (x, ξ)). Indices a, b = 0, 1 are worldsheet directions, μ, v curved spacetime, A, B, C flat spacetime, and I, J = 1, 2 number fields. We will work on the subspace $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$, where the unperturbed single spike solution (3.5) lives. The metric for this subspace, in terms of co-ordinates t and angles θ and ϕ , is given by

$$g_{\mu\nu} = E^{A}_{\mu}E^{B}_{\nu}\eta_{AB} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & t \\ 1 & 0 \\ \sin^{2}\theta \end{bmatrix} \text{ for } \nu = \theta , \qquad (B.1)$$

where the vielbein's components are $E_t^t = E_{\theta}^{\theta} = 1$ and $E_{\phi}^{\phi} = \sin \theta$ (we are using labels t, θ, ϕ for both curved and flat indices). Writing the single spike (3.5) in these co-ordinates gives

$$\begin{split} X^{0} &= \tau \,, \\ X^{\theta} &= \theta = \arccos\left(\frac{1}{\gamma \cosh \nu}\right), \quad \text{i.e. } \cos \theta &= \sqrt{1 - c^{2}} \operatorname{sech} \nu \,, \\ X^{\phi} &= \phi = x + \arctan\left(\frac{\tanh \nu}{c\gamma}\right), \end{split}$$

where u, v, γ are still given by (3.4).

The fermionic fluctuations are two Majorana–Weyl fields Θ^{I} , which obey the action given by Metsaev and Tseytlin [7]¹

$$S = 2 \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4\pi} \int d\tau dx \, \mathscr{L}_F \qquad ext{where} \qquad \mathscr{L}_F = i(\eta^{ab} \delta^{IJ} + \varepsilon^{ab} \eta^{IJ}) \, \overline{\Theta}^I \rho_a D_b \theta^J \, .$$

The covariant derivative introduced above is defined by

$$D_a \Theta^I = \left(\partial_a + rac{1}{4}\omega_a^{AB}\Gamma_{AB}
ight)\delta^{IJ}\Theta^J - rac{i}{2}\Gamma_\star
ho_a arepsilon^{IJ}\Theta^J$$

where $\Gamma_{\star} = i\Gamma_{01234} = i\Gamma_{0}\Gamma_{1}\Gamma_{2}\Gamma_{3}\Gamma_{4}$ (these are the *AdS* directions) obeys $\Gamma_{\star}^{2} = 1$. From this action we obtain the equations of motion:

$$(
ho_0 -
ho_1) (D_0 + D_1) \Theta^1 = 0,$$

 $(
ho_0 +
ho_1) (D_0 - D_1) \Theta^2 = 0.$

¹We use ε and η with two kinds of indices: $\varepsilon^{ab=01} = 1 = \varepsilon^{AB=12}$, and $\eta^{ab=00} = -1 = \eta^{IJ=11}$. The gammamatrices are in the all imaginary basis: $\Gamma_{A\neq 0}$ are Hermitian and Γ_0 is anti-Hermitian. $\Gamma_{AB} = \Gamma_{[A}\Gamma_{B]}$, so $\Gamma_{\phi\theta} = \Gamma_{\phi}\Gamma_{\theta}$.

The projections of the gamma matrices $\rho_a = \Gamma_A E^A_\mu \partial_a X^\mu$ and the spin connection $\omega_a^{AB} = \omega_\mu^{AB} \partial_a X^\mu$ are:²

$$\begin{split} \rho_{0} &= \Gamma_{0} + c\gamma^{2} \frac{\cos^{2}\theta}{\sin\theta} \Gamma_{\phi} + \gamma^{2} \frac{\cos\theta}{\sin\theta} \sqrt{\sin^{2}\theta - c^{2}} \Gamma_{\theta} &= \Gamma_{0} + r(\theta) \Gamma_{\phi} + s(\theta) \Gamma_{\theta} ,\\ \rho_{1} &= \gamma^{2} \frac{\sin^{2}\theta - c^{2}}{\sin\theta} \Gamma_{\phi} - c\gamma^{2} \frac{\cos\theta}{\sin\theta} \sqrt{\sin^{2}\theta - c^{2}} \Gamma_{\theta} &= p(\theta) \Gamma_{\phi} + q(\theta) \Gamma_{\theta} ,\\ \omega_{0} &= -\omega_{0}^{\phi\theta} = -c\gamma^{2} \frac{\cos^{3}\theta}{\sin^{2}\theta} ,\\ \omega_{1} &= -\omega_{1}^{\phi\theta} = -\gamma^{2} \frac{\cos\theta}{\sin^{2}\theta} (\sin^{2}\theta - c^{2}) . \end{split}$$

To simplify the equations of motion, start by replacing $\partial_0 = \partial_{\tau}$ and $\partial_1 = \partial_x$ with the boosted derivatives $\partial_u = \gamma(\partial_1 + c\partial_0)$ and $\partial_v = \gamma(\partial_0 + c\partial_1)$, such that

$$\partial_0 \pm \partial_1 = (1 \mp c) \gamma \{ \partial_u \pm \partial_v \}.$$

Also, define G and \tilde{G} as follows:

$$\begin{split} \omega_0^{\phi\theta} + \omega_1^{\phi\theta} &= (1-c)\gamma \frac{1}{2}G, \qquad \text{where} \quad G &= \gamma \frac{\cos\theta}{\sin^2\theta} (c + \sin^2\theta), \\ \omega_0^{\phi\theta} - \omega_1^{\phi\theta} &= (1+c)\gamma \frac{1}{2}\tilde{G}, \qquad \tilde{G} &= \gamma \frac{\cos\theta}{\sin^2\theta} (c - \sin^2\theta). \end{split}$$

The equations of motion can then be written as

$$(\rho_{0} - \rho_{1}) \left[(1 - c)\gamma \left\{ \partial_{v} + \partial_{u} + \frac{1}{2}G\Gamma_{\phi\theta} \right\} \Theta^{1} - \frac{i}{2}\Gamma_{\star}(\rho_{0} + \rho_{1})\Theta^{2} \right] = 0, \quad (B.2)$$
$$(\rho_{0} + \rho_{1}) \left[(1 + c)\gamma \left\{ \partial_{v} - \partial_{u} + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{G}\Gamma_{\phi\theta} \right\} \Theta^{2} + \frac{i}{2}\Gamma_{\star}(\rho_{0} - \rho_{1})\Theta^{1} \right] = 0.$$

If we define the operators

$$\mathscr{D}_{\nu} = \partial_{\nu} + rac{1}{2}G\Gamma_{\phi\theta} \;, \qquad \qquad ilde{\mathscr{D}}_{\nu} = \partial_{\nu} + rac{1}{2} ilde{G}\Gamma_{\phi\theta} \,,$$

then the curly brackets in the equations of motion (B.2) become these operators plus or

²These projections, as functions of θ , are intimately related to the ones from the giant magnon case: $\rho_0 = \rho_1^{\text{magnon}} + \Gamma_0$, $\rho_1 = \rho_0^{\text{magnon}} - \Gamma_0$, $\omega_0 = \omega_1^{\text{magnon}}$ and $\omega_1 = \omega_0^{\text{magnon}}$. Our conventions for the spin connection can be found in [243]. Functions p, q, r, s introduced here will be useful in what follows.

minus the time derivative ∂_u .

The next step is to use kappa-symmetry fixed fields in the equations of motion [244] [142, 124], which we define by

$$\Psi^{1} = -i(\rho_{0} - \rho_{1})\Theta^{1}, \qquad (B.3)$$
$$\Psi^{2} = i(\rho_{0} + \rho_{1})\Theta^{2}.$$

Note that Γ_{11} anti-commutes with $i(\rho_0 \pm \rho_1)$, and that these operators are real. Consequently, the field Θ^I is Majorana–Weyl if and only if the field Ψ^I also is, so we can impose the Majorana–Weyl conditions on Ψ^I directly.

To re–write the equations of motion in terms of these symmetry-fixed fields, we will need several identities, identical in form to the ones found for the giant magnon case [142].³ We have two nilpotent operators:

$$(\boldsymbol{\rho}_0 \pm \boldsymbol{\rho}_1)^2 = 0$$

(thus $(\rho_0 - \rho_1)\Psi^1 = 0$ and $(\rho_0 + \rho_1)\Psi^2 = 0$) which commute with the curly derivatives

$$\left[\mathscr{D}_{\nu},(\boldsymbol{\rho}_{0}-\boldsymbol{\rho}_{1})\right]=0,\qquad \left[\tilde{\mathscr{D}}_{\nu},(\boldsymbol{\rho}_{0}+\boldsymbol{\rho}_{1})\right]=0$$

(they trivially commute with ∂_u as well). The dagger of ρ_0 is given by:

$$\overline{\rho}_0 \equiv \Gamma_\star \rho_0 \Gamma_\star = -\rho_0^\dagger = \Gamma_0 - r\Gamma_\phi - s\Gamma_\theta,$$

with which we can write two more nilpotent operators

$$\left(\overline{\rho}_0 \pm \rho_1\right)^2 = 0$$

as well as a non-singular operator $(\overline{\rho}_0 - \rho_0) = -2r\Gamma_{\phi} - 2s\Gamma_{\theta}$, whose square is proportional

³Relations such as $(\rho_0 \pm \rho_1)^2 = -1 + (r \pm p)^2 + (s \pm q)^2$ and $(\overline{\rho}_0 \pm \rho_1)^2 = -1 + (-r \pm p)^2 + (-s \pm q)^2$ are needed to derive the identities.

to the unit matrix:

$$(\overline{\rho}_0 - \rho_0)^2 = 4\gamma^2 \cos^2 \theta.$$

We can now re-write the equations of motion (B.2), by pulling the operators $(\rho_0 \pm \rho_1)$ to the right, using the identities above, until they are acting directly on Θ^I to give Ψ^I . The equations of motion become:

$$(1-c)\gamma\{\mathscr{D}_{\nu}+\partial_{u}\}\Psi^{1}+\frac{i}{2}\Gamma_{\star}(\overline{\rho}_{0}+\rho_{0})\Psi^{2}=0,$$

$$(1+c)\gamma\{\tilde{\mathscr{D}}_{\nu}-\partial_{u}\}\Psi^{2}-\frac{i}{2}\Gamma_{\star}(\overline{\rho}_{0}-\rho_{0})\Psi^{1}=0.$$
(B.4)

Non-zero modes

From (B.4), we start by solving the equation for Ψ^2 :

$$\Psi^{2} = \frac{(\overline{\rho}_{0} - \rho_{0})}{4\gamma^{2}\cos^{2}\theta} \Gamma_{\star} \frac{2}{i} (1 - c)\gamma\{\mathscr{D}_{\nu} + \partial_{u}\}\Psi^{1}.$$
 (B.5)

We can then eliminate Ψ^2 from the other equation, thus obtaining a second-order equation for Ψ^1 alone:

$$\left\{\tilde{\mathscr{D}}_{\nu}-\partial_{u}
ight\}rac{(\overline{
ho}_{0}-
ho_{0})}{\gamma^{2}\cos^{2} heta}\left\{\mathscr{D}_{\nu}+\partial_{u}
ight\}\Psi^{1}+(\overline{
ho}_{0}-
ho_{0})\Psi^{1}=0.$$

Using the identity

$$\left\{\tilde{\mathscr{D}}_{v}-\partial_{u}\right\}\frac{\left(\overline{\rho}_{0}-\rho_{0}\right)}{\cos\theta}=\frac{\left(\overline{\rho}_{0}-\rho_{0}\right)}{\cos\theta}\left\{\mathscr{D}_{v}-\partial_{u}\right\}$$

and pulling the $(\rho_0 - \rho_1)$ from Ψ^1 's definition to the left of the equation, we obtain

$$(\rho_0 - \rho_1) \left(\frac{1}{\gamma \cos \theta} \left\{ \mathscr{D}_{\nu} - \partial_u \right\} \frac{1}{\gamma \cos \theta} \left\{ \mathscr{D}_{\nu} + \partial_u \right\} + 1 \right) \Theta^1 = 0.$$
 (B.6)

This equation is analogous to equation (3.7) of [124]. Using a similar method to the one found in [124] we can solve this equation. We start by temporarily dropping the kappasymmetry projection $(\rho_0 - \rho_1)$, and solve the remainder of the equation for Θ^1 . Once we have a solution for Θ^1 , we then apply the projection once more to recover Ψ^1 , and find Ψ^2 using (B.5).

Now we proceed to determine Θ^1 . To do so, we decompose the second-order equation (B.6) into a system of two coupled first-order equations, defining an intermediate field $\tilde{\Theta}$:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathscr{D}_{v} + \partial_{u} & -i \operatorname{sech} v \\ -i \operatorname{sech} v & \mathscr{D}_{v} - \partial_{u} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \Theta^{1} \\ \tilde{\Theta} \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$

We then expand the spinor in a Fourier series for u:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Theta^{1}(u,v)\\ \tilde{\Theta}(u,v) \end{pmatrix} = e^{-i\omega u} \vec{\Theta}(v,\boldsymbol{\omega}), \qquad (B.7)$$

and into a sum of eigenspinors of $\Gamma_{\phi\theta}\colon \vec{\Theta}=\vec{\Theta}_++\vec{\Theta}_-$ with

$$(1_{2\times 2}\otimes \Gamma_{\phi\theta}) \vec{\Theta}_{\pm} = \pm i\vec{\Theta}_{\pm}.$$

The system of coupled linear equations can then be written as

$$(\partial_{v} - V_{\pm})\vec{\Theta}_{\pm} = 0, \quad \text{with} \quad V_{\pm} = \begin{bmatrix} i\left(\omega \mp \frac{G}{2}\right) & i\,\mathrm{sech}\,v\\ i\,\mathrm{sech}\,v & -i\left(\omega \pm \frac{G}{2}\right) \end{bmatrix}.$$

To solve this system of equations, we need to diagonalize it by a change of basis.

Diagonalization

We define $\vec{\Theta}'_{\pm} = S\vec{\Theta}_{\pm}$, such that

$$\partial_{\nu}\vec{\Theta}_{\pm}' = (\partial_{\nu}S + SV_{\pm})S^{-1}\vec{\Theta}_{\pm}' = H_{\pm}\vec{\Theta}_{\pm}'$$
(B.8)

(thus defining $H_{\pm}).$ We want to determine S that makes H_{\pm} diagonal. Writing

$$S = \left[\begin{array}{cc} a(v) & b(v) \\ \\ c(v) & d(v) \end{array} \right],$$

and then setting the off-diagonal elements of H_\pm to zero gives

$$0 = i(a^2 - b^2)\operatorname{sech} v - 2i\omega ab - ba' + ab',$$

$$0 = i(d^2 - c^2)\operatorname{sech} v + 2i\omega cd - cd' + dc'.$$

The above equations were obtained for both H_+ and H_- , which means that S diagonalizes both simultaneously. Because we have only two equations and four parameters, we choose two additional constraints⁴

$$a' = -ib\operatorname{sech}(v), \qquad (B.9)$$
$$c' = -id\operatorname{sech}(v),$$

thus obtaining a second-order equation for a (c obeys the same equation):

$$-a'' - \tanh v a' + 2i\omega a' - \operatorname{sech}^2 v a = 0.$$
 (B.10)

There are two independent solutions to (B.10):

$$a_1(v) = \frac{2i\omega}{1+4\omega^2} + \frac{\tanh v}{1+4\omega^2},$$
$$a_2(v) = e^{2i\omega v} \operatorname{sech} v,$$

where a(v) and c(v) will be (different) linear combinations of these. The other functions b(v)and d(v) are then fixed by (B.9). The general solution for S is then given by

$$S = S_0 \begin{bmatrix} a_1(v) & b_1(v) \\ a_2(v) & b_2(v) \end{bmatrix}$$

 $^{^{4}}$ These extra relations can be imposed by multiplying *S* by a non-singular diagonal matrix, which is always allowed as it does not change the equations of motion (B.8).

where S_0 is a non-singular constant matrix, and

$$b_1(v) = i \frac{\operatorname{sech} v}{1 + 4\omega^2},$$

$$b_2(v) = i (2i\omega - \tanh v) e^{2i\omega v}.$$

The determinant of this change of basis is

$$\det S = -ie^{2i\omega v} \det S_0,$$

different from zero, as expected.

This change of basis gives a simple (diagonal) form for H_{\pm} :

$$H_{\pm} = i \left(\boldsymbol{\omega} \mp \frac{G}{2} \right) \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(B.11)

Solving the diagonalized system

Using H_{\pm} just obtained (B.11), the diagonalized system (B.8) can now be solved. The equations simplify to

$$\left(\partial_{v}-i\left(\boldsymbol{\omega}\mp\frac{G}{2}\right)\right)f(v)=0.$$

In the magnon case [142] (and also for the zero modes in appendix B.2) we found a very similar equation. It has solution $f(v) = e^{\pm i\chi} e^{i\omega v}$, where

$$e^{i\chi} = \left(\frac{\sinh v + ic}{\sinh v - ic}\right)^{1/4} \sqrt{\tanh v + i\operatorname{sech} v}.$$

The field $\vec{\Theta}'_{\pm}$ will then be given by the product of this phase and a spinor:

$$\vec{\Theta}_{\pm}' = e^{\pm i \chi} e^{i \omega v} \vec{U}_{\pm} \,,$$

where \vec{U}_{\pm} is any eigenspinor of $(1 \otimes \Gamma_{\phi\theta})$ with eigenvalues $\pm i$. Finally we need to undo the change of basis to obtain $\vec{\Theta}_{\pm}$:

$$ec{\Theta}_{\pm} = S^{-1} ec{\Theta}_{\pm} = e^{\pm i \chi} e^{i \omega v} S^{-1} ec{U}_{\pm}.$$

Absorbing the constant matrix S_0^{-1} into the arbitrary spinor \vec{U}_{\pm} , we define new spinors U_{\pm} and \tilde{U}_{\pm}

$$S_0^{-1} \vec{U}_{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-c}} \left(\begin{array}{c} U_{\pm} \\ \tilde{U}_{\pm} \end{array} \right) \, , \label{eq:solution}$$

where the $\sqrt{1-c}$ factor is introduced for later convenience.

Recalling from (B.7) that our original spinor Θ^1 is the first component of $e^{-i\omega u}(\vec{\Theta}_+ + \vec{\Theta}_-)$, we can now write⁵

$$\Theta^{1}(u,v) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-c}} e^{-i\omega u} \sum_{\pm} \frac{e^{i\omega v \pm i\chi}}{-ie^{2i\omega v}} \left[b_{2}(v) U_{\pm} - b_{1}(v) \tilde{U}_{\pm} \right]$$
$$= \frac{-1}{\sqrt{1-c}} e^{-i\omega u} \sum_{\pm} e^{\pm i\chi} \left[e^{-i\omega v} \frac{\operatorname{sech} v}{1+4\omega^{2}} U_{\pm} + (\tanh v - 2i\omega) e^{i\omega v} \tilde{U}_{\pm} \right].$$

To determine the symmetry-fixed field $\Psi^1 = -i(\rho_0 - \rho_1)\Theta^1$ we use the identity $e^{\pm 2i\chi} = (p - r) \mp i(q - s)$, and find the positive-frequency solution to be:

$$\Psi_{p}^{1} = \frac{i e^{-i\omega u}}{\sqrt{1-c}} \sum_{\pm} \left(e^{\pm i\chi} \Gamma_{0} - e^{\mp i\chi} \Gamma_{\phi} \right) \left[e^{-i\omega v} \frac{\operatorname{sech} v}{1+4\omega^{2}} U_{\pm} + (\tanh v - 2i\omega) e^{i\omega v} \tilde{U}_{\pm} \right]$$
$$= \frac{i}{\sqrt{1-c}} \sum_{\pm} \left(e^{\pm i\chi} \Gamma_{0} - e^{\mp i\chi} \Gamma_{\phi} \right) \left[e^{i\alpha} \frac{\operatorname{sech} v}{1+4\omega^{2}} U_{\pm} + \sqrt{\tanh^{2} v + 4\omega^{2}} e^{i\beta} \tilde{U}_{\pm} \right]$$
(B.12)

where the phases α and β are defined by

$$e^{i\alpha} = e^{-i\omega(u+v)},$$

 $e^{i\beta} = e^{-i\omega(u-v)}e^{-i\arctan(2\omega\coth v)}.$

⁵The second entry of $e^{-i\omega u} \left(\vec{\Theta}_+ + \vec{\Theta}_-\right)$ will be given by

$$\tilde{\Theta}(u,v) = -ie^{-i\omega u}e^{\pm i\chi}\left[e^{i\omega v}\operatorname{sech} v U_{\pm} - \frac{(\tanh v + 2i\omega)}{1 + 4\omega^2}e^{-i\omega v}\tilde{U}_{\pm}\right]$$

This will be useful in determining Ψ^2 .

Majorana condition

We now want to impose the Majorana condition on the spinors: Ψ^I should be real $\Psi^{I*} = \Psi^I$. To do so, consider a superposition of positive and negative frequencies $\boldsymbol{\omega}$:

$$\Psi^{1} = 2\operatorname{Re}\Psi_{p}^{1} = \Psi_{p}^{1} + \Psi_{p}^{1*}$$

$$= \frac{i}{\sqrt{1-c}} \sum_{\pm} \left(e^{\pm i\chi} \Gamma_{0} - e^{\mp i\chi} \Gamma_{\phi} \right) \left[\frac{\operatorname{sech} v}{1+4\omega^{2}} \left(e^{i\alpha} U_{\pm} + e^{-i\alpha} U_{\mp}^{*} \right) \right]$$

$$+ \sqrt{\operatorname{tanh}^{2} v + 4\omega^{2}} \left(e^{i\beta} \tilde{U}_{\pm} + e^{-i\beta} \tilde{U}_{\mp}^{*} \right) \right].$$

Note that U^*_{\mp} is an eigenspinor of $\Gamma_{\phi\theta}$ of eigenvalue $\pm i$ (the Γ matrices are imaginary, thus $\Gamma_{\phi\theta}$ is real).

If we combine the four \pm eigenspinors into two spinors $U = U_+ + U_-$ and $\tilde{U} = \tilde{U}_+ + \tilde{U}_-$ (we can reverse this with projection operators $U_{\pm} = \frac{i \pm \Gamma_{\phi \theta}}{2i} U$, and similarly for the others), we can then write

$$\Psi^{1} = \frac{i}{\sqrt{1-c}} \left[\Gamma_{0} \left(\cos \chi + \Gamma_{\phi \theta} \sin \chi \right) - \Gamma_{\phi} \left(\cos \chi - \Gamma_{\phi \theta} \sin \chi \right) \right] \\ \times \left\{ \frac{\operatorname{sech} v}{1+4\omega^{2}} \operatorname{Re}(e^{i\alpha}U) + \sqrt{\tanh^{2}v + 4\omega^{2}} \operatorname{Re}(e^{i\beta}\tilde{U}) \right\} \\ = \frac{i}{\sqrt{1-c}} \left[\Gamma_{0} \left(\cos \chi + \Gamma_{\phi \theta} \sin \chi \right) - \Gamma_{\phi} \left(\cos \chi - \Gamma_{\phi \theta} \sin \chi \right) \right] \\ \times \left\{ \frac{\operatorname{sech} v}{1+4\omega^{2}} \left(\cos \alpha U_{0} + \sin \alpha \Gamma_{\phi \theta} U_{1} \right) \\ + \sqrt{\tanh^{2}v + 4\omega^{2}} \left(\cos \beta \tilde{U}_{0} + \sin \beta \Gamma_{\phi \theta} \tilde{U}_{1} \right) \right\},$$
(B.13)

where the new spinors are

$$U_{0} = 2 \operatorname{Re} (U_{+} + U_{-}), \qquad \tilde{U}_{0} = 2 \operatorname{Re} (\tilde{U}_{+} + \tilde{U}_{-}), \qquad (B.14)$$
$$U_{1} = 2 \operatorname{Re} (U_{+} - U_{-}), \qquad \tilde{U}_{1} = 2 \operatorname{Re} (\tilde{U}_{+} - \tilde{U}_{-}),$$

where $U_0 = 2 \operatorname{Re} U$, and $U_1 = 2 \Gamma_{\phi \theta} \operatorname{Im} U$ (and similarly with tildes).

Having found Ψ^1 , Ψ^2 can be determined from (B.5). The final, Majorana, field Ψ^2 is

$$\Psi^{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+c}} \Gamma_{*} \Gamma_{\theta} \left[\Gamma_{0} \left(\cos \tilde{\chi} + \Gamma_{\phi\theta} \sin \tilde{\chi} \right) - \Gamma_{\phi} \left(\cos \tilde{\chi} - \Gamma_{\phi\theta} \sin \tilde{\chi} \right) \right] \\ \times \left\{ \operatorname{sech} v \left(\cos \tilde{\alpha} \tilde{U}_{0} + \sin \tilde{\alpha} \Gamma_{\phi\theta} \tilde{U}_{1} \right) - \frac{\sqrt{\tanh^{2} v + 4\omega^{2}}}{1 + 4\omega^{2}} \left(\cos \tilde{\beta} U_{0} + \sin \tilde{\beta} \Gamma_{\phi\theta} U_{1} \right) \right\},$$
(B.15)

where the new phases are

$$e^{i\tilde{\chi}} = \sqrt{\frac{\sinh v - ic}{\sinh v + ic}} e^{i\chi} = \left(\frac{\sinh v - ic}{\sinh v + ic}\right)^{1/4} \sqrt{\tanh v + i\operatorname{sech} v}$$
$$e^{i\tilde{\alpha}} = e^{-i\omega(u-v)},$$
$$e^{i\tilde{\beta}} = e^{-i\omega(u+v)} e^{i\arctan(2\omega\coth v)}.$$

Mass and Counting

If we analyze the solution Ψ^1 far from the spike $(|v| \gg 1)$, we observe that the phases obey $i\alpha = -i\omega u - i\omega v$ and $i\beta = -i\omega u + i\omega v$, which means that the fermionic modes are massless, $\omega^2 = k^2$. Consequently there is no supersymmetry, as we found in Section 3.3 the corresponding bosonic modes to be massive.

It is also interesting to determine the number of fermionic modes. There are four spinors U_{\pm} and \tilde{U}_{\pm} , which are $\Gamma_{\phi\theta}$ eigenspinors, and thus have 16 complex components each. These must also be Γ_{11} eigenspinors, so that Ψ is Weyl, which cuts the number by half. Finally, from (B.14) we saw that the Majorana spinor depends only on the real part of each of the original spinors, cutting it in half again. The final counting is 16 complex degrees of freedom, twice the number for the ones found for the giant magnon [124].

The bosonic modes for the spike were determined by simply by interchanging $x \leftrightarrow t$ in the magnon modes. This means that the number of bosonic modes is the same as for the magnon case: there are 8 non-zero modes (4 on the sphere and 4 in AdS). Once more, the fact that there are two fermionic modes for each bosonic mode is more evidence against supersymmetry.

As we will see below, there are also twice as many fermionic zero modes (8 complex)

as bosonic ones (4, same as the magnon). Because the non-zero modes are massless, $\boldsymbol{\omega} = 0$ is part of the continuum of frequencies, and one can obtain expressions for the zero modes just by setting $\boldsymbol{\omega} = 0$ in (B.13) and (B.15) (which sets $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{\beta} = 0$). But the counting of fermionic zero modes has to be done more carefully: the zero modes appear to have the same dependence on $\operatorname{Re} U_{\pm}$ and $\operatorname{Re} \tilde{U}_{\pm}$ as the non-zero modes, suggesting that there are also 16 of them. However, the same argument that happens in the magnon case [142] kills half of these modes, leaving 8 fermionic zero modes. Below we give the analogous calculation for the single spike that can be found in [142] for the magnon zero modes.

B.2 Fermionic Zero modes

In this appendix we determine the zero modes for the single spike, following [142]. It will be shown that from this calculation it is much easier to see why the single spike has twice as many fermionic modes as the magnon, even though the result is identical to simply setting $\omega = 0$ in the section above.

The zero modes obey $\partial_{\mu}\Psi^{I} = 0$, which simplifies the second-order equation (B.6) to

$$\left(\frac{1}{\gamma\cos\theta}\mathscr{D}_{\nu}\frac{1}{\gamma\cos\theta}\mathscr{D}_{\nu}+1\right)\Psi^{1}=0.$$

This equation factorizes, making the calculations much easier than the previous case.

The above equation implies that $(\mathcal{D}_{\nu} - \eta i \gamma \cos \theta) \Psi^1 = 0$ with $\eta = \pm 1$. Pulling the factor $(\rho_0 - \rho_1)$ to the left we find:

$$(\rho_0 - \rho_1) \left\{ \partial_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} G \Gamma_{\phi \theta} + \eta \, i \gamma \cos \theta \right\} \Theta^1 = 0.$$

As for the non-zero modes, we only fix the κ -symmetry projection in the end, solving first for Θ^1 alone. The matrix part of this equation involves only **1** and $\Gamma_{\phi\theta}$, which can be simultaneously diagonalized. The solution is of the form

$$\Theta^{1} = \Theta_{+} + \Theta_{-} = f_{+}(v)U_{+} + f_{-}(v)U_{-},$$

where the spinors U_{\pm} (and so Θ_{\pm}) are $\Gamma_{\phi\theta}$ eigenvectors, with eigenvalues $\pm i$ respectively. All that is left to solve is

$$\left\{\partial_{\nu}\pm\frac{i}{2}G+\eta\,i\gamma\cos\theta\right\}f_{\pm}(\nu)=0.$$

The solutions of this equation are pure phase,

$$f_{\pm}(v) = e^{\pm i\chi} e^{i\eta\chi_2} \qquad \text{where} \qquad e^{i\chi} = \left(\frac{\sinh v + ic}{\sinh v - ic}\right)^{1/4} \sqrt{\tanh v + i\operatorname{sech} v},$$
$$e^{\pm i\chi_2} = \operatorname{sech} v \pm i \tanh v.$$

Comparing these solutions to the giant magnon ones [142], we find that instead of a modulating factor sech u, we get an extra phase $e^{i\eta\chi_2}$. In the magnon case, it was this modulating factor that made one of the solutions normalizable, and allowed Minahan to reject the other sign of η for producing a solution which diverges at large u. In our case both signs lead to non-normalizable solutions, and the most general solution is a linear combination of the $\eta = +1$ and $\eta = -1$ cases:

$$\Psi^{1} = -i(\rho_{0} - \rho_{1}) \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - c}} \sum_{\pm} e^{\pm i\chi} \sum_{\eta} e^{i\eta\chi_{2}} U_{\pm}^{\eta}$$

(we've introduced a factor of $\sqrt{1-c}$ for later convenience). Using the identity $e^{\pm 2i\chi} = (p-r) \mp i(q-s)$, we obtain for Ψ^1 :

$$\Psi^{1} = \frac{i}{\sqrt{1-c}} \left[\Gamma_{0} \left(\cos \chi + \Gamma_{\phi \theta} \sin \chi \right) - \Gamma_{\phi} \left(\cos \chi - \Gamma_{\phi \theta} \sin \chi \right) \right] \left(\operatorname{sech} v U_{0} + \tanh v \tilde{U}_{0} \right)$$

where we defined new linear combinations of the arbitrary spinors U^{η}_{\pm} as

$$\begin{split} U_0 &= -\left(U_+^{\eta=1} + U_-^{\eta=1}\right) - \left(U_+^{\eta=-1} + U_-^{\eta=-1}\right),\\ \tilde{U}_0 &= -i\left(U_+^{\eta=1} + U_-^{\eta=1}\right) + i\left(U_+^{\eta=-1} + U_-^{\eta=-1}\right). \end{split}$$

The reason for this choice of linear combinations is that the Majorana condition $\Psi^* = \Psi$ now simply requires that U_0 and \tilde{U}_0 be themselves Majorana spinors (the Γ -matrices are all imaginary, thus $\Gamma_{\phi\theta}$ is real).

We can now completely determine Ψ^2 from (B.5), as an operator acting on Ψ^1 . We then write:

$$\Psi^{2} = \frac{\Gamma_{\star}\Gamma_{\theta}}{\sqrt{1+c}} \left[\Gamma_{0} \left(\cos \tilde{\chi} + \Gamma_{\phi\theta} \sin \tilde{\chi} \right) - \Gamma_{\phi} \left(\cos \tilde{\chi} - \Gamma_{\phi\theta} \sin \tilde{\chi} \right) \right] \left(\operatorname{sech} v \tilde{U}_{0} - \tanh v U_{0} \right)$$

where as before $e^{i\tilde{\chi}} = e^{-i\chi + i\chi_2}$, and we used the identity $(r \pm is) = \pm i\gamma \cos \theta e^{\pm i(\tilde{\chi} - \chi)}$.

Comparing these zero modes with the non-zero modes (B.13) and (B.15), we can easily see that they are just the $\omega = 0$ case of the non-zero modes (i.e. $\alpha = \beta = 0$). This differs from the case of the supersymmetric giant magnon, where the zero modes of [142] are disconnected from the massive non-zero modes of [124].

The counting of modes is now much easier: the four spinors U_{\pm}^{η} are $\Gamma_{\phi\theta}$ -eigenspinors, having 16 complex components each. As they are also Weyl spinors, i.e. Γ_{11} -eigenspinors, the number of components is cut in half. Requiring U_0 and \tilde{U}_0 to be Majorana cuts it in half again, to 16 components in total. This is the number of components we got from the non-zero modes, by setting $\boldsymbol{\omega} = 0$, as was expected. But at this stage the giant magnon had only 8 complex components [142], half of what we found for the single spike. The argument given below cuts the number of components by another factor of 2 in both cases, leaving the giant spike with just 8 zero modes, and the giant magnon with 4.

Slow-motion

In [142], we can find the following argument: we regard the spinors U_0 and \tilde{U}_0 as a moduli of the solution, and allow them to become time-dependent, $\partial_u U \neq 0$. If we plug a zero mode back into the action we will get zero, but plugging this 'slowly-moving' mode needn't do so. The zero modes whose related slowly-moving modes give a non-zero action are 'real' zero modes, while the others are pure gauge [245].

When substituting the slowly-moving mode $\Theta = \sum F(v)U(u)$ into the Lagrangian, the equations of motion force everything except the ∂_u terms to vanish, leaving

$$\mathscr{L}_F = -i\gamma(1-c)\overline{\Theta}^1(\rho_0-\rho_1)\partial_u\Theta^1 + i\gamma(1+c)\overline{\Theta}^2(\rho_0+\rho_1)\partial_u\Theta^2,$$

where $\overline{\Theta} = \Theta^{\dagger}\Gamma_0$, as before. Using the identities $2\Gamma_0(\rho_0 \pm \rho_1) = -(\rho_0 \pm \rho_1)^{\dagger}(\rho_0 \pm \rho_1)$ the Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathscr{L}_F = i\gamma \frac{1-c}{2} \Psi^{1\dagger} \partial_u \Psi^1 - i\gamma \frac{1+c}{2} \Psi^{2\dagger} \partial_u \Psi^2.$$

Plugging in Ψ^I from above, we obtain

$$\mathscr{L}_{F} = \frac{i\gamma}{2} \left[(\Gamma_{0} - \Gamma_{\phi}) \left(\operatorname{sech} v U_{0} + \tanh v \tilde{U}_{0} \right) \right]^{\dagger} \partial_{u} \left[(\Gamma_{0} - \Gamma_{\phi}) \left(\operatorname{sech} v U_{0} + \tanh v \tilde{U}_{0} \right) \right] \\ - \frac{i\gamma}{2} \left[(\Gamma_{0} - \Gamma_{\phi}) \left(\operatorname{sech} v \tilde{U}_{0} - \tanh v U_{0} \right) \right]^{\dagger} \partial_{u} \left[(\Gamma_{0} - \Gamma_{\phi}) \left(\operatorname{sech} v \tilde{U}_{0} - \tanh v U_{0} \right) \right]$$

Both U_0 and \tilde{U}_0 always appear acted on by $(\Gamma_0 - \Gamma_{\phi})$. Using Minahan's words, below (2.32) of [142], only those modes satisfying $(\Gamma_0 + \Gamma_{\phi})U_0$ and $(\Gamma_0 + \Gamma_{\phi})\tilde{U}_0$ contribute. The situation is identical to the giant magnon in that only half of the modes appearing in Ψ^I contribute (they 'are real,' meaning true, zero modes). But since there are two constant Majorana– Weyl spinors U_0 and \tilde{U}_0 for the single spike, instead of only one for the giant magnon, there are twice as many modes: 8 instead of 4 complex degrees of freedom. Summarizing, in the fermionic sector, for both the non-zero modes and the zero modes we find twice as many modes as in the giant magnon case.

Appendix C

FILLINGS AND FERMIONIC POLES

We will now review some properties of the algebraic curve quasi-momenta for $AdS_5 \times S^5$. These include some explicit calculations of the filling fractions in the bosonic subsector $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$, as well as a brief discussion of the fermionic poles in the full superstring theory.

C.1 Properties of fillings of branch cuts

In this appendix we present some properties of the filling functions for $\mathbb{R} \times S^5$, which can be used to relate them to the relevant Dynkin labels. Using the fact that

$$\begin{split} \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_{1}/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_{a}} \frac{1}{x} dp_{1} &= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_{1}/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_{a}} \frac{1}{x^{3}} p_{2}'(1/x) dx = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{b=1}^{A_{1}/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_{b}=1/\mathcal{A}_{a}} y p_{2}'(y) dy \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{b=1}^{A_{1}/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_{b}=1/\mathcal{A}_{a}} y p_{1}'(y) dy; \\ \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_{1}/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_{a}} x dp_{1} &= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_{1}/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_{a}} \frac{1}{x} p_{2}'(1/x) dx = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{b=1}^{A_{1}/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_{b}=1/\mathcal{A}_{a}} \frac{1}{y} p_{2}'(y) dy \\ &= -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_{1}/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_{a}} x p_{2}'(x) dx, \end{split}$$

and recalling that the total number of cuts between sheets 1,2, the $\mathcal{C}_{1,a}$ and $\mathcal{C}_{1,b} = 1/\mathcal{C}_{1,a}$, is given by A_1 , then

$$\begin{split} \sum_{a=1}^{A_1/2} K_{1,a} &\equiv \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_1/2} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} \left(x + \frac{1}{x} \right) dp_1 = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_1} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} x p_1'(x) dx \\ &= -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_1} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} x p_2'(x) dx \,. \end{split}$$

A very similar result can be found for cuts between sheets 3,4 (total A_3). In the same way considering now cuts between sheets 2,3, which total A_2 ($\mathscr{C}_{2,a}$ and $\mathscr{C}_{2,b} = 1/\mathscr{C}_{2,a}$), we easily see that

$$\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_2/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_a} \frac{1}{x} dp_2 = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_2/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_a} \frac{1}{x^3} p_1'(1/x) dx = -\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{b=1}^{A_2/2} \oint_{\mathcal{A}_b} y_1'(y) dy,$$

and consequently

$$\sum_{a=1}^{A_2/2} K_{2,a} \equiv \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_2/2} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} \left(x + \frac{1}{x} \right) dp_2 = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_2/2} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} x dp_2 - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{b=1}^{A_2/2} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_b = 1/\mathscr{A}_a} y p_1'(y) dy.$$

Now one should notice that all of the cuts existing in sheet 1 are A_1 connecting sheets 1,2 and $A_2/2$ connecting 1,4. If we sum over all possible \mathscr{A} -cycles around these cuts, this is equivalent to integrating over a closed contour at infinity (with all of the singularities inside) if we add the singularities at $x = \pm 1$. Then

$$\begin{split} \sum_{a=1}^{A_{1}/2} K_{1,a} &= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\infty} xp_{1}^{'}(x) dx - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{b=1}^{A_{2}/2} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_{b}} yp_{1}^{'}(y) dy - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\pm 1} xp_{1}^{'}(x) dx \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\infty} xp_{1}^{'}(x) dx - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \sum_{b=1}^{A_{2}/2} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_{b}} yp_{1}^{'}(y) dy + \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^{2}i} \oint_{\pm 1} x\frac{\pi\kappa}{(x\mp 1)^{2}} dx. \end{split}$$

For sheet 2 we have A_1 cuts connecting it to sheet 1, and $A_2/2$ cuts connected to sheet 3:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{a=1}^{A_2/2} K_{2,a} &= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\infty} x p_2'(x) \, dx - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_1} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} x \, dp_2 \\ &- \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\pm 1} x p_2'(x) \, dx - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{b=1}^{A_2/2} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_b} y p_1'(y) \, dy \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\infty} x p_2'(x) \, dx + \sum_{a=1}^{A_1/2} K_{1,a} + \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\pm 1} x \frac{\pi \kappa}{(x \mp 1)^2} \, dx - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{b=1}^{A_2/2} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_b} y p_1'(y) \, dy. \end{split}$$

For sheet 3 we have A_3 cuts connecting it to sheet 4, and $A_2/2$ connecting it to sheet 2:

$$\sum_{a=1}^{A_3/2} K_{3,a} = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_3/2} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} \left(x + \frac{1}{x} \right) dp_3 = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{a=1}^{A_3} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_a} x dp_3$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\infty} x p_3'(x) dx - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \sum_{b=1}^{A_2/2} \oint_{\mathscr{A}_b} y p_3'(y) dy - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{8\pi^2 i} \oint_{\pm 1} x \frac{\pi \kappa}{(x \mp 1)^2} dx.$$

Finally, for sheet 4 we have A_3 cuts connecting it to sheet 3 and $A_2/2$ connecting sheets 1 and 4, and the relations can be written as the previous ones.

C.2 The behaviour of the quasi-momenta at a fermionic pole

In page 114 we reviewed the behaviour of the monodromy matrix eigenvalues at the points \tilde{x}_a where two eigenvalues corresponding to S^5 coincide, and found that these points were square root singularities of the eigenvalues. The same behaviour is expected from points \hat{x}_a where two eigenvalues corresponding to AdS_5 coincide. But the eigenvalues of the monodromy matrix will have a different behaviour at points x_a^* where eigenvalues of opposite gradings coincide, that is, points at which an eigenvalues of the S^5 part of the monodromy matrix $e^{i\tilde{p}_k}$ coincides with an eigenvalue of the AdS_5 part $e^{i\hat{p}_l}$.

The restriction of $\Omega(x)$ to the subspace of these two eigenvalues then has the form

$$\Gamma = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} a & b \\ \hline c & d \end{array} \right),$$

where the lines above separate the two gradings. One can calculate the eigenvalues of this

$$\gamma_1 = a + \frac{bc}{d-a}, \ \gamma_2 = d + \frac{bc}{d-a}$$

The parameters a, b, c, d depend analytically on x, but in this case it is the supertrace of this sub-matrix, $f(x) = \operatorname{str} \Gamma = a - d$, which vanishes at $x = x_a^*$, that is $f(x_a^*) = 0$. This is the denominator present in the eigenvalues $\gamma_{1,2}$. The numerator, $\alpha_a^* = -bc|_{x=x_a^*}$ does not need to be zero, and so we have a simple pole at $x = x_a^*$ and obtain $f(x) = \frac{\alpha_a^*}{x - x_a^*} + \mathcal{O}(x - x_a^*)$. Thus expanding around the singularity we find

$$e^{i\tilde{p}_k(x)} = e^{i\hat{p}_l(x)} = e^{i\hat{p}_k(x_a^*)} \left(\frac{\alpha_a^*}{x - x_a^*} + 1 + \mathscr{O}\left(x - x_a^*\right)\right),$$

for some coefficient $\alpha_a^* = -bc$. Note that this coefficient is nilpotent, i.e., $(\alpha_a^*)^2 = 0$.

¹This can be easily seen from the fact that $\operatorname{str}\Gamma \equiv \gamma_1 - \gamma_2 = a - d$ and $\operatorname{sdet}\Gamma = \frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_2} = \frac{a}{d} - \frac{bc}{d^2}$, and by recalling that b, c are Grassmann-odd variables, that is, $(bc)^2 = 0$.

Appendix D

ON THE CP3 GEOMETRY AND CONSERVED CHARGES

In this appendix we review some properties of the CP^3 geometry, and the constraints that a string solution living in this space has to obey. We also perform semi-classical quantization around the vacuum (6.11), are recover the quantity $\Delta - \frac{J_1 - J_4}{2}$ as being the Hamiltonian for the physical excitations.

We finalize by giving a summary of the finite-J expansion of conserved charges for the several magnon solutions in CP^3 .

D.1 More about the geometry of CP^3

The complex projective space $\mathbb{C}P^3$ is defined by

$$CP^3 = \frac{\mathbb{C}^4}{\vec{z} \sim \lambda \vec{z}}$$

where the co-ordinates $\vec{z} = z_a$ are called homogeneous co-ordinates, and λ is complex. The identification $\vec{z} \sim \lambda \vec{z}$ can be separated in two parts: $\vec{z} \sim r\vec{z}$ and $\vec{z} \sim e^{i\phi}\vec{z}$ (for any $r, \phi \in \mathbb{R}$). Then, setting the first one to be $|\vec{z}|^2 = 1$, we obtain a sphere with one identification

$$CP^3 = \frac{S^7}{\vec{z} \sim e^{i\phi}\vec{z}} = \frac{S^7}{U(1)}$$

The isometry group is SU(4), acting in the natural way on \vec{z} . The stabilizer group of, for example, the point $z_4 = 1$ is U(3), thus we can also write

$$CP^3 = \frac{SU(4)}{U(3)} \,.$$

The standard Fubini–Study metric for this space is, in the infinitesimal form:

$$ds_{CP^3}^2 = \frac{dz_i d\bar{z}_i}{\rho^2} - \frac{|z_i d\bar{z}_i|^2}{\rho^4}$$
$$= ds_{\text{sphere}}^2 - d\gamma^2$$
$$= \frac{ds_{\text{flat}}^2 - d\rho^2}{\rho^2} - d\gamma^2$$
(D.1)

where $\rho^2 = z_i \bar{z}_i$.¹ In the equation above $ds_{\text{flat}}^2 = dz_i d\bar{z}_i$ is the Euclidean metric for \mathbb{C}^4 , and ds_{sphere}^2 is a metric for S^7 in terms of the homogeneous co-ordinates. Instead of fixing $\rho = 1$, we subtract from the sphere the component coming from radial motion (and scale the rest appropriately). Consequently, we obtain CP^3 from the sphere S^7 by fixing the total phase $\gamma = \arg \prod_i z_i$ (this can be understood as subtracting the total phase component from the sphere). These radial and total phase components are given by

$$d\rho = \frac{1}{2\rho} (z_i d\bar{z}_i + \bar{z}_i dz_i) = \frac{1}{\rho} \operatorname{Re} (\bar{z}_i dz_i)$$
$$d\gamma = \frac{i}{2\rho^2} (z_i d\bar{z}_i - \bar{z}_i dz_i) = \frac{1}{\rho^2} \operatorname{Im} (\bar{z}_i dz_i)$$

We now recall the two forms of the CP^3 metric in terms of real angles, and present the maps between these angles and the homogeneous co-ordinates. These maps can be found in [217] and [215], up to a relabeling of the z_i . For the metric (6.6) (η is often called ψ)

$$ds_{CP^{3}}^{2} = d\xi^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\sin^{2}2\xi \left(d\eta + \frac{1}{2}\cos\vartheta_{1}\,d\varphi_{1} - \frac{1}{2}\cos\vartheta_{2}\,d\varphi_{2}\right)^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\cos^{2}\xi \left(d\vartheta_{1}^{2} + \sin^{2}\vartheta_{1}\,d\varphi_{1}^{2}\right) + \frac{1}{4}\sin^{2}\xi \left(d\vartheta_{2}^{2} + \sin^{2}\vartheta_{2}\,d\varphi_{2}^{2}\right)$$

¹In some conventions [246, 192] the metric has an extra factor of 4, making CP^1 (6.16) a unit sphere.

the map was given in the main text (6.5), and it is:

$$z_{1} = \sin \xi \cos(\vartheta_{2}/2) e^{-i\eta/2} e^{i\varphi_{2}/2}$$

$$z_{2} = \cos \xi \cos(\vartheta_{1}/2) e^{i\eta/2} e^{i\varphi_{1}/2}$$

$$z_{3} = \cos \xi \sin(\vartheta_{1}/2) e^{i\eta/2} e^{-i\varphi_{1}/2}$$

$$z_{4} = \sin \xi \sin(\vartheta_{2}/2) e^{-i\eta/2} e^{-i\varphi_{2}/2}.$$
(D.2)

For the other set of angular variables (6.7)

$$ds_{CP^{3}}^{2} = d\mu^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\sin^{2}\mu\cos^{2}\mu\left[d\chi + \sin^{2}\alpha\left(d\psi + \cos\theta\,d\phi\right)\right]^{2} + \sin^{2}\mu\left[d\alpha^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\sin^{2}\alpha\left(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta\,d\phi^{2} + \cos^{2}\alpha\left(d\psi + \cos\theta\,d\phi\right)^{2}\right)\right]$$

the map can be written as:

$$z_1/z_4 = \tan \mu \, \cos \alpha \, e^{i\chi/2}$$

$$z_2/z_4 = \tan \mu \, \sin \alpha \, \sin(\theta/2) \, e^{i\chi/2} \, e^{i(\psi-\phi)/2}$$

$$z_3/z_4 = \tan \mu \, \cos \alpha \, \cos(\theta/2) \, e^{i\chi/2} \, e^{i(\psi+\phi)/2}.$$
(D.3)

The ratios z_i/z_4 are called inhomogeneous co-ordinates, and cover the patch $z_4 \neq 0$ with no identifications [246]. Taking the ranges of the angles (given in the main text, on page 155) into account, the trigonometric functions controlling the amplitudes of these rations are always positive in both (D.2) and (D.3). Analyzing the phases of the inhomogeneous co-ordinates of z_i/z_4 one can confirm that ranges of the remaining angles are correct.

D.2 Strings in homogeneous co-ordinates

It has been seen that it is convenient to use embedding co-ordinates for \mathbb{R}^{n+1} to study bosonic string theory in S^n , using a constraint for the radius to be 1. This way one avoids the trigonometric algebra related with angular co-ordinates, and (in AdS/CFT) the correspondence between the R-symmetry generators and the rotations of the space becomes natural. We want to do an analogous construction for CP^3 , by means of the homogeneous co-ordinates \vec{z} . In this case, we will need two constraints: $\rho^2 = 1$ and $\gamma = 0$.

Using Lagrange multipliers

We start by re-writing the metric for $\mathbb{R} \times CP^3$ in the form:

$$ds^2 = -\left(dX^0\right)^2 + d\bar{z}_i G_{ij} dz_j$$
 with $G_{ij} = \frac{\delta_{ij}}{\rho^2} - \frac{z_i \bar{z}_j}{\rho^4}$

In a conformal time-like gauge $(X^0 = \kappa \tau)$, the Polyakov action becomes

$$\begin{split} S &= \int \frac{dx d\tau}{2\pi} R^2 \mathscr{L} \tag{D.4} \\ &= 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx d\tau \mathscr{L} \\ 2\mathscr{L} &= \kappa^2 + \partial^a \bar{Z}_i G_{ij} \partial_a Z_j + \Lambda_\rho \left(\bar{Z}_i Z_i - 1 \right) + i \Lambda_\gamma \left(Z_1 Z_2 Z_3 Z_4 - \bar{Z}_1 \bar{Z}_2 \bar{Z}_3 \bar{Z}_4 \right), \end{split}$$

where $\Lambda_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{R}$, since the term in brackets is proportional to $2i \sin \gamma$, thus imaginary. In order to determine the Euler-Lagrange equations, we first set $\rho = 1$, simplifying $\partial G_{ij}/\partial Z_i$ etc. The Lagrange multipliers are simply determined from the parallel component of the equations (i.e. the product of \overline{Z}_i with the equation of motion for Z_i), and the result is:

$$\Lambda_{\rho} - 4i \left(Z_1 Z_2 Z_3 Z_4 \right) \Lambda_{\gamma} = \partial_{\tau} \bar{Z}_i \partial_{\tau} Z_i - 2 \left| \bar{Z}_i \partial_{\tau} Z_i \right|^2 - \partial_x \bar{Z}_i \partial_x Z_i + 2 \left| \bar{Z}_i \partial_x Z_i \right|^2,$$

where the factor 4 above comes from the number of complex embedding co-ordinates. The right-hand side of the equation is real, which implies $\Lambda_{\gamma} = 0$. Using this result, we can write the equation of motion for Z_i as

$$-\partial_{\tau} (G_{ij}\partial_{\tau}Z_j) + \partial_x (G_{ij}\partial_x Z_j) = Z_i \Lambda_{\rho} - (\bar{Z}_j \partial_{\tau}Z_j) \partial_t Z_i + (\bar{Z}_j \partial_x Z_j) \partial_x Z_i.$$
(D.5)

The Virasoro constraints are given by

$$-\kappa^2 + \partial_\tau \bar{Z}_i G_{ij} \partial_\tau Z_j + \partial_x \bar{Z}_i G_{ij} \partial_x Z_j = 0$$

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\partial_{\tau}\bar{Z}_{i}\,G_{i\,i}\,\partial_{x}Z_{i}\right)=0\,.$$

We should expand some more on the fact that $\Lambda_{\gamma} = 0$. Going back to the simple example of strings on the sphere, if we used a similar metric (in fact exactly ds_{sphere}^2 from (D.1)):

$$2\mathscr{L} = 1 + \partial^a X_i \partial_a X_j g_{ij} + \Lambda (X^2 - 1), \quad \text{with } g_{ij} = \frac{\delta_{ij}}{\rho^2} - \frac{X_i X_j}{\rho^4}$$

then we would also have $\Lambda = 0$, even though the equations of motion are the same as the ones obtained with $g_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$ (i.e. using ds_{flat}^2). In some sense the metric is directly enforcing the constraint, and the reason we had the other Lagrange multiplier $\Lambda_{\rho} \neq 0$ in the CP^3 case was because we set $\rho = 1$ in the beginning of the calculation.

Constraining S^7 solutions

In [193] (and others) they set up the problem of finding string solutions on \mathbb{CP}^3 by first finding solutions on the sphere $S^7 \in \mathbb{C}^4$, and then demanding that the two Noether charges from ∂_{γ} vanish:

$$0 = C_0 \equiv \sum_{i=1}^4 \operatorname{Im}\left(\bar{Z}_i \partial_\tau Z_i\right), \qquad 0 = C_1 \equiv \sum_{i=1}^4 \operatorname{Im}\left(\bar{Z}_i \partial_x Z_i\right)$$

This in fact happens for the \mathbb{RP}^2 solution (6.20) given by [193], and for any solution on the larger \mathbb{RP}^3 subspace of Section 6.4. Using the co-ordinates \vec{w} from (6.21), the condition $w_3 = w_4 = 0$ which defines this subspace \mathbb{RP}^3 implies $C_0 = C_1 = 0$, and at the same time reduces the equations of motion (D.5) to those for a sphere S^3 embedded in (w_1, w_2) .

But more general solutions, like the CP^1 solution (6.18), will solve neither these constraints nor the equations of motion for $S^7 \subset \mathbb{C}^4$. Thus, the above conditions (solution on S^7 , and $C_0 = C_1 = 0$) are certainly not necessary for a solution. Whether they are sufficient or not is not entirely clear.²

²A similar approach can be done to strings on the sphere. It consists on finding solutions in flat (embedding) space and then reject all of the ones which do not have $\rho = 1$. In this sphere case, solving the flat space equations and having $\rho = 1$ is a sufficient, not necessary, condition to find a solution.

For example, one can study loops of string rotating in S^3 , where we find one critical speed at which they are solutions in unconstrained \mathbb{R}^4 as well [113]. But faster and slower motions are possible on the sphere which are not solutions in \mathbb{R}^4 , such as the extreme cases of a point particle and a stationary hoop.

In Section 6.4 it was seen that in the subspace \mathbb{RP}^3 , the second term in the definition of charges J_i (6.9) vanishes, leaving just the conserved charge from rotational symmetry of the z_i plane one would expect in S^7 . This term that vanishes is just $|Z_i|^2 C_0/\rho^4$, which does not vanish for the \mathbb{CP}^1 case (6.18), see footnote 10 on page 161. Instead of the constraint $C_0 = 0$, the constraint that holds is $\sum_{i=1}^4 J_i = 0$, which follows immediately from the definition of the charges J_i (6.9).

D.3 Fluctuation Hamiltonian for the point particle

Start with the metric for the AdS_4 factor in the following form

$$ds_{AdS_4}^2 = -\left(\frac{1+\vec{r}^2}{1-\vec{r}^2}\right)^2 dt^2 + \frac{4}{\left(1-\vec{r}^2\right)^2} d\vec{r}^2 \tag{D.6}$$

where $\vec{r} = r_i$, i = 1, 2, 3 are zero at the center of AdS, and t is AdS time (we will be using worldsheet space and time to be x, τ). For the CP^3 sector we will use yet other co-ordinates:³

$$\vec{z} = \left(e^{i\beta}\frac{1+\varepsilon}{\sqrt{2}}, y_1 + iy_2, y_3 + iy_4, e^{-i\beta}\frac{1-\varepsilon}{\sqrt{2}}\right),\tag{D.7}$$

in terms of which $\rho^2 = \bar{z}_i z_i = 1 + \epsilon^2 + \bar{y}^2$ (where we use the notation $\bar{y}^2 = y_j y_j$). The metric (6.4) can then be written as

$$ds_{CP^{3}}^{2} = \frac{(1+\varepsilon^{2})d\beta^{2} + d\varepsilon^{2} + d\bar{y}^{2}}{1+\varepsilon^{2}+\bar{y}^{2}} - \frac{(\varepsilon d\varepsilon + \bar{y} \cdot d\bar{y})^{2} + (2\varepsilon d\beta + y_{1}dy_{2} - y_{2}dy_{1} + y_{3}dy_{4} - y_{4}dy_{3})^{2}}{(1+\varepsilon^{2}+\bar{y}^{2})^{2}}$$

Joining the AdS and the CP^3 parts of the metric, and dropping R^2 in (6.3) (it will become

³The convenience of these co-ordinates (as opposed to the angles) is that we can easily identify the charges J_i in (6.9) with the ones for the magnons in section 6.4 and those for the dual gauge theory in section 6.1.

In order to cover the whole space, these co-ordinates will have to obey $\beta \in [0, \pi]$ and $\varepsilon \in [-1, 1)$. This can be seen by connecting these co-ordinates with the inhomogeneous ones $z_1/z_4 = e^{i2\beta}(1+\varepsilon)/(1-\varepsilon)$ and z_2/z_4 , z_3/z_4 (similar co-ordinates were used in [18]).

a prefactor in the action) the full metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{4} ds^{2}_{AdS_{4}} + ds^{2}_{CP^{3}}$$

$$= \left(-\frac{1}{4} - \vec{r}^{2}\right) dt^{2} + d\vec{r}^{2} + (1 - 4\varepsilon^{2} - \vec{y}^{2}) d\beta^{2} + d\varepsilon^{2} + d\vec{y}^{2} + \dots,$$
(D.8)

where we have expanded near $\vec{r} = \vec{y} = 0$, $\varepsilon = 0$ and present only the terms that will be needed. The point particle travels on the line $t = 2\tau$, $\beta = \tau$, and perturbations about this solution are given by:

$$t = 2\tau + \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}}\tilde{t} \qquad \qquad \vec{r} = \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}}\tilde{\vec{r}}$$

$$\beta = \tau + \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}}\tilde{\beta} \qquad \qquad \varepsilon = \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}}\tilde{\varepsilon} \qquad (D.9)$$

$$\vec{y} = \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}}\tilde{\vec{y}}.$$

The perturbations \tilde{t} and $\tilde{\beta}$ will lead to modes which are pure gauge, but are needed for now to maintain conformal gauge.

In terms of the induced metric γ_{ab} , the Lagrangian is $\mathscr{L} = \frac{1}{2}(-\gamma_{00} + \gamma_{11})$ and the Virasoro constraints are $\gamma_{00} + \gamma_{11} = 0$ and $\gamma_{01} = 0$. The components we will need are:

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{00} &= G_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\tau}X^{\mu}\partial_{\tau}X^{\nu} \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}} \left[-\partial_{\tau}\tilde{\tau} + 2\partial_{\tau}\tilde{\beta} \right] \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \left[-\frac{(\partial_{\tau}\tilde{t})^2}{4} + (\partial_{\tau}\tilde{r})^2 + (\partial_{\tau}\tilde{\beta})^2 + (\partial_{\tau}\tilde{\varepsilon})^2 + (\partial_{\tau}\tilde{y})^2 - 4\tilde{r}^2 - 4\tilde{\varepsilon}^2 - \tilde{y}^2 \right] \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\lambda^{3/4}} \left[-4\tilde{r}^2\partial_{\tau}\tilde{t} + \partial_{\tau}\tilde{\beta}\left(\dots \right) + \partial_{\tau}\tilde{y}\cdot \left(\dots \right) \right] + o(\frac{1}{\lambda}) \end{split}$$

(where (\ldots) indicates terms that won't be needed for this calculation) and

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{11} &= G_{\mu\nu}\partial_x X^{\mu}\partial_x X^{\nu} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \left[-\frac{(\partial_x \tilde{t})^2}{4} + (\partial_x \tilde{r})^2 + (\partial_x \tilde{\beta})^2 + (\partial_x \tilde{\varepsilon})^2 + (\partial_x \tilde{y})^2 \right] + o(\frac{1}{\lambda}). \end{split}$$

We proceed to define the conserved charges of the string: the charge generated by time

translation, Δ

$$\Delta = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \, \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}[\tau, \vec{r}, \beta, \varepsilon, \vec{y}]}{\partial \partial_t \tau}$$
$$= 2\sqrt{2\lambda^{3/4}} \int dx \, \frac{\partial \mathscr{\tilde{L}}\left[\tilde{\tau}, \tilde{\vec{r}}, \tilde{\beta}, \tilde{\varepsilon}, \tilde{\vec{y}}\right]}{\partial \partial_t \tilde{\tau}}$$

and the charge generated by rotation of the z_i complex plane, $J_i\ ^4$

$$J_{1} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}}{\partial \partial_{\tau}(\arg Z_{1})}$$
$$= 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \left[\frac{\operatorname{Im}(\bar{Z}_{1}\partial_{\tau}Z_{1})}{\rho^{2}} - \frac{|Z_{1}|^{2}\sum_{i}\operatorname{Im}(\bar{Z}_{i}\partial_{\tau}Z_{i})}{\rho^{4}} \right]$$
(D.10)

$$J_4 = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \int dx \left[\frac{\operatorname{Im}\left(\bar{Z}_4 \partial_\tau Z_4\right)}{\rho^2} - \frac{|Z_4|^2 \sum_i \operatorname{Im}\left(\bar{Z}_i \partial_\tau Z_i\right)}{\rho^4} \right]$$

Using the above co-ordinates (D.7) and mode expansion (D.9), we get

$$\Delta = \sqrt{2} \int dx \left[\sqrt{\lambda} + \frac{\lambda^{1/4}}{2} \partial_{\tau} \tilde{t} + 4\tilde{r}^2 + o(\frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}}) \right]$$
(D.11)
$$J_1 = \sqrt{2} \int dx \left[\sqrt{\lambda} + \lambda^{1/4} \partial_{\tau} \tilde{\beta} - 4\tilde{\epsilon}^2 - \tilde{y}^2 + (\tilde{y}_2 \partial_{\tau} \tilde{y}_1 - \tilde{y}_1 \partial_{\tau} \tilde{y}_2 + \tilde{y}_4 \partial_{\tau} \tilde{y}_3 - \tilde{y}_3 \partial_{\tau} \tilde{y}_4) + o(\frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}}) \right]$$
$$J_4 = \sqrt{2} \int dx \left[-\sqrt{\lambda} - \lambda^{1/4} \partial_{\tau} \tilde{\beta} + 4\tilde{\epsilon}^2 + \tilde{y}^2 + (\tilde{y}_2 \partial_{\tau} \tilde{y}_1 - \tilde{y}_1 \partial_{\tau} \tilde{y}_2 + \tilde{y}_4 \partial_{\tau} \tilde{y}_3 - \tilde{y}_3 \partial_{\tau} \tilde{y}_4) + o(\frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}}) \right].$$

These charges diverge as $\lambda \to \infty$, but for the particular linear combination used below, the $o(\sqrt{\lambda})$ terms cancel. The $o(\lambda^{1/4})$ terms, linear in the fluctuations, can be re-written as

⁴In the derivation of these charges we treated $Z_1, ..., Z_4$ as independent fields, even though they are in fact related through $\vec{Z} \sim \lambda \vec{Z}$, which defines CP^3 from \mathbb{C}^4 . We do this before using the parametrization (D.7), in which we have fixed some of this gauge freedom by writing only six (and not eight) real co-ordinates.

quadratic o(1) terms using the Virasoro constraint $\gamma_{00} + \gamma_{11} = 0$. We finally obtain

$$\begin{split} \Delta &-\frac{J_1 - J_4}{2} \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \int dx \Bigg[(\partial_\tau \tilde{\vec{r}})^2 + (\partial_x \tilde{\vec{r}})^2 + 4\tilde{\vec{r}}^2 + (\partial_\tau \tilde{\varepsilon})^2 + (\partial_x \tilde{\varepsilon})^2 + 4\tilde{\varepsilon}^2 + (\partial_\tau \tilde{y})^2 + (\partial_x \tilde{y})^2 + \tilde{y}^2 \\ &- \frac{(\partial_\tau \tilde{t})^2}{4} - \frac{(\partial_x \tilde{t})^2}{4} + (\partial_\tau \tilde{\beta})^2 + (\partial_x \tilde{\beta})^2 \Bigg] + o(\frac{1}{\lambda^{1/4}}). \end{split}$$

The last line of the above expression includes all of the gauge modes, which generate infinitesimal reparametrizations, and will be dropped in semiclassical quantization. We are then left with the Hamiltonian⁵ $\Delta - \frac{J_1 - J_4}{2} = \sqrt{2} \int dx \mathcal{H}$, where⁶

$$\mathscr{H} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\left(\partial_{\tau} \tilde{\vec{r}} \right)^2 + \left(\partial_{x} \tilde{\vec{r}} \right)^2 + 4 \tilde{\vec{r}}^2 + \left(\partial_{\tau} \tilde{\varepsilon} \right)^2 + \left(\partial_{x} \tilde{\varepsilon} \right)^2 + 4 \tilde{\varepsilon}^2 + \left(\partial_{\tau} \tilde{\vec{y}} \right)^2 + \left(\partial_{x} \tilde{\vec{y}} \right)^2 + \tilde{\vec{y}}^2 \right].$$

This Hamiltonian describes eight massive modes: the three \tilde{r}_i in AdS_4 , together with the $\tilde{\epsilon}$ and the four \tilde{y}_i in CP^3 . Note that one of the CP^3 modes, $\tilde{\epsilon}$, has acquired the same mass as the AdS modes $\tilde{\vec{r}}$ [18]. The same list of masses was also found by [217, 192, 193] in the Penrose limit, and by [43, 45, 186, 18] when studying modes of spinning strings in the $AdS_2 \times S^1$ subspace.

D.4 Expansions of charges at finite-J for CP^3 magnons

When working out finite-J corrections to the various algebraic curve magnons, we expanded the asymptotic charges in δ , defined by (5.31) $Y^{\pm} = X^{\pm}(1 \pm i\delta e^{\pm i\phi})$. We used these expansions to work out the correction $\delta \mathscr{E}$, for example (7.11). Here we give the expansions of these charges explicitly.

We write all three cases at once, by setting m = 1 for the 'small' magnon and m = 2 for

⁵ \mathscr{H} is the two-dimensional Hamiltonian that one would obtain from the quadratic part of the fluctuation Lagrangian $\mathscr{L} = \frac{1}{2}(-\gamma_{00} + \gamma_{11})$, by dropping terms linear in time derivative and reversing the signs of the terms quadratic in the time derivative. But without dropping these $o(\lambda^{1/4})$ terms, the (actual) string Hamiltonian is fixed to zero by the Virasoro constraint $\gamma_{00} + \gamma_{11} = 0$, condition that we have used to derive \mathscr{H} .

⁶There are some obvious charges one could add to $\Delta - (J_1 - J_4)/2$, still keeping it finite, such as J_2 and J_3 . These would add terms like $\tilde{y}_2 \partial_{\tau} \tilde{y}_1 - \tilde{y}_1 \partial_{\tau} \tilde{y}_2$ to \mathscr{H} .

the 'pair' and 'big'. Thus we always have $X^{\pm} = r e^{\pm i p/2m}$.

First, the momentum is $p = p_0 + \delta p_{(1)} + \delta^2 p_{(2)} + o(\delta^3)$, where

$$p_{(1)} = m\cos(\phi)$$
$$p_{(2)} = \frac{3m}{8}\sin(2\phi).$$

Next, the angular momentum is $J = J_{(0)} + \delta J_{(1)} + \delta^2 J_{(2)} + o(\delta^3)$, with

$$J_{(0)} = 2\Delta - 4gm \frac{r^2 + 1}{r} \sin\left(\frac{p_0}{2m}\right)$$

$$J_{(1)} = -\frac{2gm}{r} \left[r^2 \cos\left(\frac{p_0}{2m} + \phi\right) + \cos\left(\frac{p_0}{2m} - \phi\right)\right]$$

$$J_{(2)} = \frac{3gm}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p_0}{2m} - 2\phi\right).$$

Finally, the second angular momentum is $Q = Q_{(0)} + \delta Q_{(1)} + \delta^2 Q_{(2)} + o(\delta^3)$, where for the small and pair cases we have

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{(0)} &= 4gm \frac{r^2 - 1}{r} \sin\left(\frac{p_0}{2m}\right) \\ Q_{(1)} &= \frac{2gm}{r} \left[r^2 \cos\left(\frac{p_0}{2m} + \phi\right) - \cos\left(\frac{p_0}{2m} - \phi\right) \right] \\ Q_{(2)} &= \frac{3gm}{2r} \sin\left(\frac{p_0}{2m} - 2\phi\right). \end{aligned}$$

For the big magnon, Q = 0 to this order in δ . We used in the dispersion relation instead Q_u which (as a function of X^{\pm}) is the Q from the small magnon. For the purpose of these expansions (functions of r and p) it is easier to think of this as $Q_u = \frac{1}{2}Q_{\text{pair}}$ since the big and pair cases both have m = 2.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. M. Maldacena, "The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231-252, hep-th/9711200.
- [2] G. 't Hooft, "A Planar Diagram Theory for Strong Interactions," Nucl. Phys. B72 (1974) 461.
- [3] O. Aharony, S. S. Gubser, J. M. Maldacena, H. Ooguri, and Y. Oz, "Large N field theories, string theory and gravity," *Phys. Rept.* **323** (2000) 183–386, hep-th/9905111.
- [4] E. D'Hoker and D. Z. Freedman, "Supersymmetric gauge theories and the AdS/CFT correspondence," 2002. hep-th/0201253.
- [5] D. E. Berenstein, J. M. Maldacena, and H. S. Nastase, "Strings in flat space and pp waves from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang Mills," *JHEP* **04** (2002) 013, hep-th/0202021.
- [6] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D. L. Jafferis, and J. M. Maldacena, "*N* = 6 superconformal Chern–Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals," *JHEP* 10 (2008) 091, 0806.1218.
- [7] R. R. Metsaev and A. A. Tseytlin, "Type IIB superstring action in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ background," Nucl. Phys. **B533** (1998) 109–126, hep-th/9805028.
- [8] M. Gunaydin and N. Marcus, "The Spectrum of the s**5 Compactification of the Chiral N=2, D=10 Supergravity and the Unitary Supermultiplets of U(2, 2/4)," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 2 (1985) L11.
- H. J. Kim, L. J. Romans, and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, "The Mass Spectrum of Chiral N=2 D=10 Supergravity on S**5," *Phys. Rev. D* 32 (1985) 389.
- [10] N. Beisert, "The dilatation operator of N = 4 super Yang-Mills theory and integrability," Phys. Rept. 405 (2005) 1–202, hep-th/0407277.

- [11] S. S. Gubser, I. R. Klebanov, and A. M. Polyakov, "A semi-classical limit of the gauge/string correspondence," Nucl. Phys. B636 (2002) 99–114, hep-th/0204051.
- [12] S. Frolov and A. A. Tseytlin, "Semiclassical quantization of rotating superstring in $AdS_5 \times S^5$," JHEP 06 (2002) 007, hep-th/0204226.
- [13] M. Kruczenski, "Spin chains and string theory," Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 161602, hep-th/0311203.
- [14] H. Dimov and R. C. Rashkov, "A note on spin chain / string duality," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A20 (2005) 4337, hep-th/0403121.
- [15] J. Stefanski, B. and A. A. Tseytlin, "Large spin limits of AdS/CFT and generalized Landau- Lifshitz equations," JHEP 05 (2004) 042, hep-th/0404133.
- [16] M. Kruczenski and A. A. Tseytlin, "Semiclassical relativistic strings in S**5 and long coherent operators in N = 4 SYM theory," JHEP 09 (2004) 038, hep-th/0406189.
- [17] M. Kruczenski, A. V. Ryzhov, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Large spin limit of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ string theory and low energy expansion of ferromagnetic spin chains," *Nucl. Phys.* **B692** (2004) 3–49, hep-th/0403120.
- [18] G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, "Superstrings on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ as a Coset Sigma-model," JHEP **09** (2008) 129, 0806.4940.
- [19] I. Bena, J. Polchinski, and R. Roiban, "Hidden symmetries of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring," *Phys. Rev.* **D69** (2004) 046002, hep-th/0305116.
- [20] J. A. Minahan and K. Zarembo, "The Bethe-ansatz for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang–Mills," *JHEP* **03** (2003) 013, hep-th/0212208.
- [21] N. Beisert and M. Staudacher, "The N = 4 SYM integrable super spin chain," Nucl. Phys. B 670 (2003) 439–463, hep-th/0307042.
- [22] N. Beisert, V. Dippel, and M. Staudacher, "A novel long range spin chain and planar *N* = 4 super Yang- Mills," *JHEP* 07 (2004) 075, hep-th/0405001.
- [23] D. Serban and M. Staudacher, "Planar N = 4 gauge theory and the Inozemtsev long range spin chain," JHEP 06 (2004) 001, hep-th/0401057.
- [24] N. Beisert and M. Staudacher, "Long-range PSU(2,2|4) Bethe ansaetze for gauge theory and strings," Nucl. Phys. B727 (2005) 1–62, hep-th/0504190.
- [25] S. Frolov and A. A. Tseytlin, "Multi-spin string solutions in $AdS_5 \times S^5$," Nucl. Phys. B668 (2003) 77–110, hep-th/0304255.
- [26] D. M. Hofman and J. M. Maldacena, "Giant magnons," J. Phys. A39 (2006) 13095-13118, hep-th/0604135.
- [27] N. Dorey, "Magnon bound states and the AdS/CFT correspondence," J. Phys. A39 (2006) 13119–13128, hep-th/0604175.
- [28] M. Kruczenski, "Spiky strings and single trace operators in gauge theories," JHEP 08 (2005) 014, hep-th/0410226.
- [29] V. A. Kazakov, A. Marshakov, J. A. Minahan, and K. Zarembo, "Classical / quantum integrability in AdS/CFT," JHEP 05 (2004) 024, hep-th/0402207.
- [30] V. A. Kazakov and K. Zarembo, "Classical / quantum integrability in non-compact sector of AdS/CFT," JHEP 10 (2004) 060, hep-th/0410105.
- [31] N. Beisert, V. A. Kazakov, and K. Sakai, "Algebraic curve for the SO(6) sector of AdS/CFT," Commun. Math. Phys. 263 (2006) 611–657, hep-th/0410253.
- [32] S. Schäfer-Nameki, "The algebraic curve of 1-loop planar $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM," Nucl. Phys. B714 (2005) 3–29, hep-th/0412254.
- [33] G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, "Integrable Hamiltonian for classical strings on AdS(5) x S**5," JHEP 02 (2005) 059, hep-th/0411089.
- [34] N. Beisert, V. A. Kazakov, K. Sakai, and K. Zarembo, "The algebraic curve of classical superstrings on AdS₅ × S⁵," Commun. Math. Phys. 263 (2006) 659–710, hep-th/0502226.
- [35] N. Gromov and P. Vieira, "The $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring quantum spectrum from the algebraic curve," Nucl. Phys. **B789** (2008) 175–208, hep-th/0703191.
- [36] G. Arutyunov, S. Frolov, and M. Staudacher, "Bethe ansatz for quantum strings," JHEP 10 (2004) 016, hep-th/0406256.
- [37] N. Beisert, "Spin chain for quantum strings," Fortsch. Phys. 53 (2005) 852-860, hep-th/0409054.
- [38] S. Schafer-Nameki, M. Zamaklar, and K. Zarembo, "Quantum corrections to spinning strings in AdS(5) x S**5 and Bethe ansatz: A comparative study," *JHEP* 09 (2005) 051, hep-th/0507189.
- [39] N. Gromov, V. Kazakov, K. Sakai, and P. Vieira, "Strings as multi-particle states of quantum sigma- models," Nucl. Phys. B764 (2007) 15–61, hep-th/0603043.
- [40] N. Gromov and V. Kazakov, "Asymptotic Bethe ansatz from string sigma model on S**3 x R," Nucl. Phys.B 780 (2007) 143–160, hep-th/0605026.

- [41] R. Hernandez and E. Lopez, "Quantum corrections to the string Bethe ansatz," JHEP 07 (2006) 004, hep-th/0603204.
- [42] T. Klose and K. Zarembo, "Bethe ansatz in stringy sigma models," J. Stat. Mech. 0605 (2006) P006, hep-th/0603039.
- [43] T. McLoughlin and R. Roiban, "Spinning strings at one-loop in $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," 0807.3965.
- [44] T. McLoughlin, R. Roiban, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Quantum spinning strings in $AdS_4 \times CP^3$: testing the Bethe Ansatz proposal," 0809.4038.
- [45] L. F. Alday, G. Arutyunov, and D. Bykov, "Semiclassical Quantization of Spinning Strings in $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," JHEP **11** (2008) 089, 0807.4400.
- [46] N. Gromov and P. Vieira, "The AdS_4/CFT_3 algebraic curve," *JHEP* **02** (2008) 040, 0807.0437.
- [47] N. Gromov and P. Vieira, "The all loop AdS_4/CFT_3 Bethe ansatz," 0807.0777.
- [48] R. Ishizeki and M. Kruczenski, "Single spike solutions for strings on S^2 and S^3 ," *Phys. Rev.* **D76** (2007) 126006, 0705.2429.
- [49] K. Pohlmeyer, "Integrable Hamiltonian Systems and Interactions Through Quadratic Constraints," Commun. Math. Phys. 46 (1976) 207–221.
- [50] A. Mikhailov, "A nonlocal Poisson bracket of the sine-Gordon model," hep-th/0511069.
- [51] I. V. Aniceto and A. Jevicki, "N-body Dynamics of Giant Magnons in R \times $S^2,$ "0810.4548.
- [52] S. S. Gubser, I. R. Klebanov, and A. M. Polyakov, "Gauge theory correlators from non-critical string theory," *Phys. Lett.* B428 (1998) 105–114, hep-th/9802109.
- [53] E. Witten, "Anti-de Sitter space and holography," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253-291, hep-th/9802150.
- [54] N. Beisert, "The complete one-loop dilatation operator of N = 4 super Yang-Mills theory," Nucl. Phys. B676 (2004) 3-42, hep-th/0307015.
- [55] N. Beisert, "The su(2|2) dynamic S-matrix," hep-th/0511082.
- [56] N. Beisert, "The Analytic Bethe Ansatz for a Chain with Centrally Extended su(2|2) Symmetry," J. Stat. Mech. 0701 (2007) P017, nlin/0610017.

- [57] R. A. Janik, "The AdS(5) x S**5 superstring worldsheet S-matrix and crossing symmetry," Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 086006, hep-th/0603038.
- [58] N. Beisert, R. Hernandez, and E. Lopez, "A crossing-symmetric phase for AdS(5) x S**5 strings," JHEP 11 (2006) 070, hep-th/0609044.
- [59] N. Beisert, B. Eden, and M. Staudacher, "Transcendentality and crossing," J. Stat. Mech. 0701 (2007) P021, hep-th/0610251.
- [60] N. Beisert, "On the scattering phase for AdS(5) x S**5 strings," Mod. Phys. Lett. A22 (2007) 415-424, hep-th/0606214.
- [61] N. Beisert, "The S-matrix of AdS/CFT and Yangian Symmetry," 0704.0400 [nlin.SI].
- [62] G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, "Uniform light-cone gauge for strings in AdS(5) x S**5: Solving su(1|1) sector," JHEP 01 (2006) 055, hep-th/0510208.
- [63] G. Arutyunov, S. Frolov, and M. Zamaklar, "The Zamolodchikov-Faddeev algebra for $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring," *JHEP* **04** (2007) 002, hep-th/0612229.
- [64] S. Frolov, J. Plefka, and M. Zamaklar, "The AdS(5) x S**5 superstring in light-cone gauge and its Bethe equations," J. Phys. A 39 (2006) 13037–13082, hep-th/0603008.
- [65] T. Klose, T. McLoughlin, R. Roiban, and K. Zarembo, "Worldsheet scattering in AdS(5) x S**5," JHEP 03 (2007) 094, hep-th/0611169.
- [66] G. Arutyunov, S. Frolov, J. C. Plefka, and M. Zamaklar, "The off-shell symmetry algebra of the light-cone $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring," *J. Phys.* A40 (2007) 3583–3606, hep-th/0609157.
- [67] N. Beisert, "The su(2|3) dynamic spin chain," Nucl. Phys. B 682 (2004) 487–520, hep-th/0310252.
- [68] S. Corley, A. Jevicki, and S. Ramgoolam, "Exact correlators of giant gravitons from dual *N* = 4 SYM theory," *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* 5 (2002) 809–839, hep-th/0111222.
- [69] D. Berenstein, "A toy model for the AdS/CFT correspondence," JHEP 07 (2004) 018, hep-th/0403110.
- [70] H. Lin, O. Lunin, and J. M. Maldacena, "Bubbling AdS space and 1/2 BPS geometries," *JHEP* **10** (2004) 025, hep-th/0409174.
- [71] A. Donos, A. Jevicki, and J. P. Rodrigues, "Matrix model maps in AdS/CFT," Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 125009, hep-th/0507124.

- [72] S. Cremonini, R. de Mello Koch, and A. Jevicki, "Matrix Model Maps and Reconstruction of AdS SUGRA Interactions," *Phys. Rev.* D77 (2008) 105005, 0712.4366.
- [73] N.-w. Kim, T. Klose, and J. Plefka, "Plane-wave matrix theory from N = 4 super Yang-Mills on R x S**3," *Nucl. Phys. B* 671 (2003) 359–382, hep-th/0306054.
- [74] N. woo Kim and J. C. Plefka, "On the spectrum of pp-wave matrix theory," Nucl. Phys. B643 (2002) 31–48, hep-th/0207034.
- [75] K. Okuyama, "N = 4 SYM on R x S(3) and pp-wave," JHEP 11 (2002) 043, hep-th/0207067.
- [76] G. Ishiki, Y. Takayama, and A. Tsuchiya, "N = 4 SYM on R x S**3 and theories with 16 supercharges," JHEP 10 (2006) 007, hep-th/0605163.
- [77] T. Klose and J. C. Plefka, "On the integrability of large N plane-wave matrix theory," Nucl. Phys. B679 (2004) 127–142, hep-th/0310232.
- [78] T. Fischbacher, T. Klose, and J. Plefka, "Planar plane-wave matrix theory at the four loop order: Integrability without BMN scaling," JHEP 02 (2005) 039, hep-th/0412331.
- [79] A. Mikhailov, "Supersymmetric null-surfaces," JHEP 09 (2004) 068, hep-th/0404173.
- [80] R. de Mello Koch, A. Jevicki, and J. P. Rodrigues, "Collective string field theory of matrix models in the BMN limit," *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* A19 (2004) 1747–1770, hep-th/0209155.
- [81] R. de Mello Koch, A. Donos, A. Jevicki, and J. a. P. Rodrigues, "Derivation of string field theory from the large N Berenstein-Maldacena-Nastase limit," *Phys. Rev. D* 68 (Sep, 2003) 065012, hep-th/0305042.
- [82] G. Arutyunov, S. Frolov, and M. Zamaklar, "Finite-size effects from giant magnons," Nucl. Phys. B778 (2007) 1–35, hep-th/0606126.
- [83] J. Fuchs, Affine Lie algebras and quantum groups: An Introduction, with applications in conformal field theory. Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr., 1992. 433 p. (Cambridge monographs on mathematical physics). 1st publ.
- [84] T. Matsumoto, S. Moriyama, and A. Torrielli, "A Secret Symmetry of the AdS/CFT S-matrix," JHEP 09 (2007) 099, 0708.1285.
- [85] N. Beisert and P. Koroteev, "Quantum Deformations of the One-Dimensional Hubbard Model," J. Phys. A 41 (2008) 255204, 0802.0777.

- [86] J. C. Plefka, F. Spill, and A. Torrielli, "On the Hopf algebra structure of the AdS/CFT S-matrix," Phys. Rev. D74 (2006) 066008, hep-th/0608038.
- [87] C. A. S. Young, "q-Deformed Supersymmetry and Dynamic Magnon Representations," J. Phys. A40 (2007) 9165–9176, 0704.2069.
- [88] F. Spill and A. Torrielli, "On Drinfeld's second realization of the AdS/CFT su(2|2)Yangian," 0803.3194.
- [89] J. A. Minahan, A. Tirziu, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Infinite spin limit of semiclassical string states," JHEP 08 (2006) 049, hep-th/0606145.
- [90] J. C. Plefka, "Lectures on the plane-wave string / gauge theory duality," Fortsch. Phys. 52 (2004) 264-301, hep-th/0307101.
- [91] N. Beisert, J. A. Minahan, M. Staudacher, and K. Zarembo, "Stringing spins and spinning strings," JHEP 09 (2003) 010, hep-th/0306139.
- [92] N. Beisert, S. Frolov, M. Staudacher, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Precision spectroscopy of AdS/CFT," JHEP 10 (2003) 037, hep-th/0308117.
- [93] M. Staudacher, "The factorized S-matrix of CFT/ AdS," JHEP 05 (2005) 054, hep-th/0412188.
- [94] H.-Y. Chen, N. Dorey, and K. Okamura, "Dyonic giant magnons," JHEP 09 (2006) 024, hep-th/0605155.
- [95] S. Ryang, "Three-spin giant magnons in $AdS_5 \times S^5$," JHEP **12** (2006) 043, hep-th/0610037.
- [96] K. Okamura and R. Suzuki, "A perspective on classical strings from complex sine-Gordon solitons," Phys. Rev. D75 (2007) 046001, hep-th/0609026v4.
- [97] D. Astolfi, V. Forini, G. Grignani, and G. W. Semenoff, "Gauge invariant finite size spectrum of the giant magnon," *Phys. Lett.* B651 (2007) 329–335, hep-th/0702043.
- [98] T. Klose and T. McLoughlin, "Interacting finite-size magnons," J. Phys. A41 (2008) 285401, 0803.2324.
- [99] C. J. Burden and L. J. Tassie, "Additional Rigidly Rotating Solutions in the String Model of the Hadrons," Austral. J. Phys. 37 (1984) 1–7.
- [100] C. J. Burden, "Gravitational Radiation from a Particular Class of Cosmic Strings," *Phys. Lett.* B164 (1985) 277.
- [101] A. Jevicki, K. Jin, C. Kalousios, and A. Volovich, "Generating AdS String Solutions," 0712.1193.

- [102] M. Kruczenski, J. G. Russo, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Spiky strings and giant magnons on S⁵," JHEP 10 (2006) 002, hep-th/0607044.
- [103] A. E. Mosaffa and B. Safarzadeh, "Dual Spikes: New Spiky String Solutions," JHEP 08 (2007) 017, 0705.3131.
- [104] R. Ishizeki, M. Kruczenski, M. Spradlin, and A. Volovich, "Scattering of single spikes," 0710.2300.
- [105] N. P. Bobev and R. C. Rashkov, "Spiky Strings, Giant Magnons and beta-deformations," *Phys. Rev.* D76 (2007) 046008, 0706.0442 [hep-th].
- [106] P. Bozhilov and R. C. Rashkov, "On the multi-spin magnon and spike solutions from membranes," Nucl. Phys. B794 (2008) 429–441, 0708.0325.
- [107] H. Dimov and R. C. Rashkov, "On the anatomy of multi-spin magnon and single spike string solutions," arXiv:0709.4231 [hep-th].
- [108] J. Kluson and K. L. Panigrahi, "D1-brane in beta-Deformed Background," JHEP 11 (2007) 011, 0710.0148.
- [109] M. Spradlin and A. Volovich, "Dressing the Giant Magnon," JHEP 10 (2006) 012, hep-th/0607009.
- [110] J. McGreevy, L. Susskind, and N. Toumbas, "Invasion of the giant gravitons from anti-de Sitter space," JHEP 06 (2000) 008, hep-th/0003075.
- [111] O. Lunin and J. M. Maldacena, "Deforming field theories with $U(1) \times U(1)$ global symmetry and their gravity duals," *JHEP* **05** (2005) 033, hep-th/0502086.
- [112] L. F. Alday and J. M. Maldacena, "Gluon scattering amplitudes at strong coupling," JHEP 06 (2007) 064, arXiv:0705.0303 [hep-th].
- [113] R. Roiban, A. Tirziu, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Slow-string limit and 'antiferromagnetic' state in AdS/CFT," Phys. Rev. D73 (2006) 066003, hep-th/0601074.
- [114] J. des Cloizeaux and J. J. Pearson, "Spin-Wave Spectrum of the Antiferromagnetic Linear Chain," Phys. Rev. 128 (Dec, 1962) 2131–2135.
- [115] H. Hayashi, K. Okamura, R. Suzuki, and B. Vicedo, "Large Winding Sector of AdS/CFT," JHEP 11 (2007) 033, 0709.4033.
- [116] R. F. Dashen, B. Hasslacher, and A. Neveu, "The Particle Spectrum in Model Field Theories from Semiclassical Functional Integral Techniques," *Phys. Rev.* D11 (1975) 3424.

- [117] H. J. de Vega and J. M. Maillet, "Semiclassical Quantization of the Complex Sine-Gordon Field Theory," Phys. Rev. D28 (1983) 1441.
- [118] J.-L. Garriga and A. Jevicki, "Quantum Scattering of Solitons," Nucl. Phys. B110 (1976) 113.
- [119] L. D. Faddeev and V. E. Korepin, "Quantum Theory of Solitons: Preliminary Version," *Phys. Rept.* 42 (1978) 1–87.
- [120] R. Rajaraman, "Some Nonperturbative Semiclassical Methods in Quantum Field Theory: A Pedagogical Review," Phys. Rept. 21 (1975) 227–313.
- [121] A. C. Scott, f Y F Chu, and D. W. Mclaughlin, "The Soliton: A New concept in applied science," *IEEE Proc.* 61 (1973) 1443–1483.
- [122] S. Coleman, Aspects of Symmetry: Selected Erice Lectures. 1988.
- [123] S. Frolov and A. A. Tseytlin, "Quantizing three-spin string solution in $AdS_5 \times S^5$," JHEP 07 (2003) 016, hep-th/0306130.
- [124] G. Papathanasiou and M. Spradlin, "Semiclassical Quantization of the Giant Magnon," JHEP 06 (2007) 032, 0704.2389.
- [125] H.-Y. Chen, N. Dorey, and R. F. L. Matos, "Quantum Scattering of Giant Magnons," arXiv hep-th (Aug, 2007) 0707.0668v2. 47 pages, 2 figures. References added, to be submitted to JHEP.
- [126] G. Mandal, N. V. Suryanarayana, and S. R. Wadia, "Aspects of semiclassical strings in AdS₅," Phys. Lett. B543 (2002) 81–88, hep-th/0206103.
- [127] V. E. Zakharov and A. Mikhailov, "Relativistically Invariant Two-Dimensional Models in Field Theory Integrable by the Inverse Problem Technique," Sov. Phys. JETP 47 (1978) 1017–1027.
- [128] A. Mikhailov, "Baecklund transformations, energy shift and the plane wave limit," hep-th/0507261.
- [129] J. G. Russo, "Anomalous dimensions in gauge theories from rotating strings in AdS(5) x S(5)," JHEP 06 (2002) 038, hep-th/0205244.
- [130] J. A. Minahan, "Circular semiclassical string solutions on AdS(5) x S**5," Nucl. Phys. B648 (2003) 203-214, hep-th/0209047.
- [131] A. A. Tseytlin, "Semiclassical quantization of superstrings: AdS(5) x S(5) and beyond," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A18 (2003) 981–1006, hep-th/0209116.

- [132] S. Frolov, "Multi-spin string solutions and AdS/CFT correspondence," AIP Conf. Proc. 687 (2003) 105–116.
- [133] S. Frolov and A. A. Tseytlin, "Rotating string solutions: AdS/CFT duality in nonsupersymmetric sectors," *Phys. Lett.* B570 (2003) 96–104, hep-th/0306143.
- [134] G. Arutyunov, S. Frolov, J. G. Russo, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Spinning strings in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and integrable systems," Nucl. Phys. B671 (2003) 3–50, hep-th/0307191.
- [135] G. Arutyunov, J. G. Russo, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Spinning strings in $AdS_5 \times S^5$: New integrable system relations," *Phys. Rev.* **D69** (2004) 086009, hep-th/0311004.
- [136] S. Schäfer-Nameki, M. Zamaklar, and K. Zarembo, "How accurate is the quantum string Bethe ansatz?," JHEP 12 (2006) 020, hep-th/0610250.
- [137] B. Ramadanovic and G. W. Semenoff, "Finite Size Giant Magnon," 0803.4028.
- [138] Y. Hatsuda and R. Suzuki, "Finite-Size Effects for Dyonic Giant Magnons," Nucl. Phys. B800 (2008) 349–383, 0801.0747v5.
- [139] M. Lüscher, "Volume Dependence of the Energy Spectrum in Massive Quantum Field Theories. 1. Stable Particle States," Commun. Math. Phys. 104 (1986) 177.
- [140] N. Gromov, S. Schäfer-Nameki, and P. Vieira, "Quantum Wrapped Giant Magnon," 0801.3671.
- [141] J. A. Minahan and O. Ohlsson Sax, "Finite size effects for giant magnons on physical strings," Nucl. Phys. B801 (2008) 97–117, 0801.2064.
- [142] J. A. Minahan, "Zero modes for the giant magnon," JHEP 02 (2007) 048, hep-th/0701005.
- [143] R. R. Metsaev, "Type IIB Green-Schwarz superstring in plane wave Ramond-Ramond background," Nucl. Phys. B625 (2002) 70–96, hep-th/0112044.
- [144] R. R. Metsaev and A. A. Tseytlin, "Exactly solvable model of superstring in plane wave Ramond-Ramond background," *Phys. Rev.* D65 (2002) 126004, hep-th/0202109.
- [145] A. Rej, D. Serban, and M. Staudacher, "Planar $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauge theory and the Hubbard model," *JHEP* **03** (2006) 018, hep-th/0512077.
- [146] N. Beisert, V. A. Kazakov, K. Sakai, and K. Zarembo, "Complete spectrum of long operators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM at one loop," *JHEP* **07** (2005) 030, hep-th/0503200.
- [147] N. Dorey, D. M. Hofman, and J. M. Maldacena, "On the singularities of the magnon S-matrix," *Phys. Rev.* D76 (2007) 025011, hep-th/0703104.

- [148] N. Gromov, V. Kazakov, and P. Vieira, "Classical limit of quantum sigma-models from Bethe ansatz," PoS SOLVAY (2006) 005, hep-th/0703137.
- [149] J. Callan, Curtis G. *et al.*, "Quantizing string theory in AdS(5) x S**5: Beyond the pp- wave," *Nucl. Phys. B* 673 (2003) 3–40, hep-th/0307032.
- [150] N. Gromov and P. Vieira, "Constructing the AdS/CFT dressing factor," Nucl. Phys. B790 (2008) 72–88, hep-th/0703266.
- [151] H.-Y. Chen, N. Dorey, and K. Okamura, "On the scattering of magnon boundstates," JHEP 11 (2006) 035, hep-th/0608047.
- [152] G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, "On AdS(5) x S**5 string S-matrix," Phys. Lett. B 639 (2006) 378-382, hep-th/0604043.
- [153] L. Freyhult and C. Kristjansen, "A universality test of the quantum string Bethe ansatz," *Phys. Lett.* B638 (2006) 258–264, hep-th/0604069.
- [154] J. P. Harnad, Y. S. Aubin, and S. Shnider, "Bäcklund transformations for nonlinear sigma models with values in Riemannian symmetric spaces," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 92 (1984) 329.
- [155] C. Kalousios, M. Spradlin, and A. Volovich, "Dressing the giant magnon II," JHEP
 03 (2007) 020, hep-th/0611033.
- [156] F. Calogero, "Exactly Solvable One-Dimensional Many Body Problems," Nuovo Cim. Lett. 13 (1975) 411.
- [157] J. Moser, "Three integrable Hamiltonian systems connnected with isospectral deformations," Adv. Math. 16 (1975) 197–220.
- [158] S. N. M. Ruijsenaars and H. Schneider, "A new class of integrable systems and its relation to solitons," Ann. Phys. 170 (1986) 370–405.
- [159] O. Babelon and D. Bernard, "The Sine-Gordon solitons as a N body problem," Phys. Lett. B317 (1993) 363-368, hep-th/9309154.
- [160] S. N. M. Ruijsenaars, "Complete Integrability of Relativistic Calogero-Moser Systems and Elliptic Function Identities," *Commun. Math. Phys.* **110** (1987) 191.
- [161] A. Mikhailov, "An action variable of the sine-Gordon model," J. Geom. Phys. 56 (2006) 2429-2445, hep-th/0504035.
- [162] F. Magri, "A simple model of the integrable Hamiltonian equations," J. Math. Phys. 19 (1978) 1156–1162.

- [163] S. N. M. Ruijsenaars, "Relativistic Toda Systems," Commun. Math. Phys. 133 (Oct, 1990) 217–247.
- [164] W. Oevel, B. Fuchssteiner, H. Zhang, and P. Ragnisco, "Mastersymmetries, angle variables, and recursion operator of the relativistic Toda lattice," J. Math. Phys. 30 (1989) 2664–2670.
- [165] M. C. Abbott and I. V. Aniceto, "Vibrating giant spikes and the large-winding sector," JHEP 06 (2008) 088, 0803.4222.
- [166] R. Jackiw and G. Woo, "Semiclassical Scattering of Quantized Nonlinear Waves," *Phys. Rev.* D12 (1975) 1643.
- [167] M. Toda, Theory of Nonlinear Lattices. Springer, Berlin , Heidelberg , New York, 1981.
- [168] M. A. Olshanetski and A. M. Perelomov, "Classical Integrable Finite-dimensional Systems related to Lie Algebras," *Phys. Rept.* **71** (1981) 313–400.
- [169] M. A. Olshanetski and A. M. Perelomov, "Quantum Integrable Systems related to Lie Algebras," *Phys. Rept.* 94 (1983) 313–404.
- [170] B. Fuchssteiner, "Mastersymmetries, Higher Order Time-Dependent Symmetries and Conserved Densities of Nonlinear Evolution Equations," *Progr. Theor. Phys.* 70 (1983) 1508.
- [171] W. Oevel, In Soliton Theory and Exactly Solvable Non-linear Equations. World Scientific, 1987.
- [172] P. A. Damianou, "Master Symmetries and R-matrices for the Toda Lattice," Lett. Math. Phys. 20 (1990) 101–112.
- [173] A. K. Das and S. Okubo, "A Systematic Study of The Toda Lattice," Ann. Phys. 190 (1989) 215.
- [174] M. Bruschi and O. Ragnisco, "Recursion operator and bäcklund transformations for the Ruijsenaars-Toda lattice," *Phys. Lett. A* **129** (1988) 21–25.
- [175] Y. B. Suris, "On the bi-Hamiltonian structure of Toda and relativistic Toda lattices," *Phys. Lett. A* 180 (1993) 419–429.
- [176] P. A. Damianou, "Multiple Hamiltonian structures for Toda-type systems," J. Math. Phys. 35 (1994) 5511–5541.
- [177] J. M. N. da Costa and C.-M. Marle, "Master symmetries and bi-Hamiltonian structures for the relativistic Toda lattice," *Phys. Lett. A* **30** (1997) 7551–7556.

- [178] W. Oevel and O. Ragnisco, "R-matrices and higher Poisson brackets for integrable systems," *Physica A* 161 (1989) 181–220.
- [179] M. Lüscher and K. Pohlmeyer, "Scattering of Massless Lumps and Nonlocal Charges in the Two-Dimensional Classical Nonlinear Sigma Model," Nucl. Phys. B137 (1978) 46.
- [180] E. Brezin, C. Itzykson, J. Zinn-Justin, and J. B. Zuber, "Remarks About the Existence of Nonlocal Charges in Two- Dimensional Models," *Phys. Lett.* B82 (1979) 442–444.
- [181] H. Eichenherr and M. Forger, "Higher Local Conservation Laws For Nonlinear Sigma Models On Symmetric Spaces," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 82 (1981) 227.
- [182] N. Dorey and B. Vicedo, "On the dynamics of finite-gap solutions in classical string theory," JHEP 07 (2006) 014, hep-th/0601194.
- [183] B. Vicedo, "Giant magnons and singular curves," JHEP 12 (2007) 078, hep-th/0703180.
- [184] O. Ohlsson Sax, "Finite size giant magnons and interactions," Acta Phys. Polon.
 B39 (2008) 3143–3152, 0810.5236.
- [185] T. Łukowski and O. Ohlsson Sax, "Finite size giant magnons in the $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ sector of $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," JHEP **12** (2008) 073, 0810.1246.
- [186] C. Krishnan, "AdS₄/CFT₃ at One Loop," JHEP 09 (2008) 092, 0807.4561.
- [187] B. Stefanski, "Green–Schwarz action for Type IIA strings on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," Nucl. Phys. B808 (2009) 80–87, 0806.4948.
- [188] B. Chen and J.-B. Wu, "Semi-classical strings in $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," JHEP **09** (2008) 096, 0807.0802.
- [189] C. Ahn and R. I. Nepomechie, " $\mathcal{N} = 6$ super Chern–Simons theory S-matrix and all-loop Bethe ansatz equations," *JHEP* **09** (2008) 010, 0807.1924.
- [190] N. Gromov and V. Mikhaylov, "Comment on the Scaling Function in $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," 0807.4897.
- [191] C. Ahn and R. I. Nepomechie, "An alternative S-matrix for $\mathcal{N} = 6$ Chern–Simons theory?," 0810.1915.
- [192] D. Gaiotto, S. Giombi, and X. Yin, "Spin Chains in $\mathcal{N} = 6$ Superconformal Chern–Simons-Matter Theory," 0806.4589.

- [193] G. Grignani, T. Harmark, and M. Orselli, "The $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ sector in the string dual of $\mathcal{N} = 6$ superconformal Chern–Simons theory," Nucl. Phys. B810 (2008) 115–134, 0806.4959.
- [194] J. A. Minahan and K. Zarembo, "The Bethe ansatz for superconformal Chern–Simons," JHEP 09 (2008) 040, 0806.3951.
- [195] D. Bak and S.-J. Rey, "Integrable Spin Chain in Superconformal Chern–Simons Theory," JHEP 10 (2008) 053, 0807.2063.
- [196] C. Ahn, P. Bozhilov, and R. C. Rashkov, "Neumann–Rosochatius integrable system for strings on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," *JHEP* **09** (2008) 017, 0807.3134.
- [197] S. Ryang, "Giant Magnon and Spike Solutions with Two Spins in $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," JHEP **11** (2008) 084, 0809.5106.
- [198] I. Shenderovich, "Giant magnons in AdS_4/CFT_3 : dispersion, quantization and finite—size corrections," 0807.2861.
- [199] T. J. Hollowood and J. L. Miramontes, "Magnons, their Solitonic Avatars and the Pohlmeyer Reduction," 0902.2405.
- [200] C. Kalousios, M. Spradlin, and A. Volovich, "On Dyonic Giant Magnons on CP³," 0902.3179.
- [201] R. Suzuki, "Giant Magnons on CP^3 by Dressing Method," 0902.3368.
- [202] M. C. Abbott, I. Aniceto, and O. O. Sax, "Dyonic Giant Magnons in CP³: Strings and Curves at Finite J," 0903.3365.
- [203] J. Bagger and N. Lambert, "Modeling multiple M2's," Phys. Rev. D75 (2007) 045020, hep-th/0611108.
- [204] A. Gustavsson, "Algebraic structures on parallel M2-branes," 0709.1260.
- [205] J. Bagger and N. Lambert, "Comments On Multiple M2-branes," JHEP 02 (2008) 105, 0712.3738.
- [206] M. Van Raamsdonk, "Comments on the Bagger–Lambert theory and multiple M2-branes," JHEP 05 (2008) 105, 0803.3803. 9 pages, LaTeX; v2: references and comments about Chern–Simons level added, v3: typo corrected, comments on moduli space clarified.
- [207] A. Gustavsson, "One-loop corrections to Bagger–Lambert theory," Nucl. Phys. B807 (2009) 315–333, 0805.4443.

- [208] J. H. Schwarz, "Superconformal Chern-Simons theories," JHEP 11 (2004) 078, hep-th/0411077.
- [209] D. Gaiotto and X. Yin, "Notes on superconformal Chern–Simons-matter theories," JHEP 08 (2007) 056, 0704.3740.
- [210] D. Gaiotto and E. Witten, "Supersymmetric Boundary Conditions in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super Yang–Mills Theory," 0804.2902.
- [211] K. Hosomichi, K.-M. Lee, S. Lee, S. Lee, and J. Park, "*N* = 4 Superconformal Chern–Simons Theories with Hyper and Twisted Hyper Multiplets," *JHEP* 07 (2008) 091, 0805.3662.
- [212] M. Benna, I. R. Klebanov, T. Klose, and M. Smedback, "Superconformal Chern–Simons Theories and AdS_4/CFT_3 Correspondence," JHEP **09** (2008) 072, 0806.1519.
- [213] M. Cvetič, H. Lu, and C. N. Pope, "Consistent warped-space Kaluza-Klein reductions, half- maximal gauged supergravities and *CPⁿ* constructions," *Nucl. Phys.* B597 (2001) 172–196, hep-th/0007109.
- [214] G. W. Gibbons and C. N. Pope, "CP² as a Gravitational Instanton," Commun. Math. Phys. 61 (1978) 239.
- [215] C. N. Pope and N. P. Warner, "An SU(4) invariant compactification of d = 11 supergravity on a stretched seven sphere," *Phys. Lett.* B150 (1985) 352.
- [216] R. Penrose, Differential geometry and relativity. Reidel, Dordrecht, 1976.
- [217] T. Nishioka and T. Takayanagi, "On Type IIA Penrose Limit and $\mathcal{N} = 6$ Chern–Simons Theories," *JHEP* **08** (2008) 001, 0806.3391.
- [218] J. M. Maldacena and I. Swanson, "Connecting giant magnons to the pp-wave: An interpolating limit of AdS₅×S⁵," Phys. Rev. D76 (2007) 026002, hep-th/0612079.
- [219] M. Kreuzer, R. C. Rashkov, and M. Schimpf, "Near Flat Space limit of strings on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," 0810.2008.
- [220] D. Astolfi, V. G. M. Puletti, G. Grignani, T. Harmark, and M. Orselli, "Finite-size corrections in the $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ sector of type IIA string theory on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," 0807.1527.
- [221] B.-H. Lee, K. L. Panigrahi, and C. Park, "Spiky Strings on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$," JHEP 11 (2008) 066, 0807.2559v3.
- [222] M. C. Abbott and I. V. Aniceto, "Giant Magnons in $AdS_4 \times CP^3$: Embeddings, Charges and a Hamiltonian," *JHEP* **04** (2009) 136, 0811.2423.

- [223] R. Sasaki, "Explicit forms of Bäcklund transformations for the Grassmannian and CP^{N-1} sigma models," J. Math. Phys. 26 (1985) 1786.
- [224] G. Grignani, T. Harmark, M. Orselli, and G. W. Semenoff, "Finite size Giant Magnons in the string dual of $\mathcal{N} = 6$ superconformal Chern–Simons theory," *JHEP* **12** (2008) 008, 0807.0205.
- [225] C. Ahn and P. Bozhilov, "Finite-size Effect of the Dyonic Giant Magnons in $\mathcal{N} = 6$ super Chern–Simons Theory," 0810.2079.
- [226] N. Gromov, S. Schäfer-Nameki, and P. Vieira, "Efficient precision quantization in AdS/CFT," JHEP 12 (2008) 013, 0807.4752.
- [227] R. A. Janik and T. Łukowski, "Wrapping interactions at strong coupling: the giant magnon," *Phys. Rev.* D76 (2007) 126008, 0708.2208.
- [228] M. P. Heller, R. A. Janik, and T. Łukowski, "A new derivation of Lüscher F-term and fluctuations around the giant magnon," 0801.4463.
- [229] Y. Hatsuda and R. Suzuki, "Finite-Size Effects for Multi-Magnon States," JHEP 09 (2008) 025, 0807.0643.
- [230] C. Sieg and A. Torrielli, "Wrapping interactions and the genus expansion of the 2-point function of composite operators," Nucl. Phys. B723 (2005) 3–32, hep-th/0505071.
- [231] J. Ambjorn, R. A. Janik, and C. Kristjansen, "Wrapping interactions and a new source of corrections to the spin-chain / string duality," Nucl. Phys. B736 (2006) 288-301, hep-th/0510171.
- [232] A. V. Kotikov, L. N. Lipatov, A. Rej, M. Staudacher, and V. N. Velizhanin, "Dressing and Wrapping," J. Stat. Mech. 0710 (2007) P10003, 0704.3586.
- [233] F. Fiamberti, A. Santambrogio, C. Sieg, and D. Zanon, "Wrapping at four loops in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM," *Phys. Lett.* B666 (2008) 100–105, 0712.3522.
- [234] C. A. Keeler and N. Mann, "Wrapping Interactions and the Konishi Operator," 0801.1661.
- [235] F. Fiamberti, A. Santambrogio, C. Sieg, and D. Zanon, "Anomalous dimension with wrapping at four loops in *N* = 4 SYM," *Nucl. Phys.* B805 (2008) 231–266, 0806.2095.
- [236] D. Bombardelli and D. Fioravanti, "Finite-Size Corrections of the CP³ Giant Magnons: the Lüscher terms," 0810.0704.

- [237] B. I. Zwiebel, "Two-loop Integrability of Planar N=6 Superconformal Chern- Simons Theory," 0901.0411.
- [238] J. A. Minahan, W. Schulgin, and K. Zarembo, "Two loop integrability for Chern–Simons theories with $\mathcal{N} = 6$ supersymmetry," 0901.1142.
- [239] K. Zarembo, "Worldsheet spectrum in AdS_4/CFT_3 correspondence," 0903.1747.
- [240] E. D'Hoker, P. Heslop, P. Howe, and A. V. Ryzhov, "Systematics of quarter BPS operators in N = 4 SYM," JHEP 04 (2003) 038, hep-th/0301104.
- [241] A. Donos, "A description of 1/4 BPS configurations in minimal type IIB SUGRA," Phys. Rev. D75 (2007) 025010, hep-th/0606199.
- [242] J. L. Miramontes, "Pohlmeyer reduction revisited," JHEP 10 (2008) 087, 0808.3365.
- [243] H. Nicolai and H. J. Matschull, "Aspects of canonical gravity and supergravity," J. Geom. Phys. 11 (1993) 15–62.
- [244] M. B. Green, J. H. Schwarz, and E. Witten, Superstring Theory. Vol. 1: Introduction. 1987.
- [245] N. S. Manton, "A Remark on the Scattering of BPS Monopoles," Phys. Lett. B110 (1982) 54–56.
- [246] S. Kobayashi and K. Nomizu, Foundations of differential geometry. Interscience Publishers, New York, 1963.